Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1164

Johng S. Rhim Anatoly Dritschilo Richard Kremer *Editors*

Human Cell Transformation

Advances in Cell Models for the Study of Cancer and Aging



Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology

Volume 1164

Editorial Board:

IRUN R. COHEN, The Weizmann Institute of Science, Rehovot, Israel ABEL LAJTHA, N.S. Kline Institute for Psychiatric Research, Orangeburg, NY, USA JOHN D. LAMBRIS, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, USA RODOLFO PAOLETTI, University of Milan, Milan, Italy NIMA REZAEI, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Children's Medical Center Hospital, Tehran, Iran Johng S. Rhim • Anatoly Dritschilo Richard Kremer Editors

Human Cell Transformation

Advances in Cell Models for the Study of Cancer and Aging



Editors Johng S. Rhim Department of Surgery Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences Bethesda, MD, USA

Richard Kremer Department of Medicine McGill University Health Centre Montréal, QC, Canada Anatoly Dritschilo Georgetown University Medical Center Washington, DC, USA

 ISSN 0065-2598
 ISSN 2214-8019
 (electronic)

 Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology
 ISBN 978-3-030-22253-6
 ISBN 978-3-030-22254-3
 (eBook)

 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-22254-3
 ISBN 978-3-030-22254-3
 ISBN 978-3-030-22254-3
 ISBN 978-3-030-22254-3

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Preface

The role of carcinogenic agents in the development of human cancer is defined using a variety of human cells as experimental model systems. Therefore, the study of human cell transformation in culture by carcinogenic agents is of particular importance for understanding the cellular and molecular mechanisms underlying human carcinogenesis. A conference on "Human cell transformation: Advances in cell models for the study of cancer and aging" was held at the McGill University Health Center, Montreal, Canada, on June 13 and 14, 2018. The aims of the conference were to present the state-of-the-art in the transformation of human cells in culture, as well as to provide insight into the molecular and cellular changes involved in the conversion of normal cells to a neoplastic state of growth.

The conference encompassed the most recent development in human cell transformation including selected in vitro models, tumor xenografts, and transgenic preclinical models. The meeting provided a unique forum for the exchange of information in the important research field and ideas to promote scientific collaboration. Trainees had a unique opportunity to mingle with renowned scientists and presented their work at the poster session.

The following topics related to the theme of the conference.

- 1. Mechanisms of tumor progression
- 2. Prostate cancer progression
- 3. Skeletal dysregulation of cancer spread to the skeleton
- Targeting the tumor and its microenvironment: new paradigms for cancer treatment

The conference was organized by johng S. Rhim, Anatoly Dritschilo, and Richard Kremer. There were 23 speakers, 23 poster presentations, and about 100 participants. The conference was well received and was perhaps the latest one devoted solely to the subject of human cell transformation in vitro. It is our privilege to have an opportunity to edit these proceedings and also on behalf of all contributors to thank everyone who have helped us produce this book.

Bethesda, MD, USA Washington, DC, USA Montréal, QC, Canada Johng S. Rhim Anatoly Dritschilo Richard Kremer



Johng S. Rhim



Anatoly Dritschilo



Richard Kremer



Group speakers photograph of the conference of human cell transformation: Advances in cell models for the study of cancer and aging held on McGill University faculty club, Montreal, Canada on June 13-14, 2018.

Front row left to right. Back row left to right.



Front row left to right. Back row left to right.

Chronology of the Human Cell Transformation Meeting

- 1991 Neoplastic transformation in human cell culture: mechanisms of carcinogenesis. Georgetown University Medical Center, Washington, DC, USA. Organized by J.S. Rhim and A. Dritschilo.
- 1993 International symposium on molecular mechanisms of radiation and chemical-induced cell Transformation. Mackinac Island, MI, USA. Organized by K. Chadwick, A. Karaoglou, M. Frazin, V.M. Mahr, and J.J. McCormick.
- 1995 Neoplastic transformation in human cell culture systems in cultures: mechanisms of Carcinogenesis. Chicago, IL, USA. Organized by R.R. Weischenbaum, J.S. Rhim, A. Dritschilo, T.C. Yang, and J.C. Barrett.
- 1999 *In vitro transformation*. Cork, Ireland. A satellite meeting of the 11th international Congress of Radiation Research, Dublin, Ireland. Organized by J.S. Rhim and C. Mothersill.
- 2002 *Human cell culture 2002*, Oxford, UK. Joint meeting of European Tissue Culture Society, Scandinavian Society for Cell Toxicology and British Prostate Group, Oxford, UK. Organized by N.J. Maitland et al.
- 2010 Human cell transformation: role of stem cells and the microenvironment. McGill University Health Center, Montreal, QC, Canada. Organized by J.S. Rhim and Richard Kremer.
- 2018 *Human cell transformation: Advances in cell models for the study of cancer and aging.* McGill University Health Center, Montreal, QC, Canada. Organized by J.S. Rhim, A. Dritschilo and R. Kremer.
- 2019 Human cell transformation conference will be held at York, UK. Organized by N.J. Maitland, J.S. Rhim and F. Frame.

Acknowledgments

This conference was sponsored by;

Musculoskeletal Axis of the McGill University Health Center, QC H3AIAI, Canada

IRSC (Instituts de Recherche en Sante du Canada)

CIHR (Canadian Institutes of Health Research)

Reseau de Recherche en Sante Buccodentaire et osseuse, Canada

Medstar Georgetown University Hospital, Washington DC, USA

Lilly

Amegen

Novartis

AstraZeneca

Contents

Part I Mechanisms of Tumor Progression

Mechanisms Underlying Metastatic Pancreatic Cancer Jason R. Pitarresi and Anil K. Rustgi	3
Current Perspectives on Nasopharyngeal Carcinoma Hui Mei Lee, Kazuhida Shaun Okuda, Fermín E. González, and Vyomesh Patel	11
An In Vitro Model of Triple-Negative Breast Cancer J. Russo and Y. Su	35
Emerging Role of Novel Biomarkers of Ly6 Gene Family in Pan Cancer	47
The Oncoprotein Gankyrin/PSMD10 as a Targetof Cancer TherapyJun Fujita and Toshiharu Sakurai	63
Contributing Roles of CYP2E1 and Other Cytochrome P450 Isoforms in Alcohol-Related Tissue Injury and Carcinogenesis	73
Part II Prostate Cancer Progression	
Novel Human Prostate Epithelial Cell Cultures	91
African-American Prostate Normal and Cancer Cells for Health Disparities Research. Nicole Nicolas, Geeta Upadhyay, Alfredo Velena, Bhaskar Kallakury, Johng S. Rhim, Anatoly Dritschilo, and Mira Jung	101

Assessing the Advantages, Limitations and Potential of Human Primary Prostate Epithelial Cells as a Pre-clinical Model for Prostate Cancer Research	109
Role of Alternative Splicing in Prostate Cancer Aggressivenessand Drug Resistance in African AmericansJacqueline Olender and Norman H. Lee	119
Discovery of Metabolic Biomarkers Predicting Radiation Therapy Late Effects in Prostate Cancer Patients	141
Part III Skeletal Dysregulation and Cancer Spread to the Skeleton	
The Aging Skeleton 1 David Goltzman 1	153
Parathyroid Hormone-Related Protein (PTHrP):An Emerging Target in Cancer Progression and MetastasisRui Zhang, Jiarong Li, Gloria Assaker, Anne Camirand,Siham Sabri, Andrew C. Karaplis, and Richard Kremer	161
Targeting DNA Hypomethylation in Malignancyby Epigenetic TherapiesNiaz Mahmood and Shafaat A. Rabbani	179
Part IV Targeting the Tumor and Its Microenvironment	
Tumor Dormancy and Slow-Cycling Cancer Cells	199
Resolution of Cellular Heterogeneity in Human Prostate Cancers:Implications for Diagnosis and Treatment2Norman J. Maitland, Fiona M. Frame, Jayant K. Rane,Holger H. Erb, John R. Packer, Leanne K. Archer,and Davide Pellacani	207
Small Molecule Inhibition of Glycogen Synthase Kinase-3 in Cancer Immunotherapy 2 Alison Taylor and Christopher E. Rudd 2	225
Index	235

Part I

Mechanisms of Tumor Progression



Mechanisms Underlying Metastatic Pancreatic Cancer

Jason R. Pitarresi and Anil K. Rustgi

Abstract

Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma is an overwhelming fatal disease that often presents with overt metastases and ultimately causes the majority of cancer-associated deaths. The mechanisms underlying the metastatic cascade are complex, and research in recent years has begun to provide insights into the underlying drivers of this phenomenon. It has become clear that cancer cells, in particular pancreatic cancer cells, possess properties of plasticity involving bidirectional transition between epithelial and mesenchymal identities. Furthermore, recent work has begun to establish that there are distinct hybrid states between purely epithelial and purely mesenchymal states that cancer cells may reside, in order to thrive at different stages of carcinogenesis. We discuss how this plasticity is important for

A. K. Rustgi (⊠) Herbert Irving Comprehensive Cancer Center, Columbia University Irving Medical Center, New York, NY, USA e-mail: anil2@pennmedicine.upenn.edu different phases of the metastatic cascade, from delamination to colonization, and how different epithelial–mesenchymal states may affect metastatic organotropism. In this review, we summarize the current understanding of pancreatic cancer cell plasticity and metastasis, and highlight current model systems that can be used to study these phenomena.

Keywords

Pancreatic cancer · Epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) · Cellular plasticity · Metastasis · Metastatic organotropism

PDAC Metastasis and Outcomes

Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) is a major health issue in the USA, accounting for over 55,000 new cases and 44,000 deaths annually [1]. With fewer than 7% of patients surviving beyond 5 years and a projected increase in PDAC-associated deaths, PDAC will become the second leading cause of cancer deaths by 2020 [2]. Despite a significant emphasis being placed on improving early detection methods in PDAC patients, the majority of patients present with metastatic disease. The nearly universal mortality rate observed in PDAC is likely due to this unchecked metastatic potential.

J. R. Pitarresi

Division of Gastroenterology, Department of Medicine, Perelman School of Medicine, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, USA

Abramson Cancer Center, Perelman School of Medicine, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, USA

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

J. S. Rhim et al. (eds.), *Human Cell Transformation*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1164, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-22254-3_1

This dismal prognosis has not improved significantly for decades, likely due to the recently observed phenomenon that pancreatic cancer tumor cells are able to metastasize very early on during neoplastic transformation, before frank carcinoma is observed [3]. This observation, gleaned from genetically engineered mouse models (GEMMs) of PDAC, has rejuvenated the field of metastasis biology and provides an ideal model system for biologists to study the molecular underpinnings driving the metastatic cascade in this disease. The prevailing view in the field is that metastasis is facilitated through a process called epithelialto-mesenchymal transition (EMT), where tumor cells lose their epithelial cell identity and begin to gain mesenchymal characteristics. In this chapter, we will discuss the role of epithelial cell plasticity in pancreatic cancer metastasis and introduce new paradigms thought to drive the metastatic cascade in this disease.

Models of Metastasis

Genetically Engineered Mouse Models of Metastatic PDAC

A landmark genetic mouse model of pancreatic cancer has become a mainstay in the field and has been a vital tool to shape our understanding of the molecular pathogenesis of PDAC [4]. Hingorani and colleagues looked to mimic the genetic mutations in human PDAC patients, which are dominated by activating mutations in KRAS codon 12, 13, or 61 (up to 95% of patients) and TRP53 gain-of-function mutations (approximately 70% of patients) [5]. The resulting KPC mice, with inducible endogenous expression of mutant $Kras^{G12D}$ and mutant $Trp 53^{R172H}$ driven by the pancreatic epithelial cell-specific Pdx1-Cre transgene, developed invasive and metastatic PDAC that mirrors the human disease. These mice succumb to disease with a median survival of approximately 5 months, at which point metastasis to the liver and lung is evident. KPC mice have re-shaped the field and revolutionized our understanding of PDAC biology, including seminal studies that have utilized the KPC mouse to establish roles for the TGF-B pathway [6–8], Hedgehog signaling [9, 10], *Ink4a/Arf* [11, 12], *Brca1/2* [13–15], and other genes in PDAC tumorigenesis and progression. This now nearly ubiquitous model has provided an ideal model system to study the effect that genetic knockout of countless genes has on primary tumor formation and disease progression.

This model was expanded upon by Andrew Rhim in the laboratory of Ben Stanger through the introduction a Cre-inducible YFP lineage label driven by the same *Pdx1-Cre* transgene used to activate mutant KrasG12D and mutant $Trp53^{R172H}$ [3]. The subsequently named KCPY mice were used to show that dissemination occurs prior to frank malignancy and is driven by an underlying activation of an EMT program within the tumor cells. This model allows one to trace elegantly the metastatic process in pancreatic cancer, and is an invaluable resource in the field of metastasis biology. In particular, these mice grant us the ability to study of all stages of the metastatic cascade in vivo, from early invasion and growth into the surrounding tissue, to intravasation into the vasculature, travel through circulation, extravasation at the metastatic site, and colonization of the secondary tumor.

Orthotopic Models of Pancreatic Cancer Metastasis

The field has also adopted an orthotopic model of pancreatic cancer to quickly address the roles that a given gene may have during tumorigenesis and metastasis. Orthotopic injection of pancreatic tumor cells directly into the pancreas is an elegant approach that has been utilized for many years to efficiently test the effect of genetic alterations in PDAC tumor cells. Direct injection of KPC tumor cell cultures into the pancreas of syngeneic mice (or nude mice if cells are derived from a mixed background) yields primary tumors within days and metastatic lesions within weeks (protocol for orthotopic injection reviewed in [16]). This relatively easy and reliable in vivo method of pancreatic tumor formation is easier to genetically manipulate than autochthonous GEMMs, and yields reproducible primary tumor growth and metastasis kinetics. Injection of KCPY cultures gives the added advantage of being able to study metastasis in vivo, as previously discussed. Many studies in the pancreatic cancer field utilize both GEMMs and orthotopic models of cancer to address different aspects of tumor formation and metastatic disseminations, and both tools are great resources for studying the effect of genetic perturbation or pharmacological inhibition.

Mechanisms of Metastasis

EMT-MET Axis and Cellular Plasticity

The KPC and KPCY autochthonous pancreatic cancer models have been used by many in the field to determine the role of epithelial plasticity in PDAC metastasis. The original KCPY study demonstrated that YFP-tagged tumor cells undergo EMT and invade at an early stage to form micrometastases at the secondary site [3]. Subsequent studies have shown that a reversion to epithelial morphology, a phenomenon termed mesenchymal-to-epithelial transition (MET), is required to thrive and form macrometastases at the secondary site [17]. Conventionally, PDAC tumor cells are thought to gain more mesenchymal characteristics by undergoing EMT within the primary tumor, giving them the ability to invade into the tumor parenchyma, as they look for vasculature to begin their metastatic journey. After intravasating into blood vessels, tumor cells maintain their mesenchymal status and travel through the circulatory system, until they reach their eventual metastatic site, at which point they must extravasate into the secondary organ and undergo mesenchymal-to-epithelial transition (MET) to re-establish their epithelial identity. Once returned to an epithelial state, the tumor cells will begin to colonize and proliferate in the metastatic site. The prevailing thought is that the EMT-MET axis is very plastic, with tumor cells existing at various states throughout the spectrum in order to survive and thrive in their new environments (reviewed in [18]). Epithelial status is thought to be a pro-proliferative state, while mesenchymal status is a migratory state. Furthermore, cells undergoing EMT are thought to be more drug-resistant with a certain degree of stemness that allows them to thrive in adverse conditions, such as in circulation and when first arriving in foreign organ.

The EMT process is largely regulated at the transcriptional level through various transcription factors such as zinc finger E-box-binding homeobox 1 (ZEB1), twist-related protein 1 (TWIST), zinc finger protein SNAI1 (SNAIL), zinc finger protein SNAI2 (SLUG), and paired related homeobox protein 1 (PRRX1) (reviewed in [18]), although post-translational mechanisms have been invoked recently [19]. Conventionally, these transcription factors are thought to activate an EMT program as well as a stem cell-like program. However, the two processes are not completely linked, as is the case for PRRX1, which uncouples EMT and stemness [20]. Furthermore, PRRX1 has been shown to regulate other forms of epithelial plasticity within the pancreas, such as acinar-to-ductal metaplasia (ADM) [21], which indicate that these transcription factors have various context-specific roles for regulating plasticity at multiple levels. Perhaps more interesting, PRRX1 has two main isoforms, PRRX1A and *PRRX1B*, which promote MET and EMT, respectively [22]. This ability for these two isoforms to regulate both epithelial and mesenchymal states highlights the complex nature of the EMT-MET axis and showcases the plasticity inherent to the system. This has become especially evident in recent years, as various groups have begun to describe partial EMT intermediate or hybrid states. The epithelial state has been historically defined by E-CADHERIN (here E-CAD) and cytokeratins, and the mesenchymal state primarily through N-CADHERIN (herein N-CAD) and vimentin [23]. Therefore, EMT has classically been defined as loss of E-CAD and gain of N-CAD. However, the intermediate EMT states that have been described (i.e., partial loss of E-CAD or co-expression of both epithelial and mesenchymal markers within the same cell), the so-called hybrid epithelial and mesenchymal

phenotypes, have broadened the definition of an EMT cell. Importantly, these hybrid cells can undergo further EMT to become more mesenchymal, or the reverse MET to re-establish their epithelial identity. Indeed, one recent publication posited that EMT is dispensable for metastasis [24].

Metastatic Organotropism: The Role of Exosomes and EMT Modulators

Metastatic organotropism may have first been described over a century ago by the English surgeon, Stephen Paget, when he elegantly described a non-random pattern of metastasis in over 700 women who died from breast cancer [25]. Paget went on to postulate that tumor cells are a seed that will only propagate when they fall on congenial soil. This provocative idea continued to perplex biologists for much of the last century, as some have argued that tumor cells have intrinsic properties that help it choose the secondary organ, while others have shown that the metastatic site itself provides an environment that is favorable for growth. This debate is particularly well suited for PDAC, as it is one of the most metastatic cancers, with upwards of 80% of pancreatic cancer patients presenting with metastases [26]. In PDAC patients, the two most common sites of metastases are the liver and the lung, and recent evidence has begun to elucidate mechanisms that may determine liver-versus lung-tropic programs. This may be of particular clinical importance for PDAC patients, as those with isolated pulmonary recurrence after pancreaticoduodenectomy have significantly increased overall survival compared with patients who have metastases to other sites (40.3 months versus 20.9 months, respectively) [27]. A separate study corroborated this finding in an independent cohort by demonstrating that PDAC patients with lung-only metastases had a median survival of 31.8 months, while those with liver-only metastases survived 9.1 months [28]. Therefore, we will delve into the underlying processes that have been proposed to control metastatic organotropism in PDAC.

Tumor exosomes, small membrane vesicles (30–100 nm) secreted by tumor cells, are pack-

aged with a plethora of biological molecules including, but not limited to, DNA, RNA, miRNA, and protein (reviewed in [29]). Exosomes produced by the primary tumor are able to enter the circulation and have been shown to set up a pre-metastatic niche in secondary organs prior to tumor cell arrival and seeding. This pre-metastatic niche alters the local microenvironment to make it conducive for growth of the parental exosome-producing cell. Thus, to extend Paget's analogy, exosomes are secreted by the seed and fundamentally change the soil, thus priming it for implantation of the seed. In PDAC, this has been shown elegantly by David Lyden's group, where they established that tumor-derived exosomes are taken up by resident cells at the metastatic site to prepare the pre-metastatic niche [30]. Specifically, they demonstrated that the exosomal integrins $\alpha_6\beta_4$ and $\alpha_6\beta_1$ were associated with lung metastasis, while exosomal integrin $\alpha_{\nu}\beta_{5}$ with liver metastasis. Thus, their work has established that pre-metastatic niche formation by exosomal education is a potential mechanism of metastatic organotropism in PDAC. Furthermore, this work has led to the premise that identification of sub-populations of tumor-derived exosomes in circulation may help to predict eventual sites of metastases, and that increased monitoring to those sites may be beneficial. A related study by Achim Krüger's group identified Tissue Inhibitor of Metalloproteinases-1 (TIMP-1) as a pre-metastatic niche modifier in the hepatic microenvironment and showed that patients with high plasma TIMP-1 have increased incidence of liver metastases [31]. It is not yet undetermined if TIMP-1 is a global prometastatic molecule (i.e., promotes all metastases, and not just liver-tropic metastases), as the authors did not discuss potential roles in other metastatic sites, outside of the liver. However, the proposed mode of action for promoting liver metastasis by TIMP-1 is that it activates hepatic stellate cells to prime the liver for metastases, and we speculate that this is a liver-tropic mechanism of metastasis and would not apply to the resident lung environment. Future studies might identify that other secreted factors are able to act on resident lung cells as potential lung-tropic mechanisms.

Another proposed mechanism of liver versus lung metastatic tropism is that internal mechanisms within the tumor cell give it unique characteristics that will determine the liver- or lung-tropic phenotype. Specifically, we have shown that genetic deletion of either P120CTN (encoded by Ctndd1) or E-CAD (encoded by Cdh1) in KPCY mice forces tumor cells to undergo EMT and dramatically increases metastatic load specifically to the lung [32]. This is in stark contrast to control KPCY mice, which primarily metastasize to the liver, at a much lower rate. We propose that tumor cells that metastasize to the liver require P120CTN-mediated restabilization of membranous E-CAD, in order to undergo MET and colonize the liver. Cells that lack P120CTN or E-CAD are unable to undergo MET and exclusively metastasize to the lung, which allows for metastatic colonization in cells that maintain a mesenchymal state (i.e., cells that have undergone EMT, but cannot revert to an epithelial state through MET). Taken in the context of the potential hybrid EMT cells discussed earlier, it is likely that, in an evolving tumor, subpopulations of cells exist that are at various stages of the EMT-MET axis, and that these cells may seed the lung if they are more mesenchymal and the liver if they are more epithelial.

We do not propose that these are the only mechanisms of metastatic organotropism, and likely that many systems are likely at play de novo in PDAC patients. It is tantalizing to speculate that the cell-intrinsic mechanisms that drive tropism (i.e., P120CTN or E-CAD protein loss in the primary tumor) could give rise to two different cell populations that interact with their premetastatic niche in unique ways. In this scenario, cells which have undergone EMT, and are therefore possessing mesenchymal characteristics, might have increased expression of lung-tropic exosomes with integrins $\alpha_6\beta_4$ and $\alpha_6\beta_1$. On the opposite side of the spectrum, cells that can undergo MET and thus possess epithelial characteristics might express exosomes with $\alpha_{\nu}\beta_{5}$ and metastasize to the liver. This may, in part, explain why some patients present with both liver and lung metastases, as their heterogenous primary tumor may be comprised of cells with both epithelial and mesenchymal characteristics, which simultaneously send both liver-tropic and lungtropic exosomes to their secondary sites, preparing both for colonization. It is likely that these and many other mechanisms of metastatic organotropism are working simultaneous and that their interplay is what ultimately determines the site of metastasis.

Epigenetic and Post-Transcriptional Regulators of EMT and Metastasis

As previously mentioned, EMT has classically been described as a transcriptionally regulated process through EMT-transcription factors (EMT-TFs herein). However, recent data in PDAC have started to shift this paradigm by establishing that EMT can also be regulated through epigenetic and post-transcriptional mechanisms.

The primary means of regulating PDAC EMT at the epigenetic level have been through histone modifications, DNA methylation, and miRNAmediated control of canonical EMT-TFs (reviewed in [33, 34]). Histone Deacetylase 1 and 2 (HDAC1 and HDAC2 herein) have been the most well-studied deacetylases that facilitate the epithelial plasticity observed PDAC, mostly in regard to their silencing of E-cadherin (CDH1) expression. This silencing is observed in highly metastatic PDAC cells and is mediated through a transcriptional repressor complex between SNAIL and HDAC1/2 that hones to the CDH1 regulatory elements [35]. A similar study showed that recruitment of the HDAC1/2 to the CDH1 promoter can also be accomplished by ZEB1/HDAC repressor complexes [36], indicating that this may be a more generalized mechanism of regulating epithelial identity in PDAC. In the absence of SNAIL or ZEB1, CDH1 remains acetylated and silenced, as HDACs are unable to be recruited to the promoter [35, 36]. Clinically, the class I HDAC inhibitor, mocetinostat, has the ability to reverse EMT by interfering with ZEB1 function [37]. This is not unique to HDAC inhibitors, as various small molecular inhibitors of epigenetic readers, writers, and erasers have shown promise in PDAC GEMMs previously discussed (reviewed in [38]). High expression of the histone methyltransferase enhancer of zeste homologue 2 (herein EZH2), in particular, has been shown to promote PDAC cell plasticity and to be a poor prognosis indicator in PDAC patients [39]. Genetic deletion or pharmacologic inhibition of EZH2: enhanced the anti-proliferative effect of gemcitabine, reversed EMT, and inhibited cellular migration in PDAC cells [40, 41]. Collectively, these studies have demonstrated that many different histone modifiers have the ability to modulate cellular plasticity in PDAC and targeting these molecules may be an Achilles heel in the EMT cascade. One of the most well-studied routes of miRNA-mediated epigenetic regulation of EMT in PDAC is through the miR-200 family. The p53miR-200c axis has been studied in PDAC, where loss of p53 downregulates miR-200c, which alleviates normally represses the EMT program by degrading EMT-TF mRNAs [42, 43]. The broader miR-200 family appears to have similar roles in negatively regulating EMT [44-46], and overexpression of miR-200a or miR-200b in PDAC cells downregulated EMT-TFs [47], suggesting a conserved mechanism. All of these processes being described fundamentally alter the expression levels of critical EMT regulators, and either suppress or enhance EMT.

Ben Stanger's group has recently provided some provocative work demonstrating that regulation of E-CAD protein level and localization is important for the degree of plasticity achieved during EMT. To that end, they established that two distinct EMT programs exist in PDAC: complete EMT (C-EMT) and partial EMT (P-EMT) [19, 54]. C-EMT was shown to be primarily driven through transcriptional repression of the epithelial program (i.e., downregulated expression of classical epithelial genes like Cdh1), while P-EMT maintained epithelial cell identity transcripts, but functionally altered the protein products of these genes. Specifically, P-EMT is mediated by re-localization of E-CAD from the membrane to the cytoplasm, causing cells to lose their epithelial cell qualities. Ultimately, both sub-types turn on mesenchymal gene programs during their respective EMTs, but repressed their epithelial cell identity through different

mechanisms. Interestingly, both types of EMT cells were able to undergo MET, but differed in their invasive and metastatic qualities. P-EMT cells maintained their cell-to-cell contacts and invaded as clusters of cells, while C-EMT cells completely lost the ability to form cell junctions and invaded as single cells. This is important in vivo, as it has been known for nearly 40 years that circulating tumor cells (CTCs) that form clusters are more metastatic [48-52], and suggests that P-EMT cell clusters will have enhanced metastatic potential. Furthermore, this model of partial EMT fits well with the previously GEMM data in that P120CTN loss causes re-localization of E-CAD protein from the membrane to the cytoplasm, akin to the P-EMT [32]. Importantly, others have shown that PDAC patients who have cytoplasmic staining of P120CTN have significantly decreased survival relative to those with membranous P120CTN [53], which may mark a patient population undergoing partial EMT.

Concluding Remarks

We have discussed various means of regulating epithelial cell identity in PDAC and have introduced emerging paradigms that are re-shaping the broader EMT field. The publications reviewed herein have truly re-invigorated the field of EMT research in pancreatic cancer, and new insights will hopefully translate into new approaches for early detection, risk stratification, and therapy.

References

- Siegel, R. L., Miller, K. D., & Jemal, A. (2018). Cancer statistics, 2018. CA: a Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 68(1), 7–30.
- Ma, J., & Jemal, A. (2013). The rise and fall of cancer mortality in the USA: Why does pancreatic cancer not follow the trend? *Future Oncology*, 9(7), 917–919.
- Rhim, A. D., et al. (2012). EMT and dissemination precede pancreatic tumor formation. *Cell*, 148(1-2), 349–361.
- Hingorani, S. R., et al. (2005). Trp53R172H and KrasG12D cooperate to promote chromosomal instability and widely metastatic pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma in mice. *Cancer Cell*, 7(5), 469–483.

- Biankin, A. V., et al. (2012). Pancreatic cancer genomes reveal aberrations in axon guidance pathway genes. *Nature*, 491(7424), 399–405.
- Bardeesy, N., et al. (2006). Smad4 is dispensable for normal pancreas development yet critical in progression and tumor biology of pancreas cancer. *Genes & Development*, 20(22), 3130–3146.
- Ijichi, H., et al. (2006). Aggressive pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma in mice caused by pancreas-specific blockade of transforming growth factor-beta signaling in cooperation with active Kras expression. *Genes & Development*, 20(22), 3147–3160.
- Izeradjene, K., et al. (2007). Kras(G12D) and Smad4/ Dpc4 haploinsufficiency cooperate to induce mucinous cystic neoplasms and invasive adenocarcinoma of the pancreas. *Cancer Cell*, 11(3), 229–243.
- Olive, K. P., et al. (2009). Inhibition of hedgehog signaling enhances delivery of chemotherapy in a mouse model of pancreatic cancer. *Science*, *324*(5933), 1457–1461.
- Rhim, A. D., et al. (2014). Stromal elements act to restrain, rather than support, pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Cell*, 25(6), 735–747.
- Aguirre, A. J., et al. (2003). Activated Kras and Ink4a/Arf deficiency cooperate to produce metastatic pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Genes & Development*, 17(24), 3112–3126.
- Bardeesy, N., et al. (2006). Both p16(Ink4a) and the p19(Arf)-p53 pathway constrain progression of pancreatic adenocarcinoma in the mouse. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America, 103(15), 5947–5952.
- Skoulidis, F., et al. (2010). Germline Brca2 heterozygosity promotes Kras(G12D) -driven carcinogenesis in a murine model of familial pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Cell*, 18(5), 499–509.
- Shakya, R., et al. (2011). BRCA1 tumor suppression depends on BRCT phosphoprotein binding, but not its E3 ligase activity. *Science*, *334*(6055), 525–528.
- Rowley, M., et al. (2011). Inactivation of Brca2 promotes Trp53-associated but inhibits KrasG12Ddependent pancreatic cancer development in mice. *Gastroenterology*, 140(4), 1303–1313.e1-3.
- Aiello, N. M., Rhim, A. D., & Stanger, B. Z. (2016). Orthotopic injection of pancreatic cancer cells. *Cold Spring Harbor Protocols*, 2016(1), pdb.prot078360.
- Aiello, N. M., et al. (2016). Metastatic progression is associated with dynamic changes in the local microenvironment. *Nature Communications*, 7, 12819.
- Nieto, M. A., et al. (2016). Emt: 2016. Cell, 166(1), 21–45.
- Aiello, N. M., et al. (2018). EMT subtype influences epithelial plasticity and mode of cell migration. *Developmental Cell*, 45(6), 681–695.e4.
- Ocana, O. H., et al. (2012). Metastatic colonization requires the repression of the epithelial-mesenchymal transition inducer Prrx1. *Cancer Cell*, 22(6), 709–724.
- Reichert, M., et al. (2013). The Prrx1 homeodomain transcription factor plays a central role in pancreatic regeneration and carcinogenesis. *Genes & Development*, 27(3), 288–300.

- Takano, S., et al. (2016). Prrx1 isoform switching regulates pancreatic cancer invasion and metastatic colonization. *Genes & Development*, 30(2), 233–247.
- Thiery, J. P., et al. (2009). Epithelial-mesenchymal transitions in development and disease. *Cell*, 139(5), 871–890.
- Zheng, X., et al. (2015). Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition is dispensable for metastasis but induces chemoresistance in pancreatic cancer. *Nature*, 527(7579), 525–530.
- 25. Paget, S. (1989). The distribution of secondary growths in cancer of the breast. 1889. *Cancer and Metastasis Reviews*, 8(2), 98–101.
- 26. Data, S. R. (2018). Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) Program (www.seer.cancer. gov) Research Data (1973–2015). National Cancer Institute, DCCPS, Surveillance Research Program, released April 2018, based on the November 2017 submission.
- Yamashita, K., et al. (2015). Survival impact of pulmonary metastasis as recurrence of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Digestive Surgery*, 32(6), 464–471.
- Decoster, C., et al. (2016). Heterogeneity of metastatic pancreatic adenocarcinoma: Lung metastasis show better prognosis than liver metastasis-a case control study. *Oncotarget*, 7(29), 45649–45655.
- Azmi, A. S., Bao, B., & Sarkar, F. H. (2013). Exosomes in cancer development, metastasis, and drug resistance: A comprehensive review. *Cancer Metastasis Reviews*, 32(3-4), 623–642.
- Hoshino, A., et al. (2015). Tumour exosome integrins determine organotropic metastasis. *Nature*, 527(7578), 329–335.
- 31. Grunwald, B., et al. (2016). Pancreatic premalignant lesions secrete tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1, which activates hepatic stellate cells via CD63 signaling to create a premetastatic niche in the liver. *Gastroenterology*, 151(5), 1011–1024 e7.
- Reichert, M., et al. (2018). Regulation of epithelial plasticity determines metastatic organotropism in pancreatic cancer. *Developmental Cell*, 45(6), 696– 711.e8.
- Skrypek, N., et al. (2017). Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition: Epigenetic reprogramming driving cellular plasticity. *Trends in Genetics*, 33(12), 943–959.
- Bedi, U., et al. (2014). Epigenetic plasticity: A central regulator of epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in cancer. *Oncotarget*, 5(8), 2016–2029.
- 35. von Burstin, J., et al. (2009). E-cadherin regulates metastasis of pancreatic cancer in vivo and is suppressed by a SNAIL/HDAC1/HDAC2 repressor complex. *Gastroenterology*, *137*(1), 361–71, 371 e1-5.
- Aghdassi, A., et al. (2012). Recruitment of histone deacetylases HDAC1 and HDAC2 by the transcriptional repressor ZEB1 downregulates E-cadherin expression in pancreatic cancer. *Gut*, 61(3), 439–448.
- Meidhof, S., et al. (2015). ZEB1-associated drug resistance in cancer cells is reversed by the class I HDAC inhibitor mocetinostat. *EMBO Molecular Medicine*, 7(6), 831–847.

- Hessmann, E., et al. (2017). Epigenetic treatment of pancreatic cancer: Is there a therapeutic perspective on the horizon? *Gut*, 66(1), 168–179.
- Toll, A. D., et al. (2010). Implications of enhancer of zeste homologue 2 expression in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Human Pathology*, 41(9), 1205–1209.
- 40. Ougolkov, A. V., Bilim, V. N., & Billadeau, D. D. (2008). Regulation of pancreatic tumor cell proliferation and chemoresistance by the histone methyltransferase enhancer of zeste homologue 2. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 14(21), 6790–6796.
- 41. Avan, A., et al. (2012). Molecular mechanisms involved in the synergistic interaction of the EZH2 inhibitor 3-deazaneplanocin A with gemcitabine in pancreatic cancer cells. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 11(8), 1735–1746.
- Singh, S. K., et al. (2015). Antithetical NFATc1-Sox2 and p53-miR200 signaling networks govern pancreatic cancer cell plasticity. *The EMBO Journal*, 34(4), 517–530.
- Ma, C., et al. (2015). MicroRNA-200c overexpression plays an inhibitory role in human pancreatic cancer stem cells by regulating epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *Minerva Medica*, 106(4), 193–202.
- 44. Bao, B., et al. (2011). Notch-1 induces epithelialmesenchymal transition consistent with cancer stem cell phenotype in pancreatic cancer cells. *Cancer Letters*, 307(1), 26–36.
- Wu, X., et al. (2016). MiR-200a suppresses the proliferation and metastasis in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma through downregulation of DEK gene. *Translational Oncology*, 9(1), 25–31.
- 46. Zhong, X., et al. (2016). Suppression of MicroRNA 200 family expression by oncogenic KRAS activation

promotes cell survival and epithelial-mesenchymal transition in KRAS-driven cancer. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, *36*(21), 2742–2754.

- 47. Li, Y., et al. (2009). Up-regulation of miR-200 and let-7 by natural agents leads to the reversal of epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in gemcitabine-resistant pancreatic cancer cells. *Cancer Research*, 69(16), 6704–6712.
- Fidler, I. J. (1973). The relationship of embolic homogeneity, number, size and viability to the incidence of experimental metastasis. *European Journal of Cancer*, 9(3), 223–227.
- Liotta, L. A., Kleinerman, J., & Saidel, G. M. (1974). Quantitative relationships of intravascular tumor cells, tumor vessels, and pulmonary metastases following tumor implantation. *Cancer Research*, 34(5), 997–1004.
- Thompson, S. C. (1974). The colony forming efficiency of single cells and cell aggregates from a spontaneous mouse mammary tumour using the lung colony assay. *British Journal of Cancer*, 30(4), 332–336.
- Liotta, L. A., Saidel, M. G., & Kleinerman, J. (1976). The significance of hematogenous tumor cell clumps in the metastatic process. *Cancer Research*, 36(3), 889–894.
- Lione, A., & Bosmann, H. B. (1978). Quantitative relationship between volume of tumour cell units and their intravascular survival. *British Journal of Cancer*, 37(2), 248–253.
- Melo, S. A., et al. (2015). Glypican-1 identifies cancer exosomes and detects early pancreatic cancer. *Nature*, 523(7559), 177–182.
- 54. Aiello, N. M., et al. (2017). Upholding a role for EMT in pancreatic cancer metastasis. *Nature*, *547*(7661), E7–E8.



Current Perspectives on Nasopharyngeal Carcinoma

Hui Mei Lee, Kazuhida Shaun Okuda, Fermín E. González, and Vyomesh Patel

Abstract

Of the ~129,079 new cases of nasopharyngeal carcinoma (NPC) and 72,987 associated deaths estimated for 2018, the majority will be geographically localized to South East Asia, and likely to show an upward trend annually. It is thought that disparities in dietary habits, lifestyle, and exposures to harmful environmental factors are likely the root cause of NPC incidence rates to differ geographically. Genetic differences due to ethnicity and the Epstein Barr virus (EBV) are likely contributing factors. Pertinently, NPC is associated with poor prognosis which is largely attributed to lack of awareness of the salient symptoms of NPC. These include nose hemorrhage and headaches and coupled with detection and the limited therapeutic options. Treatment options include radiotherapy or chemotherapy or combination of both. Surgical excision is generally the last option considered for

H. M. Lee · V. Patel (⊠) Cancer Research Malaysia, Subang Jaya, Selangor, Malaysia

K. S. Okuda

Division of Genomics of Development and Disease, Institute for Molecular Bioscience, The University of Queensland, St Lucia, QLD, Australia

F. E. González

Laboratory of Experimental Immunology and Cancer, Faculty of Dentistry, Universidad de Chile, Santiago, Chile advanced and metastatic disease, given the close proximity of nasopharynx to brain stem cell area, major blood vessels, and nerves. To improve outcome of NPC patients, novel cellular and in vivo systems are needed to allow an understanding of the underling molecular events causal for NPC pathogenesis and for identifying novel therapeutic targets and effective therapies. While challenges and gaps in current NPC research are noted, some advances in targeted therapies and immunotherapies targeting EBV NPCs are discussed in this chapter, which may offer improvements in outcome of NPC patients.

Keywords

Asian cancer · Nasopharynx · Epithelial cells · Therapies · Cell lines · Animal models

Introduction

Historic Perspective

As reviewed by Muir CS, early cases of nasopharyngeal carcinomas (NPC), circa nineteenth century, were very often poorly described, misdiagnosed, or misclassified. This was broadly due to the poor understanding of the disease and the associated symptoms at that time. For example, while symptoms of enlarged neck glands,

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

J. S. Rhim et al. (eds.), *Human Cell Transformation*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1164, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-22254-3_2

blocked nose including hemorrhage from the nose, and difficulty in hearing were recorded, diagnosis were often made without histopathological evaluation leading to misdiagnosis of symptoms that included among many, small cell medullary cancer. Classifications were equally confounding and classified for example, as medullary cancer invading lymph tissue, epithelioma to lymphoepithelioma due to lymphocytic infiltrate in the lesions. Also, mentioned were some of the early treatments used for these misdiagnosed cases. Treatment ranged from radical surgery, use of nitric acid, opium, and ligation of the carotids. Etiology of these early cases of NPC was based on opinions and speculations and broadly focused on smoke exposures from sources such as tobacco and opium smoking and candles. In China, NPC was described as cancer of the neck glands, but it was not until early twentieth century that the first diagnosis of NPC was made. The diagnosis made was that the cancer's origin was the epithelium of the nasopharynx and noting that this cancer type was unusually predominant in large parts of China and migrant Chinese communities residing in nearby locations (Singapore, Indonesia) and more distant locations (USA, Europe) which suggested an underlying genetic basis for this disease [1]. However, past data have also reported elevated incidence rates of NPCs among the Malays and Dayaks indigenous population of Borneo which were comparable to the Sarawak Chinese, in non-Chinese mongoloid populations of Vietnam and Thailand, and in certain countries of the African subcontinent, which suggested a viral or environmental etiological factor for this disease [2, 3]. In support, recent data noted a decline in NPC rates in Chinese migrants living in low-risk countries (Peru, Canada, USA) further suggesting a change in life style habit from exposures to more traditional diet of, for example, salted dried fish and further mentioned below in this chapter [4]. Other compounding factors that hindered advancing our knowledge on NPC included past estimates of new cancer cases. For 1980, these were limited to ~24 geographic locations and to 16 common cancer sites, with several cancers classed as groups. For example, oral and pharyngeal cancers were classed as a group, as classifications to further subdivide them was not harmonized. Consequently, in high-risk populations of Hong Kong and Singapore for developing NPC for example, NPC cases were omitted from the 1980 estimates in order to obtain figures for the broad oral-pharyngeal group. Pertinently, estimated total number of cancer cases which did not include NPC were estimated to be at ~6.35 million [5]. Furthermore, lack of Ear Nose and Throat (ENT) departments in these geographic regions was likely the reason for NPC cases being under reported or not fully evaluated to included cervical lymph nodes for making a definitive diagnosis [2].

Current Perspectives

More recent GLOBOCAN cancer estimates now include NPC as a cancer site, distinct from other head and neck cancers (lip, oral, larynx, oropharynx, hypopharynx) among the 36 cancer sites evaluated. Using data available from the most recent report, an estimated 18.1 million new cases and 9.6 million cancer deaths will be recorded for 2018 worldwide. Importantly, almost half of these cases and cancer deaths for 2018 will be in countries in Asia, where ~60% of the world population reside and exposed to dietary and environmental risk factors. From these estimates, ~129,079 new cases and 72,987 deaths will be attributed to NPC and as alluded to, most of these cases will be confined to countries in Asia [6]. Risk factors for NPC still remain poorly understood, however, those that are now thought to be key, are further discussed in detail in this chapter. Also, early symptoms of NPC like most other cancers are asymptomatic and include headache, neuropathic facial pain, cervical mass, epistaxis, or nasal obstruction, resulting in misdiagnosis, delay in treatment, and poor outcome. The current standard of care for suspicious NPC in at-risk populations, calls for a full endoscopic evaluation of the upper aerodigestive tract for a diagnosis followed by treatment. Recent data suggest that misdiagnosis of NPC patients with symptoms of headaches for example, was

~43.4%, and even with endoscopy median time from presentation of symptoms to treatment was ~6 months and most notably ~30% of the NPCs were missed with nasal endoscopy. Collectively, there is an unmet need for improved awareness of risk factors, presenting symptoms, and limitations associated with diagnostic evaluations, to prevent misdiagnosis, improve early detection for receiving treatment that will likely confer a favorable outcome [7, 8]. It is worth mentioning that in some regions of SE Asia, time between diagnosis and start of radiotherapy as first-line treatment was ~120 days resulting in a negative impact on the overall survival of NPC patients, which was partly attributed to unaffordability of the treatment, but the major contributor nonetheless, was the limited number of radiotherapy facilities available [9].

NPC is a malignancy that arises in the outer most epithelium lining of the nasopharynx cavity located above the oropharynx and hypopharynx, in close proximity to the base of the skull. The cancer shows a variable degree of squamous differentiation where the vast majority of tumors that present in Asian countries are undifferentiated without evidence of keratinization and can be classified as non-keratinizing undifferentiated with mild lymphatic infiltration or non-keratinizing differentiated NPCs (Fig. 1a, b). As with most cancers, the stage of the disease is a key prognostic factor that impacts outcome and survival. Recent data shows that early stage NPC treated with radiotherapy alone responds most favorable but lesions with disease progression; locoregional and distant recurrences impact the 5-year overall survival rates which drop from $\sim 90\%$ to 75%for stage I and stage II diseases. Also, treatment prescribed for lesions with progression is concurrent chemo-radiotherapy which can result in toxic side effects. Prognosis is further compromised if NPC is diagnosed with cervical or retropharyngeal nodal metastases as these patients may have increased risk for distant



Fig. 1 Hematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) staining of common NPC cases that present in Asia and are sub-grouped into (**a**) non-keratinizing undifferentiated with mild lymphatic infiltration and (**b**) non-keratinizing differentiated lesions

micro-metastases that would also require concurrent chemo-radiotherapy. Notably, late stage IV disease can account for ~10% of all NPC cases in at-risk regions with data showing that this patient cohort can have a 1-year survival rate of ~48% with standard-of-care chemoradiotherapy [10].

Broadly, NPC remains a major public health concern, given that number of new cases of NPCs and deaths due to the disease are likely to increase within Asia, coinciding with an increase in world population. While advances have been made with intensity-modulated radiation therapy (IMRT), options for chemotherapy remain unchanged. As already mentioned, a better awareness and understanding early symptoms of NPC will enhance early detection and almost immediate treatment with IMRT and improve outcome of NPC patients. Also, reduced exposures to likely risk factors such as incomplete combustion of fossil fuels and wood fires used in cooking and food processing (salted dried fish) leading to smoke particulates being trapped in the nasopharynx can likely impact incidence rates of NPCs. This chapter will cover current perspectives on incidence rates of NPC and likely risk factors, for example, Epstein Barr virus (EBV), that are known to be associated with the disease and the impact of migration of at-risk population. Importantly, headwind in knowledge gaps and key challenges in NPC *bench-to-bedside* translational research in the context of model systems will be discussed. Finally, immunotherapy as approach for NPC therapy and novel zebrafish models that may have value for identifying novel therapies for NPC, with the view of improved understanding of the molecular basis of human NPC development and treatment options for improved outcome, will be mentioned.

Epidemiology

Incidence Rate

Based on variation in genetics of different subpopulation and cultural practices that influence eating habits, certain cancers have a higher prevalence in some ethnic groups in different parts of the world. One of the cancers with unique ethnic and geographical distribution is NPC. As already mentioned, this cancer most commonly starts in the epithelium lining of the nasopharynx, an area that is ~4 cm in length and 3 cm width located at the back of the nasal cavity and toward the back and base of the skull. NPC is a subset of head and neck cancers and can be categorized into keratinizing NPC or non-keratinizing NPC [11]. This cancer is highly prevalent in China in Provinces within the East to South Eastern region of the country. For example, Guangdong, Guangxi, Zhongshan, and Hong Kong have an agestandardized incidence rate per 100,000 population (ASR) at more than 10 [12]. Furthermore, Zhongshan and Zhuhai have some of the highest ASR at 25 and 24, respectively, twice the ASR in comparison to nearby states. Collectively, human population of Chinese descendants residing in South East Asia have intermediate risk with the highest ASR in Brunei at 13.6, followed by 10.6 in Malaysia and 9.5 in Singapore. In other countries in South East Asia such as Philippines, Vietnam, Thailand, the ASR is ~ 3 to 5. and Interestingly, population residing in the African subcontinent have a moderate risk of developing NPC with ASRs of ~5.9 for Sétif Province in Algeria and 4.4 for Nairobi in Kenya. In other regions of the globe, for example, North America, Europe, Latin America, Caribbean, and Oceania by contrast, NPC is considered as a rare disease with an ASR of less than 2. However, certain native indigenous groups in low-risk regions have elevated risk at an order of magnitude equivalent of endemic regions, for example, ASR of Nunavut region in Canada is ~15.2, while for Alaska's indigenous natives, USA, and Pacific Islanders in New Zealand, ASRs are 6.2 and 5.5, respectively [12]. These data strongly suggest a role of genetic susceptibility for developing NPC. Lastly, gender also has an impact on the ASR of NPC where males are threefold more likely to develop NPC compared to female [13]. As already mentioned, close to 60% of new cases of NPCs and associated deaths for 2018 will occur within Asia [6]. Global rates of NPC including those occurring in Asian countries and within ethnic sub-populations are depicted in Fig. 2a.

Impact of Human Migration on NPC Incidents

In an era of globalization where migration occurs to seek improved life quality, career, and education, dynamics of cancer incidences can change



Fig. 2 (a) Incidence rates of NPC estimated for 2018. (b) Age-standardized rates (ASR) of NPC in Asia and (c) relative fold change ASR within migrated ethnic

sub-populations compared to the overall population of the area. Adopted from GLOBOCAN 2018 and Bray et al. [6]

as well. For domestic migration, people generally move from poorer rural areas to the cities. For example, in China NPC incidence was noted to be ~2.23 in urbanized areas, an ASR that was marginally higher when compared to rural areas where the ASR was ~ 2.07 in 2013. This was attributed to lifestyle that leads to increased exposures to risk factors (salted dried fish, environmental toxicant) as well as better data quality in cancer registries at cancer centers in major hospitals of large cities [14]. For international migration, migrants from endemic regions continue to have higher risks of developing NPC after migration to non-endemic regions of the world. For instance, the incidence rate of NPC in Chinese in USA is ~tenfold higher than the general US population. Similarly, ASR of immigrants from South East Asia residing in Sweden is ~30-fold higher [12, 15]. While underlying genetic factors contributing to the disease still remain to be elucidated, environmental factors also have a detrimental impact as the second and third generation of Chinese in California, USA, show reduced risk of NPC as compared to their parents [16]. Nonetheless, migration also affects the incidence of the histopathological type of NPC in low-risk countries. For example, incidence of keratinizing NPC which is more prevalent in low-risk regions and among the Caucasian population showed a gradual reduction from 47% to 35% from 1989 to 2009 in the Netherlands. On the other hand, incidence of non-keratinizing NPC has increased steadily from 45% to 59% over the same year span [17]. Of interest, studies have shown that Caucasian descendants had higher risks of developing NPC after relocating to endemic areas [18, 19]. Figure 2b, c depicts the latest (2018) incidence rates of NPC within Asian countries and migrated ethnic sub-populations.

Risk Factors

Epstein Barr Virus (EBV)

NPC is intimately associated with exposure to the Epstein Barr virus (EBV). EBV is a ubiquitous virus infecting ~90% of the world population, yet

only a fraction of population develops cancerrelated to EBV, considering that B-cells and epithelial cells are prone to EBV infection. In B-cell-related cancer, EBV infection can be detected in up to 40% of Hodgkin lymphoma and ~95% in Burkitt lymphoma especially in regions where malaria is endemic [20, 21]. As for solid epithelial cancers, almost all patients diagnosed with undifferentiated NPC and ~10% of gastric cancer cases are EBV-positive [22]. As well as undergoing H&E histopathological evaluation, NPC biopsies are also assessed for the presence of EBV. This is achieved by probing for the EBVencoded RNA (EBER) by in situ hybridization (ISH), and the non-isotopic probe gives a purple signal that is localized to the nuclei of affected cells and an indication of viral copy number. A representative EBER ISH staining of a confirmed NPC biopsy is shown in Fig. 3. Due to this causal link for a subset of cancers, the EBV genome has been actively investigated since the 1980s to better understand the molecular characteristics and the open reading frames of the virus which encode genes that could be responsible for NPC development. Of interest though, recent data now show that the EBV genome from different geographic locations share high similarity within the open reading frames with the exception for the differences noted in the open reading frame that encodes EBNA2 and EBNA-3, and consequently categorized as either EBV-1 or EBV-2. Notably, EBV-1 is common in most parts of the world, whereas EBV-2 is now known to be prevalent in African subcontinent. Although the genetic differences in these two EBV genomes are small, recent data demonstrated that a single amino acid change from serine to aspartate in EBNA2 of EBV-2 was sufficient to enhance the growth of B-lymphoblastoid cell line similar to cells infected by EBV-1 [23–26].

To further understand how minor genomic diversity in EBV contributes to different types of cancer across geographical regions, a recent study sequenced the EBV genomes isolated from patients diagnosed with different EBV-positive cancers. Principal-component analysis (PCA) of single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP) identified in different EBV genomes demonstrated that EBV





of Asian origin was clustered separately from other geographic regions. Furthermore, the authors also proposed that these minimal differences in EBV genome of Asian origin could be a contributing factor in NPC development compared to EBV of other origins [27]. In 2017, Tsai and colleagues further explored the infection and tumor induction efficiencies of the different strains of EBV. They demonstrated that YCCEL1, a cell line established from a Korean gastric cancer patient positive for EBVaGC (or otherwise known as M81), an EBV subtype with enhanced pathogenic potential isolated from a Chinese patient diagnosed with NPC, could readily and efficiently infect respiratory epithelial and gastric cancer cells when compared to EBV producing Akata cells isolated from Burkitt lymphoma and the non-human primate EBV shredding B95-8 cells [28, 29]. It was suggested that the high expression of the viral glycoprotein, gp110, could enpower EBV with properties of tropism to enhance infection efficiency of the virus in epithelial cells [28]. Besides differential expression of glycoproteins, the infection phase of EBV should also be noted. EBV infection can be latent or lytic. During latent infection, the virus only replicates when the cell is dividing, whereas during lytic infection, linearized EBV genome with various number of tandem 500 base pair (bp) repeats at each terminus is being packaged as virus particles for transmission from saliva to epithelial cells. Once inside the epithelial cells, EBV genome does not integrate into the host genome, but the terminals of the virus fuse together to form episomes and consequently the infection remains as latent infection. Detection of fused terminal fragments with similar sizes from NPC biopsies

suggests that NPC may start from a clonal expansion of a single EBV-positive cell [30]. Currently, the molecular basis associated with EBV pathogenesis in the nasopharyngeal epithelium remains largely unknown.

Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms (SNPs)

To date, more than 100 genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have been carried out to identify single nucleotide polymorphisms' (SNPs) genetic variants that may lead to the development of NPC. One of the most consistent finding is that certain human leucocyte antigen (HLA) class I in the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) is associated with NPC. Several notable studies have shown that the presence of HLA-A-0207, A-3303, and B-5801 was associated with a higher risk of developing NPC while HLA-A-1101 was associated with a lower risk [31, 32]. Allele frequency of HLA-A*02:07, A*33:03, and B*58:01 is also higher in endemic regions of SE Asia, with a range from 1% to 15% when compared to USA, European Caucasians, where the frequency is less than 0.03% [33]. This could partly explain why this disease has a unique geographical distribution. Moreover, HLA-A was recently reported to be one of the significantly mutated genes in NPC patients, highlighting a potential causal role of this gene in the development of NPC [34]. To further verify and validate these observations, larger GWAS studies involving a larger patient cohort are warranted.

The genome of each cell in the human body consists of deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) that codes the genetic instructions that are needed at the cellular level to make proteins crucial for maintaining the cells' normal biochemical activities [35]. However, as a caveat, the genome also represents a critical target for exposer to DNA damaging assaults irrespective of whether these have an environmental origin or abnormal cellular metabolites, for example, reactive oxygen species. To counter this, the human genome has evolved to include ~130 genes from the estimated ~17,294, the protein products of which play a key role in the DNA repair process to maintain DNA integrity in the case of, for example, DNA double strand breaks through homologous recombination and non-homologous end joining [36, 37]. It follows that ineffective DNA repair mechanism can likely increase the risk of developing cancer in venerable populations exposed to EBV and increased susceptibility of developing NPC. In a notable study, the authors genotyped DNA from ~2349 NPC patients from Hong Kong, for ~377 SNPs spanning 161 genes and loci and of these 266 SNPs matched to 81 DNA repair genes [38]. The rs401681 SNP located in the intron of CLPTM1L at TERT-CLPTM1L locus of 5p15.33 and double strand break repair pathways were the most significant indicators of elevated risk of NPC. In another case study from Hong Kong, the authors performed GWAS of EBV DNA isolated from saliva of healthy carriers and NPC tumor biopsies and identified a panel of NPC-associated SNPs and indels in the EBER locus including a four-base-deletion polymorphism downstream of EBER2 (EBER-del), suggesting that these EBV variants could explain for the high incidence of NPC in high-risk areas of SE Asia [39]. Of note, in other GWAS studies SNPs identified in CLPM1L-TERT locus, MECOM, TNFRSF19, and *CDKN2A/B*, and in genes in the TGF- β and JNK signaling pathways were associated with increased risk of NPC and other cancers [40–44]. However as proposed by Boyle et al., while essential genes or essential pathway contribute to the phenotype of the disease, genes affecting the risk of the disease could also be driven by the expression of a combination of variants outside

the essential pathway with small effects and ultimately to disease development [45].

Intake of Certain Foods

Reports now suggest that the consumption of a traditional diet consisting of salted fish and rice, popular among the poorer rural Chinese communities from an early age, could be a major contributing factor for the high incidence rates of NPC. Epidemiological data from Hong Kong and Malaysian Chinese in Malaysia now suggests that occupational dust and inhalant exposure and salted dried fish consumption during childhood and into adult were major risk factors for NPC among Chinese immigrants [46]. This was further supported from a study that evaluated the medical history of Chinese NPC patients for dietary habits, occupational exposures, use of tobacco, and alcohol. When the data was compared to control subjects, exposure to salted fish was associated with an increased risk of NPC and independent factors likely contributing were identified as an early age of exposure, increased duration and frequency of consumption, and cooking the salted fish by steaming as opposed to other methods such as frying, grilling, or boiling [47]. The process of preparing salted dried fish in South East China involves salting with crude salt and immersing in brine followed by sun-drying and storage for 4–5 months before consumption. High temperature and humidity can increase the risk of bacterial growth, for example, Staphylococci. During the preparation of salted fish, key carcinogenic N-nitroso compounds including N-Nitrosodimethylamine are formed from the naturally occurring secondary amines in the fish, nitrate as a contaminant in the crude salt, and by the presence of nitrate-reducing staphylococci or other bacteria. Studies have demonstrated that N-nitroso compounds undergo metabolic conversion into reactive intermediates that induce DNA damage to initiate cellular transformation that can culminate in cancer. Reports now suggest that exposures to N-nitroso compounds from different sources, for example, 4-(methylnitrosamino)-1-(3-pyridyl)-1-butanone

and N-nitrosonornicotine formed from fermented tobacco and those from certain occupations as alluded to above, have elevated the risk of developing cancers of the upper respiratory tract. N-nitrosodimethylamine can induce tumors in the nasal cavity of experimental animals, and other chemical carcinogens could act synergistically, for example, with EBV to increase the risk of developing NPC [48-50]. It is important to note that most recent analysis of contamination of Chinese salted fish with volatile N-nitrosamines remains high in over ~68% of the samples tested, exceeding the permissible Chinese and USDA limits of 4 μ g/kg and 10 μ g/kg, respectively. The data suggest that a continuum of risk of developing NPC remains and a need to have a standardized process of preparing salted dried fish that may minimize levels of toxic N-nitrosamines and reduce NPC incident rates [51].

Model System for Investigating Nasopharyngeal Carcinoma

While the survival rates of NPC have improved if detected and treated at early stage of disease development, presence of local residual disease and recurrences which unfortunately is a major challenge in regions that have high incidences of NPC, and limited radio-therapeutic and surgical facilities hamper the overall survival [52]. Further compounding this is that our fundamental understanding of the molecular basis of NPC development still remains poorly understood. This is broadly attributed to the lack of suitable model systems to allow in-depth preclinical investigation to improve our understanding of this cancer. The small subset of the most commonly available NPC cell lines were established several decades ago, for example, CNE-2 was first reported in 1983, as an epithelial cell line established from a poorly differentiated NPC [53]. Other lines available included C666-1 and HK-1 for example, and these were readily shared within the NPC and as well as the broader scientific community, without concerns of authentication. Prior to major concerns with cell line cross-contamination and mislabeling being raised, majority of the NPC lines

(CNE-1, CNE-2, HONE1, AdAH, NPC-KT) have been subsequently found to be HeLa contaminated and thus compromised [54–56]. Clean stocks of these cross-contaminated lines have not been identified, which further compounds limitations on advancing preclinical investigation on NPC pathogenesis. A concern remains that these aformentioned contaminated cells lines may be used as cell line models for testing efficacies of promising drugs and for investigating the molecular changes involved in NPC pathogenesis. Thus, it is worth to mention that it is a mandatory requirement of scientific journals for cell line authentication prior to experiments [57]. Irrespective of compromised NPC lines, their scarcity and long-term passage and use in in vitro studies can result in genetic drift, further adds limitations in our quest to improving our understanding of NPC pathogenesis [58].

Furthermore, NPC is also closely associated with EBV. A NPC model system natively infected with EBV is required to study host-viral infection and the underlying molecular changes associated with NPC development [59]. From those available non-compromised NPC lines, C666-1 as reported in 1999 was established from an undifferentiated NPC and was found to consistently retain EBV in long-term cultures and tumorigenic [60]. With still the limited number of NPC cell line model systems available and the associated limitations, a research group in Singapore has been actively involved in establishing NPC cell lines and reported using conditionally reprogrammed conditions using the Rho-associated kinase (ROCK) inhibitor (Y-27632) and irradiated mouse-3T3 fibroblast feeder cells [61]. However, authors noted that these culture conditions preferentially select non-malignant cells to proliferate more efficiently than NPC malignant cells. Given that most of the available NPC cell lines loose the EBV genome after long-term passage, our poor understanding of the pathogenesis of EBV on NPC developments remains a major limitation [62]. Without well-defined culture systems, it remains challenging to advance our knowledge on the most fundamental molecular basis of NPC [62]. More recently, additional two EBV-positive cell lines, C17 and NPC43, have recently been

reported [63]. A key caveat was that Y-27632 was used in establishing C17 and NPC43 line. Key details worth mentioning is that the authors in one of these studies made ~13 attempts to establish NPC cell lines with RPMI medium that was supplemented with 10% FBS and although four outgrowths were observed from the tissue explants, none could be expanded continuously. However, with the addition of Y-27632 in the media, while the rate of explant growth showed almost no difference compared with culture condition without Y-27632, three primary cultures were successfully propagated, and one of the cultures, NPC43, was subsequently found to retain EBV at late passage albeit with a lower EBV copy number. Furthermore, the authors of the study demonstrated that the success of establishing EBV+ cell models was likely depended on the suppression of lytic cycle of EBV [62]. They demonstrated that EBV lytic reactivation was suppressed by Y-27632 at early passage. Upon withdrawal of Y-27632, EBV in a subpopulation of NPC primary cultures was reactivated. The association of ROCKassociated signaling pathways and EBV has been reported in human lymphoma. Burkitt lymphoma and diffuse B-cell lymphoma associated with EBV have been reported to have inactivating mutations in the ROCK signaling pathway [64]. However, it is unclear how the ROCK signaling pathway suppresses EBV lytic reactivation.

While cells grown in monolayer have proven to be extremely useful as cancer model and cost effective, the growth conditions do not always mimic the in vivo microenvironment of human cancers. This limitation effectively renders it difficult to understand certain aspects of the disease such as the composition of tumor microenvironment, effect of tumor microenvironment on cancer cell proliferation, drug metabolism, and cell migration [65]. Furthermore, these limitations may result in many experimental cancer therapies to give the desired outcome in cell line models but failing in in vivo evaluations [66]. To circumvent these limitations, 3D-culture systems have been established to preserve the cell morphology, heterogeneity of cancer, and the associated stroma [67]. In this context, several studies have recently reported the generation of spheroids

from NPC cells, for example, using HK1 cells [68]; whereas spheriods cultures of C666.1 using the hanging drop method and the ultra-low attachment method, have all been successfully established and utilized. Also, 2D- 3D-cultures have been reported for NPC and including liquid overlay method, where spheroid cultures of C666.1 using the hanging drop method and the ultra-low attachment method, all have been successfully established and utilized [69–72]. Spheroid cultures have been utilized to better understand NPC cancer stem cells associated with resistant to radio-chemotherapy [73]. It is worth mentioning that these aforementioned model systems do not fully recapitulate the tumor microenvironment of NPC patients. Hence, it is pivotal for future studies to generate spheroid cultures directly from patient's tumor biopsies sample to further understand the causal mechanisms of EBV and NPC pathogenesis [74]. Such approach has been adopted by Scanu et al., who demonstrated that Salmonella enterica triggered and maintained malignant transformation using AKT pathway, accompanied by TP53 mutation and *c-Myc* amplification by co-culturing murinederived genetically predisposed gallbladder organoids and Salmonella enterica [75]. Collectively, further understanding of NPC could likely improve with new spheroid culture methods.

NPC cultures generated from NPC patientderived xenograft models (PDX) have been which NPC-HK2117, reported include NPC-HK1915, and NPC-HK1530; C15 was derived from a biopsy of a primary poorly differentiated NPC, while C17 and C18 were both derived from metastatic NPC lesions. Isolated cells from these PDX were able to be maintained by the subcutaneous passage into nude mice and the propagated cells retain EBV with C15 retaining the expression of key EBV latent genes encoding EBER, EBNA1, and LMP1 proteins. Thus, these models can be utilized to further enhance our understanding of the role of EBV in NPC pathogenesis and for and preclinical drug evaluation for identifying effect therapies [76, 77]. For example, to identify NPC-specific membrane protein binding partners of LMP1

membrane rafts from C15 cells were used to isolate protein complexes, and using immunoprecipitation and mass spectrometry, galectin 9, a protein elevated in NPC, was identified to be interacting with LMP1, suggesting a casual factor in NPC pathogenesis [78]. C15 was also utilized alongside C666-1, to screen for therapeutic agents for identifying those that have the most promising effect of the cancer cells. From this screen, both cell models were found to be responsive to clinically relevant doses of doxorubicin and taxol, while *cis*-platinum was least responsive [79]. As already mentioned, the establishment of an EBV+ NPC cell line, NPC43, was recently reported [62]. However, it is worth mentioning that this study also reported five additional NPC PDX models by transplanting NPC tissues into NOD/SCID, and newly available resources were used to mine for the underlying genetic landscape the *state-of-the-art* platforms for performing whole exon and whole genome DNA sequencing and RNA sequencing. Data revealed mutations in NRAS, TP53, EP300, and SMG1 genes. For the oncogene NRAS, this was identified as an activating mutation [62]. Collectively, PDX models established several decades ago, and the more recent models can be excellent preclinical model systems to use to screen libraries of drugs and small molecule inhibitors coupled to high-through-put platforms to identify the most promising for further validation using in vivo models including zebrafish as described below.

Although in vitro models are invaluable for improving our understanding of NPC, any promising finding requires additional validation in in vivo systems. In this context, in vivo model systems can be divided into cell line xenograft or PDX. Example include HK1 and C666.1 which are tumorigenic when ~10⁶ cells are injected subcutaneously into nude mice. Similarly with the newly established NPC43 cell line when co-injected with Matrigel into NOD/SCID mice form tumors [62]. However, a major disadvantage is that these models preclude the investigation of the process of metastasis in NPC pathogenesis. A study of note recapitulated the invasiveness of NPC cancer cells by injecting C666-1 cells orthotopically into the nasopharynx of NOD.Cg-Prkdc^{scid} Il2rg^{tm1Wjl}/SzJ mice. The resulting tumor demonstrated metastasis to the bone, lung, and the abdomen, broadly mirroring pathogenic features associated with advanced disease in NPC patients [80]. As with PDX models, xenograft models of NPC are reliant on immune-deficient or immune-comprised mice and confer some limitations for modeling human NPC. Notwithstanding, some perspectives on the use of zebrafish for modeling human metastatic NPC are given below.

Potential Use of Zebrafish for Modeling Human NPC

Data now suggests that cancer cells disseminate from the primary site through lymphatic vessels to distant sites. In this context, presence of rich lymphatic network highly correlates with metastatic cancers, for example, melanoma [81]. With no exception, NPC also has a similar propensity for metastasizing to locoregional lymph nodes largely due to the presence of a disproportionately high number of lymph nodes in the neck region and cancer cell-invaded lymph nodes is now widely accepted as the most important factor in NPC prognosis [82, 83]. Thus, it is worth mentioning that to improve our understanding of the invasive and metastatic potential of NPC and to identify promising therapies, robust in vivo models are needed. While orthotopic models of NPC have been developed in mice as mentioned in the section above, they generally fail to show consistent lymph node involvement prior to advancing to a metastatic disease [80]. Zebrafish as a model system offers an attractive in vivo platform for conducting in-depth investigation of human cancers including NPC, primarily due to its low cost of maintenance, rapid developmental speed, and high fecundity rate time. Pertinently, 70% of human protein-coding genes and more than 80% of human disease-related genes have a zebrafish orthologue [84]. This indicates that most molecular mechanisms involved in normal biological processes or in pathologic diseases are conserved between zebrafish and humans and afford an excellent opportunity to model human cancers. Broadly, there are two ways of modeling human cancer in zebrafish: generating a genetically defined zebrafish strain and xenotransplantation of human cancer cells into zebrafish.

In genetically defined models for example, activating mutations and oncogenes identified from whole genome sequencing of human cancers can be integrated into the zebrafish genome to investigate any pathological effects. This approach has resulted in the development of some notable zebrafish models which has improved our knowledge of human cancers, for example, melanoma. Zebrafish genetic model of melanoma overexpressing the human BRAF^{V600E} under the control of *mitfa* promoter in a $p53^{-/-}$ was found to develop melanocyte lesions that rapidly developed into invasive melanomas recapitulating human melanomas [85, 86]. While this can provide additional information on the molecular process of melanoma development and progression, the models afford an excellent platform for drug screen to identify novel and effective therapies for this lethal form of skin cancer [86]. As large-scale whole genome sequencing of head and neck squamous cancers including NPC has been conducted or under consideration, zebrafish may offer a valuable platform for testing the genetic insights gained from these studies for potentially pathogenic outcome [87–90].

On the other hand, cancer cells isolated from human cancers such as melanoma, colorectal, and breast cancers have been used to successfully xenotransplant into zebrafish embryos [91–94]. Once transplanted into embryos, the cancer cells were then observed to proliferate, form tumor mass, disseminate, and stimulate angiogenesis. Importantly, the optical transparency of zebrafish embryos, coupled with the availability of tissuespecific fluorescent reporters to generate various flavors of zebrafish transgenic lines that fluorescently label cells that are closely associated with human cancer progression, for example, immune or vascular endothelial cells, enables investigators to delineate the interaction between human tumor cells and the zebrafish microenvironment in an in vivo and real-time compartment [95–97]. In this context, a recent study by Follain et al. injected murine mammary D2A1 tumor cell into the zebrafish blood circulation to show that blood flow forces control tumor cell adhesion and extravasation. Furthermore, the authors live-imaged endothelium remodeling at sites where circulating tumor cells adhere, which stimulates extravasation, and have shown that a similar mechanism occurs in murine brain metastasis as well [98]. With the recent development of the lattice light sheet microscopy with two-channel adaptive objectives, biological processes such as cancer cell migration, endothelial adherence, and extravasation can now be imaged in subcellular resolution in zebrafish, further enhancing the utility of the zebrafish cancer xenotransplantation model [99]. Methods to perform patient-derived xenotransplantation in zebrafish had also been established, and recent studies had shown that drug treatment outcomes in these PDX models of zebrafish could accurately predict clinical outcomes in human cancer patients [92, 100–102]. Although a model of inflammatory lymphangiogenesis had been established in zebrafish indicating that zebrafish lymphatics respond to pathological cues, whether human cancer cells interact with zebrafish lymphatic vessels to mirror the early stages of human cancer progress has not been reported [103]. Zebrafish facial lymphatic vessels have been well characterized [97] and therefore xenotransplantation of single cell extracts derived from NPC biopsies, NPC PDX primary cultures of NPC cells from biopsies or established NPC cancer cell lines to the facial region of transgenic zebrafish may reveal novel insights into how cancer cells modulate the local lymphatic environment and disseminate (Fig. 4a-c). The behavior of transplanted

the lymphatic vessel seen in red of panels (**b**) and (**c**). Confocal z-stack images 5 μ m apart were taken using the Zeiss LSM 710 inverted confocal microscope and were processed using ImageJ. *LFL* lateral facial lymphatic, *MFL* medial facial lymphatic, *OLV* otolithic lymphatic vessel, *LAA* lymphatic branchial arches. Scale bars: 100 μ m

Fig. 4 (continued) facial region of the zebrafish (white dotted brackets) to investigate the interaction between NPC cells and facial red lymphatic/green blood vessels. (**b**, **c**) Lateral and ventral confocal images of the facial region of 5 dpf $Tg(flila:nEGFP)^{v_7}$; $Tg(lyve1b:DsRed)^{nz101}$ transgenic. (**b**', **c**') The $Tg(lyve1b:DsRed)^{nz101}$ expression visualizing



Fig. 4 Zebrafish vascular transgenic strains offer a platform to investigate the interaction between NPC cells and lymphatic/blood vessels for investigating NPC metastasis and identifying promising therapies. (a) Upper panel is a lateral bright field image of a 5 dpf $Tg(fila:nEGFP)^{v7}$;Tg

(*lyve1b:DsRed*)^{*nc101*} transgenic and the lower panel is a lateral confocal fluorescent image of the same transgenic zebrafish as in the upper panel, where green blood vessel endothelial cells and red lymphatic vessels can be visualized. Human NPC cells could be xenotransplanted to the

NPC cells can then be monitored under confocal microscopy and the model can also be used for screening for potential anticancer therapies.

Immunotherapy for Nasopharyngeal Carcinoma

Immunotherapy: General Concepts

From the estimated 18 million new cases of cancer and ~9.6 million cancer mortalities reported for 2018 and with poor prognosis associated with many types of human cancers, this represents a growing global public health problem worldwide [6]. The primary reason for this is that the available standard of care for most cancers has not changed significantly, chemo and radiotherapy, with their associated side effects, and are still gold-standard treatments [104-106]. Moreover, these notable treatment approaches have showed significant improvements albeit only for specific types of cancer (i.e., hematological malignancies), but still remain very limited for many of the solid tumors [107, 108]. These constraints make necessary to develop new, better tolerated, less expensive, and more effective therapies, which could particularly help patients with advanced and metastatic diseases and improving not only their survival but also their quality of life. In this context, the accumulated knowledge regarding mechanisms involved in cancer immunity has resulted in the development of novel therapeutic approaches to treat this group of diseases. One of these new strategies is immunotherapy, essentially developed during the last two decades and consists in the modulation and stimulation of patients' own immune system against the tumor. This manipulation of patients' immunity involves different compartments of this homeostatic system such as immune-competent cells, receptors, and immune-mediator molecules among others. Recently, and after decades of treating cancer patients mostly by surgery and chemo- and radiotherapy, immunotherapy has emerged as a reliable therapeutic alternative for most patients [109].

Relevant Cancer Mouse Models for Preclinical Investigation of Immunotherapy

Despite the obvious genetic and immunological differences among species that constitute animal models, preclinical studies using these models are a necessary prerequisite for human application of new immunotherapies and useful tools for increasing our knowledge and understanding of mechanisms underlying cancer immunobiology. In this context, several mouse strains, both immunocompromised and immunocompetent, have been extensively used in order to validate new therapeutic strategies for further studies in human clinical trials. As already mentioned, the most commonly used experimental models are human xenograft cancer cells, obtained from immortalized cell lines or from patients' tumor biopsies, grown in immunodeficient mice such as severe combined immunodeficient (SCID) and athymic nude mice [110, 111]. On the other hand, the most extensively used immunocompetent mice strains are C57BL/6 and BALB/c and different modifications from their genetic backgrounds. Human xenograft in immunodeficient mice allows the evaluation of different specific immune-related mechanisms since many of these strains keep immunological functions partially (usually parts of the innate immune response). In addition, genetically engineered mouse models have been extremely useful in understanding oncogenesis as well as metastatic mechanisms by manipulating tumor suppressor genes and oncogenes [112, 113]. These models have been additionally improved by recent advances in genetic manipulation strategies such as RNA interference and gene editing (CRISPR-Cas9) technologies, for example a recent study reported the development of Cas9 mice to model lung cancer [114]. Another relevant experimental approach with animal models is the complete or partial reconstitution of human immune system by transplanting different human cell compartments in immunodeficient mice [115, 116]. These humanized mice models have additionally allowed the evaluation of therapies in a human immunity context as a previous step before its approval for clinical trials.

Immunotherapeutic Approaches for Cancer Treatment

To date, it is well known that cancer patients can develop T-cells that are able to recognize and destroy tumor cells in vitro and in vivo [117]. Additionally, T-cells are able to proliferate in response to stimulation with autologous tumor cells by secreting cytokines such as interleukin-2 (IL-2), interferon gamma (IFN-γ), granulocytemacrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF), and tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) [118]. These observations have resulted in the identification and characterization of tumor antigens recognized by human T-cells [119, 120]. From these and other relevant findings, in the last two decades new therapies have been developed based on the modulation of cells and molecules from the immune system to induce in vivo antitumor responses [121, 122]. These immunotherapeutic approaches have included the use of the following: proinflammatory cytokines, fully humanized mAbs, cell-based immunotherapies, and several cancer vaccines [123–127]. Different cytokines such as IL-2, IFN- γ , and IFN- α have been used alone or in combination with chemotherapy with significant reduction of metastases, but without increasing the survival rates of treated patients and corresponding improvement in their quality of life [128–130]. Adoptive transfer of tumor-specific CD8+ T-cells, with or without systemic immune suppression, has also been used in different clinical trials and although that data shows significant tumor reductions but this is associated with a high percentage of adverse reactions in treated patients [124, 125, 131]. Recently, T-cell molecular engineering modification with chimeric antigen receptors (CAR) to produce CAR-modified T-cells has substantially improved the clinical success of adoptive immunotherapy [132, 133]. More recently, new therapeutic targets have now been identified in cancer

and immune cells, which have enabled the development of a wide range of mAbs aimed to modulate antitumor immune response and eradicate tumors [134, 135]. Indeed, the identification of immune check point molecules, such as cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen 4 (CTLA-4) and programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1), gave further knowledge for immune system manipulation. In this context, an anti-CTLA-4 monoclonal antibody (ipilimumab) was the first to achieve US Food and Drug Administration and European Medicine Agency approval, demonstrating statistical survival benefit in patients with melanoma [136]. Furthermore, preliminary clinical findings with blockers of additional immune-checkpoint proteins, such as programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1) and programmed cell death 1 ligand 1 (PD-L1), have also shown important results in different settings of clinical trials, indicating broad and diverse opportunities to enhance antitumor immunity with the potential to produce durable clinical responses [137–139]. Remarkably, seminal studies which described these immunological mechanisms were recently recognized with the 2018 Nobel Prize in medicine and physiology for professors James P. Allison and Tasuku Honjo "for their discovery of cancer therapy by inhibition of negative immune regulation."

Regarding cell-based immunization protocols, the use of dendritic cells (DCs), transfected with tumor-associated antigen (TAA) and immunomodulatory molecules-derived mRNA, or loaded with tumor cell lysates, among others, has been extensively explored. DC-based vaccination strategies are likely to be safe and capable of providing long-lasting protective immunity [140–143]. A DC-based vaccine, consisting in autologous monocyte-derived DCs loaded with an allogeneic heat shock-conditioned melanoma cell-derived lysate, has been included in a series of clinical trials in advanced malignant melanoma (MM) and prostate cancer patients. In this approach, lysate-loaded DCs can induce specific in vitro and in vivo antitumor and memory immune responses in patients with advanced MM with more than 60% classified as
immunological responder patients, showing a significant correlation with improved survival of stage IV MM patients compared with a median of 11 months for patients that were classified as non-responder [143]. Additionally, in prostate cancer patients this approach was capable of inducing memory T-lymphocytes, which might be associated with clinical responses, including decreased serum prostate specific antigen (PSA) levels and increased PSA doubling time [144]. However, despite the abilities of different immunotherapies for stimulating the antitumor response, an important percentage of patients remain refractory to these approaches. In fact, individual factors involved in the differential capacity of patients to respond to immunizations remain poorly understood.

Immunotherapy in NPC

As mentioned NPC is a subset of head and neck squamous cancers which remain with a poor outcome largely due to diagnosis at late stage of the disease and therapeutic options that advanced minimal compared to those for other cancers. Radiotherapy is broadly effective for NPC patients diagnosed at early stage or nonmetastatic stage of disease progression. With the use of intensity-modulated radiation therapy (IMRT) that uses computer-controlled linear accelerators to deliver precise radiation doses to a malignant tumor or specific areas within the tumor, toxic side effects can be minimized to achieve good local control [145]. However, due to the low awareness of NPC as a disease and the associated symptoms often mistaken for common ailments, many patients upon diagnosis present with neck lumps in the clinic, indicating late stage disease and lymph node metastasis [146]. Treatment options for late stage NPC lesions include a combination of radiotherapy and cytotoxic chemotherapy, for example, cisplatin, 5-FU, paclitaxel, and gemcitabine [90]. For those patients with distant metastases, palliative platinum-based therapy followed by radiotherapy greater than 65-Gy at organs with metastatic lesions is followed [147]. While radiochemotherapy is curative for most patients, approximately 10% of the patients will experience local reoccurrence which further reduces a favorable outcome [146]. In this context, available targeted therapies, for example, cetuximab and nimotuzumab, anti-EGFR mAbs, have been explored but with mixed results [148, 149]. On the other hand, bevacizumab, a mAb, that targets VEGF has shown promise and when used with systemic therapy showed improved progressionfree survival and improved quality of life of patients. However, together with the known toxicities associated with chemotherapy, side effects for bevacizumab include hypertension, bleeding, gastrointestinal perforation, cardiotoxicity, and thromboembolic events which may negate the favorable response [150]. Finally, surgery for metastatic NPC lesions but this option often depends on the proximity of tumor cells to vital blood vessel and nerve [151].

As mentioned above, a high percentage of treated cancer patients remain refractory to immune-related therapies, strongly suggesting that a combinatorial approach may be useful to improve the response rates of these patients. In this scenario, cancer vaccines, particularly dendritic cell (DC)-based vaccines, as well as check point inhibitors could be used as complementary treatments in cancer patients. Importantly, these approaches could be less toxic conferring an additional benefit for patients' quality of life. Nivolumab and pembrolizumab, two FDAapproved anti-PD-1 mAbs, constitute new therapeutic options for metastatic and chemotherapy-resistant NPC patients. A Phase II clinical trial (NCI-9742) investigated nivolumab in a small subset of patients with recurrent and metastatic NPC, and the data demonstrated a response rate of ~20% with minimal toxicity, suggesting further evaluation in larger cohorts of NPC patients [152]. Furthermore, data from the KRYNOTE-028 study (NCT02054806) investigated pembrolizumab in patients with PD-L1positive advanced NPC. The data from this phase 1b clinical trial demonstrated a response rate of ~26% and the therapy was favorably tolerated [153]. Other clinical evaluations have explored the use of adoptive T-cell transfer as potential

Clinical trial		Number of	Estimated completion
identifier	Interventions	patients	date
NCT02578641	Gemcitabine, carboplatin, autologous EBV-specific cytotoxic lymphocytes	330 patients	December 2021
NCT02611960	Pembrolizumab	230 patients	March 2020
NCT03700476	Gemcitabine, cisplatin, IMRT, sintilimab as neoadjuvant	420 patients	January 2025
NCT03427827	Chemo-radiation followed by PD-1 antibody (SHR-1210) as adjuvant	400 patients	February 2024

 Table 1
 Current phase III clinical trials evaluating the efficacy of immunotherapy in combination with standard therapy for NPC

treatment option for NPC patients. In a Phase II clinical trial, adoptive immunotherapy with EBVspecific cytotoxic T-lymphocytes (EBV-CTLs) was evaluated in combination with chemotherapy of gemcitabine and carboplatin, in patients with advanced EBV-positive NPC. The data obtained was favorable achieving a response rate of ~71% and 2- and 3-year overall survival rates of 62.9% and 37.1%, respectively. Importantly, a subgroup of patients were found to have either stable disease or with reduced tumor growth and overall the therapy was well tolerated, and common toxicities observed were fatigue and myalgia [154]. In a more recent Phase I/II clinical trial, efficacy of EBV-stimulated cytotoxic T-lymphocyte (EBV-CTL) immunotherapy was investigated in patients with active, recurrent, metastatic EBVassociated NPC. Although one patient demonstrated a complete response to this line of therapy, the overall response rate was low. The authors suggest that the poor response rate was likely due to differences in key parameters of the clinical trial, for example, requiring patients to have confirmed progressive disease as an inclusion criterion that would allow as an endpoint to distinguish responses to prior palliative chemotherapy from those to investigational immunotherapy. Also worth mentioning is that the authors noted that a subset of patients demonstrated robust responses to the same chemotherapy (docetaxel, gemcitabine) they had previously failed while receiving EBV-CTL immunotherapy. This likely suggests that immunotherapy was acting as a primer for enhancing patient's immune system to confer a greater renewed response to the chemotherapy [155]. Although the aforementioned studies demonstrated a broadly favorable response to the different available immunotherapies, these were undertaken in small cohorts of patients. As a consequent, there are several ongoing clinical trials that are investigating available immunotherapies in combination with standard therapy for NPC in much larger patient cohorts and these are detailed in Table 1. Expectations are that the data from these trials can pave the way for a new era of anticancer therapies that can improve prognosis and quality of life of NPC patients.

Concluding Remarks

While notable advances have been made in our understanding of NPC pathogenesis, the disease remains endemic in South East Asia with incidence rates and deaths likely to show annual increases. NPC still remains with a poor outcome, primarily due to salient symptoms, late detection, and limited therapeutic options. While several risk factors have been associated with NPC, it still remains unclear why the Chinese ethnicities in South East Asia succumb to this cancer. Other limitations include the lack of model systems and tools to mirror human NPC and the limited number of NPC cell lines that are currently available. Thus, a need is recognized for establishing clean and representative NPC cell lines for in-depth investigation on NPC with the goal of developing effective therapies for transition from *bench-to-bedside* for improving patient outcome. A need for largescale population-based molecular epidemiologic studies to elucidate how environmental, viral, and genetic factors interact in both the development and the prevention of NPC is also recognized. Finally, there is a united need for the NPC scientific community to work closely and collaborative to advance our current limited understanding of NPC pathogenesis.

References

- Muir, C. S. (1983). Nasopharyngeal cancer a historical vignette. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 33, 180–185.
- Muir, C. S. (1971). Nasopharyngeal carcinoma in non-Chinese populations with special reference to south-east Asia and Africa. *International Journal of Cancer*, 8, 351–363.
- 3. Muir, C. S. (1972). Cancer of the head and neck. Nasopharyngeal cancer. Epidemiology and etiology. *JAMA*, 220, 393–394.
- Yu, W. M., & Hussain, S. S. (2009). Incidence of nasopharyngeal carcinoma in Chinese immigrants, compared with Chinese in China and South East Asia: Review. *The Journal of Laryngology and Otology*, *123*, 1067–1074. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0022215109005623.
- Parkin, D. M., Laara, E., & Muir, C. S. (1988). Estimates of the worldwide frequency of sixteen major cancers in 1980. *International Journal of Cancer*, 41, 184–197.
- Bray, F., et al. (2018). Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA: a Cancer Journal for Clinicians*, 68, 394–424. https:// doi.org/10.3322/caac.21492.
- Wu, Z. X., Xiang, L., Rong, J. F., He, H. L., & Li, D. (2016). Nasopharyngeal carcinoma with headaches as the main symptom: A potential diagnostic pitfall. *Journal of Cancer Research and Therapeutics*, *12*, 209–214. https://doi. org/10.4103/0973-1482.157334.
- Wang, K. H., Austin, S. A., Chen, S. H., Sonne, D. C., & Gurushanthaiah, D. (2017). Nasopharyngeal carcinoma diagnostic challenge in a nonendemic setting: Our experience with 101 patients. *The Permanente Journal*, 21, 16. https://doi.org/10.7812/ TPP/16-180.
- Wildeman, M. A., et al. (2013). Primary treatment results of nasopharyngeal carcinoma (NPC) in Yogyakarta, Indonesia. *PLoS One*, 8, e63706. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0063706.
- Zhang, L., Chen, Q. Y., Liu, H., Tang, L. Q., & Mai, H. Q. (2013). Emerging treatment options for nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Drug Des Devel Ther*, 7, 37–52. https://doi.org/10.2147/DDDT.S30753.

- Thompson, L. D. (2007). Update on nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Head and Neck Pathology*, *1*, 81–86. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12105-007-0012-7.
- Bray, F., Colombet, M., Mery, L., Piñeros, M., Znaor, A., Zanetti, R., & Ferlay, J. (Eds.). (2017). *Cancer incidence in five continents* (Vol. XI (electronic version)). Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer. Retrieved January 29, 2019, from http://ci5. iarc.fr
- Parkin, D. M., Bray, F., Ferlay, J., & Pisani, P. (2005). Global cancer statistics, 2002. CA: a Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 55, 74–108.
- Wei, K. R., et al. (2017). Nasopharyngeal carcinoma incidence and mortality in China, 2013. *Chinese Journal of Cancer*, *36*, 90. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s40880-017-0257-9.
- Mousavi, S. M., Sundquist, J., & Hemminki, K. (2010). Nasopharyngeal and hypopharyngeal carcinoma risk among immigrants in Sweden. *International Journal of Cancer*, *127*, 2888–2892. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.25287.
- Buell, P. (1974). The effect of migration on the risk of nasopharyngeal cancer among Chinese. *Cancer Research*, 34, 1189–1191.
- Arnold, M., et al. (2013). Lower mortality from nasopharyngeal cancer in The Netherlands since 1970 with differential incidence trends in histopathology. *Oral Oncology*, 49, 237–243. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.oraloncology.2012.09.016.
- Buell, P. (1973). Race and place in the etiology of nasopharyngeal cancer: A study based on California death certificates. *International Journal of Cancer*, *11*, 268–272.
- Jeannel, D., et al. (1993). Increased risk of nasopharyngeal carcinoma among males of French origin born in Maghreb (North Africa). *International Journal of Cancer*, 54, 536–539.
- Flavell, K. J., & Murray, P. G. (2000). Hodgkin's disease and the Epstein-Barr virus. *Molecular Pathology*, 53, 262–269.
- Ferry, J. A. (2006). Burkitt's lymphoma: Clinicopathologic features and differential diagnosis. *The Oncologist*, 11, 375–383. https://doi. org/10.1634/theoncologist.11-4-375.
- Cho, J., Kang, M. S., & Kim, K. M. (2016). Epstein-Barr virus-associated gastric carcinoma and specific features of the accompanying immune response. *Journal of Gastric Cancer, 16*, 1–7. https://doi. org/10.5230/jgc.2016.16.1.1.
- Rowe, M., et al. (1989). Distinction between Epstein-Barr virus type A (EBNA 2A) and type B (EBNA 2B) isolates extends to the EBNA 3 family of nuclear proteins. *Journal of Virology*, 63, 1031–1039.
- 24. Tzellos, S., et al. (2014). A single amino acid in EBNA-2 determines superior B lymphoblastoid cell line growth maintenance by Epstein-Barr virus type 1 EBNA-2. *Journal of Virology*, 88, 8743–8753. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.01000-14.

- Tzellos, S., & Farrell, P. J. (2012). Epstein-Barr virus sequence variation-biology and disease. *Pathogens*, 2, 156–174. https://doi.org/10.3390/ pathogens1020156.
- Rickinson, A. B., Young, L. S., & Rowe, M. (1987). Influence of the Epstein-Barr virus nuclear antigen EBNA 2 on the growth phenotype of virus-transformed B cells. *Journal of Virology*, 5, 1310–1317.
- Palser, A. L., et al. (2015). Genome diversity of Epstein-Barr virus from multiple tumor types and normal infection. *Journal of Virology*, *89*, 5222– 5237. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.03614-14.
- Tsai, M. H., et al. (2017). The biological properties of different Epstein-Barr virus strains explain their association with various types of cancers. *Oncotarget*, *8*, 10238–10254. https://doi. org/10.18632/oncotarget.14380.
- Kim, D. N., et al. (2013). Characterization of naturally Epstein-Barr virus-infected gastric carcinoma cell line YCCEL1. *The Journal of General Virology, 94*, 497–506. https://doi.org/10.1099/ vir.0.045237-0.
- Raab-Traub, N., & Flynn, K. (1986). The structure of the termini of the Epstein-Barr virus as a marker of clonal cellular proliferation. *Cell*, 47, 883–889.
- Hildesheim, A., et al. (2002). Association of HLA class I and II alleles and extended haplotypes with nasopharyngeal carcinoma in Taiwan. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 94, 1780–1789.
- 32. Yu, K. J., et al. (2009). Association of human leukocyte antigens with nasopharyngeal carcinoma in high-risk multiplex families in Taiwan. *Human Immunology*, 70, 910–914. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. humimm.2009.08.005.
- 33. Gonzalez-Galarza, F. F., et al. (2015). Allele frequency net 2015 update: New features for HLA epitopes, KIR and disease and HLA adverse drug reaction associations. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 43, D784–D788. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gku1166.
- 34. Li, Y. Y., et al. (2017). Exome and genome sequencing of nasopharynx cancer identifies NF-kappaB pathway activating mutations. *Nature Communications*, 8, 14121. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ncomms14121.
- International Human Genome Sequencing Consortium. (2001). Nature, 409, 860.
- Kim, M. S., et al. (2014). A draft map of the human proteome. *Nature*, 509, 575–581. https://doi. org/10.1038/nature13302.
- Risinger, M. A., & Groden, J. (2004). Crosslinks and crosstalk: Human cancer syndromes and DNA repair defects. *Cancer Cell*, 6, 539–545. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ccr.2004.12.001.
- Yee Ko, J. M., et al. (2014). Multigene pathwaybased analyses identify nasopharyngeal carcinoma risk associations for cumulative adverse effects of TERT-CLPTM1L and DNA double-strand breaks repair. *International Journal of Cancer*, *135*, 1634– 1645. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28802.

- 39. Hui, K. F., et al. (2019). High risk Epstein-Barr virus variants characterized by distinct polymorphisms in the EBER locus are strongly associated with nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *International Journal* of *Cancer*, 144, 3031. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ijc.32049.
- Ng, C. C., et al. (2009). A genome-wide association study identifies ITGA9 conferring risk of nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Journal of Human Genetics*, 54, 392–397. https://doi.org/10.1038/jhg.2009.49.
- Bei, J. X., et al. (2010). A genome-wide association study of nasopharyngeal carcinoma identifies three new susceptibility loci. *Nature Genetics*, 42, 599– 603. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.601.
- Tse, K. P., et al. (2009). Genome-wide association study reveals multiple nasopharyngeal carcinomaassociated loci within the HLA region at chromosome 6p21.3. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 85, 194–203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ajhg.2009.07.007.
- Chin, Y. M., et al. (2015). HLA-A SNPs and amino acid variants are associated with nasopharyngeal carcinoma in Malaysian Chinese. *International Journal* of Cancer, 136, 678–687. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ijc.29035.
- 44. Bei, J. X., et al. (2016). A GWAS meta-analysis and replication study identifies a novel locus within CLPTM1L/TERT associated with nasopharyngeal carcinoma in individuals of Chinese ancestry. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention*, 25, 188–192. https://doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965. EPI-15-0144.
- Boyle, E. A., Li, Y. I., & Pritchard, J. K. (2017). An expanded view of complex traits: From polygenic to omnigenic. *Cell*, 169, 1177–1186. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.05.038.
- 46. Salted fish and nasopharyngeal carcinoma. (1989). *Lancet*, 2, 840–842.
- 47. Ning, J. P., Yu, M. C., Wang, Q. S., & Henderson, B. E. (1990). Consumption of salted fish and other risk factors for nasopharyngeal carcinoma (NPC) in Tianjin, a low-risk region for NPC in the People's Republic of China. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 82, 291–296.
- 48. IARC Working Group on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans. (2010). IARC monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans. Ingested nitrate and nitrite, and cyanobacterial peptide toxins. *IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans*, 94(vvii), 1–412.
- Huang, D. P., Ho, J. H., Saw, D., & Teoh, T. B. (1978). Carcinoma of the nasal and paranasal regions in rats fed Cantonese salted marine fish. *IARC Scientific Publications*, 315–328.
- Bartsch, H., & Montesano, R. (1984). Relevance of nitrosamines to human cancer. *Carcinogenesis*, 5, 1381–1393.
- 51. Qiu, Y., et al. (2017). Contamination of Chinese salted fish with volatile N-nitrosamines as determined

by QuEChERS and gas chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. *Food Chemistry*, 232, 763–769. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2017.04.055.

- 52. Datta, N. R., Samiei, M., & Bodis, S. (2014). Radiation therapy infrastructure and human resources in low- and middle-income countries: Present status and projections for 2020. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology, Biology, Physics, 89*, 448–457. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrobp.2014.03.002.
- Sizhong, Z., Xiukung, G., & Yi, Z. (1983). Cytogenetic studies on an epithelial cell line derived from poorly differentiated nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *International Journal of Cancer*, 31, 587–590.
- Capes-Davis, A., et al. (2013). Match criteria for human cell line authentication: Where do we draw the line? *International Journal of Cancer*, *132*, 2510–2519. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.27931.
- 55. Strong, M. J., et al. (2014). Comprehensive highthroughput RNA sequencing analysis reveals contamination of multiple nasopharyngeal carcinoma cell lines with HeLa cell genomes. *Journal of Virology*, 88, 10696–10704. https://doi.org/10.1128/ JVI.01457-14.
- Chan, S. Y., et al. (2008). Authentication of nasopharyngeal carcinoma tumor lines. *International Journal of Cancer*, 122, 2169–2171. https://doi. org/10.1002/ijc.23374.
- Geraghty, R. J., et al. (2014). Guidelines for the use of cell lines in biomedical research. *British Journal* of Cancer, 111, 1021–1046. https://doi.org/10.1038/ bjc.2014.166.
- Hughes, P., Marshall, D., Reid, Y., Parkes, H., & Gelber, C. (2007). The costs of using unauthenticated, over-passaged cell lines: How much more data do we need? *BioTechniques*, 43, 575, 577-578, 581-572 passim.. https://doi.org/10.2144/000112598.
- Young, L. S., & Dawson, C. W. (2014). Epstein-Barr virus and nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Chinese Journal of Cancer*, 33, 581–590. https://doi. org/10.5732/cjc.014.10197.
- Cheung, S. T., et al. (1999). Nasopharyngeal carcinoma cell line (C666-1) consistently harbouring Epstein-Barr virus. *International Journal of Cancer*, 83, 121–126.
- 61. Yu, F., et al. (2017). Non-malignant epithelial cells preferentially proliferate from nasopharyngeal carcinoma biopsy cultured under conditionally reprogrammed conditions. *Scientific Reports*, 7, 17359. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-17628-z.
- 62. Lin, W., et al. (2018). Establishment and characterization of new tumor xenografts and cancer cell lines from EBV-positive nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Nature Communications*, 9, 4663. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41467-018-06889-5.
- 63. Yip, Y. L., et al. (2018). Establishment of a nasopharyngeal carcinoma cell line capable of undergoing lytic Epstein-Barr virus reactivation. *Laboratory Investigation*, 98, 1093–1104. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41374-018-0034-7.

- 64. Ricker, E., Chowdhury, L., Yi, W., & Pernis, A. B. (2016). The RhoA-ROCK pathway in the regulation of T and B cell responses. *F1000Research*, *5*, 2295. https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.7522.1.
- Siva Sankar, P., et al. (2017). Modeling nasopharyngeal carcinoma in three dimensions. *Oncology Letters*, 13, 2034–2044. https://doi.org/10.3892/ ol.2017.5697.
- Day, C. P., Merlino, G., & Van Dyke, T. (2015). Preclinical mouse cancer models: A maze of opportunities and challenges. *Cell*, 163, 39–53.
- Hoarau-Vechot, J., Rafii, A., Touboul, C., & Pasquier, J. (2018). Halfway between 2D and animal models: Are 3D cultures the ideal tool to study cancermicroenvironment interactions? *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, *19*, 181. https://doi. org/10.3390/ijms19010181.
- Muniandy, K., et al. (2016). Establishment and analysis of the 3-dimensional (3D) spheroids generated from the nasopharyngeal carcinoma cell line HK1. *Trop Life Sci Res*, 27, 125–130. https://doi. org/10.21315/tlsr2016.27.3.17.
- Smalley, K. S., et al. (2006). Multiple signaling pathways must be targeted to overcome drug resistance in cell lines derived from melanoma metastases. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 5, 1136–1144. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163. MCT-06-0084.
- Lo, M. C., et al. (2013). Role of MIF/CXCL8/ CXCR2 signaling in the growth of nasopharyngeal carcinoma tumor spheres. *Cancer Letters*, 335, 81–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2013.01.052.
- Xia, H., et al. (2010). miR-200a regulates epithelialmesenchymal to stem-like transition via ZEB2 and beta-catenin signaling. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 285, 36995–37004. https://doi. org/10.1074/jbc.M110.133744.
- Ng, Y. K., et al. (2012). K252a induces anoikissensitization with suppression of cellular migration in Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)—associated nasopharyngeal carcinoma cells. *Investigational New Drugs*, 30, 48–58. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10637-010-9513-4.
- 73. Siva Sankar, P., Che Mat, M. F., Muniandy, K., Xiang, B. L. S., Ling, P. S., Hoe, S. L. L., Khoo, A. S., & Mohana-Kumaran, N. (2017). Modeling nasopharyngeal carcinoma in three dimensions. *Oncology Letters*, 4, 2034–2044.
- Xu, H., et al. (2018). Organoid technology and applications in cancer research. *Journal of Hematology* & Oncology, 11, 116. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13045-018-0662-9.
- Scanu, T., et al. (2015). Salmonella manipulation of host Signaling pathways provokes cellular transformation associated with gallbladder carcinoma. *Cell Host & Microbe, 17*, 763–774. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.chom.2015.05.002.
- Huang, D. P., Ho, J. H., Chan, W. K., Lau, W. H., & Lui, M. (1989). Cytogenetics of undifferentiated

nasopharyngeal carcinoma xenografts from southern Chinese. *International Journal of Cancer, 43*, 936–939.

- Busson, P., et al. (1988). Establishment and characterization of three transplantable EBV-containing nasopharyngeal carcinomas. *International Journal* of Cancer, 42, 599–606.
- Pioche-Durieu, C., et al. (2005). In nasopharyngeal carcinoma cells, Epstein-Barr virus LMP1 interacts with galectin 9 in membrane raft elements resistant to simvastatin. *Journal of Virology*, 79, 13326–13337. https://doi.org/10.1128/ JVI.79.21.13326-13337.2005.
- Vicat, J. M., et al. (2003). Apoptosis and TRAF-1 cleavage in Epstein-Barr virus-positive nasopharyngeal carcinoma cells treated with doxorubicin combined with a farnesyl-transferase inhibitor. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 65, 423–433.
- Smith, P. A., Merritt, D., Barr, L., & Thorley-Lawson, D. A. (2011). An orthotopic model of metastatic nasopharyngeal carcinoma and its application in elucidating a therapeutic target that inhibits metastasis. *Genes & Cancer*, 2, 1023–1033. https:// doi.org/10.1177/1947601912440878.
- Dadras, S. S., et al. (2005). Tumor lymphangiogenesis predicts melanoma metastasis to sentinel lymph nodes. *Modern Pathology*, 18, 1232–1242. https:// doi.org/10.1038/modpathol.3800410.
- Patel, V., et al. (2013). DSG3 as a biomarker for the ultrasensitive detection of occult lymph node metastasis in oral cancer using nanostructured immunoarrays. *Oral Oncology*, 49, 93–101. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.oraloncology.2012.08.001.
- Zong, J., et al. (2015). Impact of intensitymodulated radiotherapy on nasopharyngeal carcinoma: Validation of the 7th edition AJCC staging system. *Oral Oncology*, *51*, 254–259. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.oraloncology.2014.10.012.
- Howe, K., et al. (2013). The zebrafish reference genome sequence and its relationship to the human genome. *Nature*, 496, 498–503. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12111.
- Patton, E. E., et al. (2005). BRAF mutations are sufficient to promote nevi formation and cooperate with p53 in the genesis of melanoma. *Current Biology*, 15, 249–254. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cub.2005.01.031.
- White, R. M., et al. (2011). DHODH modulates transcriptional elongation in the neural crest and melanoma. *Nature*, 471, 518–522. https://doi. org/10.1038/nature09882.
- Agrawal, N., et al. (2011). Exome sequencing of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma reveals inactivating mutations in NOTCH1. *Science*, *333*, 1154– 1157. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1206923.
- Lin, D. C., et al. (2014). The genomic landscape of nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Nature Genetics*, 46, 866–871. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.3006.
- Cancer Genome Atlas Network. (2015). Comprehensive genomic characterization of head

and neck squamous cell carcinomas. *Nature*, *517*, 576–582. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14129.

- Chow, Y. P., et al. (2017). Exome sequencing identifies potentially druggable mutations in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Scientific Reports*, 7, 42980. https:// doi.org/10.1038/srep42980.
- Haldi, M., Ton, C., Seng, W. L., & McGrath, P. (2006). Human melanoma cells transplanted into zebrafish proliferate, migrate, produce melanin, form masses and stimulate angiogenesis in zebrafish. *Angiogenesis*, 9, 139–151. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10456-006-9040-2.
- 92. Fior, R., et al. (2017). Single-cell functional and chemosensitive profiling of combinatorial colorectal therapy in zebrafish xenografts. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 114, E8234–E8243. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.1618389114.
- Harfouche, R., et al. (2009). Nanoparticle-mediated targeting of phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase signaling inhibits angiogenesis. *Angiogenesis*, *12*, 325–338. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10456-009-9154-4.
- 94. Berens, E. B., Sharif, G. M., Wellstein, A., & Glasgow, E. (2016). Testing the vascular invasive ability of cancer cells in zebrafish (Danio Rerio). *Journal of Visualized Experiments*. https://doi. org/10.3791/55007.
- 95. Hall, C., Flores, M. V., Storm, T., Crosier, K., & Crosier, P. (2007). The zebrafish lysozyme C promoter drives myeloid-specific expression in transgenic fish. *BMC Developmental Biology*, 7, 42. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-213X-7-42.
- 96. Ellett, F., Pase, L., Hayman, J. W., Andrianopoulos, A., & Lieschke, G. J. (2011). mpeg1 promoter transgenes direct macrophage-lineage expression in zebrafish. *Blood*, *117*, e49–e56. https://doi. org/10.1182/blood-2010-10-314120.
- Okuda, K. S., et al. (2012). lyve1 expression reveals novel lymphatic vessels and new mechanisms for lymphatic vessel development in zebrafish. *Development*, *139*, 2381–2391. https://doi. org/10.1242/dev.077701.
- Follain, G., et al. (2018). Hemodynamic forces tune the arrest, adhesion, and extravasation of circulating tumor cells. *Developmental Cell*, 45, 33–52 e12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2018.02.015.
- Liu, T. L., et al. (2018). Observing the cell in its native state: Imaging subcellular dynamics in multicellular organisms. *Science*, *360*, eaaq1392. https:// doi.org/10.1126/science.aaq1392.
- 100. Lin, J., et al. (2016). A clinically relevant in vivo zebrafish model of human multiple myeloma to study preclinical therapeutic efficacy. *Blood*, 128, 249–252. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2016-03-704460.
- 101. Gaudenzi, G., et al. (2017). Patient-derived xenograft in zebrafish embryos: A new platform for translational research in neuroendocrine tumors. *Endocrine*, 57, 214–219. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12020-016-1048-9.

- 102. Wu, J. Q., et al. (2017). Patient-derived xenograft in zebrafish embryos: A new platform for translational research in gastric cancer. *Journal of Experimental* & *Clinical Cancer Research*, 36, 160. https://doi. org/10.1186/s13046-017-0631-0.
- 103. Okuda, K. S., et al. (2015). A zebrafish model of inflammatory lymphangiogenesis. *Biology Open*, 4, 1270–1280. https://doi.org/10.1242/bio.013540.
- Benasso, M. (2013). Induction chemotherapy for squamous cell head and neck cancer: A neverending story. *Oral Oncology*, 49, 747–752. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.oraloncology.2013.04.007.
- 105. Sonis, S. T. (2009). Mucositis: The impact, biology and therapeutic opportunities of oral mucositis. *Oral Oncology*, 45, 1015–1020. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. oraloncology.2009.08.006.
- 106. Sridharan, S., Dal Pra, A., Catton, C., Bristow, R. G., & Warde, P. (2013). Locally advanced prostate cancer: Current controversies and optimisation opportunities. *Clinical Oncology (Royal College of Radiologists)*, 25, 499–505. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.clon.2013.04.004.
- 107. Nieboer, P., de Vries, E. G., Mulder, N. H., & van der Graaf, W. T. (2005). Relevance of high-dose chemotherapy in solid tumours. *Cancer Treatment Reviews*, 31, 210–225. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ctrv.2005.02.002.
- Specenier, P. M., & Vermorken, J. B. (2009). Current concepts for the management of head and neck cancer: Chemotherapy. *Oral Oncology*, 45, 409–415. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oraloncology.2008.05.014.
- 109. Larkin, J., et al. (2015). Combined nivolumab and ipilimumab or monotherapy in untreated melanoma. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 373, 23–34. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1504030.
- 110. Tentler, J. J., et al. (2012). Patient-derived tumour xenografts as models for oncology drug development. *Nature Reviews. Clinical Oncology*, 9, 338– 350. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrclinonc.2012.61.
- 111. Yang, M., et al. (2013). Overcoming erlotinib resistance with tailored treatment regimen in patientderived xenografts from naive Asian NSCLC patients. *International Journal of Cancer*, 132, E74– E84. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.27813.
- 112. Brinster, R. L., et al. (1984). Transgenic mice harboring SV40 T-antigen genes develop characteristic brain tumors. *Cell*, *37*, 367–379.
- 113. Guy, C. T., Cardiff, R. D., & Muller, W. J. (1992). Induction of mammary tumors by expression of polyomavirus middle T oncogene: A transgenic mouse model for metastatic disease. *Molecular and Cellular Biology, 12*, 954–961.
- 114. Platt, R. J., et al. (2014). CRISPR-Cas9 knockin mice for genome editing and cancer modeling. *Cell*, 159, 440–455. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2014.09.014.
- 115. Agliano, A., et al. (2008). Human acute leukemia cells injected in NOD/LtSz-scid/IL-2Rgamma null mice generate a faster and more efficient disease compared to other NOD/scid-related strains.

International Journal of Cancer, 123, 2222–2227. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.23772.

- 116. Gradilone, A., Spadaro, A., Gianni, W., Agliano, A. M., & Gazzaniga, P. (2008). Induction of multidrug resistance proteins in lymphocytes from patients with arthritic disorders. *Clinical and Experimental Medicine*, 8, 229–230. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10238-008-0008-y.
- 117. Topalian, S. L., Solomon, D., & Rosenberg, S. A. (1989). Tumor-specific cytolysis by lymphocytes infiltrating human melanomas. *Journal of Immunology*, 142, 3714–3725.
- 118. Barth, R. J., Jr., Mule, J. J., Asher, A. L., Sanda, M. G., & Rosenberg, S. A. (1991). Identification of unique murine tumor associated antigens by tumor infiltrating lymphocytes using tumor specific secretion of interferon-gamma and tumor necrosis factor. *Journal of Immunological Methods*, 140, 269–279.
- 119. Boon, T., Cerottini, J. C., Van den Eynde, B., van der Bruggen, P., & Van Pel, A. (1994). Tumor antigens recognized by T lymphocytes. *Annual Review of Immunology*, 12, 337–365. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev.iy.12.040194.002005.
- 120. Boon, T., Gajewski, T. F., & Coulie, P. G. (1995). From defined human tumor antigens to effective immunization? *Immunology Today*, 16, 334–336.
- 121. Eggermont, A. M., & Robert, C. (2011). New drugs in melanoma: it's a whole new world. *European Journal of Cancer*, 47, 2150–2157. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ejca.2011.06.052.
- 122. Smalley, K. S., & McArthur, G. A. (2012). The current state of targeted therapy in melanoma: This time it's personal. *Seminars in Oncology*, 39, 204–214. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.seminoncol.2012.01.008.
- 123. Farolfi, A., et al. (2012). Ipilimumab in advanced melanoma: Reports of long-lasting responses. *Melanoma Research*, 22, 263–270. https://doi. org/10.1097/CMR.0b013e328353e65c.
- 124. Mackensen, A., et al. (2006). Phase I study of adoptive T-cell therapy using antigen-specific CD8+ T cells for the treatment of patients with metastatic melanoma. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 24, 5060– 5069. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2006.07.1100.
- 125. Rosenberg, S. A., Restifo, N. P., Yang, J. C., Morgan, R. A., & Dudley, M. E. (2008). Adoptive cell transfer: A clinical path to effective cancer immunotherapy. *Nature Reviews. Cancer*, *8*, 299–308. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc2355.
- 126. Lopez, M. N., et al. (2009). Prolonged survival of dendritic cell-vaccinated melanoma patients correlates with tumor-specific delayed type IV hypersensitivity response and reduction of tumor growth factor beta-expressing T cells. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 27, 945–952. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2008.18.0794.
- 127. Gonzalez, F. E., et al. (2014). Tumor cell lysates as immunogenic sources for cancer vaccine design. *Human Vaccines & Immunotherapeutics*, 10, 3261– 3269. https://doi.org/10.4161/21645515.2014.982996.

- 128. Keilholz, U., et al. (2005). Dacarbazine, cisplatin, and interferon-alfa-2b with or without interleukin-2 in metastatic melanoma: A randomized phase III trial (18951) of the European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer Melanoma Group. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 23, 6747– 6755. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2005.03.202.
- 129. Agarwala, S. S., et al. (2002). Results from a randomized phase III study comparing combined treatment with histamine dihydrochloride plus interleukin-2 versus interleukin-2 alone in patients with metastatic melanoma. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 20, 125–133. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2002.20.1.125.
- 130. Bajetta, E., et al. (1994). Multicenter randomized trial of dacarbazine alone or in combination with two different doses and schedules of interferon alfa-2a in the treatment of advanced melanoma. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *12*, 806–811.
- 131. Dudley, M. E., et al. (2005). Adoptive cell transfer therapy following non-myeloablative but lymphodepleting chemotherapy for the treatment of patients with refractory metastatic melanoma. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 23, 2346–2357. https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.2005.00.240.
- 132. Eshhar, Z., Waks, T., & Gross, G. (2014). The emergence of T-bodies/CAR T cells. *Cancer Journal*, 20, 123–126. https://doi.org/10.1097/ PPO.00000000000027.
- 133. Rosenberg, S. A., & Restifo, N. P. (2015). Adoptive cell transfer as personalized immunotherapy for human cancer. *Science*, 348, 62–68. https://doi. org/10.1126/science.aaa4967.
- 134. Guida, M., Pisconte, S., & Colucci, G. (2012). Metastatic melanoma: The new era of targeted therapy. *Expert Opinion on Therapeutic Targets*, *16*(Suppl 2), S61–S70. https://doi.org/10.1517/1472 8222.2011.645807.
- 135. Amaria, R. N., Lewis, K. D., & Gonzalez, R. (2011). Therapeutic options in cutaneous melanoma: Latest developments. *Therapeutic Advances in Medical Oncology*, *3*, 245–251. https://doi. org/10.1177/1758834011415308.
- 136. Hodi, F. S., et al. (2010). Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 363, 711–723. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1003466.
- 137. Brahmer, J. R., et al. (2010). Phase I study of singleagent anti-programmed death-1 (MDX-1106) in refractory solid tumors: Safety, clinical activity, pharmacodynamics, and immunologic correlates. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 28, 3167–3175. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2009.26.7609.
- 138. Simeone, E., & Ascierto, P. A. (2012). Immunomodulating antibodies in the treatment of metastatic melanoma: The experience with anti-CTLA-4, anti-CD137, and anti-PD1. *Journal of Immunotoxicology*, 9, 241–247. https://doi.org/10.3 109/1547691X.2012.678021.

- 139. Pardoll, D. M. (2012). The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. *Nature Reviews. Cancer*, *12*, 252–264. https://doi. org/10.1038/nrc3239.
- 140. Kyte, J. A., et al. (2007). T cell responses in melanoma patients after vaccination with tumor-mRNA transfected dendritic cells. *Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy*, 56, 659–675. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00262-006-0222-y.
- 141. Sabado, R. L., & Bhardwaj, N. (2013). Dendritic cell immunotherapy. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1284, 31–45. https://doi.org/10.1111/ nyas.12125.
- 142. Aguilera, R., et al. (2011). Heat-shock induction of tumor-derived danger signals mediates rapid monocyte differentiation into clinically effective dendritic cells. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 17, 2474–2483. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-2384.
- 143. O'Rourke, M. G., et al. (2003). Durable complete clinical responses in a phase I/II trial using an autologous melanoma cell/dendritic cell vaccine. *Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy, 52,* 387–395. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00262-003-0375-x.
- 144. Reyes, D., et al. (2013). Tumour cell lysate-loaded dendritic cell vaccine induces biochemical and memory immune response in castration-resistant prostate cancer patients. *British Journal of Cancer*, 109, 1488–1497. https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2013.494.
- 145. Veldeman, L., et al. (2008). Evidence behind use of intensity-modulated radiotherapy: A systematic review of comparative clinical studies. *The Lancet Oncology*, 9, 367–375. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1470-2045(08)70098-6.
- 146. Tan, W. L., et al. (2016). Advances in systemic treatment for nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Chinese Clinical Oncology*, 5, 21. https://doi.org/10.21037/ cco.2016.03.03.
- 147. Lin, S., et al. (2012). Combined high-dose radiation therapy and systemic chemotherapy improves survival in patients with newly diagnosed metastatic nasopharyngeal cancer. *American Journal* of Clinical Oncology, 35, 474–479. https://doi. org/10.1097/COC.0b013e31821a9452.
- 148. Xu, T., et al. (2015). Weekly cetuximab concurrent with IMRT aggravated radiation-induced oral mucositis in locally advanced nasopharyngeal carcinoma: Results of a randomized phase II study. Oral Oncology, 51, 875–879. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. oraloncology.2015.06.008.
- 149. Zhai, R. P., et al. (2015). Experience with combination of nimotuzumab and intensity-modulated radiotherapy in patients with locoregionally advanced nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *OncoTargets and Therapy*, 8, 3383–3390. https://doi.org/10.2147/OTT.S93238.
- 150. Zhang, H. J., et al. (2018). Addition of bevacizumab to systemic therapy for locally advanced and metastatic nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Oncology Letters*, 15, 7799–7805. https://doi.org/10.3892/ ol.2018.8284.

- 151. Stoker, S. D., et al. (2013). Current treatment options for local residual nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Current Treatment Options in Oncology*, 14, 475– 491. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11864-013-0261-5.
- 152. Ma, B. B. Y., et al. (2018). Antitumor activity of nivolumab in recurrent and metastatic nasopharyngeal carcinoma: an international, multicenter study of the Mayo Clinic phase 2 consortium (NCI-9742). *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 36, 1412–1418. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2017.77.0388.
- 153. Hsu, C., et al. (2017). Safety and antitumor activity of pembrolizumab in patients with programmed death-ligand 1-positive nasopharyngeal carcinoma: Results of the KEYNOTE-028 study. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 35, 4050–4056. https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.2017.73.3675.
- 154. Chia, W. K., et al. (2014). Adoptive T-cell transfer and chemotherapy in the first-line treatment of metastatic and/or locally recurrent nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Molecular Therapy*, 22, 132–139. https://doi. org/10.1038/mt.2013.242.
- 155. Huang, J., et al. (2017). Epstein-Barr virus-specific adoptive immunotherapy for recurrent, metastatic nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Cancer*, 123, 2642– 2650. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.30541.
- 156. Tang, M., et al. (2010). Haplotype-dependent HLA susceptibility to nasopharyngeal carcinoma in a Southern Chinese population. *Genes and Immunity*, 11, 334–342. https://doi.org/10.1038/ gene.2009.109.



An In Vitro Model of Triple-Negative Breast Cancer

J. Russo and Y. Su

Abstract

We have characterized two highly tumorigenic and metastatic basal B TNBC cell lines, XtMCF and LmMCF, with the additional values of having the normal and early-stage counterparts of them. This model allows the study of the evolution of TNBC, and investigates molecular pathways at different stages of transformation and progression in a relatively constant genetic background. This constitutes an ideal model for developing targeted therapy in two important fields in cancer biology which are the epithelial mesenchymal transition (EMT) and cancer stem cells (CSC).

Keywords

17β-estradiol · Human breast epithelial cells · Epithelial to mesenchymal transition · Triple-negative breast cancer · Chromatin remodeling · Breast epithelial cell transformation

17ß-Estradiol Induces Transformation and Tumorigenesis in Human Breast Epithelial Cells

Breast cancer is a malignancy whose dependence on estrogen exposure has long been recognized, even though the mechanisms through which estrogens cause cancer are not clearly understood [1–17]. Our work was performed in order to determine whether 17ß-estradiol (E_2), the predominant circulating ovarian steroid, is carcinogenic in human breast epithelial cells and whether non-receptor mechanisms are involved in the initiation of breast cancer. For this purpose, the effect of four alternating 24 h treatment periods with 70 nM E_2 of the estrogen receptor alpha (ER- α) negative MCF-10F cell line on the in vitro expression of neoplastic transformation was evaluated [7, 8, 11] (Fig. 1).

E2-treatment induced the expression of anchorage-independent growth, loss of ductulogenesis in collagen, invasiveness in Matrigel, and loss of 9p11-13. Tumorigenesis in SCID mice was expressed only in invasive cells that in addition exhibited a deletion of 4p15.3-16. Tumors formed in SCID mice were poorly differentiated adenocarcinomas that were estrogen receptor α and progesterone receptor negative, expressed keratins, EMA, and e-cadherin. The relationship between cell motility in vitro and the ability of neoplastic cells to invade and metastasize in vivo is well known. This led us to evaluate the

J. Russo (🖂) · Y. Su

Breast Cancer Research Laboratory, Fox Chase Cancer Center-Temple Health, Philadelphia, PA, USA e-mail: Jose.Russo@fccc.edu

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

J. S. Rhim et al. (eds.), *Human Cell Transformation*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1164, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-22254-3_3



Fig. 1 Schematic representation of the experimental protocol. MCF-10F cells were treated with 70 nM 17ßestradiol (17 β -E₂ 70 nM) for 24-h periods, twice a week during 2 weeks. After the last treatment the cells were passaged 7–9 times before being tested for colony efficiency, ductulogenesis in collagen, invasion in Matrigel and tumorigenesis in SCID mice. For the invasion assay, the cells were trypsinized and seeded in the invasion chambers at a concentration of 2.5×10^4 cells/well, incubated for 22 h and then the membranes of the inserts were cut and invasive cells (bsMCF) were cultured in 24-well plates. The invasive cells were expanded and evaluated for

migratory behavior of the human breast epithelial cell line MCF-10F after neoplastic transformation with 70 nM of 17B-estradiol (E2), 4 OH estradiol (4-OH-E₂) and 2-OH estradiol (2-OH- E_2). Cells thus transformed express colony formation in agar methocel, loss of ductulogenic capacity in collagen matrix, and invasiveness in a Matrigel artificial membrane [7, 8, 11]. We set up a time-lapse video microscopy system to directly observe and capture the cells' images using a Nikon DXM digital camera attached to an Olympus IMT-2 microscope that was equipped with a Plexiglas incubation chamber. From each cell line, a random number of cells were selected for tracking at 1-hour intervals. Cell motility was evaluated by determining the speed of the tracked cell expressed in mm/min (S), the direction persistence in time (P), and the random motility coefficient (μ) that provides a measure of how

the expression of tumorigenesis in SCID mice. Nine out of ten mice injected with bsMCF developed tumors. Tumors from four of the animals were dissected in 0.5–1 mm size fragments, incubated in culture medium until confluent, generating cell lines from each tumor that were subsequently injected to five mice per cell line for the evaluation of their tumorigenic potential. All injected animals developed tumors. All tumors and cell lines were analyzed histopathologically and immunocytochemically as well as for fingerprint and CGH analyses. None of the animals injected with MCF-10F control cells or trMCF developed tumors

fast a cell population will grow to cover a surface. Our findings [1] indicated that the transformation of HBEC by estrogen and its metabolites induces changes in cell motility in vitro, 4-OH- E_2 being the one inducing the most significant changes, its effect correlated to the expression of phenotypes indicative of cell transformation.

Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition in Human Breast Epithelial Cells Transformed by 17-Beta-Estradiol

We have demonstrated that 17β -estradiol (E₂) induces complete neoplastic transformation of the human breast epithelial cells MCF-10F [7, 8, 11]. E2-treatment of MCF-10F cells progressively induced high colony efficiency and



Fig. 2 Transformation of MCF-10F cells by 17 β -estradiol treatment. Experimental protocol: MCF-10F cells treated with 70 nM 17 β -estradiol (E₂) that expressed high colony efficiency (CE) and loss of ductulogenic capacity in collagen matrix were classified as transformed (trMCF). Transformed cells that were invasive in a Matrigel Boyden-type invasion chambers were selected (bsMCF) and plated at low density for cloning

loss of ductulogenesis in early transformed (trMCF) cells, invasiveness in a Matrigel invasion chambers. The cells that crossed the chamber membrane were collected and identified as bsMCF, and their subclones designated bcMCF, and the cells harvested from carcinoma formation in SCID mice designated (caMCF) (Fig. 2) [11]. These phenotypes correlated with gene dysregulation during the progression of the transformation. The highest number of dysregulated genes was observed in caMCF cells, being slightly lower in bcMCF cells, and lowest in trMCF cells. This order was consistent with the extent of chromosome aberrations (caMCF > bcMCF >>> trMCF). Chromosomal amplifications were found in 1p36.12-pter, 5q21.1-qter, and 13q21.31-qter. Losses of the complete chromosome 4 and of 8p11.21-23.1 were found only in tumorigenic cells. In tumor-derived cell lines, additional losses were found in 3p12.1-14.1, 9p22.1-pter, and 18q11.21-qter [11].

Functional profiling of deregulated genes revealed progressive changes in the integrin signaling pathway, inhibition of apoptosis, acquisition of tumorigenic cell surface markers, and

(bcMCF). MCF-10F, trMCF, bsMCF, and bcMCF were tested for carcinogenicity by injecting them into the mammary fat pad of 45-day-old female SCID mice. MCF-10F and trMCF cells did not induce tumors (canceled arrow); bsMCF and bcMCF formed solid tumors from which four cell lines, identified as caMCF, were derived and proven to be tumorigenic in SCID mice (reprinted from [11])

epithelial to mesenchymal transition. In tumorigenic cells, the levels of E-cadherin, EMA, and various keratins were low and CD44E/CD24 were negative, whereas SNAI2, vimentin, S100A4, FN1, HRAS and TGF β 1, and CD44H were high (Fig. 3) [11].

The phenotypic and genomic changes triggered by estrogen exposure that lead normal cells to tumorigenesis confirm the role of this steroid hormone in cancer initiation. Our work emphasizes the importance of being able to make a normal cell-like MCF-10F neoplastically transformed by a treatment with a natural hormone. More importantly the cell is estrogen receptor negative, indicating that the traditional pathway of action for estrogen and its receptors is not the main pathway of the neoplastic process. It is known that prolonged exposure to estrogen is a risk factor for human breast cancer, but the role of estrogen in the development of human breast cancer has been difficult to ascertain. There are three mechanisms that have been considered responsible for the carcinogenicity of estrogens: a receptor-mediated hormonal activity, cytochrome P450-mediated metabolic activation, and induction of aneuploidy. The



Fig. 3 (a) A list of EMT markers and promoting genes was generated a priory by literature search. Hierarchical clustering of cell lines and genes was performed using dChip software.

Two sample clusters (κ and λ) and two gene clusters (α and β) were identified. The red, white, and blue colors represent level above, at, and below mean expression, respectively.

receptor-mediated hormonal activity of estrogen has generally been related to stimulation of cellular proliferation, resulting in more opportunities for accumulation of genetic damages leading to carcinogenesis. Since local synthesis of estrogen in the stromal component can increase the estrogen levels and growth rate of breast carcinoma, a paracrine mechanism is likely to account for interactions between aromatase-containing stromal cells and ER-containing breast tumor epithelial cells. More importantly, estrogen may not need to activate nuclear receptors alpha to initiate or promote breast carcinogenesis. We have evidence that ERP may also be involved in this process and that oxidative catabolism of estrogens mediated by various CYP complexes constitutes a pathway of their metabolic activation and generates reactive free radicals and intermediate metabolites reactive intermediates that can cause oxidative stress and genomic damage directly. Estrogen-induced genotoxic effects include increased mutation rates, MSI, and LOH in chromosomes 3 and 11. Compromised DNA repair system allows accumulation of genomic lesions essential to estrogen-induced tumorigenesis. Metabolic biotransformation of estrogen does occur in human mammary explant culture. Increased formation of catechol estrogens as a result of elevated hydroxylation of 17β-estradiol at C-4 and C-16a positions has been observed in human breast cancer patients and in women at a higher risk of developing this disease. There is also evidence that formation of superoxide and hydrogen peroxide, as a result of the metabolism of estrogen, might also be involved in estrogen-mediated oxidative stress. In fact, a substantial increase in

base lesions observed in the DNA of invasive ductal carcinoma of the breast has been postulated to result from the oxidative stress associated with metabolism of 17β -estradiol. Altogether the data thus far accumulated indicate that more than one pathway may be necessary to initiate neoplastic transformation and maintaining of the transformation phenotypes leading to tumorigenesis.

Developing a Unique Model of Triple Negative Breast Cancer

Triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) represents a heterogeneous group of cancers characterized by a lack of ER, PgR, and HER2 expression. Cluster analysis of human TNBC identified six subtypes displaying unique gene expression and ontologies [18]. Approximately 80% of TNBC show features of basal-like cancers [19]. Transcriptional profile analysis assigned 21 TNBC cell lines into three clusters: luminal, basal A, and basal B [20–22]. Basal A contains cell lines such as BT-20, Sum149, and MDA-MB-468, which preferentially express genes such as CK5/6, CK14, and EGFR. Basal B includes cell lines such as MDA-MB-231, Sum159pt, and Hs578t, which preferentially express genes such as CD44, VIM, and SNAI2, and exhibits a stem-cell-like profile [20]. This classification of TNBC cell lines is closely associated with cell morphology and invasive potential. Basal B cells have a more mesenchymal-like appearance and are less differentiated and much more invasive compared to the other two clusters. Analysis of the relationship between TNBC cell

Fig. 3 (coninued) (**b**) Detection of epithelial and mesenchymal markers by immunocytochemistry: (*a*) Histological sections of MCF-10F cells, reacted with pre-immune mouse serum, were used as the negative control (×100); (*b*) MCF-10F reacted for EMA (×100); (*c*) MCF-10F reacted for E-Cadherin (×100); (*d*) MCF-10F reacted for vimentin (×100); (*e*) trMCF cells reacted with pre-immune mouse serum used as negative control (×100); (*f*, *g*, and *h*) trMCF cells reacted for EMA, E-cadherin, and vimentin, respectively (×100); (*i*) bsMCF cells reacted with pre-immune mouse

serum as a negative control (×100); (*j*, *k*, *l*) bsMCF cells reacted for EMA, E-cadherin, and vimentin, respectively (×100); (*m*) caMCF tumor cell line cells reacted with preimmune mouse serum used as negative control (×100); (*n*, *o*, *p*) caMCF tumor cell lines reacted for EMA, E-cadherin, and vimentin, respectively (×100); (*q* and *r*) invasive ductal carcinoma of the breast as positive control and immunoreacted for EMA and E-cadherin, respectively (×100); (*s*) histological section of an invasive adenocarcinoma immunoreacted for vimentin (×100) (Reprinted from: [11])

lines and tumor subtypes showed that most of basal A and basal B cell lines resemble basal-like tumors [20], indicating that TNBC cell lines are suitable for investigations of subtype-specific cancer cell biology.

Although there are over 20 commercially available TNBC cell lines, MDA-MB-231 is the most widely used in vitro and in vivo. In BALB/CAJCI-nu/nu mice, it took 5 weeks to form a xenograft around 6.5 mm in diameter with the subcutaneous injection of 5×10^6 MDA-MB-231 cells [23]. MDA-MB-468 cells had a growth speed similar to MDA-MB-231 in the same mouse strain [23].

The growth speed of MDA-MB-231 xenograft in CB17/SCID was almost the same as in nude mice, while BT-549 cells grew a little bit slower than MDA-MB-231 cells in CB17/SCID mice [24]. Sum149 and Sum159 are two highly tumorigenic cell lines; it was reported that the injection of 1×10^5 cells in nonobese diabetic SCID mice could produce tumors in 3/4 and 5/6 mice, respectively [25]. But these two cell lines are mainly used for the study of inflammatory breast cancer [26, 27]. We have established [28] a progressive TNBC model (Fig. 4) consisting of normal MCF-10F, transformed cell line trMCF, and tumorigenic cell lines bsMCF, XtMCF, and LmMCF. Compared to the other nine tumorigenic TNBC cell lines, our cell lines XtMCF and LmMCF are the most tumorigenic and metastatic.

The expression of cytokeratin 18 (CK18) confirmed the epithelial origin of this cell model, and we observed that CK18 was down-regulated in bsMCF cell line and its derivatives. Furthermore, CK18 was lost in the lung metastases, whereas still present in the xenografts of both XtMCF and LmMCF cells, suggesting down-regulation of CK18 may be related to breast tumor progression [29]. Our study also showed that CK5-positive cell number was inversely correlated to clinical stage of TNBC [30, 31], suggesting that our cell model reflects features of TNBC progression.

The EMT process is not only closely related to cancer invasion and metastasis but also conferred to the generation of cancer stem cells (CSC) [32–34]. As bsMCF-luc, XtMCF, and LmMCF have undergone EMT, we evaluated



Fig. 4 Schematic representation of the establishment of a TNBC model

their CSC properties and the results showed that they could form tumorspheres, and the number of tumorspheres was progressively increasing from bsMCF-luc to XtMCF and LmMCF cells, consistent with in vivo tumorigenic and metastatic potential.

In this work [30], we postulated that the evaluation of CSC markers would give us a rationale for the high tumorigenic and metastatic potential of these two cell lines (Figs. 5 and 6). Our results showed that the bsMCF-luc and XtMCF cells were CD24^{low}/CD44⁺, whereas LmMCF cells were CD44⁺ with moderate CD24 expression. CD24^{-/low}/CD44⁺ has been frequently used as CSC markers of breast cancers [35–37]. However, it was shown that the percentage of CD24^{-/low}/CD44⁺



Fig. 5 XtMCF and LmMCF cells display high tumorigenic and metastatic potential. Representative pictures of xenografts and lungs fixed with Bouin's solution. Magnification: 6.3× for xenografts, 8× for lungs (Reprinted from: [28])



Fig. 6 H&E staining of lungs from the injection of 1×10^6 cells into tail vein. LmMCF cells are more metastatic than XtMCF cells. Arrows indicate the metastases. Magnifications are shown in figure (Reprinted from: [28])

associates with a basal-like phenotype, not tumorigenicity, but CD24-/low/CD44+/EpCAM+ cells enrich for tumorigenicity [31, 36]. EpCAM induces expressions of reprogramming factors and EMT genes, regulates EMT progression, and tumorigenesis [38]. In addition, EpCAM can be cleaved at several sites, and the nuclear translocation of cytoplasmic domain (EpCID) associates with Wnt pathway and promotes cell proliferation and tumor formation in mice [39]. One of the EpCAM cleavage sites between two arginine residues (AA80 and AA81) was detected and described in the late 1980s, but the functional consequence is still unknown [40]. Interestingly, we observed the expression of EpCAM in the cell lines we examined by immunofluorescence staining and WB, but the EGF-like domain of EpCAM was absent in mesenchymal-like cells, suggesting the EGF-like domain might be cleaved off from the cleavage site between AA80 and AA81. This was supported by other workers [41–47]. The majority of commercial antibodies for EpCAM react with overlapped or partly overlapped epitope at EGF-like domain [48]. This may result in failing detection of EpCAM in cells which have undergone EMT. Our study indicates that the EGF-like-domain-cleaved-off EpCAM may be associated with the EMT process. Furthermore, although the total level of EpCAM is low in mesenchymal-like cells, the subcellular localization of EpCAM may be more important to the EpCAM nuclear indicating a strong activation of Wnt signaling in these cells.

Chromatin Remodeling During Human Breast Epithelial Cell Transformation

We have shown that treatment of the human breast epithelial cells MCF-10F with 17β-estradiol (E2) induces transformation and tumorigenesis. DNA amounts and chromatin supraorganization change in E2-transformed MCF cells [49]. Feulgen-DNA content and chromatin supraorganization were involved during E2-induced transformation and tumorigenesis of the MCF-10F cells. Image analysis was performed for non-transformed and E2-transformed MCF cells, highly invasive cells

(C5), and for cell lines (C5-A6-T6 and C5-A8-T8)derived from tumors generated by injection of C5 cells in SCID mice (Fig. 1). A decrease in Feulgen-DNA amounts and nuclear sizes induced by E2 treatment was accented with selection of the highly invasive tumorigenesis potential. However, in the tumor-derived cells, a high variability in cellular phenotypes resulted inclusive in nearpolyploidy. Significant changes in textural parameters, including nuclear entropy, indicated chromatin structural remodeling with advancing tumorigenesis. An increased variability in the degree of chromatin packing states in the E2-transformed MCF cells was followed by reduction in chromatin condensation and in contrast between condensed and non-condensed chromatin in the highly invasive C5 cells and tumor-derived cell lines. These observations confirmed previous data [11], showing the role of chromatin remodeling and epigenetic control in the transformation of human breast epithelial cells. We found that a network of several signaling pathways affecting the expression and/or function of a complex hierarchical network of transcription factors (TFs) has been partially elaborated. Known signaling pathways include multiple tyrosine kinase receptors leading to Ras-mediated activation of MAPK and PI3K pathways, TGF-β, Notch, and Wnt. Evidence for enhanced TGF- β and Wnt signaling pathways was found in the EMT expressing bcMCF and caMCF cells. TGF- β acting through Smad transcriptional complexes can repress expression of the Id TFs (Id1, Id2, Id3) and activate HMGA2, a DNA binding protein important for chromatin architecture. Expression of HMGA2 is known to regulate several EMT controlling TFs including TWIST1, SNAI1, and SNAI2 (Slug) (Fig. 7). TGF-β and Wnt signaling also affect the expression of several additional EMT-regulating TFs including ZEB1 (TCF8), TCF3 (E2A encoding E12 and E47), and LEF1. Analysis of the EMT expressing bcMCF cell line revealed the absence of expression of the secreted frizzled-related protein 1 (SFRP1), a repressor of Wnt signaling. One allele of SFRP1 was deleted in these cells, with the remaining apparently silenced by methylation, accounting for the 28-fold reduction of this transcript. Loss



Fig. 7 Heat map showing the EMT (Reprinted from: [11])

and epigenetic inactivation of SFRP1 occurs often in invasive breast cancer and is associated with poor prognosis. Inspection of the SFRP1 expression levels in Basal B cell lines showed absent calls for four of the eight invasive cell lines, and eightfold decreases in another three invasive cell lines relative to the non-invasive MCF-10A cells (data not shown). Inspection of the expression files for bcMCF cells and the eight invasive Basal B cell lines revealed that LEF1 was always absent, while TCF 3 and TCF 8 were expressed.

As we have described above the TNBC cell consisting of normal like breast epithelial cell line MCF10F, the trMCF cell line that was transformed from MCF10F cells, the tumorigenic bsMCF cell line derived from trMCF, and two highly tumorigenic and metastatic cell lines XtMCF and LmMCF established from bsMCF cells have undergone epithelial mesenchymal transition (EMT), exhibiting a mesenchymal-like feature, providing a good cell model for identifying new treatments for TNBC.

Concluding Remarks

The relevance of this work is the development and characterization of two highly tumorigenic and metastatic basal B TNBC cell lines, XtMCF and LmMCF. To the best of our knowledge, they are the most tumorigenic and metastatic TNBC cell lines compared to all reported cell models used for TNBC studies. In addition, the normal and early-stage counterparts of these two cell lines are also available. Altogether, these cell lines can be used to study the evolution of TNBC, investigate molecular pathways at different stages of transformation and progression in a relatively constant genetic background, and most importantly, identify new treatments for TNBC. In addition, XtMCF and LmMCF cell lines present CSC properties and can be used for developing CSC-targeted therapy. The finding that the EGFlike domain of EpCAM is cleaved off in cancer cells which have undergone EMT also provides new insights in the research of EMT and CSC, two important fields in cancer biology.

Acknowledgements This work was supported by the Pennsylvania Cancer Cure Grant 6914101, the NIH core grant CA06927 to Fox Chase Cancer Center, the Barbara and Joseph Breitman donation, and the Flyers wives donation. The compound SGI-110 was provided by Astex Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Dublin CA.

References

- Russo, J., Lareef, M. H., Balogh, G., Guo, S., & Russo, I. H. (2003). Estrogen and its metabolites are carcinogenic in human breast epithelial cells. *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 87, 1–25.
- Russo, J., & Russo, I. H. (2004). Genotoxicity of steroidal estrogens. *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 15, 211–214.
- Fernandez, S. V., Russo, I. H., Lareef, M. H., Balsara, B., & Russo, J. (2005). Comparative genomic hybridization of human breast epithelial cells transformed by estrogen and its metabolites. *International Journal* of Oncology, 26(3), 691–695.
- Chen, J.-Q., Yager, J. D., & Russo, J. (2005). Regulation of mitochondrial respiratory chain structure and function by estrogens/estrogen receptors and potential physiological/pathophysiological implications: Review. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 1746, 1–17.
- Fernandez, S. V., Lareef, M. H., Russo, I. H., Balsara, B. R., Testa, J. R., & Russo, J. (2006). Estrogen and its metabolites 4-Hydroxy-estradiol induce mutations in TP53 and LOH in chromosome 13q12.3 near BRCA2 in human breast epithelial cells. *International Journal of Cancer, 118*(8), 1862–1868.
- Cavalieri, E., Chakravarti, D., Guttenplan, J., Hart, E., Ingle, J., Jankowiak, R., Muti, P., Rogan, E., Russo, J., Santen, R., & Sutter, T. (2006). Catechol estrogen quinones as initiators of breast and other human cancers. Implications for biomarkers of susceptibility and cancer prevention. Review. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 1766, 63–78.
- Russo, J., Fernandez, S. V., Russo, P. A., Fernbaugh, R., Sheriff, F. S., Lareef, H. M., Garber, J., & Russo, I. H. (2006). 17 beta estradiol induces transformation and tumorigenesis in human breast epithelial cells. *The FASEB Journal*, 20, 1622–1634.
- Russo, J., & Russo, I. H. (2006). The role of estrogen in the initiation of breast cancer. *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 102, 89–96.
- Mello, M. L., Vidal, B. C., Lareef, M. H., Russo, I. H., & Russo, J. (2007). DNA content and estradiolbchromatin texture of human breast epithelial cells treated with 17- and the estrogen antagonist ICI 182,780 as

assessed by image analysis. *Mutation Research*, 617, 1–7.

- Tiezzi, D. G., Fernandez, S. V., & Russo, J. (2007). Epithelial to mesenchymal transition during breast cancer progression. *International Journal of Oncology*, 31, 823–827.
- Huang, Y., Fernandez, S., Goodwin, S., Russo, P. A., Russo, I. H., Sutter, T., & Russo, J. (2007). Epithelial to mesenchymal transition in human breast epithelial cells transformed by 17-beta-estradiol. *Cancer Research*, 67, 11147–11157.
- Harvey, J. A., Santen, R. J., Petroni, G. R., Bovbjerg, V., Smolkin, M. A., Sheriff, F., & Russo, J. (2008). Histology changes in the breast with menopausal hormone therapy use: Correlation with breast density, ER, PgR, and proliferation indices. *Menopause*, 15(1), 67–73.
- Russo, J., & Russo, I. H. (2007). Estradiol. In M. Schwab (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of Cancer* (2nd ed.). Heidelberg: Springer.
- 14. Chen, J.-Q., Russo, P. A., Cooke, C., Russo, I. H., & Russo, J. (2007). ERβ shifts from the mitochondria to the nucleus during 17β estradiol induced neoplastic transformation of human breast epithelial cells and is involved in E2 induced synthesis of mitochondrial chain proteins. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta Molecular Cell Research*, 1773, 1732–1746.
- Chen, J.-Q., & Russo, J. (2008). Mitochondrial estrogen receptors and their potential implications in estrogen carcinogenesis in human breast cancer. *Journal of Nutritional and Environmental Medicine*, 17, 76–89.
- Mello, M. L., Russo, P. A., Russo, J., Vidal, B. C., & Benedicto, C. (2007). 17-β-estradiol affects nuclear image properties in MCF-10F human breast epithelial cells with tumorigenesis. *Oncology Report*, 18, 1475–1481.
- Saeed, M., Rogan, E., Fernandez, S. V., Sheriff, F., Russo, J., & Cavalieri, E. (2007). Formation of depurinating N3Adenine and N7Guanine adducts by MCF-10F cells cultured in the presence of 4-hydroxyestradiol. *International Journal of Cancer*, 120, 1821–1824.
- Lehmann, B. D., Bauer, J. A., Chen, X., Sanders, M. E., Chakravarthy, A. B., Shyr, Y., et al. (2011). Identification of human triple-negative breast cancer subtypes and preclinical models for selection of targeted therapies. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *121*, 2750–2767.
- Tan, D. S., Marchió, C., Jones, R. L., Savage, K., Smith, I. E., Dowsett, M., et al. (2008). Triple negative breast cancer: Molecular profiling and prognostic impact in adjuvant anthracycline-treated patients. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 111, 27–44.
- Kao, J., Salari, K., Bocanegra, M., Choi, Y.-L., Girard, L., Gandhi, J., et al. (2009). Molecular profiling of breast cancer cell lines defines relevant tumor models and provides a resource for cancer gene discovery. *PLoS One*, 4, e6146.
- Neve, R. M., Chin, K., Fridlyand, J., Yeh, J., Baehner, F. L., Fevr, T., et al. (2006). A collection of breast

cancer cell lines for the study of functionally distinct cancer subtypes. *Cancer Cell*, 10, 515–527.

- 22. Grigoriadis, A., Mackay, A., Noel, E., Wu, P. J., Natrajan, R., Frankum, J., et al. (2012). Molecular characterisation of cell line models for triple-negative breast cancers. *BMC Genomics*, 13, 619.
- Yunokawa, M., Koizumi, F., Kitamura, Y., Katanasaka, Y., Okamoto, N., Kodaira, M., et al. (2012). Efficacy of everolimus, a novel mTOR inhibitor, against basal-like triple-negative breast cancer cells. *Cancer Science*, 103, 1665–1671.
- 24. Tate, C. R., Rhodes, L. V., Segar, H. C., Driver, J. L., Pounder, F. N., Burow, M. E., et al. (2012). Targeting triple-negative breast cancer cells with the histone deacetylase inhibitor panobinostat. *Breast Cancer Research*, 14, R79.
- Fillmore, C. M., & Kuperwasser, C. (2008). Human breast cancer cell lines contain stem-like cells that self-renew, give rise to phenotypically diverse progeny and survive chemotherapy. *Breast Cancer Research*, 10, R25.
- 26. Flanagan, L., Van Weelden, K., Ammerman, C., Ethier, S. P., & Welsh, J. (1999). SUM-159PT cells: A novel estrogen independent human breast cancer model system. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 58, 193–204.
- 27. Zhang, D., LaFortune, T. A., Krishnamurthy, S., Esteva, F. J., Cristofanilli, M., Liu, P., et al. (2009). Epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor reverses mesenchymal to epithelial phenotype and inhibits metastasis in inflammatory breast cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 15, 6639–6648.
- Su, Y., Pogash, T. J., Nguyen, T. D., & Russo, J. (2016). Development and characterization of two human triple-negative breast cancer cell lines with highly tumorigenic and metastatic capabilities. *Cancer Medicine*, 5, 558–573.
- Woelfle, U., Sauter, G., Santjer, S., Brakenhoff, R., & Pantel, K. (2004). Down-regulated expression of cytokeratin 18 promotes progression of human breast cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research*, *10*, 2670–2674.
- 30. Su, Y., Gutiérrez-Diez, P. J., Santucci-Pereira, J., Russo, I. H., & Russo, J. (2014). In situ methods for identifying the stem cell of the normal and cancerous breast. In J. Russo & I. H. Russo (Eds.), *Techniques and methodological approaches in breast cancer research* (1st ed., pp. 151–182). New York: Springer.
- Aguiar, F. N., Mendes, H. N., Cirqueira, C. S., Bacchi, C. E., & Carvalho, F. M. (2013). Basal cytokeratin as a potential marker of low risk of invasion in ductal carcinoma in situ. *Clinics*, 68, 638–643.
- 32. Morel, A. P., Lièvre, M., Thomas, C., Hinkal, G., Ansieau, S., & Puisieux, A. (2008). Generation of breast cancer stem cells through epithelialmesenchymal transition. *PLoS One*, *3*, e28882008.
- 33. Mani, S. A., Guo, W., Liao, M.-J., Eaton, E. N., Ayyanan, A., Zhou, A. Y., et al. (2008). The epithelialmesenchymal transition generates cells with properties of stem cells. *Cell*, 133, 704–715.

- Xue, C., Plieth, D., Venkov, C., Xu, C., & Neilson, E. G. (2003). The gatekeeper effect of epithelialmesenchymal transition regulates the frequency of breast cancer metastasis. *Cancer Research*, 63, 3386–3394.
- Al-Hajj, M., Wicha, M. S., Benito-Hernandez, A., Morrison, S. J., & Clarke, M. F. (2003). Prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 100, 3983–3988.
- 36. Sheridan, C., Kishimoto, H., Fuchs, R. K., Mehrotra, S., Bhat-Nakshatri, P., Turner, C. H., et al. (2006). CD44+/CD24-breast cancer cells exhibit enhanced invasive properties: An early step necessary for metastasis. *Breast Cancer Research*, 8, R59.
- 37. Wright, M. H., Calcagno, A. M., Salcido, C. D., Carlson, M. D., Ambudkar, S. V., & Varticovski, L. (2008). Brca1 breast tumors contain distinct CD44+/ CD24-and CD133+ cells with cancer stem cell characteristics. *Breast Cancer Research*, 10, R10.
- Lin, C.-W., Liao, M.-Y., Lin, W.-W., Wang, Y.-P., Lu, T.-Y., & Wu, H.-C. (2012). Epithelial cell adhesion molecule regulates tumor initiation and tumorigenesis via activating reprogramming factors and epithelialmesenchymal transition gene expression in colon cancer. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 287, 39449–39459.
- Maetzel, D., Denzel, S., Mack, B., Canis, M., Went, P., Benk, M., et al. (2009). Nuclear signalling by tumourassociated antigen EpCAM. *Nature Cell Biology*, 11, 162–171.
- Thampoe, I. J., Ng, J. S., & Lloyd, K. O. (1988). Biochemical analysis of a human epithelial surface antigen: Differential cell expression and processing. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 267, 342–352.
- 41. Keller, P. J., Lin, A. F., Arendt, L. M., Klebba, I., Jones, A. D., Rudnick, J. A., et al. (2010). Mapping the cellular and molecular heterogeneity of normal and malignant breast tissues and cultured cell lines. *Breast Cancer Research*, 12, R87.
- 42. Gorges, T. M., Tinhofer, I., Drosch, M., Rose, L., Zollner, T. M., Krahn, T., et al. (2012). Circulating tumour cells escape from EpCAM-based detection due to epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition. *BMC Cancer*, 12, 178.
- 43. Mego, M., De Giorgi, U., Dawood, S., Wang, X., Valero, V., Andreopoulou, E., et al. (2011). Characterization of metastatic breast cancer patients with nondetectable circulating tumor cells. *International Journal of Cancer*, 129, 417–423.
- 44. Sieuwerts, A. M., Kraan, J., Bolt, J., van der Spoel, P., Elstrodt, F., Schutte, M., et al. (2009). Anti-epithelial cell adhesion molecule antibodies and the detection of circulating normal-like breast tumor cells. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 101, 61–66.
- Hayes, D. F. C. M. (2009). Anti-epithelial cell adhesion molecule antibodies and the detection of circulating normal-like breast tumor cells. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 101, 894–895.

- 46. Van Laere, S. J., Elst, H., Peeters, D., Benoy, I., Vermeulen, P. B., & Dirix, L. Y. (2009). Re: Antiepithelial cell adhesion molecule antibodies and the detection of circulating normal-like breast tumor cells. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 101, 895–896.
- 47. Connelly, M., Wang, Y., Doyle, G. V., Terstappen, L., & McCormack, R. (2009). Re: Anti-epithelial cell adhesion molecule antibodies and the detection of circulating normal-like breast tumor cells. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 101, 895.
- 48. Balzar, M., Briaire-de Bruijn, I., Rees-Bakker, H., Prins, F., Helfrich, W., De Leij, L., et al. (2001). Epidermal growth factor-like repeats mediate lateral and reciprocal interactions of Ep-CAM molecules in homophilic adhesions. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 21, 2570–2580.
- Mello, M. L., Russo, P. A., Russo, J., & Vidal, B. C. (2007). 17-B-estradiol affects nuclear image properties in MCF-10Fhuman breast epithelial cells with tumorigenesis. *Oncology Reports*, 18, 1475–1481.



Emerging Role of Novel Biomarkers of Ly6 Gene Family in Pan Cancer

Geeta Upadhyay

Abstract

Stem cell antigen-1 (Sca-1) is the first identified member of mouse Ly6 gene family. We discovered that Sca-1 disrupts TGF^β signaling and enhances mammary tumorigenesis in a DMBA-induced mammary tumor model. Sca-1 gene is lost during evolution in humans. Human Ly6 genes Ly6D, LyE, LyH, and LyK on human chromosome 8q24.3 genes are syntenic to the mouse chromosome 15 where Sca-1 is located. We found that Ly6D, E, H, and K are upregulated in human cancer compared to normal tissue and that the increased expression of these genes are associated with poor prognosis of multiple types of human cancer. Several other groups have indicated increased expression of Ly6 genes in human cancer. Here we described the relevance of expression of human Ly6D, LyE, LyH, and LyK in functioning of normal tissues and tumor progression.

Keywords

 $Biomarkers \cdot Ly6 \cdot TGF\text{-beta} \cdot Survival \\ outcome$

Introduction

Stem cell antigen-1 (Sca-1) was the first identified member of mouse Ly6 gene family [1]. Sca-1 has been described as marker of tissue-resident stem cells and also been recognized as cancer initiating cell population in multiple mouse model of mammary, prostate, and lung cancer among other cancer types [2–4]. We described that Sca-1 binds with TGF β receptor 1 (T β R1) and disrupts the TGF^β receptor complex, leading to tumorigenic progression in mouse model of mammary tumorigenesis [5]. A direct homologue of Sca-1 is missing in humans; however, multiple members of mouse Ly6 genes and syntenic human Ly6 genes have been described. Human Ly6 gene family usually contain LU domain. These molecules are scattered throughout the human chromosome 1, 2, 6, 8, 11, and 19 [6]. We will concern our description to human Ly6D, LyE, LyH, and Ly6K, which are present on human chromosome 8q24.3.

Expression of Ly6D, E, H, and K Genes in Normal Tissues

Ly6D

Ly6D RNA is expressed in highest quantities in esophageal tissue and in skin as shown in HPA dataset, GTEx dataset, and Fantome5 datasets as

G. Upadhyay (🖂)

Department of Pathology, Murtha Cancer Center, Uniformed Services University, Bethesda, MD, USA e-mail: geeta.upadhyay@usuhs.edu

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

J. S. Rhim et al. (eds.), *Human Cell Transformation*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1164, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-22254-3_4

visualized in Human Protein Atlas available from www.proteinatlas.org [7–9]. The RNA expression was undetectable or expressed at a very low level in normal ovary, lung, testis, colon, breast, and prostate (Fig. 1a–c). The protein expression corroborated with RNA expression, showing increased expression of Ly6D in esophageal tissue and in skin (Fig. 2).

Ly6E

Ly6E RNA expression was identified in liver tissue, placenta, lung, and spleen by three different databases (Fig. 3a–c) as visualized in Human Protein Atlas available from www.proteinatlas.org [7–9]. The corroborative protein data was not yet available at the human protein atlas. Lowest expression of Ly6E RNA in normal tissues was found in pancreas and skeleton tissues (Fig. 3a–c). The Ly6E expression is restricted to syncytiotrophoblast cells of the mouse placenta [10].

Ly6H

Ly6H RNA expression was identified highest in Brain tissue in HPA dataset, GTEx dataset, and Fantome5 (Fig. 4a–c) as visualized in Human Protein Atlas available from www.proteinatlas. org [7–9]. Ly6H plays an important role in glutamatergic signaling in brain [11].

Ly6K

Ly6K RNA is expressed highest in testis in HPA dataset, GTEx dataset, and Fantome5 datasets (Fig. 5a–c) as visualized in Human Protein Atlas available from www.proteinatlas.org [7–9]. The RNA expression was undetectable or expressed at a very low level in normal ovary, lung, testis, colon, breast, and prostate. The protein expression data showed that Ly6K is exclusively expressed in testis (Fig. 6). Male Ly6K homozy-gous knockout mice showed normal mating hab-

its; however, they were infertile. Female Ly6K homozygous knockout mice were fertile. The male infertility was found to be associated with sperm migration [12].

Expression of Ly6D, E, H, and K Genes in Tumor Tissues

Ly6D

We looked for RNA expression of Ly6D in various publically available dataset and visualized using Oncomine [13] and TCGA [14] as described by Luo et al. [15]. Ly6D was found to be increased in tumors of ovarian, colorectal, gastric, breast, lung, bladder, brain and CNS, cervical, esophageal, head and neck and pancreatic cancer compared to normal tissue in multiple studies. The increased expression of Ly6D was associated with poor survival in ovarian, colorectal, gastric, breast and lung cancer [15] (Table 1). Since our publication new clinical data were available and added to KM plotter tool [16] (http://kmplot. com/), which showed that increased Ly6D expression is associated with poor prognosis in renal clear cell carcinoma and pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (Fig. 7). Recently Ly6D expression in addition to OLFM4, S100A7 was found to be associated with distant metastasis of estrogen receptor-positive breast cancer [17]. Ly6D was shown to be increased in aggressive forms of head and neck cancer [18].

Ly6E

We looked for RNA expression of Ly6E in various publically available dataset and visualized using Oncomine [13] and TCGA [14] as described by Luo et al. [15]. Ly6E was found be increased in tumors of ovarian, colorectal, gastric, breast, lung, bladder, brain and CNS, cervical, esophageal, head and neck and pancreatic cancer compared to normal tissue in multiple studies. The increased expression of Ly6E was



Fig. 1 RNA expression of Ly6D in normal human tissues. (a) HPA data set, (b) GTEx data set, and (c) FANTOM dataset. The data was visualized on the human proteome webtool with expression filter on. X-axis shows the name of tissue type used. Y-axis shows the units of RNA expression as described below. HPA dataset: RNA-seq tissue data is reported as mean TPM (transcripts per

million), corresponding to mean values of the different individual samples from each tissue. Color coding is based on tissue groups, each consisting of tissues with functional features in common. GTEx dataset: RNA-seq data is reported as median RPKM (reads per kilobase per million mapped reads), generated by the Genotype-Tissue Expression (GTEx) project

SCORE High Low -Low -Medium -Low -Low

Fig. 2 Ly6D protein expression in normal tissues. Immunohistochemistry was performed using anti-Ly6D antibody-rabbit polyclonal affinity purified antibody

associated with poor survival in ovarian, colorectal, gastric, breast, lung, bladder, and brain and CNS cancer patients [15] (Table 1). Recent data added to KM plotter [16] (http://kmplot.com/) show that increased expression of Ly6E is associated with poor overall survival of renal papillary cell carcinoma and good prognostic marker for renal clear cell carcinoma (Fig. 8a, b). These new data indicated that increased expression of Ly6E is associated with poor overall survival of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (Fig. 8c). The use of genome wide data analysis has prompted several new reports showing increased expression of Ly6E in bladder cancer and gastric cancer [19, 20]. The Ly6E gene has been also associated with more aggressive stem-like cells in hepatocellular carcinoma, pancreatic carcinoma, colon, and kidney [21–23].

Ly6H

We looked for RNA expression of Ly6H in various publically available dataset and visualized using Oncomine [13] and TCGA [14] as described by Luo et al. [15]. Ly6H was found be increased in tumors of ovarian, colorectal, gastric, breast, lung, bladder, brain and CNS, cervical, esophageal, head and neck and pancreatic cancer compared to normal tissue in multiple studies. The increased expression of Ly6H was

HPA024755, HPA064317 from Sigma-Aldrich as described in the human protein atlas webtool: https://www.proteinatlas.org/ENSG00000167656-LY6D/tissue

associated with poor survival in ovarian, colorectal, gastric, and breast cancer patients [15] (Table 1). Recent data added to KM plotter [16] (http://kmplot.com/) show that increased expression of Ly6H is associated with poor overall survival of renal clear cell carcinoma and pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (Fig. 9a, b).

Ly6K

We looked for RNA expression of Ly6K in various publically available dataset and visualized using Oncomine [13] and TCGA [14] as described by Luo et al. [15]. Ly6K was found be increased in tumors of ovarian, colorectal, gastric, breast, lung, bladder, brain and CNS, cervical, esophageal, head and neck and pancreatic cancer compared to normal tissue in multiple studies. The increased expression of Ly6K was associated with poor survival in ovarian, colorectal, gastric, breast, lung, bladder, and brain and CNS cancer patients [15] (Table 1). Increased expression of Ly6K in metastatic ER-positive breast cancer [24, 25], esophageal squamous cancer [26], gingivobuccal cancers [27], bladder cancer [28], and lung cancer [29] was observed. Recent data added to KM plotter [16] (http://kmplot.com/) show that increased expression of Ly6K is associated with poor overall survival of renal clear cell carcinoma, renal papillary cell carcinoma, and uterine corpus endometrial carcinoma (Fig. 10a-c).



Fig. 3 RNA expression of Ly6E in normal human tissues. (a) HPA data set, (b) GTEx data set, and (c) FANTOM dataset. The data was visualized on the human proteome webtool with expression filter on. X-axis shows the name of tissue type used. Y-axis shows the units of RNA expression as described below. HPA dataset: RNA-seq tissue data is reported as mean TPM (transcripts per

million), corresponding to mean values of the different individual samples from each tissue. Color-coding is based on tissue groups, each consisting of tissues with functional features in common. GTEx dataset: RNA-seq data is reported as median RPKM (reads per kilobase per million mapped reads), generated by the Genotype-Tissue Expression (GTEx) project



Fig. 4 RNA expression of Ly6H in normal human tissues. (a) HPA data set, (b) GTEx data set, and (c) FANTOM dataset. The data was visualized on the human proteome webtool with expression filter on. X-axis shows the name of tissue type used. Y-axis shows the units of RNA expression as described below. HPA dataset: RNA-seq tissue data is reported as mean TPM (transcripts per

million), corresponding to mean values of the different individual samples from each tissue. Color coding is based on tissue groups, each consisting of tissues with functional features in common. GTEx dataset: RNA-seq data is reported as median RPKM (reads per kilobase per million mapped reads), generated by the Genotype-Tissue Expression (GTEx) project



Fig. 5 RNA expression of Ly6K in normal human tissues. (a) HPA data set, (b) GTEx data set, and (c) FANTOM dataset were visualized on the human proteome webtool with expression filter on. X-axis shows the name of tissue type used. Y-axis shows the units of RNA expression as described below. HPA dataset: RNA-seq tissue data is reported as mean TPM (transcripts per million),

corresponding to mean values of the different individual samples from each tissue. Color coding is based on tissue groups, each consisting of tissues with functional features in common. GTEx dataset: RNA-seq data is reported as median RPKM (reads per kilobase per million mapped reads), generated by the Genotype-Tissue Expression (GTEx) project



Fig. 6 Ly6K protein expression data in normal tissues. Ly6K protein is exclusively expressed on human testis. Immunohistochemistry was performed using anti-Ly6K antibody-rabbit polyclonal affinity-purified antibody

HPA017770 and protein A/G purified mouse monoclonal antibody AMAb90986, AMAb90987 from Sigma-Aldrich as described in the human protein atlas webtool: https:// www.proteinatlas.org/ENSG00000160886-LY6K/tissue



Fig. 7 Increased Ly6D mRNA expression in cancer and patient survival. High Ly6D RNA expression leads to poor survival in (**a**) renal clear cell carcinoma and (**b**) pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma

Cancer type	Genes	Expression in tumors ($p < 0.05$)	Survival analysis ($p < 0.05$)
Ovarian	LY6D	Up	Poor prognosis
	LY6E	Up	Poor prognosis
	LY6H	Up	Poor prognosis
	LY6K	Up	Poor prognosis
Colorectal	LY6D	Up	Poor prognosis
	LY6E	Up	Poor prognosis
	LY6H	Up	Poor prognosis
	LY6K	Up	Poor prognosis
Gastric	LY6D	Up	Poor prognosis
	LY6E	Up	Poor prognosis
	LY6H	Up	Poor prognosis
	LY6K	Up	Poor prognosis
Breast	LY6D	Up	Poor prognosis
	LY6E	Up	Poor prognosis
	LY6H	Up	Poor prognosis
	LY6K	Up	Poor prognosis
Lung	LY6D	Up	Poor prognosis
0	LY6E	Up	Poor prognosis
	LY6H	Up	OS (NS), others (NA)
	LY6K	Up	Poor prognosis
Bladder	LY6D	Up	OS (NS), others (NA)
	LY6E	Up	Poor prognosis
	LY6H	NS	OS (NS), others (NA)
	LY6K	Up	Poor prognosis
Brain and CNS	LY6D	Up	OS (NS), others (NA)
	LY6E	Up	Poor prognosis
	LY6H	Up	OS (NS), others (NA)
	LY6K	Up	Poor prognosis
Cervical	LY6D	Up	OS (NA), RFS (NS)
	LY6E	Up	OS (NA), RFS (NS)
	LY6H	Up	OS (NA), RFS (NS)
	LY6K	Up	OS (NA), RFS (NS)
Esophageal	LY6D	Up	OS (NS), others (NA)
	LY6E	Up	OS (NS), others (NA)
	LY6H	Up	OS (NS), others (NA)
	LY6K	Up	OS (NS), others (NA)
Head and neck	LY6D	Up	OS (NS), others (NA)
	LY6E	Up	OS (NS), others (NA)
	LY6H	Up	OS (NS), others (NA)
	LY6K	Up	OS (NS), others (NA)
Pancreatic	LY6D	Up	OS (NS), others (NA)
	LY6E	Up	OS (NS), others (NA)
	LY6H	Up	OS (NS), others (NA)
	LY6K	Up	OS (NS), others (NA)
	1		

 $\label{eq:table1} \textbf{Table 1} \quad \text{Correlation of high mRNA expression and patient survival outcome in multiple cancer types}$



Fig. 8 Increased Ly6E mRNA expression in cancer and patient survival. High Ly6E RNA expression leads to poor survival in (**a**) renal papillary cell carcinoma, good prog-

nosis for (**b**) renal clear cell carcinoma, poor survival in (**c**) pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma

Mechanisms Associated Ly6D, E, H, and K Gene Family

Ly6D

The functional role of Ly6D in human or mouse is not very well described. Ly6D was found to be important in selection of CD4+CD8+ subset of T cells in thymus [30]. Ly6D was shown to be involved in cell adhesion using NIH3T3 fibroblast cells [31]. The molecular pathways which may lead to regulation of Ly6D remain to be understood.

Ly6E

We discovered that Ly6E is required for increased TGF β signaling, IFN γ /PDL1 signaling in breast cancer [32]. Ly6E was also shown to modulate



Fig. 9 Increased Ly6H mRNA expression in cancer and patient survival. High Ly6H RNA expression leads to poor survival in (a) renal clear cell carcinoma and (b) pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma

the PTEN/PI3K/Akt/HIF-1 axis in breast cancer cell lines [33]. Ly6E was found to be important in enhancing the infectivity of multiple, enveloped RNA viruses in late steps using influenza A virus model [34]. Ly6E has been shown to be an interferon-inducible gene in lymphoid cells and plays an important role in HIV infection [35, 36]. Mouse Ly6E is a receptor syncytin A and plays important role in syncytiotrophoblast fusion and placental morphogenesis [37, 38].

Ly6H

Ly6H is required for nicotine-induced glutamatergic signaling via synaptic signaling of alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors [11].

Ly6K

We discovered that Ly6E is required for increased TGF β signaling, IFN γ /PDL1 signaling in breast cancer [32]. High Ly6K expression is shown to have been linked with low expression of tumor suppression microRNA 500a-3p in non-small cell lung carcinoma [39]. AP1 activa-

tion is shown to be important in increased expression of Ly6K in breast cancer cell lines [40]. Ly6K protein expression in testis was shown to be stabilized by TEX101, a glycoprotein important in fertility [41].

Summary

The important role of Ly6 gene family in physiology and disease is emerging. The Ly6 gene family members can emerge as valid therapeutic target in correcting conditions of infection, nicotine addiction, cancer, immunotherapy, and fertility. Our laboratory is focused on understanding the molecular mechanism of Ly6 protein in cancer and validating Ly6 molecules as therapeutic targets in targeted cancer therapy. The network analysis of Ly6 gene family members showed that Ly6 signaling is involved in a broad range of molecules including growth factor, nuclear receptor, and micro RNAs (Fig. 11a). Pathway studio network analysis showed that Ly6 gene family affect multitude of cellular fate and cellcell interaction with microenvironment ranging from growth, apoptosis, autophagy, and immune response (Fig. 11b).



Fig. 10 Increased Ly6K mRNA expression in cancer and patient survival. High Ly6K RNA expression leads to poor survival in (a) renal clear cell carcinoma, (b) renal papillary cell carcinoma, and (c) pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma



Fig. 11 Network analysis of Ly6 gene family members. (a) Pathway studio network analysis showed that Ly6 signaling is involved in broad range of molecules including growth factor, nuclear receptor, and micro RNAs. The upstream regulators are not highlighted, the downstream effectors are

highlighted with blue, and the potential binding partners are highlighted with green. (b) Pathway studio network analysis showed that Ly6 gene family affect multitude of cellular fate and cell–cell interaction with microenvironment ranging from growth, apoptosis, autophagy, and immune response

References

- Yutoku, M., Grossberg, A. L., & Pressman, D. (1974). A cell surface antigenic determinant present on mouse plasmacytes and only about half of mouse thymocytes. *Journal of Immunology*, *112*(5), 1774–1781.
- 2. Dall, G. V., et al. (2017). SCA-1 labels a subset of estrogen-responsive bipotential repopulating cells within the CD24(+) CD49f(hi) mammary stem cell-enriched compartment. *Stem Cell Reports*, 8(2), 417–431.
- Ceder, J. A., Aalders, T. W., & Schalken, J. A. (2017). Label retention and stem cell marker expression in the developing and adult prostate identifies basal and luminal epithelial stem cell subpopulations. *Stem Cell Research & Therapy*, 8(1), 95.
- Zakaria, N., et al. (2018). Inhibition of NF-kappaB signaling reduces the stemness characteristics of lung cancer stem cells. *Frontiers in Oncology*, 8, 166.
- Upadhyay, G., et al. (2011). Stem cell antigen-1 enhances tumorigenicity by disruption of growth differentiation factor-10 (GDF10)-dependent TGF-beta signaling. *Proceedings of the National Academy of*

Sciences of the United States of America, 108(19), 7820–7825.

- Loughner, C. L., et al. (2016). Organization, evolution and functions of the human and mouse Ly6/uPAR family genes. *Human Genomics*, 10, 10.
- 7. Thul, P. J., et al. (2017). A subcellular map of the human proteome. *Science*, *356*(6340), eaal3321.
- Uhlen, M., et al. (2015). Proteomics. Tissue-based map of the human proteome. *Science*, 347(6220), 1260419.
- Uhlen, M., et al. (2017). A pathology atlas of the human cancer transcriptome. *Science*, 357(6352), eaan2507.
- Hughes, M., et al. (2013). Ly6e expression is restricted to syncytiotrophoblast cells of the mouse placenta. *Placenta*, 34(9), 831–835.
- Puddifoot, C. A., et al. (2015). Ly6h regulates trafficking of alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors and nicotine-induced potentiation of glutamatergic signaling. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 35(8), 3420–3430.
- Fujihara, Y., Okabe, M., & Ikawa, M. (2014). GPIanchored protein complex, LY6K/TEX101, is required for sperm migration into the oviduct and male fertility in mice. *Biology of Reproduction*, 90(3), 60.
- Rhodes, D. R., et al. (2004). ONCOMINE: A cancer microarray database and integrated data-mining platform. *Neoplasia*, 6(1), 1–6.
- Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network, et al. (2013). The cancer genome atlas pan-cancer analysis project. *Nature Genetics*, 45(10), 1113–1120.
- Luo, L., et al. (2016). Distinct lymphocyte antigens 6 (Ly6) family members Ly6D, Ly6E, Ly6K and Ly6H drive tumorigenesis and clinical outcome. *Oncotarget*, 7(10), 11165–11193.
- Nagy, A., et al. (2018). Validation of miRNA prognostic power in hepatocellular carcinoma using expression data of independent datasets. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 9227.
- Mayama, A., et al. (2018). OLFM4, LY6D and S100A7 as potent markers for distant metastasis in estrogen receptor-positive breast carcinoma. *Cancer Science*, 109(10), 3350–3359.
- Colnot, D. R., et al. (2004). Clinical significance of micrometastatic cells detected by E48 (Ly-6D) reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction in bone marrow of head and neck cancer patients. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 10(23), 7827–7833.
- Dhawan, D., et al. (2018). Naturally-occurring canine invasive urothelial carcinoma harbors luminal and basal transcriptional subtypes found in human muscle invasive bladder cancer. *PLoS Genetics*, 14(8), e1007571.
- 20. Lv, Y., et al. (2018). Overexpression of lymphocyte antigen 6 complex, locus E in gastric cancer promotes cancer cell growth and metastasis. *Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry*, 45(3), 1219–1229.
- Kondoh, N., et al. (1999). Identification and characterization of genes associated with human hepatocellular carcinogenesis. *Cancer Research*, 59(19), 4990–4996.

- Gou, S., et al. (2007). Establishment of clonal colonyforming assay for propagation of pancreatic cancer cells with stem cell properties. *Pancreas*, 34(4), 429–435.
- Bresson-Mazet, C., Gandrillon, O., & Gonin-Giraud, S. (2008). Stem cell antigen 2: A new gene involved in the self-renewal of erythroid progenitors. *Cell Proliferation*, 41(5), 726–738.
- Kim, Y. S., et al. (2016). miRNAs involved in LY6K and estrogen receptor alpha contribute to tamoxifensusceptibility in breast cancer. *Oncotarget*, 7(27), 42261–42273.
- Kong, H. K., et al. (2016). Epigenetic activation of LY6K predicts the presence of metastasis and poor prognosis in breast carcinoma. *Oncotarget*, 7(34), 55677–55689.
- Zhang, B., et al. (2012). Serological antibodies against LY6K as a diagnostic biomarker in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Biomarkers*, 17(4), 372–378.
- Ambatipudi, S., et al. (2012). Genome-wide expression and copy number analysis identifies driver genes in gingivobuccal cancers. *Genes, Chromosomes & Cancer, 51*(2), 161–173.
- Matsuda, R., et al. (2011). LY6K is a novel molecular target in bladder cancer on basis of integrate genomewide profiling. *British Journal of Cancer*, 104(2), 376–386.
- 29. Ishikawa, N., et al. (2007). Cancer-testis antigen lymphocyte antigen 6 complex locus K is a serologic biomarker and a therapeutic target for lung and esophageal carcinomas. *Cancer Research*, 67(24), 11601–11611.
- Reese, J. T., et al. (2001). Downregulated expression of Ly-6-ThB on developing T cells marks CD4+CD8+ subset undergoing selection in the thymus. *Developmental Immunology*, 8(2), 107–121.
- 31. Brakenhoff, R. H., et al. (1995). The human E48 antigen, highly homologous to the murine Ly-6 antigen ThB, is a GPI-anchored molecule apparently involved in keratinocyte cell-cell adhesion. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, *129*(6), 1677–1689.
- AlHossiny, M., et al. (2016). Ly6E/K signaling to TGFbeta promotes breast cancer progression, immune escape, and drug resistance. *Cancer Research*, 76(11), 3376–3386.
- Yeom, C. J., et al. (2016). LY6E: A conductor of malignant tumor growth through modulation of the PTEN/PI3K/Akt/HIF-1 axis. *Oncotarget*, 7(40), 65837–65848.
- 34. Mar, K. B., et al. (2018). LY6E mediates an evolutionarily conserved enhancement of virus infection by targeting a late entry step. *Nature Communications*, 9(1), 3603.
- Yu, J., Liang, C., & Liu, S. L. (2017). Interferoninducible LY6E protein promotes HIV-1 infection. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 292(11), 4674–4685.
- 36. Xu, X., et al. (2014). IFN-stimulated gene LY6E in monocytes regulates the CD14/TLR4 pathway but inadequately restrains the hyperactivation of monocytes during chronic HIV-1 infection. *Journal of Immunology*, 193(8), 4125–4136.

- Langford, M. B., et al. (2018). Deletion of the Syncytin A receptor Ly6e impairs syncytiotrophoblast fusion and placental morphogenesis causing embryonic lethality in mice. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 3961.
- Bacquin, A., et al. (2017). A cell fusion-based screening method identifies Glycosylphosphatidylinositolanchored protein Ly6e as the receptor for mouse endogenous retroviral envelope Syncytin-A. *Journal* of Virology, 91(18), e00832-17.
- Liao, X. H., Xie, Z., & Guan, C. N. (2018). MiRNA-500a-3p inhibits cell proliferation and invasion

by targeting lymphocyte antigen 6 complex locus K (LY6K) in human non-small cell lung cancer. *Neoplasma*, *65*(5), 673–682.

- Kong, H. K., Yoon, S., & Park, J. H. (2012). The regulatory mechanism of the LY6K gene expression in human breast cancer cells. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 287(46), 38889–38900.
- Endo, S., et al. (2016). TEX101, a glycoprotein essential for sperm fertility, is required for stable expression of Ly6k on testicular germ cells. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 23616.


The Oncoprotein Gankyrin/PSMD10 as a Target of Cancer Therapy

Jun Fujita and Toshiharu Sakurai

Abstract

Gankyrin (also called PSMD10, p28, or p28^{GANK}) is a crucial oncoprotein that is upregulated in various cancers and assumed to play pivotal roles in the initiation and progression of tumors. Although the in vitro function of gankyrin is relatively well characterized, its role in vivo remains to be elucidated. We have investigated the function of gankyrin in vivo by producing mice with liver parenchymal cell-specific gankyrin ablation (Alb-Cre; gankyrin^{ff}) and gankyrin deletion both in liver parenchymal and in non-parenchymal cells (Mx1-Cre;gankyrin^{f/f}). Gankyrin deficiency both in non-parenchymal cells and parenchymal cells, but not in parenchymal cells alone, reduced STAT3 activity, interleukin-6 production, and cancer stem cell marker expression, leading to attenuated tumorigenic potential in the diethylnitrosamine hepatocarcinogenesis model. Essentially similar results were obtained by analyzing mice with intestinal epithelial cell-specific gankyrin ablation (*Villin-Cre;Gankyrin^{ff}*) and gankyrin deletion both in myeloid and epithelial cells (Mx1-Cre;Gankyrin^{f/f}) in the colitis-associated cancer model. Clinically, gankyrin expression in the tumor microenvironment was negcorrelated with progression-free atively survival in patients undergoing treatment with Sorafenib for hepatocellular carcinomas. These findings indicate important roles played by gankyrin in non-parenchymal cells as well as parenchymal cells in the pathogenesis of liver cancers and colorectal cancers, and suggest that by acting both on cancer cells and on the tumor microenvironment, anti-gankyrin agents would be promising as therapeutic and preventive strategies against various cancers, and that an in vitro cell culture models that incorporate the effects of non-parenchymal cells and gankyrin would be useful for the study of human cell transformation.

 $\label{eq:Gankyrin} \begin{array}{l} {\operatorname{Gankyrin}} \cdot {\operatorname{Proteasome}} \cdot {\operatorname{Tumor}} \ {\operatorname{suppressor}} \cdot \\ {\operatorname{Gene}} \ {\operatorname{therapy}} \cdot {\operatorname{Tumor}} \ {\operatorname{microenvironment}} \end{array}$

J. Fujita (🖂)

Department of Radiation Genetics, Graduate School of Medicine, Kyoto University, Kyoto, Japan

T. Sakurai

Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Faculty of Medicine, Kindai University, Osaka, Japan e-mail: sakurai@med.kindai.ac.jp

Keywords

Liver cancer is the sixth most common cancer overall (0.78 million cases, 5.6%) but ranks second as cause of death (0.74 million, 9.1%) [1]. Around 80% of liver cancer in adults is hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), and HCC is often diagnosed at advanced stages when most curative therapies are of limited efficacy. Furthermore, HCC is resistant

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

J. S. Rhim et al. (eds.), *Human Cell Transformation*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1164, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-22254-3_5

to conventional chemotherapy and rarely amenable to radiotherapy, leaving HCC with a very poor prognosis [2]. Although a causal relationship between chronic damage, inflammation, and carcinogenesis has been widely recognized, the exact molecular mechanism of hepatocarcinogenesis remains to be elucidated. In 2000, we discovered gankyrin as an oncoprotein overexpressed in 100% of HCCs analyzed [3]. Further studies have suggested that gankyrin is a promising molecular target for diagnosis, treatment, and prevention of almost all types of cancers besides HCC (reviewed in references [4–9]).

Isolation of Gankyrin from Hepatocellular Carcinoma

Gankyrin (Gann ankyrin-repeat protein; "Gann" in Japanese means cancer) was originally identified as an oncogene product consistently overexpressed in HCCs [3]. Independently, it was purified as the p28 component [10] or a protein bound to the S6b subunit of the 19S regulator of the 26S proteasome [11]. Thus gankyrin is also known as PSMD10 (proteasome 26S subunit, non-ATPase 10), although subsequent studies have demonstrated that gankyrin transiently binds to the 26S proteasome and works as a chaperone for the assembly of the 19S regulator [12]. Gankyrin is a small 25kD cytoplasmnucleus shuttling protein, and highly conserved throughout evolution (~40% identity to yeast Nas6p). Structurally, gankyrin consists of seven ankyrin repeats [13]. Ankyrin repeat is a functional domain involved in protein-protein interactions.

Enhanced Degradation of RB (Retinoblastoma-Associated Protein) and p53 (Cellular Tumor Antigen p53) by Gankyrin

Gankyrin plays a key role in regulating the cell cycle [14]. Gankyrin contains the RB-recognition motif LxCxE in the C-terminal domain, and binds RB in vitro and in vivo [3]. Forced expression

of gankyrin in immortalized mouse fibroblasts and human tumor cells confers growth in soft agar and tumor formation in nude mouse. Gankyrin deactivates the RB tumor suppressor pathway at multiple levels (Fig. 1a) [3]. Gankyrin binds to CDK4, competing with and displacing p16INK4A and p18INK4C, inhibitors of cyclindependent kinases, which results in active CDK4, hyperphosphorylation of RB, and release of the E2F transcription factor to activate DNA synthesis genes. Binding of gankyrin also increases the rate of RB ubiquitylation and degradation by the proteasome.

When overexpressed, gankyrin inhibits apoptosis of cells that have been exposed to DNAdamaging agents [15]. This anti-apoptotic activity is due, at least partly, to increased degradation of p53. Gankyrin binds to the E3 ubiquitin ligase MDM2 in vitro and in vivo, increasing the ubiquitylation and subsequent proteasomal degradation of p53, resulting in the reduced transcription of p53-dependent pro-apoptotic genes [15]. The fact that gankyrin simultaneously binds the proteasomal S6b ATPase and RB [16] suggests that gankyrin could be a carrier of ubiquitylated proteins to the 19S regulator of the 26S proteasome to enhance their degradation.

Gankyrin as a Killer of Multiple Tumor Suppressor Proteins

In addition to the two major tumor suppressors RB and p53, gankyrin binds to other tumor suppressor proteins such as C/EBP α [17], TSC2 [18], HNF4 α [19], and CUGBP1 [20], and enhances their ubiquitylation and subsequent degradation by the proteasome (Fig. 1b). Gankyrin inhibits p16 [3], PTEN [21], and FIH-1 (factor inhibiting HIF-1) [22] as well.

NF- κ B/RelA is a transcription factor that is hyperactivated in many types of cancers and leads to inhibition of apoptosis. Interestingly, many studies have shown that inhibition of NF- κ B in hepatocytes enhances hepatocarcinogenesis [23]. Gankyrin directly binds to NF- κ B/ RelA and suppresses its activity by modulating acetylation via SIRT1 [24], exporting RelA from



Fig. 1 Interaction of gankyrin with many proteins. (a) Activities of gankyrin on cell cycle control and apoptosis. In the presence of gankyrin, CDK4 is protected from the inhibitory effect of INKs (p16 and p18). Thus, RB is hyperphosphorylated and degraded, whereas E2F transcription factors are released to trigger expression of DNA synthesis genes. More p53 is ubiquitylated by

the nucleus [25], and associating with p300 to inhibit its interaction with RelA [26].

Consisting of seven ankyrin repeats, gankyrin binds many other proteins and affects many signaling pathways, contributing to carcinogenesis. Examples include MAGE-A4 [27], IGFBP-5 [28], SHP-1 [29], ATG7 [30], Keap1/Nrf2 [31], WWP2/Oct4 [32], PI3K/Akt [33], Rac1/JNK [34], β-catenin [35], Rho-A/ROCK [21], IL-6/STAT3 [36], IL-8 [37], YAP1 [38], and hypoxia-inducible factor-1α (HIF-1α) [22, 33].

Animal Models Overexpressing Gankyrin in the Liver

To assess the oncogenic activity in vivo, we produced transgenic mice that specifically overexpress gankyrin in the hepatocytes by using the hepatitis B virus X protein (HBX) promoter and serum amyloid P component (SAP) promoter [22]. Unexpectedly, both of these transgenic lines developed hepatic vascular neoplasms (hemangioma/hemangiosarcomas), but no HCCs. Further studies suggested that this was because gankyrin binds and sequester FIH-1, which results in decreased interaction between FIH-1 and HIF-1 α , resulting in increased activity of

gankyrin-bound MDM2 and degraded to suppress p53-dependent apoptosis and cell cycle arrest. P phosphate, Ub ubiquitin. (b) Gankyrin is a tumor suppressor killer. Gankyrin triggers degradation of at least six tumor suppressors by ubiquitin-proteasome system (UPS), and interacts with many important molecules, facilitating carcinogenesis

HIF-1 α and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) production. Using the albumin promoter, Zhao et al. [34] observed HCC in the transgenic mice, but only after diethylnitrosamine (DEN) plus carbon tetrachloride (CCl₄) treatment. Recently, occurrence of spontaneous HCC was reported in transgenic zebrafish using fabp10a promoter with Tet-Off system [39].

Importance of Non-Parenchymal Cells in Carcinogenesis as Demonstrated by Gankyrin-Knockout Mice

The effects of gankyrin in the tumor microenvironment were investigated by using mice with liver parenchymal cell-specific gankyrin ablation (*Alb-Cre;gankyrin^{ff}*) and gankyrin ablation both in liver parenchymal and in non-parenchymal cells (*Mx1-Cre;gankyrin^{ff}*) in the DEN hepatocarcinogenesis model (Fig. 2) [40]. Gankyrin upregulated VEGF expression in tumor cells. Gankyrin bound to Src homology 2 domain-containing protein tyrosine phosphatase-1 (SHP-1) which was mainly expressed in liver non-parenchymal cells, resulting in phosphorylation and activation of STAT3. Gankyrin deficiency in non-parenchymal cells, but not in parenchymal cells,



Fig. 2 Important roles in hepatocarcinogenesis played by gankyrin in non-parenchymal as well as parenchymal cells (Modified from reference [40]). (a) Control *gankyrinf^(ff)* (*GK^(ff)*), *Alb-Cre;GK^(ff)*, and *Mx1-Cre;GK^(ff)* mice were challenged with DEN and killed after 8 months. Liver sections were examined with immunohistochemistry using gankyrin-specific antibody. *Non-T* non-tumorous liver tissues, *T* tumors. Scale bar, 50 µm. (b) Tumor number (upper) and maximal tumor sizes (diameters, lower) in *GK^(ff)*

(n = 14) and MxI- $Cre; GK^{iff}$ (n = 18) mice. (c) Tumor number (upper) and maximal tumor sizes (diameter, lower) in GK^{iff} (n = 13) and Alb- $Cre; GK^{iff}$ (n = 18) mice. (d, e) RNA was extracted from tumors of MxI- $Cre; GK^{iff}$ (d) or Alb- $Cre; GK^{iff}$ (e) mice and GK^{iff} mice. Relative amounts of mRNA were determined by quantitative RT-PCR (qRT-PCR) and normalized to the amount of actin mRNA. The amount of each mRNA in the untreated liver was given an arbitrary value of 1.0. Data are means \pm SEM (n = 5)

reduced STAT3 activity, IL-6 production, and expression of cancer stem cell markers (Bmi1 and EpCAM), leading to attenuated tumorigenic potential. These results have suggested a model as shown in Fig. 3a. Essentially similar results were obtained by analyzing mice with intestinal epithelial cell-specific gankyrin ablation (*Villin-Cre;Gankyrin^{ff}*) and gankyrin ablation both in myeloid and epithelial cells (Mx1-Cre;Gankyrin^{ff}) in the colitis-associated cancer model [29]. Significant differences were observed in tumor numbers and sizes between Mx1-Cre;Gankyrin^{ff}



Fig. 3 Inflammation and gankyrin (Modified from [40]. (a) A model of the role played by gankyrin in hepatocarcinogenesis. Chronic inflammation enhances gankyrin expression in the liver. Gankyrin binding to SHP-1 leads to enhanced IL-6 production in the tumor microenvironment. The augmented inflammatory response activates STAT3, and gankyrin upregulates the expression of VEGF in tumor cells, which eventually promote the development of HCC. (b) Liver specimens were collected using needle biopsy in 13 patients clinically suspected of non-alcoholic

mice and control mice, but not between Villin-Cre; Gankyrin^{ff} mice and control mice. Consistent with the animal models, chronic inflammation enhanced gankyrin mRNA expression in the human liver (Fig. 3b), and protein expression in non-parenchymal cells as well as hepatocytes [40]. High gankyrin expression in non-parenchymal cells was associated with enhanced IL-6 expression in HCC (Fig. 3c), and gankyrin expression in the tumor microenvironment was negatively correlated with progression-free survival in patients undergoing treatment with Sorafenib for HCCs [40]. These findings indicate important roles played by gankyrin in non-parenchymal cells as well as parenchymal cells in the pathogenesis of liver cancers and colorectal cancers.

Gankyrin as a Promising Therapeutic Target

Gankyrin seems to be an excellent target of cancer therapy because of the following reasons:

1. Signaling interactions between cancer cells and their supporting stroma have been sug-

steatohepatitis. The expression of gankyrin mRNA in livers without inflammation or fibrosis (control, n = 5) and those with inflammation and fibrosis (chronic hepatitis, n = 8) was determined by qRT-PCR. (c) Liver specimens were collected using needle biopsy before sorafenib treatment. The mRNA levels of IL-6 in HCC were determined by qRT-PCR and compared between patients grouped according to the level of gankyrin expression in hepatic non-parenchymal cells as assessed by immunohistochemistry

gested to evolve during the course of multi-stage tumor development [41], and gankyrin promotes oncogenesis both in cancer cells and their supporting stroma [29, 40].

- Gankyrin promotes carcinogenesis both in early (initiation, promotion) and late (progression, metastasis) stages. For example, in rat HCC model, overexpression of gankyrin starts at fibrosis stage [42], and in human liver tissues, expression is progressively increased from hepatitis, cirrhosis, adenoma to HCC [43]. In many different types of cancers including those of the liver [30], colorectum [44], esophagus [45], and lung [46], highlevel expression is correlated with invasion, metastasis, poor survival, and resistance to therapy.
- 3. Gankyrin is overexpressed in most cases of HCC [3] and other types of cancers, including those of the esophagus [45], stomach [47], prostate [48], and colorectum [18].
- Ubiquitous low expression of gankyrin in normal tissues, and overexpression in almost all types of cancers including those of the brain, breast, lung, ovary, prostate, and stomach.
- 5. Gankyrin kills multiple major tumor suppressors (Fig. 1b).

6. Gankyrin can enable the hallmarks of cancer, at least five out of six original hallmarks and two out of two additional hallmarks [41]. By inhibiting gankyrin, therefore, we can target most of the pathways supporting the hallmarks therapeutically.

Experimental Anti-Gankyrin Agents

Since gankyrin is a versatile tumor suppressor killer and its activities seem to result from the binding to various partners, inhibition of the interactions is a promising strategy for controlling cancer initiation and progression. Indeed, overexpression of MAGE-A4, a gankyrin interactor of unknown function, suppressed the tumorigenic activity of gankyrin [27]. Overexpression of C-terminal portion of S6b inhibited proliferation of malignant cells (Fig. 4a, b). Although the structure of gankyrin has been clarified, research studies focusing on structurebased drug design of gankyrin are still limited. A synthetic protein GBP7.19 [49] and a small molecular drug cjoc42 [50] have recently been reported, but direct and specific gankyrin inhibitors should be investigated further.

Another promising strategy is an inhibition of gankyrin expression. Down-regulation of gankyrin expression by small interfering RNA (siRNA) or shRNA promotes apoptosis of tumor cells in vitro [15]. Growth of human cancer cells transplanted to nude mice is suppressed by intra-tumoral injection of siRNA [18] or adenovirus delivering shRNA against gankyrin [51]. As expected, the anti-proliferative activity of shRNA against gankyrin was enhanced by simultaneous expression of p53 in p53-deficient cancer cells (Fig. 4c).



Fig. 4 Suppression of cell proliferation by gankyrin inhibitors. (**a**, **b**) Effects of overexpression of gankyrininteracting S6b mutant. Human osteosarcoma U-2 OS cells were cultured in 6-cm dishes and transfected with plasmid DNAs (1 μ g/dish) expressing mutant gankyrin with deletion of the two ankyrin-repeat motifs (del-GK), mutant S6b with N-terminus deletion (del-S6b), or control vector together with neo-resistance gene. After 8 days of culture in G418-containing medium, numbers of colonies

were counted (a), and representative colonies were photographed under microscope (b). (c) Effects of shRNA. Human prostate cancer PC-3 cells with no wildtype p53 gene were incubated with plasmid nanoparticles expressing p53 (vlp-p53) or shRNA against gankyrin (vlp-shRNA-GK) prepared by RNTein Biotech Lab, CA. Volumes of added plasmids were adjusted with controls expressing vector alone. Four days later, surviving cell numbers were counted under microscope

Conclusion

Gankyrin plays important roles in nonparenchymal cells as well as parenchymal cells in the pathogenesis of liver cancers, colorectal cancers, and probably other cancers. Thus, by acting both on cancer cells and on the tumor microenvironment, anti-gankyrin agents are promising as therapeutic and preventive strategies against various cancers. As response rate of HCC to systemic chemotherapy is only 0 to 25%, blocking expression and/or function of gankyrin might be especially valuable in human HCCs. For the development of therapeutics, in vitro human cell transformation systems that incorporate the effects of non-parenchymal cells and gankyrin would be useful.

Gankyrin, a small ankyrin-repeat protein, has many activities with proteins controlling the cell cycle, transcription, apoptosis, and then many signaling pathways. How much of these activities are dependent on chaperoning the assembly of, and delivering the ubiquitylated substrates to the 26S proteasome, and how many are dependent on gankyrin being present in much smaller complexes with other proteins to control various cell processes, e.g., cell growth signaling pathways? The resolution of these questions must be answered to move toward a fuller understanding of gankyrin actions in the cell.

Acknowledgements We thank Dr. L. Feng (RNTein Biotech Lab, CA) for providing us with plasmid nanoparticles, Dr. R.J. Mayer (Nottingham University, UK) and Dr. J.S. Rhim (Uniformed Services University of Health Sciences, MD) for helpful suggestions, and Ms. C. Onishi for technical assistance. This work was partly supported by the grants from Japan Society for the Promotion of Science.

References

- Ferlay, J., Soerjomataram, I., Dikshit, R., Eser, S., Mathers, C., Rebelo, M., Parkin, D. M., Forman, D., & Bray, F. (2015). Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: Sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012. *International Journal of Cancer*, *136*, E359–E386.
- Shin, J. W., & Chung, Y. H. (2013). Molecular targeted therapy for hepatocellular carcinoma: Current

and future. *World Journal of Gastroenterology*, *19*(37), 6144–6155. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v19. i37.6144.

- Higashitsuji, H., Itoh, K., Nagao, T., Dawson, S., Nonoguchi, K., Kido, T., Mayer, R. J., Arii, S., & Fujita, J. (2000). Reduced stability of retinoblastoma protein by gankyrin, an oncogenic ankyrin-repeat protein overexpressed in hepatomas. *Nature Medicine*, 6(1), 96–99.
- Zamani, P., Matbou Riahi, M., Momtazi-Borojeni, A. A., & Jamialahmadi, K. (2018). Gankyrin: A novel promising therapeutic target for hepatocellular carcinoma. *Artificial Cells, Nanomedicine, and Biotechnology, 46*(7), 1301–1313.
- Wang, C., & Cheng, L. (2017). Gankyrin as a potential therapeutic target for cancer. *Investigational New Drugs*, 35(5), 655–661. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10637-017-0474-8.
- Wang, X., Jiang, B., & Zhang, Y. (2016). Gankyrin regulates cell signaling network. *Tumour Biology*, *37*(5), 5675–5682. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13277-016-4854-z.
- Iakova, P., Timchenko, L., & Timchenko, N. A. (2011). Intracellular signaling and hepatocellular carcinoma. *Seminars in Cancer Biology*, *21*(1), 28–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2010.09.001.
- Dawson, S., Higashitsuji, H., Wilkinson, A. J., Fujita, J., & Mayer, R. J. (2006). Gankyrin: A new oncoprotein and regulator of pRb and p53. *Trends in Cell Biology*, 16(5), 229–233.
- Higashitsuji, H., Liu, Y., Mayer, R. J., & Fujita, J. (2005). The oncoprotein gankyrin negatively regulates both p53 and RB by enhancing proteasomal degradation. *Cell Cycle*, 4(10), 1335–1337.
- Hori, T., Kato, S., Saeki, M., DeMartino, G. N., Slaughter, C. A., Takeuchi, J., Toh-e, A., & Tanaka, K. (1998). cDNA cloning and functional analysis of p28 (Nas6p) and p40.5 (Nas7p), two novel regulatory subunits of the 26S proteasome. *Gene*, 216(1), 113–122.
- Dawson, S., Apcher, S., Mee, M., Higashitsuji, H., Baker, R., Uhle, S., Dubiel, W., Fujita, J., & Mayer, R. J. (2002). Gankyrin is an ankyrin-repeat oncoprotein that interacts with CDK4 kinase and the S6 ATPase of the 26 S proteasome. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(13), 10893–10902.
- Saeki, Y., Toh-E, A., Kudo, T., Kawamura, H., & Tanaka, K. (2009). Multiple proteasome-interacting proteins assist the assembly of the yeast 19S regulatory particle. *Cell*, 137(5), 900–913. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cell.2009.05.005.
- Krzywda, S., Brzozowski, A. M., Higashitsuji, H., Fujita, J., Welchman, R., Dawson, S., Mayer, R. J., & Wilkinson, A. J. (2004). The crystal structure of gankyrin, an oncoprotein found in complexes with cyclin-dependent kinase 4, a 19 S proteasomal ATPase regulator, and the tumor suppressors Rb and p53. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(2), 1541–1545.
- Iwai, A., Marusawa, H., Kiuchi, T., Higashitsuji, H., Tanaka, K., Fujita, J., & Chiba, T. (2003). Role of a novel oncogenic protein, gankyrin, in hepatocyte

proliferation. Journal of Gastroenterology, 38(8), 751–758.

- Higashitsuji, H., Higashitsuji, H., Itoh, K., Sakurai, T., Nagao, T., Sumitomo, Y., Masuda, T., Dawson, S., Shimada, Y., Mayer, R. J., & Fujita, J. (2005). The oncoprotein gankyrin binds to MDM2/HDM2, enhancing ubiquitylation and degradation of p53. *Cancer Cell*, 8(1), 75–87.
- Whitby, F. G., & Hill, C. P. (2007). A versatile platform for inactivation and destruction. *Structure*, 15(2), 137–138.
- Wang, G. L., Shi, X., Haefliger, S., Jin, J., Major, A., Iakova, P., Finegold, M., & Timchenko, N. A. (2010). Elimination of C/EBPalpha through the ubiquitinproteasome system promotes the development of liver cancer in mice. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *120*(7), 2549–2562. https://doi.org/10.1172/ JCI41933.
- Qin, X., Wang, X., Liu, F., Morris, L. E., Wang, X., Jiang, B., & Zhang, Y. (2016). Gankyrin activates mTORC1 signaling by accelerating TSC2 degradation in colorectal cancer. *Cancer Letters*, 376(1), 83–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2016.03.013.
- Sun, W., Ding, J., Wu, K., Ning, B. F., Wen, W., Sun, H. Y., Han, T., Huang, L., Dong, L. W., Yang, W., Deng, X., Li, Z., Wu, M. C., Feng, G. S., Xie, W. F., & Wang, H. Y. (2011). Gankyrin-mediated dedifferentiation facilitates the tumorigenicity of rat hepatocytes and hepatoma cells. *Hepatology*, 54(4), 1259–1272. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.24530.
- Lewis, K., Valanejad, L., Cast, A., Wright, M., Wei, C., Iakova, P., Stock, L., Karns, R., Timchenko, L., & Timchenko, N. (2017). RNA binding protein CUGBP1 inhibits liver Cancer in a phosphorylation-dependent manner. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 37(16), e00128-17. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.00128-17.
- Man, J. H., Liang, B., Gu, Y. X., Zhou, T., Li, A. L., Li, T., Jin, B. F., Bai, B., Zhang, H. Y., Zhang, W. N., Li, W. H., Gong, W. L., Li, H. Y., & Zhang, X. M. (2010). Gankyrin plays an essential role in Ras-induced tumorigenesis through regulation of the RhoA/ROCK pathway in mammalian cells. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *120*(8), 2829–2841. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI42542.
- 22. Liu, Y., Higashitsuji, H., Higashitsuji, H., Itoh, K., Sakurai, T., Koike, K., Hirota, K., Fukumoto, M., & Fujita, J. (2013). Overexpression of gankyrin in mouse hepatocytes induces hemangioma by suppressing factor inhibiting hypoxia-inducible factor-1 (FIH-1) and activating hypoxia-inducible factor-1. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 432(1), 22–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.01.093.
- Feng, G. S. (2012). Conflicting roles of molecules in hepatocarcinogenesis: Paradigm or paradox. *Cancer Cell*, 21(2), 150–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ccr.2012.01.001.
- Higashitsuji, H., Higashitsuji, H., Liu, Y., Masuda, T., Fujita, T., Abdel-Aziz, H. I., Kongkham, S., Dawson, S., Mayer, J. R., Itoh, Y., Sakurai, T., Itoh, K., & Fujita, J. (2007). The oncoprotein gankyrin

interacts with RelA and suppresses NF-kappaB activity. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 363(3), 879–884.

- 25. Chen, Y., Li, H. H., Fu, J., Wang, X. F., Ren, Y. B., Dong, L. W., Tang, S. H., Liu, S. Q., Wu, M. C., & Wang, H. Y. (2007). Oncoprotein p28 GANK binds to RelA and retains NF-kappaB in the cytoplasm through nuclear export. *Cell Research*, *17*(12), 1020–1029.
- 26. Ren, Y. B., Luo, T., Li, J., Fu, J., Wang, Q., Cao, G. W., Chen, Y., & Wang, H. Y. (2015). p28(GANK) associates with p300 to attenuate the acetylation of RelA. *Molecular Carcinogenesis*, 54(12), 1626–1635. https://doi.org/10.1002/mc.22235.
- Nagao, T., Higashitsuji, H., Nonoguchi, K., Sakurai, T., Dawson, S., Mayer, R. J., Itoh, K., & Fujita, J. (2003). MAGE-A4 interacts with the liver oncoprotein gankyrin and suppresses its tumorigenic activity. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(12), 10668–10674.
- 28. Umemura, A., Itoh, Y., Itoh, K., Yamaguchi, K., Nakajima, T., Higashitsuji, H., Onoue, H., Fukumoto, M., Okanoue, T., & Fujita, J. (2008). Association of gankyrin protein expression with early clinical stages and insulin-like growth factor-binding protein 5 expression in human hepatocellular carcinoma. *Hepatology*, 47(2), 493–502.
- Sakurai, T., Higashitsuji, H., Kashida, H., Watanabe, T., Komeda, Y., Nagai, T., Hagiwara, S., Kitano, M., Nishida, N., Abe, T., Kiyonari, H., Itoh, K., Fujita, J., & Kudo, M. (2017). The oncoprotein gankyrin promotes the development of colitis-associated cancer through activation of STAT3. *Oncotarget*, 8(15), 24762–24776. https://doi.org/10.18632/ oncotarget.14983.
- 30. Luo, T., Fu, J., Xu, A., Su, B., Ren, Y., Li, N., Zhu, J., Zhao, X., Dai, R., Cao, J., Wang, B., Qin, W., Jiang, J., Li, J., Wu, M., Feng, G., Chen, Y., & Wang, H. (2016). PSMD10/gankyrin induces autophagy to promote tumor progression through cytoplasmic interaction with ATG7 and nuclear transactivation of ATG7 expression. *Autophagy*, *12*(8), 1355–1371. https://doi. org/10.1080/15548627.2015.1034405.
- 31. Yang, C., Tan, Y. X., Yang, G. Z., Zhang, J., Pan, Y. F., Liu, C., Fu, J., Chen, Y., Ding, Z. W., Dong, L. W., & Wang, H. Y. (2016). Gankyrin has an antioxidative role through the feedback regulation of Nrf2 in hepatocellular carcinoma. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 213(5), 859–875. https://doi.org/10.1084/ jem.20151208.
- 32. Qian, Y. W., Chen, Y., Yang, W., Fu, J., Cao, J., Ren, Y. B., Zhu, J. J., Su, B., Luo, T., Zhao, X. F., Dai, R. Y., Li, J. J., Sun, W., Wu, M. C., Feng, G. S., & Wang, H. Y. (2012). p28(GANK) prevents degradation of Oct4 and promotes expansion of tumor-initiating cells in hepatocarcinogenesis. *Gastroenterology*, *142*(7), 1547–58.e14. https://doi.org/10.1053/j. gastro.2012.02.042.
- 33. Chen, J., Bai, M., Ning, C., Xie, B., Zhang, J., Liao, H., Xiong, J., Tao, X., Yan, D., Xi, X., Chen, X., Yu, Y., Bast, R. C., Zhang, Z., Feng, Y., & Zheng,

W. (2016). Gankyrin facilitates follicle-stimulating hormone-driven ovarian cancer cell proliferation through the PI3K/AKT/HIF-1α/cyclin D1 pathway. *Oncogene*, *35*(19), 2506–2517. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2015.316.

- 34. Zhao, X., Fu, J., Xu, A., Yu, L., Zhu, J., Dai, R., Su, B., Luo, T., Li, N., Qin, W., Wang, B., Jiang, J., Li, S., Chen, Y., & Wang, H. (2015). Gankyrin drives malignant transformation of chronic liver damagemediated fibrosis via the Rac1/JNK pathway. *Cell Death & Disease*, 6, e1751. https://doi.org/10.1038/ cddis.2015.120.
- 35. Dong, L. W., Yang, G. Z., Pan, Y. F., Chen, Y., Tan, Y. X., Dai, R. Y., Ren, Y. B., Fu, J., & Wang, H. Y. (2011). The oncoprotein p28GANK establishes a positive feedback loop in β-catenin signaling. *Cell Research*, 21(8), 1248–1261. https://doi.org/10.1038/ cr.2011.103.
- 36. Zheng, T., Hong, X., Wang, J., Pei, T., Liang, Y., Yin, D., Song, R., Song, X., Lu, Z., Qi, S., Liu, J., Sun, B., Xie, C., Pan, S., Li, Y., Luo, X., Li, S., Fang, X., Bhatta, N., Jiang, H., & Liu, L. (2014). Gankyrin promotes tumor growth and metastasis through activation of IL-6/STAT3 signaling in human cholangiocarcinoma. *Hepatology*, *59*(3), 935–946. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.26705.
- 37. Bai, Z., Tai, Y., Li, W., Zhen, C., Gu, W., Jian, Z., Wang, Q., Lin, J. E., Zhao, Q., Gong, W., Liang, B., Wang, C., & Zhou, T. (2013). Gankyrin activates IL-8 to promote hepatic metastasis of colorectal cancer. *Cancer Research*, 73(14), 4548–4558. https://doi. org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-4586.
- 38. Pei, T., Li, Y., Wang, J., Wang, H., Liang, Y., Shi, H., Sun, B., Yin, D., Sun, J., Song, R., Pan, S., Sun, Y., Jiang, H., Zheng, T., & Liu, L. (2015). YAP is a critical oncogene in human cholangiocarcinoma. *Oncotarget*, 6(19), 17206–17220.
- 39. Huang, S. J., Cheng, C. L., Chen, J. R., Gong, H. Y., Liu, W., & Wu, J. L. (2017). Inducible liver-specific overexpression of gankyrin in zebrafish results in spontaneous intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma and hepatocellular carcinoma formation. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 490(3), 1052– 1058. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2017.06.164.
- 40. Sakurai, T., Yada, N., Hagiwara, S., Arizumi, T., Minaga, K., Kamata, K., Takenaka, M., Minami, Y., Watanabe, T., Nishida, N., & Kudo, M. (2017). Gankyrin induces STAT3 activation in tumor microenvironment and sorafenib resistance in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Cancer Science*, 108(10), 1996–2003. https://doi.org/10.1111/cas.13341.
- Hanahan, D., & Weinberg, R. A. (2011). Hallmarks of cancer: The next generation. *Cell*, *144*(5), 646–674. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013.
- 42. Park, T. J., Kim, H. S., Byun, K. H., Jang, J. J., Lee, Y. S., & Lim, I. K. (2001). Sequential changes in hepatocarcinogenesis induced by diethylnitrosamine plus thioacetamide in Fischer 344 rats: Induction of gankyrin expression in liver fibrosis, pRB degradation

in cirrhosis, and methylation of p16(INK4A) exon 1 in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Molecular Carcinogenesis*, *30*(3), 138–150.

- 43. Jing, H., Zhang, G., Meng, L., Meng, Q., Mo, H., & Tai, Y. (2014). Gradually elevated expression of Gankyrin during human hepatocarcinogenesis and its clinicopathological significance. *Scientific Reports*, 4, 5503. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep05503.
- 44. He, F., Chen, H., Yang, P., Wu, Q., Zhang, T., Wang, C., Wei, J., Chen, Z., Hu, H., Li, W., & Cao, J. (2016). Gankyrin sustains PI3K/GSK-3β/βcatenin signal activation and promotes colorectal cancer aggressiveness and progression. *Oncotarget*, 7(49), 81156–81171. https://doi.org/10.18632/ oncotarget.13215.
- 45. Ortiz, C. M., Ito, T., Tanaka, E., Tsunoda, S., Nagayama, S., Sakai, Y., Higashitsuji, H., Fujita, J., & Shimada, Y. (2008). Gankyrin oncoprotein overexpression as a critical factor for tumor growth in human esophageal squamous cell carcinoma and its clinical significance. *International Journal of Cancer*, *122*(2), 325–332.
- 46. Wang, W. P., Sun, Y., Lu, Q., Zhao, J. B., Wang, X. J., Chen, Z., Ni, Y. F., Wang, J. Z., Han, Y., Zhang, Z. P., Yan, X. L., & Li, X. F. (2017). Gankyrin promotes epithelial-mesenchymal transition and metastasis in NSCLC through forming a closed circle with IL-6/ STAT3 and TGF-β/SMAD3 signaling pathway. *Oncotarget*, 8(4), 5909–5923. https://doi. org/10.18632/oncotarget.13947.
- 47. Zeng, Y. C., Sun, D., Li, W. H., Zhao, J., & Xin, Y. (2017). Gankyrin promotes the proliferation of gastric cancer and is associated with chemosensitivity. *Tumour Biology*, 39(6), 1010428317704820. https:// doi.org/10.1177/1010428317704820.
- Kim, T. D., Oh, S., Lightfoot, S. A., Shin, S., Wren, J. D., & Janknecht, R. (2016). Upregulation of PSMD10 caused by the JMJD2A histone demethylase. *International Journal of Clinical and Experimental Medicine*, 9(6), 10123–10134.
- 49. Chapman, A. M., & McNaughton, B. R. (2015). Synthetic proteins potently and selectively bind the oncoprotein gankyrin, modulate its interaction with S6 ATPase, and suppress gankyrin/MDM2dependent ubiquitination of p53. ACS Chemical Biology, 10(8), 1880–1886. https://doi.org/10.1021/ acschembio.5b00201.
- Chattopadhyay, A., O'Connor, C. J., Zhang, F., Galvagnion, C., Galloway, W. R., Tan, Y. S., Stokes, J. E., Rahman, T., Verma, C., Spring, D. R., & Itzhaki, L. S. (2016). Discovery of a small-molecule binder of the oncoprotein gankyrin that modulates gankyrin activity in the cell. *Scientific Reports*, *6*, 23732. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep23732.
- Li, H., Fu, X., Chen, Y., Hong, Y., Tan, Y., Cao, H., Wu, M., & Wang, H. (2005). Use of adenovirus-delivered siRNA to target oncoprotein p28GANK in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Gastroenterology*, 128(7), 2029–2041.



Contributing Roles of CYP2E1 and Other Cytochrome P450 Isoforms in Alcohol-Related Tissue Injury and Carcinogenesis

Byoung-Joon Song, Mohamed A. Abdelmegeed, Young-Eun Cho, Mohammed Akbar, Johng S. Rhim, Min-Kyung Song, and James P. Hardwick

Abstract

The purpose of this review is to briefly summarize the roles of alcohol (ethanol) and related compounds in promoting cancer and inflammatory injury in many tissues. Long-term chronic heavy alcohol exposure is known to increase the chances of inflammation, oxidative DNA damage, and cancer development in many organs. The rates of alcohol-mediated organ damage and cancer risks are significantly elevated in the presence of co-morbidity factors such as poor nutrition, unhealthy diets, smoking, infection with bacteria or viruses, and exposure to pro-carcinogens. Chronic ingestion of alcohol and its metabolite acetaldehyde may initiate and/or promote the development of cancer in the liver, oral cavity, esophagus, stomach, gastrointestinal tract, pancreas, prostate, and female breast. In this chapter, we summarize the important roles of ethanol/acetaldehyde in promoting inflammatory injury and carcinogenesis in several tissues. We also review the updated roles of the ethanol-inducible cytochrome P450-2E1 (CYP2E1) and other cytochrome P450 isozymes in the metabolism of various potentially toxic substrates, and consequent toxicities, including carcinogenesis in different tissues. We also briefly describe the potential

J. S. Rhim

Department of Surgery, Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences, Bethesda, MD, USA

M.-K. Song Investigational Drug Branch, National Cancer Institute, NIH, Bethesda, MD, USA

J. P. Hardwick

Biochemistry and Molecular Pathology in the Department of Integrative Medical Sciences, Northeast Ohio Medical University, Rootstown, OH, USA

B.-J. Song (⊠) · M. A. Abdelmegeed Section of Molecular Pharmacology and Toxicology, Laboratory of Membrane Biochemistry and Biophysics, National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism, NIH, Bethesda, MD, USA e-mail: bj.song@nih.gov

Y.-E. Cho

Section of Molecular Pharmacology and Toxicology, Laboratory of Membrane Biochemistry and Biophysics, National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism, NIH, Bethesda, MD, USA

Department of Food Science and Nutrition, Andong National University, Andong Republic of Korea

M. Akbar

Division of Neuroscience and Behavior, National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism, NIH, Bethesda, MD, USA

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

J. S. Rhim et al. (eds.), *Human Cell Transformation*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1164, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-22254-3_6

implications of endogenous ethanol produced by gut bacteria, as frequently observed in the experimental models and patients of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, in promoting DNA mutation and cancer development in the liver and other tissues, including the gastrointestinal tract.

Keywords

Alcohol · Acetaldehyde · CYP2E1 · Oxidative stress · Inflammation · DNA mutation · Cancer

Introduction

Long-term chronic heavy alcohol (ethanol) intake is known to increase the incidences of cancer in many tissues, including the liver, mouth, esophagus, gastrointestinal tract, pancreas, prostate, and female breast [1-6]. The alcohol-mediated cancer rates are significantly increased in the presence of co-morbidity factors such as smoking, viral and bacterial infections, carcinogens, and potentially harmful diets, such as poor nutrition, western-style high fat diets, and soft drinks containing high fructose corn syrup. We have previously reviewed that the rates of alcohol-mediated cancer in experimental rodent models and alcoholic people are increased by the one or combinations of the following risk factors: (1) formation of etheno-(or acetaldehyde)-DNA adducts; (2) elevated production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), reactive nitrogen species (RNS), lipid peroxides, and metabolic conversion of procarcinogens to carcinogens via ethanol-inducible cytochrome P450-2E1 (CYP2E1); (3) accumulation of iron leading to increased ROS generation, lipid peroxidation, mutation of p53 gene or its covalent modifications of its protein; (4) decreased cellular levels of antioxidant glutathione (GSH) and S-adenosylmethionine (SAMe), resulting in oxidative stress and DNA hypomethylation of oncogenes and epigenetics changes; (5) depletion of retinoic acid with consequent cell proliferation through activation of activator protein-1 (AP-1); (6) activation of an inflammatory cascade via increased intestinal barrier dysfunction, resulting in endotoxemia, activation of tissue macrophages, including hepatic Kupffer cells via Toll-like receptor-4 (TLR-4), oxidative stress, the nuclear factor-KappaB (NF-kB) or early growth response-1 (Egr-1) activation, and production of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines; (7) reduced number and/or function of Natural Killer cells; (8) decreased activities of antioxidant enzymes and DNA repair enzymes. Since these areas have been covered in our previous review [1] and others [2-6], we specifically focus on the updated roles of CYP2E1-related oxidative stress, leaky gut, and metabolic activation of potentially toxic substrates in DNA adduct formation and cancer development in this chapter. The important roles of the ethanol-induced CYP2E1 and other cytochrome P450 isozymes in the metabolisms of various substrates and consequent cytotoxicities, including acetaldehyde and other carcinogenic substances in many tissues, are briefly summarized. Additive and/or synergistic interactions between ethanol and other risk factors toward increased levels of DNA adducts and carcinogenesis are also described. In addition, the potential roles of the endogenous ethanol and acetaldehyde produced by bacteria in certain tissues, as frequently observed in rodent models and patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) and/or steatohepatitis (NASH), in promoting inflammatory tissue injury and cancer development are briefly discussed. Finally, based on the mechanistic study results, we have described the translational opportunities against alcohol-associated injury and carcinogenesis in many tissues.

Updated Mechanisms of Ethanol-Mediated Carcinogenesis

The International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) has concluded that both ethanol and its oxidative metabolite acetaldehyde are human

carcinogens [7]. One of the major factors for the increased cancer development in alcoholic individuals and ethanol-exposed animal models could be increased oxidative and nitrative stress, through activation of many pro-oxidant enzymes with decreased contents of small molecule antioxidants and suppressed antioxidant enzymes. In fact, chronic excessive alcohol intake is known to increase oxidative and nitrative stress which can be produced through impaired mitochondrial electron transport chain (i.e., mitochondrial dysfunction), elevated levels of the CYP2E1, NADPH oxidases, the inducible form of nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), xanthine oxidase, etc. [8-17]. In addition, chronic alcohol ingestion is known to decrease the levels of many small molecule antioxidantsglutathione(GSH),S-adenosylmethionine (SAMe), folic acid, many vitamins, including retinol (vitamin A), thiamine (vitamin B1), ascorbic acid (vitamin C), vitamin D (ergocalciferol and cholecalciferol), α -tocopherol (vitamin E), menadione (vitamin K3) through insufficient absorption in the GI tract, suppression of biosynthesis, and increased metabolic degradation [1, 8], 18-21]. The depletion of these enzyme cofactors and co-enzymes can exert dramatic influences on major metabolic pathways and genetic/epigenetics changes. Moreover, the activities of antioxidant enzymes such as mitochondrial low-Km aldehyde dehydrogenase-2 (ALDH2), glutathione peroxidase (Gpx), superoxide dismutase (SOD), methionine adenosyltransferase-1 (MAT1), and catalase can be significantly suppressed through oxidative modifications in alcohol-exposed tissues [22–25]. It is likely that the decreased levels of antioxidants and suppressed antioxidant enzymes or proteins render the host more susceptible to inflammatory tissue injury and carcino-

Alcohol (ethanol) is not a strong carcinogen compared to its oxidative metabolite acetaldehyde. However, alcohol-induced carcinogenesis is significantly increased in the presence of a risk factor such as smoking, western-style high fat fast food, and viral infection. Elevated levels of

genesis [1–4].

highly reactive acetaldehyde and lipid aldehydes, through suppressed ALDH2 activity or genetic mutation in the ALDH2 gene, as observed in many people in East Asian countries [26–28] or in various tissues of Aldh2-null mice exposed to alcohol gavages [29] can increase the amounts of DNA adducts and cancer. Alternatively, increased amounts of acetaldehyde produced from activated ADH through mutation of its gene [30] can interact with the amine groups of deoxyguanosine (dG), deoxyadenosine (dA), and deoxycytosine (dC) to generate N²-ethylidene-DNA and more stable N²-etheno-DNA adducts [31-33], contributing to increased mutagenesis and cancer development, as recently reviewed [34]. In the presence of reducing agents, such as polyamines, acetaldehyde dimer crotonaldehyde can interact with DNA and produce a stronger mutagenic propano-DNA adduct [35]. Furthermore, under increased oxidative stress following alcohol exposure, the amounts of lipid peroxides are significantly elevated and some of the highly reactive lipid aldehydes such as acrolein (ACR), malonaldehyde (MDA), MDA-Acetaldehyde (MDA-AA), and 4-hydroxynonenal (4-HNE) can interact with DNA, producing mutagenic DNA adducts, leading to increased carcinogenesis [36-38]. Analyses of human specimens revealed that the levels of the lipid-aldehyde DNA adducts in the liver and mucosa of the esophagus and colon in alcoholic people appear to depend on the levels of CYP2E1. In contrast, these adducts in some patients with NASH do not correlate with the CYP2E1 levels and are likely derived from inflammation-driven oxidative stress, as reviewed [39]. Furthermore, the rates of carcinogenesis could be markedly increased when p53 and DNA repair enzymes, such as oxoguanine DNA glycosylase (Ogg1), are inactivated in alcohol-exposed rodents [40, 41]. Although the molecular mechanisms for the inactivation of DNA repair enzymes in alcohol-exposed rodents have not been studied in detail, it is likely that these enzymes could be oxidatively modified and thus inactivated under increased oxidative and nitrative stress.

Contributing Roles of CYP2E1 and Other P450 Isoforms in Tissue Injury and Cancer Development

Multiple Regulations of CYP2E1 and Alcohol-Related Tissue Injury and Carcinogenesis

It is well-established that ingested ethanol is primarily metabolized by alcohol dehydrogenase (ADH, Km for ethanol 0.8-1 mM) expressed in the liver, esophagus, stomach, and intestine. However, after chronic alcohol exposure or intake of large amounts of ethanol, a significant amount of alcohol is also metabolized by another enzyme system so-called the microsomal ethanol oxidizing system (MEOS), consisting of CYP2E1, CYP1A2, and CYP3A with CYP2E1 being a major component [8, 9, 42, 43]. In fact, under higher blood alcohol concentration (BAC) up to ~100 mM, as observed in some alcoholics [44], ethanol-induced CYP2E1 (Km for ethanol 8–10 mM) becomes important in the oxidative metabolism of ethanol, producing acetaldehyde, which can impair intestinal barrier function and produce DNA adducts, contributing to inflammatory tissue injury [45] and carcinogenesis [34], respectively. Unlike other P450 enzymes, CYP2E1, a loosely bound enzyme to the ER membrane, exhibits NADPH oxidase activity, thus producing ROS during its catalytic cycle or even in the absence of its substrate, as reviewed earlier [8, 25, 42, 43]. The ROS include superoxide anion, hydrogen peroxide, and hydroxyethyl radical, depending on the local environment, including the presence of iron, which is known to be accumulated by alcohol exposure [46], and other preexisting conditions, contributing to DNA damage and carcinogenesis. In addition, CYP2E1 is known to produce RNS in certain conditions despite little induction of iNOS [47]. CYP2E1, present in both endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and mitochondria [48, 49] in the liver and extra-hepatic tissues such as kidney, colon, and brain [50], is induced and activated by acute or chronic exposure to alcohol and other small molecules such as acetone and isoniazid or pathophysiological conditions such as fasting and diabetes through different regulatory mechanisms [8, 18, 51–53]. Moreover, its level and activity are increased in obese and/or hyperglycemic diabetic rodents and in humans [8, 18, 52–55]. Because of different induction mechanisms of CYP2E1 (e.g., protein stabilization by ethanol or acetone [50, 56-58]), increased mRNA translation by isoniazid and pyridine, and mRNA increase by fasting, western-style high fat diet, over-feeding obesity, or diabetes [52-55], the overall levels and activities of CYP2E1 are expected to be increased in an additive or synergistic manner [8, 18, 59, 60]. For example, alcohol exposure in diabetic rodents and people would markedly elevate CYP2E1 activity, thus producing greater levels of oxidative stress and tissue injury [15, 18, 59]. Another example of additive or synergistic effect is interactions between alcohol drinking and other risk factors such as western-style high fat diet [52], nicotine [61], infection with hepatitis viruses [62], and certain chemicals or carcinogens, which are CYP2E1 substrates, such as dimethylnitrosamine (DMN) [56], diethylnitrosamine (DEN) [63], urethane, and benzene [64, 65], promoting acute toxicity or inflammatory tissue injury, as reviewed [15, 18, 59, 66]. Consequently, the degree of these interactions with cellular macromolecules, including DNA, is significantly increased in fasting or other pathological conditions with lower GSH levels [67], making the host more susceptible to oxidative DNA damage and mutations, contributing to inflammatory tissue injury and carcinogenesis.

In addition to the oxidative ethanol metabolism, CYP2E1 is known to metabolize many small molecule environmental toxicants and potential carcinogens, some of which are the inducers of CYP2E1 [51, 65]. The exogenous CYP2E1 substrate compounds are thioacetamide (TAA), acetaminophen (APAP), isoniazid, cisplatin, halothane, isoflurane, salicylic acid, solvents (e.g., ethylene, carbon tetrachloride, chloroform, dichloromethane, benzene, pyridine, and toluene), various long-chain fatty acids, DMN, DEN, bromodichloromethane, Vitamin A derivatives (retinoic acid), and others [51, 63–65]. Endogenous substrates of CYP2E1 can be acetone, long-chain

fatty acids, glycerol, 4-HNE, and others, including ethanol and acetaldehyde produced by oral or gut bacteria [18, 68–72]. Metabolism of these substrates by CYP2E1 and consequent organ damage appear to positively correlate with the levels of CYP2E1 activity, with a few exceptions of APAP- or carbon tetrachloride (CCL4)exposed models, as reviewed [14, 18, 24, 66]. For instance, clinically relevant doses of APAP, halothane, thioacetamide, or CCL4 can cause acute drug-induced liver injury (DILI) or toxicity via alcohol and drug interactions, especially in alcohol-exposed or fasted individuals or rodents with increased CYP2E1. The APAP- or CCL4mediated hepatic (and/or kidney) injury is initiated through their metabolism by CYP2E1, since pretreatment with CYP2E1 inhibitors or Cyp2e1null mice was fully protected from these types of DILI or acute toxicity [24, 47, 73]. The decreased levels of retinoic acid by CYP2E1-mediated metabolism [74] and substrate competition with ethanol may also contribute to elevated hepatocyte proliferation and liver tumor progression in alcohol-exposed rodents and alcoholic individuals [74, 75]. By using knockout mice deficient of a specific pro-oxidant enzyme, Bradford and colleagues demonstrated that CYP2E1 but not NADPH oxidase is important in promoting alcohol-mediated DNA damage [76]. In this model, the levels of etheno-DNA adduct were significantly decreased in ethanol-exposed Cyp2e1-null mice compared to those of the wild-type mice. In contrast, the elevated levels of ethanol-related DNA adducts were unchanged and still observed in the corresponding NADPH-oxidase-null mice. In addition, the levels of exocyclic ethanol-DNA adduct were significantly increased in CYP2E1overexpressing HepG2 cells upon ethanol exposure [77] and some patients with alcoholic fatty liver and fibrosis [78]. The levels of these DNA adducts can be significantly decreased in the presence of chlormethiazole (CMZ), a specific CYP2E1 inhibitor [75, 77]. Furthermore, the elevated levels of exocyclic ethanol-DNA adduct observed in experimental rodents were also observed in the biopsied esophagus specimens of human alcoholic patients with esophagus cancer [79]. The levels of etheno-DNA adduct significantly correlated with cell proliferation, which was markedly increased in people who both drank and smoked [80]. All these results strongly indicate an important role of CYP2E1 in producing carcinogenic etheno-DNA lesions in the experimental model and alcoholic individuals [75–77, 81].

Chronic inflammation plays an important role in cancer development and progression of malignant states [82-84]. A recent long-term epidemiological study with more than 121,000 health professional men and women revealed that consumption of pro-inflammatory diet is associated with colon cancer, underscoring the important role of inflammation in carcinogenesis [85]. Cancer-associated inflammation and inflammation-derived DNA lesions and malignancies seem to be genetically stable [36] and can be affected by the extrinsic and intrinsic factors. For instance, extrinsic factors, such as alcohol intake, smoking, viral and bacterial infections, exposure to environmental toxicants and pro-carcinogens, and pathophysiological conditions, can increase inflammation and cancer risk. Additionally, cancer-causing mutations can stimulate inflammatory reactions by activating and recruiting inflammatory cells through various pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines or complementary factors [82–84]. Additionally, it is well-established that excessive chronic alcohol intake can cause chronic inflammation through increased intestinal barrier dysfunction and endotoxemia [86-89]. Elevated plasma levels of bacterial endotoxin lipopolysaccharide (LPS) can interact with TLR-4 in the Kupffer cells, leading to inflammatory liver injury and carcinogenesis [82, 90]. It is possible that plasma LPS, a potent inducer of iNOS and nitration of many cellular proteins [89, 91, 92], can further stimulate inflammation and injury to the GI tract and other tissues. Recent data suggest that binge alcohol can stimulate gut leakiness and inflammatory liver injury in a CYP2E1-dependent manner [89, 93, 94]. The elevated CYP2E1 was responsible for increased oxidative and nitrative stress, causing nitration of several intestinal tight and adherent junction proteins [93]. Nitrated junctional complex proteins were degraded by

proteolytic degradation following ubiquitin conjugation. The markedly decreased amounts of the intestinal junctional complex proteins in binge ethanol-exposed rats compared to control counterparts were confirmed by quantitative massspectral analysis [93]. Subsequently, the levels of the gut junctional complex proteins were significantly decreased and contributed to leaky gut and endotoxemia in ethanol-exposed rodents and people who died suddenly due to heavy alcohol intoxication compared to people who died from nonalcoholic causes [93]. These events of ethanol-mediated leaky gut and inflammatory liver injury were not observed in the corresponding Cyp2e1-null mice or were significantly attenuated in the ethanol-exposed wild-type mice cotreated with CMZ, a specific inhibitor of CYP2E1 [93] or an antioxidant *N*-acetylcysteine (NAC) [89]. Consequently, elevated levels of serum LPS can upregulate TLR4 in the liver, stimulating inflammation and hepatic injury, including fibrosis, potentially leading to carcinogenesis [82, 95, 96]. Furthermore, both extrinsic and intrinsic inflammation are known to modulate or suppress immune responses, which can provide a suitable environment for alcohol-induced carcinogenesis and tumor progression, as reviewed [83, 84].

Distribution of CYP2E1 and Carcinogenesis in Extra-Hepatic Tissues

The majority of CYP2E1 is expressed in the liver. However, it is also expressed in many extrahepatic tissues such as kidney [50, 97], brain [50, 98, 99], lymphocytes [100], lung [101, 102], pancreas [103], nasal mucosa [104], esophagus [105], stomach [105], intestine [50, 93, 94], and female breast [106]. Induction of CYP2E1 (and other P450 isozymes) following exposure to ethanol, potentially environmental toxicants, or under pathophysiological conditions such as fasting and diabetes, is likely to result in production of ROS and RNS which can lead to increased levels of DNA adducts, inflammatory tissue injury, and carcinogenesis [75-81, 93, 94]. Furthermore, CYP2E1 was shown to stimulate post-translational modifications followed by inactivation of various proteins in different subcellular organelles, resulting in ER stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, and inflammatory cell death of many tissues, as reviewed [14, 18, 66, 92]. In many cases, the levels of tissue injury, DNA adducts, or cancer positively correlated with those of CYP2E1 [30–32, 61, 73–79, 93, 94, 107-109]. In contrast, no or little correlation between the severity of tissue injury and the CYP2E1 level was observed in some other cases [95, 97, 110]. However, the lack of correlation between the levels of CYP2E1 and DNA adduct or tissue injury does not necessarily rule out the important role of CYP2E1 because of its permissive role to allow other proteins or genes to exhibit their damaging effects, as described in some experimental models [95, 97, 110, 111].

Contribution of Other P450 Isoforms in Alcohol-Related Tissue Injury and Carcinogenesis

Most of the studies on alcohol-related DNA mutations and carcinogenesis appear to focus on the correlative roles of ADH, CYP2E1, and ALDH2 involved in the oxidative metabolism of ethanol and acetaldehyde [75-81, 96, 112]. However, it has been demonstrated that chronic ethanol exposure can induce CYP2E1 as well as other cytochrome P-450 isoforms, such as CYP1A1 [104], CYP2A5 [111, 113], and CYP3A [114, 115]. The levels of these P450 isoforms induced by ethanol exposure may be small compared to those of CYP2E1 induction. However, we also need to pay attention to their contributing roles in promoting DNA mutation, tissue injury, and caner in both liver and extra-hepatic tissues such as esophagus, gastrointestinal tract, nasal cavity, and lung in alcoholic individuals and/or alcohol-exposed rodents especially in the presence of another co-risk factors such as tobacco smoking and potentially harmful drugs, toxicants, or solvents. For instance, CYP1A1 is known to metabolize carcinogens aryl hydrocarbons [AHs] or polyaromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) [116], such as benzo[a]pyrene and 3-methyl-cholanthrene, contained in charred foods and cigarette tars or smokes. Consequently, ethanol-mediated induction of CYP1A would lead to increased levels of DNA adducts and carcinogenesis in the liver and other extra-hepatic tissues such as nose, esophagus, and lung. Similarly, ethanol-mediated inductions of CYP2A5 can increase DNA adducts in the lung since it is known to metabolize a tobacco carcinogen, the tobacco-related nitrosamine-related carcinogen, 4-(methylnitrosamino)-1-(3-pyridyl)-1-butanone (NNK) [117]. Likewise, alcohol-mediated induction of CYP3A4 [114, 115] and CYP2A5 [118] may render the host with increased levels of DNA adducts and carcinogenesis caused by a mycotoxin aflatoxin B1 (AFB1) [119]. In addition, elevated CYP3A isozymes are likely to metabolize many drugs, including tamoxifen, leading to their activation and production of DNA adducts and carcinogenesis in certain endometrial tissues such as uterus [120]. Furthermore, elevated CYP3A and other P450 isoforms may accelerate metabolic clearance of many drugs, including anti-retroviral agents, leading to oxidative stress and cellular injury [121, 122] in HIV-1-infected people, who exhibit higher rates of hepatic cirrhosis and cancer [123]. In fact, alcohol-mediated elevation/activation of other P450 isoforms in the esophagus, GI tract, nasal cavity, and lung is likely involved in increased DNA mutation, inflammatory injury, and cancer in these tissues in the presence of another risk factor, like smoking, and/or exposure to other potentially toxic substances, such as benzene and toluene [63-65], or western-style high fat fast foods [95].

Increased DNA Adducts, Inflammatory Tissue Injury, and Carcinogenesis in NAFLD/NASH Through the Production of Endogenous Ethanol and Acetaldehyde

In the previous section, we have focused on DNA mutations, inflammatory tissue injury, and carcinogenesis in alcoholic individuals and alcoholexposed rodents. However, it is now known that people with NAFLD/NASH are more susceptible to DNA damage and cancer in the liver [124] and many extra-hepatic tissues, including the GI tract

[125]. Some main reasons for increased DNA damage and cancer could be overgrowth of gut bacteria, increased alteration of gut microflora (dysbiosis), mucosal inflammation, oxidative/ nitrative stress, and leaky gut after exposure to western-style high fat fast foods, fructose-rich soft drinks, and metabolic syndromes [124–128]. In addition, it was shown that ethanol and acetaldehyde can be endogenously produced in obese rodents with NAFLD [70, 129] and some people, including children with NAFLD/NASH [71, 129–131] without exogenous ethanol intake. Moreover, production of acetaldehyde was demonstrated in various bacteria present in the mouth [68, 69, 132], lung [132, 133], and GI tract, including colon [70, 129, 134]. Consequently, the levels of etheno-DNA adduct, inflammatory injury, and carcinogenesis could be increased in these tissues in rodents and people with NAFLD/ NASH, as reviewed [124, 125]. For instance, gut dysbiosis with the increased population of the ethanol-producing bacterial family Enterobacteriaceae, including Escherichia coli, can lead to increased production of ethanol, local inflammation, and leaky gut, contributing to endotoxemia and inflammatory tissue injury, as demonstrated with pediatric patients with NASH [129, 131]. Although not studied, it would be of interest to know whether gut CYP2E1 is induced by the endogenously produced ethanol, albeit small amounts compared to those of alcohol intake. If gut CYP2E1 is induced in people or rodents with NAFLD/NASH, it may cause oxidative stress and oxidatively modify the intestinal junctional complex proteins, resulting in decreased amounts of the intestinal junctional complex proteins in alcohol-exposed rats and mice, as recently demonstrated [93, 94]. These events caused by the endogenous ethanol in NAFLD/NASH [135] may contribute to leaky gut, endotoxemia, and inflammatory tissue injury accompanied with DNA damage. Although the mechanisms for increased DNA mutation and carcinogenesis remain to be further studied, it is likely that CYP2E1 and other P450 isoforms, which can be induced by the endogenously produced ethanol, may be involved in the oxidative metabolisms of ethanol and acetaldehyde. In addition, these P450 isoforms can metabolize

tributing to elevated DNA adducts and carcinogenesis in the GI tract and other organs. Based on the damaging roles of the endogenously produced ethanol and acetaldehyde with potentially elevated CYP2E1 and other P450 isoforms, it is expected that people with diabetes or NAFLD/NASH could be more susceptible to DNA damage, inflammatory tissue injury, and cancer especially when they drink even small amounts of alcohol through additive or synergistic interactions [136, 137].

Translational Research Opportunities

Alcohol and acetaldehyde are human carcinogens [7]. The incidences of alcohol-related inflammatory tissue injury, DNA mutation, and carcinogenesis are significantly increased in the presence of another risk factor(s). As mentioned earlier, these risk factors are smoking, viral and bacterial infections, pro-inflammatory westernstyle high fat fast foods with fructose-containing soft drinks, poor nutrition, and preexisting pathophysiological conditions such as fasting and diabetes [18, 59, 66, 92]. Simultaneous exposure to these risk factors is likely to decrease cellular antioxidants, such as GSH and SAMe, and inactivate many antioxidant enzymes. Consequently, the rates of oxidative stress, lipid peroxidation, gut leakiness, endotoxemia, inflammatory tissue injury, DNA damage, and carcinogenesis would be increased [8, 18, 66, 92]. Based on these mechanisms, prevention or moderation of alcohol drinking would be the best remedy for alcohol-related tissue injury and carcinogenesis. Unfortunately, it would be difficult to decrease alcohol intake in many addicted alcoholic individuals. If alcohol drinking is not prevented, we may consider using adequately balanced diets with antioxidants (such as NAC) [89] or dietary supplements such as n-3 docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) [23], garlic compounds, including diallyl sulfide [37], resveratrol [138], walnut [139],

indole-3-carbinol [140], ellagic acid [141], and pomegranate [94], many of which were shown to reduce or suppress the amount or activity of CYP2E1. As reported earlier [89, 93, 94, 140, 142], decreased CYP2E1 would lead to prevention of oxidative stress, leaky gut, and inflammatory tissue injury. Administration of soy protein isolate was also shown to protect from alcoholmediated tumor promotion in DEN-exposed mice [143]. In addition, eubiosis by administerprobiotics Lactobacillus [144] ing and Bifidobacterium strains [145] may be considered. In fact, a recent study showed that supplementation with Akkermansia muciniphila prevented alcohol-mediated intestinal barrier dysfunction and inflammatory liver injury through the gutliver axis [146]. Furthermore, treatment with synthetic chemical inhibitors of CYP2E1, such as CMZ [75, 77, 89] and YH439 [147], can be considered to mitigate alcohol- and acetaldehydemediated inflammatory tissue injury, DNA mutation, and carcinogenesis.

Conclusion

As reviewed previously, both chronic and acute alcohol intake can change many different metabolic pathways and immunological dysregulations along with genetic and epigenetic changes. In the liver, alcohol drinking stimulates fatty liver, inflammation, fibrosis, cirrhosis, and cancer [148]. The development and progression of chronic liver disease usually depend on the amounts and duration of alcohol intake as well as the presence of another co-morbidity risk factor(s). Alcohol or acetaldehyde-mediated cancer in extra-hepatic tissues may also depend on the amounts of DNA adducts of the procarcinogens by CYP2E1 and other P450 isoforms-mediated metabolisms that can be increased by exposure to alcohol and/or another environmental toxicant(s). In this chapter, we have briefly summarized the biochemical properties of CYP2E1 and its roles in ethanol and acetaldehyde metabolism. We have also described its multiple regulations, tissue distribution, and causal roles in alcohol-mediated gut leakiness, inflammation, apoptosis, tissue injury, DNA

mutation, and carcinogenesis. In addition, we have mentioned the potential roles of other P450 isoforms, which are also induced or activated by alcohol or another environmental toxicant, in metabolizing potentially harmful substances, contributing to increased carcinogenesis in the liver and extra-hepatic tissues. The causal roles of CYP2E1 and other P450 isoforms in stimulating inflammatory tissue injury, DNA adducts, and carcinogenesis would be significantly increased in the presence of another risk factor such as smoking and/or western-style high fat fast foods. We have also briefly described the newly emerging roles of the gut microbiome changes and the endogenously produced ethanol in promoting DNA adduct formation and disease progression despite the absence of exogenous alcohol intake. Based on the understanding of the mechanisms of increased carcinogenesis, we have described potential methods of preclinical translational opportunities by preventing alcohol drinking or using dietary supplements, including various naturally occurring antioxidants and probiotics, and chemical inhibitors of CYP2E1. In fact, many drug candidates are being evaluated for preventing or treating liver disease through targeting the gut-liver axis [144–146, 149, 150]. Based on the important roles of gut microbiome changes in promoting leaky gut, endotoxemia, inflammatory tissue injury, some of these drug candidates may become a good candidate as an anti-cancer agent.

References

- Purohit, V., Rapaka, R., Kwon, O. S., & Song, B. J. (2013). Roles of alcohol and tobacco exposure in the development of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Life Sciences*, 92, 3–9.
- Neuman, M. G., French, S. W., Zakhari, S., Malnick, S., Seitz, H. K., Cohen, L. B., Salaspuro, M., Voinea-Griffin, A., Barasch, A., Kirpich, I. A., Thomes, P. G., Schrum, L. W., Donohue, T. M., Jr., Kharbanda, K. K., Cruz, M., & Opris, M. (2017). Alcohol, microbiome, life style influence alcohol and non-alcoholic organ damage. *Experimental and Molecular Pathology*, 102(1), 162–180.
- Ratna, A., & Mandrekar, P. (2017). Alcohol and cancer: Mechanisms and therapies. Alcohol, micro-

biome, life style influence alcohol and non-alcoholic organ damage. *Biomolecules*, 7, E61.

- Na, H. K., & Lee, J. Y. (2017). Molecular basis of alcohol-related gastric and colon cancer. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 18(6), E1116.
- Fernandes, G. M., Russo, A., Proença, M. A., Gazola, N. F., Rodrigues, G. H., Biselli-Chicote, P. M., Silva, A. E., Netinho, J. G., Pavarino, É. C., & Goloni-Bertollo, E. M. (2016). *CYP1A1*, *CYP2E1* and *EPHX1* polymorphisms in sporadic colorectal neoplasms. *World Journal of Gastroenterology*, 22(45), 9974–9983.
- Lu, Y., Zhu, X., Zhang, C., Jiang, K., Huang, C., & Qin, X. (2017). Role of CYP2E1 polymorphisms in breast cancer: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Cancer Cell International*, 17, 11.
- International Agency for Research on Cancer. (2012). IARC monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans (Vol. 100E). Lyon: IARC.
- Song, B. J., Koop, D. R., Ingelman-Sundberg, M., Nanji, A. A., & Cederbaum, A. I. (1996). Ethanol-inducible cytochrome P450 (CYP2E1): Biochemistry, molecular biology and clinical relevance: 1996 update. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research, 20*(8 Suppl), 138A–146A.
- 9. Lieber, C. S. (1997). Cytochrome P-450 2E1: Its physiological and pathological role. *Physiological Reviews*, 77, 517–544.
- Bailey, S. M., Pietsch, E. C., & Cunningham, C. C. (1999). Ethanol stimulates the production of reactive oxygen species at mitochondrial complexes I and III. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 27, 891–900.
- Kono, H., Rusyn, I., Yin, M., Gäbele, E., Yamashina, S., Dikalova, A., Kadiiska, M. B., Connor, H. D., Mason, R. P., Segal, B. H., Bradford, B. U., Holland, S. M., & Thurman, R. G. (2000). NADPH oxidasederived free radicals are key oxidants in alcoholinduced liver disease. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 106(7), 867–872.
- McKim, S. E., Gabele, E., Isayama, F., Lambert, J. C., Tucker, L. M., Wheeler, M. D., Connor, H. D., Mason, R. P., Doll, M. A., Hein, D. W., & Arteel, G. E. (2003). Inducible nitric oxide synthase is required in alcohol-induced liver injury: Studies with knockout mice. *Gastroenterology*, *125*, 1834–1844.
- Venkatraman, S. S., Wigley, A., Ulasova, E., Chhieng, D., Bailey, S. D., & Darley-Usmar, V. M. (2004). The role of iNOS in alcohol-dependent hepatotoxicity and mitochondrial dysfunction in mice. *Hepatology*, 40, 565–573.
- 14. Song, B. J., Abdelmegeed, M. A., Henderson, L. E., Yoo, S. H., Wan, J., Purohit, V., Hardwick, J. P., & Moon, K. H. (2013). Increased nitroxidative stress promotes mitochondrial dysfunction in alcoholic and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity*, 2013, 781050.
- Leung, T. M., & Nieto, N. (2013). CYP2E1 and oxidant stress in alcoholic and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Journal of Hepatology*, 58(2), 395–398.

- Yun, J. W., Son, M. J., Abdelmegeed, M. A., Banerjee, A., Morgan, T. R., Yoo, S. H., & Song, B. J. (2014). Binge alcohol promotes hypoxic liver injury through CYP2E1-HIF1a-dependent apoptosis pathway in mice and humans. *Free Radical Biology* and Medicine, 77, 183–194.
- Abbondanza, A., Battelli, M. G., Soffritti, M., & Cessi, C. (1989). Xanthine oxidase status in ethanolintoxicated rat liver. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research*, 13(6), 841–844.
- Song, B. J., Akbar, M., Jo, I., Hardwick, J. P., & Abdelmegeed, M. A. (2015). Translational implications of the alcohol-metabolizing enzymes, including cytochrome P450-2E1, in alcoholic and nonalcoholic liver disease. *Advances in Pharmacology*, 74, 303–372.
- Nanji, A. A., Jokelainen, K., Tipoe, G. L., Rahemtulla, A., Thomas, P., & Dannenberg, A. J. (2003). Curcumin prevents alcohol-induced liver disease in rats by inhibiting the expression of NF-kappa B-dependent genes. *American Journal of Physiology. Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, 284(2), G321–G327.
- Xiao, J., Ching, Y. P., Liong, E. C., Nanji, A. A., Fung, M. L., & Tipoe, G. L. (2013). Garlic-derived S-allylmercaptocysteine is a hepato-protective agent in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in vivo animal model. *European Journal of Nutrition*, 52(1), 179–191.
- Marí, M., Morales, A., Colell, A., García-Ruiz, C., & Fernández-Checa, J. C. (2009). Mitochondrial glutathione, a key survival antioxidant. *Antioxidants and Redox Signaling*, 11(11), 2685–2627.
- 22. Moon, K. H., Hood, B. L., Kim, B. J., Hardwick, J. P., Conrads, T. P., Veenstra, T. D., & Song, B. J. (2006). Inactivation of oxidized and S-nitrosylated mitochondrial proteins in alcoholic fatty liver of rats. *Hepatology*, 44(5), 1218–1230.
- Song, B. J., Moon, K. H., Olsson, N. U., & Salem, N., Jr. (2008). Prevention of alcoholic fatty liver and mitochondrial dysfunction in the rat by long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids. *Journal of Hepatology*, 49(2), 262–273.
- Abdelmegeed, M. A., & Song, B. J. (2014). Functional roles of protein nitration in acute and chronic liver diseases. Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity, 2014, e149627.
- Song, B. J., Abdelmegeed, M. A., Yoo, S. H., Kim, B. J., Jo, S. A., Jo, I., & Moon, K. H. (2011). Posttranslational modifications of mitochondrial aldehyde dehydrogenase and biomedical implications. *Journal of Proteomics*, 74(12), 2691–2702.
- 26. Yokoyama, A., Muramatsu, T., Ohmori, T., Yokoyama, T., Okuyama, K., Takahashi, H., Hasegawa, Y., Higuchi, S., Maruyama, K., Shirakura, K., & Ishii, H. (1998). Alcohol-related cancers and aldehyde dehydrogenase-2 in Japanese alcoholics. *Carcinogenesis*, 19(8), 1383–1387.
- Yokoyama, T., Muramatsu, T., Omori, T., Yokoyama, S., Matsushita, S., Higuchi, K., Maruyama, H., & Ishii, H. (2001). Alcohol and aldehyde dehydroge-

nase gene polymorphisms and oropharyngolaryngeal, esophageal and stomach cancers in Japanese alcoholics. *Carcinogenesis*, 22(3), 433–439.

- Yokoyama, A., Mizukami, T., & Yokoyama, T. (2015). Genetic polymorphisms of alcohol dehydrogense-1B and aldehyde dehydrogenase-2, alcohol flushing, mean corpuscular volume, and aerodigestive tract neoplasia in Japanese drinkers. Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology, 815, 265–279.
- 29. Isse, T., Matsuno, K., Oyama, T., Kitagawa, K., & Kawamoto, T. (2005). Aldehyde dehydrogenase 2 gene targeting mouse lacking enzyme activity show high acetaldehyde level in blood, brain, and liver after ethanol gavages. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research, 29*, 1959–1964.
- Bosron, W. F., Ehrig, T., & Li, T. K. (1993). Genetic factors in alcohol metabolism and alcoholism. *Seminars in Liver Disease*, 13, 126–135.
- Seitz, H. K., & Stickel, F. (2010). Acetaldehyde as an underestimated risk factor for cancer development: Role of genetics in ethanol metabolism. *Genes and Nutrition*, 5(2), 121–128.
- Seitz, H. K., & Mueller, S. (2015). Alcohol and cancer: An overview with special emphasis on the role of acetaldehyde and cytochrome P450 2E1. *Adv Exp Biol Med*, *815*, 59–70.
- 33. Mueller, S., Peccerella, T., Qin, H., Glassen, K., Waldherr, R., Flechtenmacher, C., Straub, B. K., Millonig, G., Stickel, F., Bruckner, T., Bartsch, H., & Seitz, H. K. (2018). Carcinogenic Etheno DNA adducts in alcoholic liver disease: Correlation with cytochrome P-4502E1 and fibrosis. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research, 42*(2), 252–259.
- Balbo, S., & Brooks, P. J. (2015). Implications of acetaldehyde-derived DNA adducts for understanding alcohol-related carcinogenesis. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology*, 815, 71–88.
- Brooks, P. J., & Theruvathu, J. A. (2005). DNA adducts from acetaldehyde: Implications for alcoholrelated carcinogenesis. *Alcohol*, *35*, 187–193.
- Bartsch, H., & Nair, J. (2005). Accumulation of lipid peroxidation-derived DNA lesions: Potential lead markers for chemoprevention of inflammationdriven malignancies. *Mutation Research*, 591(1–2), 34–44.
- 37. Sapkota, M., Hottor, T. K., DeVasure, J. M., Wyatt, T. A., & McCaskill, M. L. (2014). Protective role of CYP2E1 inhibitor diallyl disulfide (DADS) on alcohol-induced malondialdehyde-deoxyguanosine (M1dG) adduct formation. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research*, 38(6), 1550–1558.
- Sapkota, M., & Wyatt, T. A. (2015). Alcohol, aldehydes, adducts and airways. *Biomolecules*, 5(4), 2987–3008. (MAA-DNA adducts).
- Linhart, K., Bartsch, H., & Seitz, H. K. (2014). The role of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and cytochrome P-450 2E1 in the generation of carcinogenic etheno-DNA adducts. *Redox Biology*, *3*, 56–62.
- Mufti, S. I., Salvagnini, M., Lieber, C. S., & Garro, A. J. (1988). Chronic ethanol consumption inhib-

its repair of dimethylnitrosamine-induced DNA alkylation. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 152(1), 423–431.

- Espina, N., Lima, V., Lieber, C. S., & Garro, A. J. (1988). In vitro and in vivo inhibitory effect of ethanol and acetaldehyde on O6-methylguanine transferase. *Carcinogenesis*, 9, 761–766.
- Caro, A. A., & Cederbaum, A. I. (2004). Oxidative stress, toxicology, and pharmacology of CYP2E1. *Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology*, 44, 27–42.
- 43. Cederbaum, A. I. (2012). Alcohol metabolism. *Clinics in Liver Disease*, *16*(4), 667–685.
- Lindblad, B., & Olsson, R. (1976). Unusually high levels of blood alcohol? JAMA, 236(14), 1600–1602.
- 45. Chaudhry, K. K., Shukla, P. K., Mir, H., Manda, B., Gangwar, R., Yadav, N., McMullen, M., Nagy, L., & Rao, R. (2016). Glutamine supplementation attenuates ethanol-induced disruption of apical junctional complexes in colonic epithelium and ameliorates gut barrier dysfunction and fatty liver in mice. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, 27, 16–26.
- Mueller, S., & Rausch, V. (2015). The role of iron in alcohol-mediated hepatocarcinogenesis. *Advances* in *Experimental Medicine and Biology*, 815, 89–112.
- 47. Abdelmegeed, M. A., Moon, K. H., Chen, C., Gonzalez, F. J., & Song, B. J. (2010). Role of cytochrome P450 2E1 in protein nitration and ubiquitin-mediated degradation during acetaminophen toxicity. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 79(1), 57–66.
- Robin, M. A., Sauvage, I., Grandperret, T., Descatoire, V., Pessayre, D., & Fromenty, B. (2005). Ethanol increases mitochondrial cytochrome P450 2E1 in mouse liver and rat hepatocytes. *FEBS Letters*, 579(30), 6895–6902.
- 49. Bansal, S., Liu, C. P., Sepuri, N. B., Anandatheerthavarada, H. K., Selvaraj, V., Hoek, J., Milne, G. L., Guengerich, F. P., & Avadhani, N. G. (2010). Mitochondria-targeted cytochrome P450 2E1 induces oxidative damage and augments alcohol-mediated oxidative stress. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 285(32), 24609–24619.
- Roberts, B. J., Shoaf, S. E., Jeong, K. S., & Song, B. J. (1994). Induction of CYP2E1 in liver, kidney, brain and intestine during chronic ethanol administration and withdrawal: Evidence that CYP2E1 possesses a rapid phase half-life of 6 hours or less. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 205(2), 1064–1071.
- Koop, D. R. (1992). Oxidative and reductive metabolism by cytochrome P4502E1. *The FASEB Journal*, 6(2), 724–730.
- Yun, Y. P., Casazza, J. P., Sohn, D. H., Veech, R. L., & Song, B. J. (1992). Pretranslational activation of cytochrome P450IIE during ketosis induced by a high fat diet. *Molecular Pharmacology*, *41*(3), 474–479.
- 53. Raucy, J. L., Lasker, J. M., Kraner, J. C., Salazar, D. E., Lieber, C. S., & Corcoran, G. B. (1991).

Induction of cytochrome P450IIE1 in the obese overfed rat. *Molecular Pharmacology*, *39*, 275–280.

- Weltman, M. D., Farrell, G. C., Hall, P., Ingelman-Sundberg, M., & Liddle, C. (1998). Hepatic cytochrome P450 2E1 is increased in patients with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Hepatology*, 27(1), 128–133.
- 55. Wang, Z., Hall, S. D., Maya, J. F., Li, L., Asghar, A., & Gorski, J. C. (2003). Diabetes mellitus increases the in vivo activity of cytochrome P450 2E1 in humans. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 55, 77–85.
- 56. Song, B. J., Veech, R. L., Park, S. S., Gelboin, H. V., & Gonzalez, F. J. (1989). Induction of rat hepatic N-nitrosodimethylamine demethylase by acetone is due to protein stabilization. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 254, 3568–3572.
- 57. Roberts, B. J., Song, B. J., Soh, Y., Park, S. S., & Shoaf, S. E. (1995). Ethanol induces CYP2E1 by protein stabilization. Role of ubiquitin conjugation in the rapid degradation of CYP2E1. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 270(50), 29632–29635.
- Oneta, C. M., Lieber, C. S., Li, J., Rüttimann, S., Schmid, B., Lattmann, J., Rosman, A. S., & Seitz, H. K. (2002). Dynamics of cytochrome P4502E1 activity in man: Induction by ethanol and disappearance during withdrawal phase. *Journal of Hepatology*, 36(1), 47–52.
- Cederbaum, A. I. (2012). CYP2E1 potentiates toxicity in obesity and after chronic ethanol treatment. *Drug Metabolism and Drug Interactions*, 27(3), 125–144.
- 60. Gäbele, E., Dostert, K., Dorn, C., Patsenker, E., Stickel, F., & Hellerbrand, C. (2011). A new model of interactive effects of alcohol and high-fat diet on hepatic fibrosis. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research*, 35(7), 1361–1367.
- 61. Micu, A. L., Miksys, S., Sellers, E. M., Koop, D. R., & Tyndale, R. F. (2003). Rat hepatic CYP2E1 is induced by very low nicotine doses: An investigation of induction, time course, dose response, and mechanism. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 306, 941–947.
- Szabo, G. (2018). Alcoholic liver disease accelerates early hepatocellular cancer in a mouse model. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology*, 1032, 71–80.
- Kang, J. S., Wanibuchi, H., Morimura, K., Gonzalez, F. J., & Fukushima, S. (2007). Role of CYP2E1 in diethylnitrosamine-induced hepatocarcinogenesis in vivo. *Cancer Research*, 67(23), 11141–11146.
- 64. Kanagal-Shamanna, R., Zhao, W., Vadhan-Raj, S., Nguyen, M. H., Fernandez, M. H., Medeiros, L. J., & Bueso-Ramos, C. E. (2012). Over-expression of CYP2E1 mRNA and protein: Implications of xenobiotic induced damage in patients with de novo acute myeloid leukemia with inv(16)(p13.1q22); CBFβ-MYH11. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 9(8), 2788–2800.

- Guengerich, F. P., & Avadhani, N. G. (2018). Roles of cytochrome P450 in metabolism of ethanol and carcinogens. *Advances in Experimental Medicine* and Biology, 1032, 15–35.
- 66. Abdelmegeed, M. A., Ha, S. K., Choi, Y. S., Akbar, M., & Song, B. J. (2017). Role of CYP2E1 in mitochondrial dysfunction and hepatic injury by alcohol and non-alcoholic substances. *Current Molecular Pharmacology*, 10(3), 207–225.
- 67. Chen, Y., Han, M., Matsumoto, A., Wang, Y., Thompson, D. C., & Vasiliou, V. (2018). Glutathione and transsulfuration in alcohol-associated tissue injury and carcinogenesis. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology*, 1032, 37–53.
- Kurkivuori, J., Salaspuro, V., Kaihovaara, P., Kari, K., Rautemaa, R., Grönroos, L., Meurman, J. H., & Salaspuro, M. (2007). Acetaldehyde production from ethanol by oral streptococci. *Oral Oncology*, 43(2), 181–186.
- Yokoyama, S., Takeuchi, K., Shibata, Y., Kageyama, S., Matsumi, R., Takeshita, T., & Yamashita, Y. (2018). Characterization of oral microbiota and acetaldehyde production. *Journal of Oral Microbiology*, *10*(1), 1492316.
- Cope, K., Risby, T. H., & Diehl, A. M. (2000). Increased gastrointestinal ethanol production in obese mice: Implications for fatty liver disease pathogenesis. *Gastroenterology*, 119, 1340–1347.
- Nair, S., Cope, K., Risby, T. H., & Diehl, A. M. (2001). Obesity and female gender increase breath ethanol concentration: Potential implications for the pathogenesis of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *The American Journal of Gastroenterology*, 96, 1200–1204.
- 72. de Faria Ghetti, F., Oliveira, D. G., de Oliveira, J. M., de Castro Ferreira, L. E. V. V., Cesar, D. E., & Moreira, A. P. B. (2018). Influence of gut microbiota on the development and progression of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *European Journal of Nutrition*, 57(3), 861–876.
- 73. Jang, S., Yu, L. R., Abdelmegeed, M. A., Gao, Y., Banerjee, A., & Song, B. J. (2015). Critical role of c-jun N-terminal protein kinase in promoting mitochondrial dysfunction and acute liver injury. *Redox Biology*, 6, 552–564.
- Liu, C., Russell, R. M., Seitz, H. K., & Wang, X. D. (2001). Ethanol enhances retinoic acid metabolism into polar metabolites in rat liver via induction of cytochrome P450 2E1. *Gastroenterology*, *120*(1), 179–189.
- Peccerella, T., Arslic-Schmitt, T., Mueller, S., Linhart, K. B., Seth, D., Bartsch, H., & Seitz, H. K. (2018). Chronic ethanol consumption and generation of etheno-DNA adducts in cancer-prone tissues. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology*, *1032*, 81–92.
- Bradford, B. U., Kono, H., Isayama, F., Kosyk, O., Wheeler, M. D., Akiyama, T. E., Bleye, L., Krausz, K. W., Gonzalez, F. J., Koop, D. R., & Rusyn, I.

(2005). Cytochrome P450 CYP2E1, but not nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidase, is required for ethanol-induced oxidative DNA damage in rodent liver. *Hepatology*, *41*(2), 336–344.

- 77. Wang, Y., Millonig, G., Nair, J., Patsenker, E., Stickel, F., Mueller, S., Bartsch, H., & Seitz, H. K. (2009). Ethanol-induced cytochrome P4502E1 causes carcinogenic etheno-DNA lesions in alcoholic liver disease. *Hepatology*, *50*, 453–461.
- Frank, A., Seitz, H. K., Bartsch, H., Frank, N., & Nair, J. (2004). Immunohistochemical detection of 1,N6-ethenodeoxyadenosine in nuclei of human liver affected by diseases predisposing to hepatocarcinogenesis. *Carcinogenesis*, 25, 1027–1031.
- Millonig, G., Wang, Y., Homann, N., Bernhardt, F., Qin, H., Mueller, S., Bartsch, H., & Seitz, H. K. (2011). Ethanol-mediated carcinogenesis in the human esophagus implicates CYP2E1 induction and the generation of carcinogenic DNA-lesions. *International Journal of Cancer, 128*(3), 533–540.
- Seitz, H. K., & Cho, C. H. (2009). Contribution of alcohol and tobacco use in gastrointestinal cancer development. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, 472, 217–241.
- 81. Koehler, B. C., Arslic-Schmitt, T., Peccerella, T., Scherr, A. L., Schulze-Bergkamen, H., Bruckner, T., Gdynia, G., Jäger, D., Mueller, S., Bartsch, H., & Seitz, H. K. (2016). Possible mechanisms of ethanolmediated colorectal carcinogenesis: The role of cytochrome P4502E1, etheno-DNA adducts, and the anti-apoptotic protein Mcl-1. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research*, 40(10), 2094–2101.
- Dapito, D. H., Mencin, A., Gwak, G. Y., Pradere, J. P., Jang, M. K., Mederacke, I., Caviglia, J. M., Khiabanian, H., Adeyemi, A., Bataller, R., Lefkowitch, J. H., Bower, M., Friedman, R., Sartor, R. B., Rabadan, R., & Schwabe, R. F. (2012). Promotion of hepatocellular carcinoma by the intestinal microbiota and TLR4. *Cancer Cell*, 21(4), 504–516.
- Todoric, J., Antonucci, L., & Karin, M. (2016). Targeting inflammation in cancer prevention and therapy. *Cancer Prevention Research*, 9(12), 895–905.
- Meadows, Z. H. (2015). Effects of alcohol on tumor growth, metastasis, immune response and host survival. *Alcohol Research: Current Reviews*, 37(2), 311–322.
- Tabung, F. K., Liu, L., Wang, W., Fung, T. T., Wu, K., Smith-Warner, S. A., Cao, Y., Hu, F. B., Ogino, S., Fuchs, C. S., & Giovannucci, E. L. (2018). Association of dietary inflammatory potential with colorectal cancer risk in men and women. *JAMA Oncology*, 4(3), 366–373.
- 86. Bode, C., Kugler, V., & Bode, J. C. (1987). Endotoxemia in patients with alcoholic and nonalcoholic cirrhosis and in subjects with no evidence of chronic liver disease following acute alcohol excess. *Journal of Hepatology*, *4*, 8–14.

- 87. Lambert, J. C., Zhou, Z., Wang, L., Song, Z., McClain, C. J., & Kang, Y. J. (2003). Prevention of alterations in intestinal permeability is involved in zinc inhibition of acute ethanolinduced liver damage in mice. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 305(3), 880–886.
- 88. Keshavarzian, A., Farhadi, A., Forsyth, C. B., Rangan, J., Jakate, S., Shaikh, M., Banan, A., & Fields, J. Z. (2009). Evidence that chronic alcohol exposure promotes intestinal oxidative stress, intestinal hyperpermeability and endotoxemia prior to development of alcoholic steatohepatitis in rats. *Journal of Hepatology*, 50, 538–547.
- Abdelmegeed, M. A., Banerjee, A., Jang, S., Yoo, S. H., Yun, J. W., Gonzalez, F. J., Keshavarzian, A., & Song, B. J. (2013). CYP2E1 potentiates binge alcohol-induced gut leakiness, steatohepatitis, and apoptosis. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 65, 1238–1245.
- Seki, E., De Minicis, S., Osterreicher, C. H., Kluwe, J., Osawa, Y., Brenner, D. A., & Schwabe, R. F. (2007). TLR4 enhances TGF-beta signaling and hepatic fibrosis. *Nature Medicine*, *13*(11), 1324–1332.
- 91. Yoo, S. H., Park, O., Henderson, L. E., Abdelmegeed, M. A., Moon, K. H., & Song, B. J. (2011). Lack of PPARα exacerbates lipopolysaccharide-induced liver toxicity through STAT1 inflammatory signaling and increased oxidative/nitrosative stress. *Toxicology Letters*, 202(1), 23–29.
- 92. Song, B. J., Akbar, M., Abdelmegeed, M. A., Byun, K., Lee, B., Yoon, S. K., & Hardwick, J. P. (2014). Mitochondrial dysfunction and tissue injury by alcohol, high fat, nonalcoholic substances and pathological conditions through post-translational protein modifications. *Redox Biology*, *3*, 109–123.
- 93. Cho, Y. E., Yu, L. R., Abdelmegeed, M. A., Yoo, S. H., & Song, B. J. (2018). Apoptosis of enterocytes and nitration of junctional complex proteins promote alcohol-induced gut leakiness and liver injury. *Journal of Hepatology*, 69(1), 142–153.
- 94. Cho, Y. E., & Song, B. J. (2018). Pomegranate prevents binge alcohol-induced gut leakiness and hepatic inflammation by suppressing oxidative and nitrative stress. *Redox Biology*, 18, 266–278.
- Abdelmegeed, M. A., Choi, Y., Godlewski, G., Ha, S. K., Banerjee, A., Jang, S., & Song, B. J. (2017). Cytochrome P450-2E1 promotes fast food-mediated hepatic fibrosis. *Scientific Reports*, 7, 42566.
- 96. Gao, J., Wang, Z., Wang, G. J., Gao, N., Li, J., Zhang, Y. F., Zhou, J., Zhang, H. X., Wen, Q., Jin, H., & Qiao, H. L. (2018). From hepatofibrosis to hepatocarcinogenesis: Higher cytochrome P450 2E1 activity is a potential risk factor. *Molecular Carcinogenesis*, 57(10), 1371–1382.
- Abdelmegeed, M. A., Choi, Y., Ha, S. K., & Song, B. J. (2017). Cytochrome P450-2E1 is involved in aging-related kidney damage in mice through

increased nitroxidative stress. Food and Chemical Toxicology, 109(Pt 1), 48–59.

- Heit, C., Dong, H., Chen, Y., Thompson, D. C., Deitrich, R. A., & Vasiliou, V. K. (2013). The role of CYP2E1 in alcohol metabolism and sensitivity in the central nervous system. *Sub-Cellular Biochemistry*, 67, 235–247.
- 99. Cho, Y. E., Lee, M. H., & Song, B. J. (2017). Neuronal cell death and degeneration through increased nitroxidative stress and tau phosphorylation in HIV-1 transgenic rats. *PLoS One*, 12(1), e0169945.
- 100. Song, B. J., Veech, R. L., & Saenger, P. (1990). Cytochrome P450IIE1 is elevated in lymphocytes from poorly controlled insulin-dependent diabetics. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 71(4), 1036–1040.
- 101. Eom, S. Y., Zhang, Y. W., Kim, S. H., Choe, K. H., Lee, K. Y., Park, J. D., Hong, Y. C., Kim, Y. D., Kang, J. W., & Kim, H. (2009). Influence of NQO1, ALDH2, and CYP2E1 genetic polymorphisms, smoking, and alcohol drinking on the risk of lung cancer in Koreans. *Cancer Causes and Control*, 20(2), 137–145.
- 102. Saghir, S. A., Zhang, F., Rick, D. L., Kan, L., Bus, J. S., & Bartels, M. J. (2010). In vitro metabolism and covalent binding of ethylbenzene to microsomal protein as a possible mechanism of ethylbenzeneinduced mouse lung tumorigenesis. *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 57(2–3), 129–135.
- 103. Kessova, I. G., DeCarli, L. M., & Lieber, C. S. (1998). Inducibility of cytochromes P-4502E1 and P-4501A1 in the rat pancreas. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research*, 22(2), 501–504.
- 104. Longo, V., Ingelman-Sundberg, M., Amato, G., Salvetti, A., & Gervasi, P. G. (2000). Effect of starvation and chlormethiazole on cytochrome P450s of rat nasal mucosa. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 59(11), 1425–1432.
- 105. Shimizu, M., Lasker, J. M., Tsutsumi, M., & Lieber, C. S. (1990). Immunohistochemical localization of ethanol-inducible P450IIE1 in the rat alimentary tract. *Gastroenterology*, 99(4), 1044–1053.
- 106. Kapucuoglu, N., Coban, T., Raunio, H., Pelkonen, O., Edwards, R. J., Boobis, A. R., & Iscan, M. (2003). Immunohistochemical demonstration of the expression of CYP2E1 in human breast tumour and non-tumour tissues. *Cancer Letters*, 196(2), 153–159.
- 107. Kang, J. S., Wanibuchi, H., Morimura, K., Wongpoomchai, R., Chusiri, Y., Gonzalez, F. J., & Fukushima, S. (2008). Role of CYP2E1 in thioacetamide-induced mouse hepatotoxicity. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 228(3), 295–300.
- 108. Malik, D. E., David, R. M., & Gooderham, N. J. (2018). Ethanol potentiates the genotoxicity of the food-derived mammary carcinogen PhIP in human estrogen receptor-positive mammary cells:

Mechanistic support for lifestyle factors (cooked red meat and ethanol) associated with mammary cancer. *Archives of Toxicology*, *92*(4), 1639–1655.

- 109. Abdelmegeed, M. A., Banerjee, A., Yoo, S. H., Jang, S., Gonzalez, F. J., & Song, B. J. (2012). Critical role of cytochrome P450 2E1 (CYP2E1) in the development of high fat-induced non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. *Journal of Hepatology*, 57(4), 860–866.
- 110. Abdelmegeed, M. A., Choi, Y., Ha, S. K., & Song, B. J. (2016). Cytochrome P450-2E1 promotes agingrelated hepatic steatosis, apoptosis and fibrosis through increased nitroxidative stress. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, *91*, 188–202.
- 111. Lu, Y., Zhuge, J., Wu, D., & Cederbaum, A. I. (2011). Ethanol induction of CYP2A5: Permissive role for CYP2E1. *Drug Metabolism* and Disposition, 39(2), 330–336.
- 112. Marshall, S., Chen, Y., Singh, S., Berrios-Carcamo, P., Heit, C., Apostolopoulos, N., Golla, J. P., Thompson, D. C., & Vasiliou, V. (2018). Engineered animal models designed for investigating ethanol metabolism, toxicity and cancer. Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology, 1032, 203–221.
- 113. Lu, Y., Zhang, X. H., & Cederbaum, A. I. (2012). Ethanol induction of CYP2A5: Role of CYP2E1-ROS-Nrf2 pathway. *Toxicological Sciences*, 128(2), 427–438.
- 114. Feierman, D. E., Melinkov, Z., & Nanji, A. A. (2013). Induction of CYP3A by ethanol in multiple in vitro and in vivo models. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research*, 27(6), 981–988.
- 115. Je, Y. T., Sim, W. C., Kim, D. G., Jung, B. H., Shin, H. S., & Lee, B. H. (2015). Expression of CYP3A in chronic ethanol-fed mice is mediated by endogenous pregnane X receptor ligands formed by enhanced cholesterol metabolism. *Archives of Toxicology*, 89(4), 579–589.
- 116. Arif, J., & Gupta, R. (1996). Effect of inducer and inhibitor probes on DNA adduction of benzo[a] pyrene and 2-acetylaminofluorene and their roles in defining bioactivation mechanism(s). *International Journal of Oncology*, 8(4), 681–685.
- 117. Li, L., Megaraj, V., Wei, Y., & Ding, X. (2014). Identification of cytochrome P450 enzymes critical for lung tumorigenesis by the tobacco-specific carcinogen 4-(methylnitrosamino)-1-(3-pyridyl)-1butanone (NNK): Insights from a novel Cyp2abfgsnull mouse. *Carcinogenesis*, 35(11), 2584–2591.
- 118. Pelkonen, P., Lang, M. A., Negishi, M., Wild, C. P., & Juvonen, R. O. (1997). Interaction of aflatoxin B1 with cytochrome P450 2A5 and its mutants: Correlation with metabolic activation and toxicity. *Chemical Research in Toxicology*, 10(1), 85–90.
- 119. Jiang, H., Wu, J., Zhang, F., Wen, J., Jiang, J., & Deng, Y. (2018). The critical role of porcine cytochrome P450 3A46 in the bioactivation of aflatoxin B₁. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, *156*, 177–185.
- Kim, S. Y., Suzuki, N., Laxmi, Y. R., & Shibutani, S. (2006). Inefficient repair of tamoxifen-DNA adducts

in rats and mice. *Drug Metabolism and Disposition*, 34, 311–317.

- 121. Rao, P. S., & Kumar, S. (2016). Chronic effects of ethanol and/or darunavir/ritonavir on U937 monocytic cells: Regulation of cytochrome P450 and antioxidant enzymes, oxidative stress, and cytotoxicity. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research*, 40(1), 73–82.
- 122. Banerjee, A., Abdelmegeed, M. A., & Song, B. J. (2013). Zidovudine (AZT) and hepatic lipid accumulation: Implication of inflammation, oxidative and endoplasmic reticulum stress mediators. *PLoS One*, 8(10), e76850.
- 123. Ioannou, G. N., Bryson, C. L., Weiss, N. S., Miller, R., Scott, J. D., & Boyko, E. J. (2013). The prevalence of cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with human immunodeficiency virus infection. *Hepatology*, 57(1), 249–257.
- 124. Michelotti, G. A., Machado, M. V., & Diehl, A. M. (2013). NAFLD, NASH and liver cancer. *Nature Reviews. Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, 10(11), 656–665.
- 125. Sanna, C., Rosso, C., Marietti, M., & Bugianesi, E. (2016). Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and extrahepatic cancers. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 17(5), E717.
- 126. Ahmad, R., Sorrell, M. F., Batra, S. K., Dhawan, P., & Singh, A. B. (2017). Gut permeability and mucosal inflammation: Bad, good or context dependent. *Mucosal Immunology*, 10(2), 307–317.
- 127. Spruss, A., Kanuri, G., Uebel, K., Bischoff, S. C., & Bergheim, I. (2011). Role of the inducible nitric oxide synthase in the onset of fructose-induced steatosis in mice. *Antioxidants and Redox Signaling*, 14(11), 2121–2135.
- 128. Yu, L. X., & Schwabe, R. F. (2017). The gut microbiome and liver cancer: Mechanisms and clinical translation. *Nature Reviews. Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, 14(9), 527–539.
- 129. Engstler, A. J., Aumiller, T., Degen, C., Durr, M., Weiss, E., Maier, I. B., Schattenberg, J. M., Jin, C. J., Sellmann, C., & Bergheim, I. (2016). Insulin resistance alters hepatic ethanol metabolism: Studies in mice and children with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Gut*, 65, 1564–1571.
- 130. Volynets, V., Kuper, M. A., Strahl, S., Maier, I. B., Spruss, A., Wagnerberger, S., Königsrainer, A., Bischoff, S. C., & Bergheim, I. (2012). Nutrition, intestinal permeability, and blood ethanol levels are altered in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). *Digestive Diseases and Sciences*, 57, 1932–1941.
- 131. Zhu, L., Baker, S. S., Gill, C., Liu, W., Alkhouri, R., Baker, R. D., & Gill, S. R. (2013). Characterization of gut microbiomes in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) patients: A connection between endogenous alcohol and NASH. *Hepatology*, 57, 601–609.
- Pikkarainen, P., Baraona, E., Seitz, H., & Lieber, C. S. (1980). Breath acetaldehyde: Evidence of acetaldehyde production by oropharynx microflora

and by lung microsomes. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology*, *132*, 469–474.

- 133. Lawal, O., Knobel, H., Weda, H., Bos, L. D., Nijsen, T. M. E., Goodacre, R., & Fowler, S. J. (2018). Volatile organic compound signature from coculture of lung epithelial cell line with *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Analyst*, *143*(13), 3148–3155.
- 134. Tsuruya, A., Kuwahara, A., Saito, Y., Yamaguchi, H., Tenma, N., Inai, M., Takahashi, S., Tsutsumi, E., Suwa, Y., Totsuka, Y., Suda, W., Oshima, K., Hattori, M., Mizukami, T., Yokoyama, A., Shimoyama, T., & Nakayama, T. (2016). Major anaerobic bacteria responsible for the production of carcinogenic acetaldehyde from ethanol in the colon and rectum. *Alcohol and Alcoholism*, *51*(4), 395–401.
- 135. Cho, Y. E., Kim, D. K., Seo, W., Gao, B., Yoo, S. H., & Song, B. J. (2019). Fructose promotes leaky gut, endotoxemia, and liver fibrosis through ethanolinducible cytochrome P450-2E1-mediated oxidative and nitrative stress. Apr 8. doi:10.1002/hep. 30652. [Epub ahead of print]
- 136. Hassan, M. M., Hwang, L. Y., Hatten, C. J., Swaim, M., Li, D., Abbruzzese, J. L., Beasley, P., & Patt, Y. Z. (2002). Risk factors for hepatocellular carcinoma: Synergism of alcohol with viral hepatitis and diabetes mellitus. *Hepatology*, *36*, 1206–1213.
- 137. Xu, J., Lai, K. K. Y., Verlinsky, A., Lugea, A., French, S. W., Cooper, M. P., Ji, C., & Tsukamoto, H. (2011). Synergistic steatohepatitis by moderate obesity and alcohol in mice despite increased adiponectin and p-AMPK. *Journal of Hepatology*, 55(3), 673–682.
- 138. Wu, X., Li, C., Xing, G., Qi, X., & Ren, J. (2013). Resveratrol downregulates Cyp2e1 and attenuates chemically induced hepatocarcinogenesis in SD rats. *Journal of Toxicologic Pathology*, 26(4), 385–392.
- 139. Choi, Y. S., Abdelmegeed, M. A., & Song, B. J. (2016). Preventive effects of dietary walnuts on high-fat-induced hepatic fat accumulation, oxidative stress and apoptosis in mice. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, 38, 70–80.
- 140. Choi, Y. S., Abdelmegeed, M. A., & Song, B. J. (2018). Preventive effects of indole-3-carbinol against alcohol-induced liver injury in mice via antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, and anti-apoptotic mechanisms: Role of gut-liver-adipose tissue axis. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, 55, 12–25.
- 141. Celik, G., Semiz, A., Karakurt, S., Arslan, S., Adali, O., & Sen, A. (2013). A comparative study for the evaluation of two doses of ellagic acid on hepatic

drug metabolizing and antioxidant enzymes in the rat. *BioMed Research International*, 2013, 358945.

- 142. Forsyth, C. B., Voigt, R. M., Shaikh, M., Tang, Y., Cederbaum, A. I., Turek, F. W., & Keshavarzian, A. (2013). Role for intestinal CYP2E1 in alcoholinduced circadian gene-mediated intestinal hyperpermeability. *American Journal of Physiology*. *Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, 305, G185–G195.
- 143. Mercer, K. E., Pulliam, C. F., Hennings, L., Cleves, M. A., Jones, E. E., Drake, R. R., & Ronis, M. J. J. (2018). Diet supplementation with soy protein isolate, but not the isoflavone genistein, protects against alcohol-induced tumor progression in DEN-treated male mice. Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology, 1032, 115–126.
- 144. Wang, Y., Kirpich, I., Liu, Y., Ma, Z., Barve, S., McClain, C. J., & Feng, W. (2011). Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG treatment potentiates intestinal hypoxia-inducible factor, promotes intestinal integrity and ameliorates alcohol-induced liver injury. *The American Journal of Pathology*, 179(6), 2866–2875.
- 145. Elzouki, A. N. (2016). Probiotics and liver disease: Where are we now and where are we going? *Journal* of Clinical Gastroenterology, 50, S188–S190.
- 146. Grander, C., Adolph, T. E., Wieser, V., Lowe, P., Wrzosek, L., Gyongyosi, B., Ward, D. V., Grabherr, F., Gerner, R. R., Pfister, A., Enrich, B., Ciocan, D., Macheiner, S., Mayr, L., Drach, M., Moser, P., Moschen, A. R., Perlemuter, G., Szabo, G., Cassard, A. M., & Tilg, H. (2018). Recovery of ethanol-induced Akkermansia muciniphila depletion ameliorates alcoholic liver disease. *Gut*, 67(5), 891–901.
- 147. Jeong, K. S., Jeong, K. S., Lee, I. J., Roberts, B. J., Soh, Y., Yoo, J. K., Lee, J. W., & Song, B. J. (1996). Transcriptional inhibition of cytochrome P4502E1 by a synthetic compound, YH439. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 326(1), 137–144.
- 148. Fuster, D., & Samet, J. H. (2018). Alcohol use in patients with chronic liver disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 379, 1251–1261.
- 149. Brandl, K., & Schnabl, B. (2017). Intestinal microbiota and nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Current Opinion in Gastroenterology*, 33(3), 128–133.
- 150. Wiest, R., Albillos, A., Trauner, M., Bajaj, J. S., & Jalan, R. (2017). Targeting the gut-liver axis in liver disease. *Journal of Hepatology*, 67(5), 1084–1103.

Part II

Prostate Cancer Progression



Novel Human Prostate Epithelial Cell Cultures

Johng S. Rhim

Abstract

Prostate cancer is the most common male cancer in the USA and the second leading cause of male cancer death in the USA. African American men have higher incidence and mortality rate from prostate cancer compared to Caucasian men in North America, indicating the prostate cancer is a major public health problem in this population. Studies of prostate cancer have been hampered by various factors including (1) restricted access to tissues, (2) difficulties in propagating premalignant lesions and primary prostate tumors in vitro, and (3) limited availability of prostate cell lines for in vitro studies. There is no commercially available pair of non-malignant and tumor cells derived from the same prostate cancer patient. Primary prostate epithelial cells grow for a finite life span and then senesce. Immortalization is defined by continuous growth of otherwise senescing cells and is believed to represent an early stage in tumor progression. To examine these early stages, we have developed in vitro models of prostate epithelial cell immortalization. Generation of human primary epithelial

J. S. Rhim (\boxtimes)

Department of Surgery, Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences, Bethesda, MD, USA (HPE) cells has been achieved using the serum-free keratinocyte growth medium. Retrovirus containing human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) was also used for the generation of primary non-malignant and malignant tumor cells. In addition, we have established the first immortalized cell lines of a pair of non-malignant and malignant tumors derived from an African American prostate cancer patient. Interestingly, we have found that the Rock inhibitor and feeder cells induced the conditioned reprogramming (CR) of epithelial cells-normal and tumor epithelial cells from many tissues to proliferate indefinitely in vitro, without transduction of viral or cellular genes. More recently, using CR. we have established normal and tumor cultures respectively from a patient prostatectomy. These CR cells grow indefinitely in vitro and retain stable karyology. The tumor-derived CR cells produced tumors in SCID mice. The use of novel pair of nonmalignant and malignant tumor cells derived from the same patient provides a unique in vitro model for studies of early prostate cancer and for testing preventive and therapeutic regimens.

Keywords

Prostate cancer · In vitro models · hTERT · HPV-16 E6E7 · Rock inhibitor · Feeder cells

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

J. S. Rhim et al. (eds.), *Human Cell Transformation*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1164, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-22254-3_7

Generation of Short-Term Cultures Derived from Benign and Prostate Cancer Patients by Use of the Keratinocyte Serum-Free Growth Medium

As described previously [1], our Prostate Cancer Cell Center successfully generated more than 100 primary prostate epithelial cells from tumors of prostate cancer patients as well as normal prostate tissue of the same patients using our established protocol. Keratinocyte serum-free medium supplemented with bovine pituitary extract and recombinant epidermal growth factor (Life Technologies, Inc., Gaithersburg, MD) was used for growing and maintaining the cells. We found that it is very useful in growing and maintaining primary HPE cells and for short-term cultures of primary HPE cells (Table 1). The early passage growing cells before senesce were cryopreserved. The cryopreserved cells were found to be very useful for further studies.

Establishment and Characterization of Non-malignant and Tumor-Derived Primary Prostate Epithelial Cells Immortalized by Telomerase

Despite Barrows et al. [2] attempts, which spanned for more than a century, only a few cell lines derived from human prostate cancer have been produced. To date, only three human prostate cancer cell lines (DU-145, PC-3, and LNCaP) are commercially available and well-studied. All were derived from metastatic lesions and thus have a void in reagents representing primary

Table 1 Primary cell strains generated at Prostate CellCenter (2007)

Number of cell strains generated from prostate tumors of patients	142
Number of cell strains generated from benign and tumors from the same patients	110
Number of cell strains generated from African American patients	22
Number of cell strains generated from familial prostate cancer patients	48

localized adenocarcinoma of the prostate, and it is unlikely that they accurately reflect the genetic makeup or biological behavior of primary prostate tumor. However, their use has greatly contributed to our understanding of human prostate carcinogenesis and progression. Better understanding of the use of recombinant DNA technology and telomerase resulted in the establishment of novel primary benign and malignant tumorderived HPE cell lines during the past decade. We have successfully been able to establish and characterize novel five immortalized HPE cell lines derived from benign prostate tissues as well as prostate cancer tissues using telomerase, the gene that prevents senescence, for the first time [3]. Furthermore, we have succeeded in the establishment of HPE cell model for the study of prostate cancer in high-risk population, one on African American prostate cancer and the other on familial prostate cancer.

Telomerase is an enzyme responsible for replicating telomere and is composed of an RNA subunit containing an integral catalytic subunit, human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT). It has been well implicated that telomerase is the escape from cellular senescence. Transfection of hTERT into human cell type can itself induce immortalization. Interestingly, telomerase expression in human cells does not induce change associated with a transformed phenotype or an altered genetic phenotype. The phenotypic characterization of hTERT immortalized primary non-malignant and malignant tumor-derived HPE cell lines has been studied. Expression of malignant phenotype was examined for cell lines by evaluating their proliferation rates and their ability to grow above the agar layer, to form cell aggregates and colonies in soft agar and in vivo in SCID mice and their sensitivity to androgen. The results obtained have demonstrated that these hTERT-immortalized HPE cell lines retained the original phenotypes of the primary cells and express some of their prostate-specific markers. The androgen-responsive properties of some cell lines should help answer questions related to androgen regulation of prostate cells. These novel in vitro models may offer the study of prostate carcinogenesis and also provide the

means for testing both chemoprevention and chemotherapeutic agents. We have also identified the putative prostate stem cell markers CD133 and CXCR4 in these hTERT-immortalized primary and malignant tumor-derived HPE cell lines [4]. Furthermore, we have shown that telomeraseimmortalized non-malignant HPE cells retained the properties of multipotent stem cells. However, our further attempts to immortalized HPE cell with hTERT were disappointed since its success rate was very low. The reason is not clear and has to be investigated.

Establishment of a Pair of Nonmalignant and Malignant Tumor-Derived Cell Lines from an African American Prostate Cancer Patient

African American men have a 60% higher incidence, more aggressive and more mortality rate from prostate cancer compared to Caucasian men in North America [5]. We need to study largely and urgently to better understand why African American men develop more aggressive forms of the disease and why they are more likely to die from it. The etiology of these racial differences in clinical manifestation of prostate cancer is unclear; hormonal, genetic, behavioral, and environmental factors have all been implicated [6]. To understand the many factors suspected of contributing to the development of this malignancy, there is a critical need for in vitro model representing primary tumors. However, no suitable in vitro models which accurately reflect the in situ characteristics of malignant epithelium for the study of African American prostate cancer are available.

To date, only three reports have demonstrated the establishment of African American prostate cancer-derived cell lines; MDA PCa 2a and MDA PCa 2b cell lines were derived from a single bone metastasis in 1997 [7]. These cell lines exhibit androgen-independent growth in vitro and in vivo; however, they retain androgen responsiveness. A second cell line was derived from primary localized adenocarcinoma of the prostate. The E006AA cell line was established as spontaneously immortalized cells from a patient with a clinically localized prostate cancer. However, this cell line shows androgen-dependent growth but is not tumorigenic in nude mice in 2004 [8]. In 2014 the establishment and characterization of a highly tumorigenic subline of the previously described non-tumorigenic E006AA cell line [8] have been shown [9]. Here we succeeded for the first time the establishment of a novel pair of non-malignant and malignant tumor derived from an African American prostate cancer patient [10].

We introduced a retrovirus construct expressing HPV-16 E6E7 into third-passaged RC-77/E and RC-77/T cells through overnight infection. Non-infected cells could not be propagated serially beyond five subcultures. In contrast, the HPV-16 E6E7-infected RC-77N/E and RC-77T/E cells have an apparently unlimited lifespan and have been successfully subcultured for more than 40 passages over the course of 1 year with no evidence of decreased proliferation capacity (Table 2). The RC-77N/E and RC-77T/E cells had typical epithelial morphology and are growing in the keratinocyte serum-free growth medium. The RC-77T/E cells form three dimensional spheroids, whereas the RC-77N/E cells do not form the spheroids. The RC-77T/E cells produced tumors in SCID mice, whereas the RC-77N/E cells produced no tumors in SCID mice. Both cells expressed NKX 3.1, CK8, AR, and p16 but did not express PSA in mRNA level underlying monolayer culture (Table 2). They

Table 2 Properties of RC-77T/E and RC77N/E cell lines

	RC-77T/E	RC-77N/E		
Life span (>40 passages)	>40	>40		
Gene expression by RT-PCR				
E6	+	+		
NKX3.1	+	+		
Cytokeratin 8	+	+		
AR	+	+		
P16	+	+		
PSA	+	-		
GAPDH	+	+		
3D organoid formation	+	-		
Tumorigenicity in SCID	3/3	0/3		
mice				

Cell line (Passage)	RC-77T/E (P-39)	RC-77N/E (P-39)
Ploidy	Near diploid	Near diploid
	human male	human male
Chromosome count	45-48	45-48
Modal number	46	47
Normal	Single X and Y	Single X and Y in
chromosomes	in each	each karyotype
	karyotype	5 51
Marker	8	6
chromosomes	M1 = del(4)	M1 = del(4)
	(q28q34) + hsr	(q28q34) + hsr in
	in some	some
	M1A = t(4q;?)	M1A = t(4q;?)
	M1B = del/t(4?) (q28;?)	M2 = der(9?)
	M2 = der(9?)	M2A = del(M2p-)
	M3 = iso(22?)	M3 = iso(22?)
	M4 = der(22?)	M4 = der(22?)
	M5 = 16q+	
	M6 = 15p+	

Table 3 Karyological characterization of RC-77T/E and RC-77N/E cell lines

showed androgen responsiveness when treated with synthetic androgen (R-1881).

Both cell lines are cytogenetically similar near diploid human male (XY). However, RC77T/E cell line has new marker chromosomes (M5 = 16q + and M6 = 15p +) in addition to those observed non-tumorigenic RC-77N/E cell line (M1 = del(4)(q28q34) + hsr in some,M1A = t(4q;?), M2 = der(9?), M2A = del(M2p-),M3 = iso(22?), and M4 = der (22?) (Table 3). Some of the alteration of chromosomes observed in RC-77T/E and RC-77N/E cell lines have been already reported in literature. The presence of a marker chromosome involving in chromosome 4 (M1 = del(4)(q28q34) + hsr in some) in both cell lines has been reported in other African American-derived metastatic prostate cancer cell line (MDA PCa) and a primary African American prostate cancer cell line, E006AA [7, 8]. However, the observation of a common karyotypic pattern (regional deletion of 13q.5q.16q and 8p and gain of 8q and 5q) of primary prostate cancer derived from African American men

and Caucasian American men led to the conclusion that biological interracial difference among the prostate cancer patients is not due to gross chromosomal alteration [11]. The determination of specific genetic markers involved in African American prostate cancer needs to be further studied.

It is interesting to note that 4q alteration observed in both cell lines also observed chromosome changes in an established human prostate cell line derived from primary tumor of a familial prostate cancer patient [12]. Possible evidence of a prostate cancer susceptibility loss on chromosome 4q has been reported [13]. As has been described, new marker chromosomes (M5 = 16q+and M6 = 15p+) were observed in tumorigenic RC-77T/E cell line in addition to those observed non-tumorigenic **RC-77N/E** cell in line (M1 = del(4)(q28q34) + hsrin some, M1A = t(4q;?), M2 = der(9?), M2A = del(M2p-),M3 = iso(22?), and M4 = der(22?) (Table 3). Interestingly, the marker chromosome 15+ has been observed in a primary tumor-derived human prostate cancer cell line [14], whereas the marker chromosome 16q is the most frequent region alteration observed in a primary prostate cancer [15, 16].

The results obtained have been demonstrated that these immortalized non-malignant and primary prostate tumors of the same patient-derived cell line retained their original phenotypes and express some of their prostate-specific markers. Additionally, these models retained their androgen-responsive properties which ultimately will be useful to answer questions of therapeutic target at AR. Furthermore, this is the first African American primary prostate cancer cell line that retains the ability to generate tumors in vivo. In addition, this is the first pair of non-malignant and tumor cells derived from the same African American prostate cancer patient. These novel findings fill much needed void in prostate cancer and health disparity research. To our knowledge, this is the only model with such properties and may offer unique opportunity for the study of early stage of African American prostate cancer development.

ROCK Inhibitor and Feeder Cells Induce the Conditional Reprogramming (CR) of Epithelial Cells

In the 1950s George Gey succeeded in a method to grow cells from cervical cancer patient tumor, Henrietta Lacks (HeLa). It became an important laboratory model for cancer research and in understanding tumor biology for drug development. It would go on to contribute significant advances in scientific research, leading to two Nobel Prizes and aid in the development of vaccines, cancer treatments, in vitro fertilization, and a genome sequence that was published last year in 2017. The cells have been used in the research of toxins, hormones, and viruses and to study the effects of radiation and the development of the polio vaccine. Approximately 70,000 peerreviewed papers have been published using them. There are 17,000 US patents that involve HeLa cells established from a metastatic tumor. To date, no commercial normal and cancer paired cell lines derived from the same patient are available. Most primary cell cultures regardless of the numerous methods used to sustain them suffer from limited lifespan due to lack of understanding of requirements for long-term stem cell maintenance and the inability to recapitulate the essential stem cell niche in vitro. These factors lead to gradually decrease in proliferation rate and senescence. One of the biggest challenges in current cancer biology research is the development of a method to generate stable HPE cell lines from primary normal epithelium and tumors.

Several approaches have been used to overcome cellular senescence in primary cell culture for nearly seven decades:

In 1970 it has been shown that irradiated or non-dividing mitomycin-treated mouse fibroblast cells as a feeder layer lead the support to 30–50 passages rather than 5–6 passages [17].

The most common method of immortalizing is using viral genes (SV40 and HPV-16 or 18) [18–20]. SV40 large T antigen was used for many cell types in 1994, but leads to genomic instability with results after a few passages. The cultured transformed cells lose the properties of the cells from which were derived.

Telomerase immortalization of normal human somatic cells by ectopic overexpression hTERT [21] has been shown in 1998. hTERT does not lead to s tumorigenic transformation of normal cells [3, 14], thus becoming the method of choice for immortalizing primary cell culture. However, the success rate is low as we described in primary HPE cells.

In 2009, an additional approach was the use of Rho kinase (ROCK) inhibitors. This has been to keep embryonic and somatic cells growing in culture and to maintain induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cells in undifferentiated cells [22]. None of these approaches have produced stable permanent cell lines.

In 2010, we have found that Rock inhibitor (a Rho kinase inhibitor Y-27632) and fibroblast feeder cells induced the conditional reprogramming (CR) of epithelial cells [23]. The CR cells allow the establishment of patient-derived normal and tumor epithelial cells from many tissue types including breast, lung, colon, and prostate without transduction of exogenous viral or cellular genes [23] (Fig. 1, Table 4).

We demonstrated that a Rho kinase inhibitor (Y-276320), in combination with fibroblast feeder cells, induces normal and tumor epithelial cells from many tissues to proliferate indefinitely in vitro, without transduction of exogenous viral and cellular genes. Primary prostate and mammary cells, for example, are reprogrammed toward a basaloid, stem-like phenotype [24] and form well-organized prostaspheres and mammospheres in Matrigel [25]. However, in contrast to the selection of rare stem-like cells, the described growth conditions can generate 2×10^6 cells in 5-6 days from needle biopsies, and can generate cultures from cryopreserved tissue and from fewer than four viable cells. Continued cell proliferation is dependent on both feeder cells and Y-27632, and the conditionally reprogrammed cells (CRCs) retain a normal karyology and remain non-tumorigenic. This technique also efficiently establishes cell cultures from human and rodent tumors. For example, CRCs established from human prostate adenocarcinoma



Fig. 1 Propagation and immortalization of human adult epithelial cells. Prostate, breast, tracheal, and liver (hepatocellular carcinoma) tissues were harvested and digested with trypsin-collagenase, Cells isolated from the tissues were plated on a feeder layer of irradiated (3000 rad) Swiss 3T3 cells (J2 subclone) and grown in F medium containing 10 μ mol/L ROCK inhibitor (Y-27632). Small colonies could be observed after 1 day. At day 5 (shown), there were large islands of epithelial (epl) cells that compressed the surrounding feeder cells (*white arrows*)

Table 4 CR cells established from primary human prostate cells

- Like hTERT immortalization, this method does not transform normal cells and maintains normal karyotypes for 33 passages from normal prostate cells and maintains a normal phenotype
- (2) Reprogrammed to ward a basaloid stem-like phenotypes
- (3) Form well-organized prostaspheres and mammospheres in Matrigel
- (4) Needle biopsy generates 2×10^6 cells in 5–6 days
- (5) Generate culture from cryopreserved tissue
- (6) Retain a normal karyotype
- (7) Non-tumorigenic
- CR cells established from human prostate adenocarcinoma
- (1) Display the instability of chromosome 13
- (2) Proliferate abnormality in Matrigel
- (3) Form tumors in SCID mice

displayed in stability of chromosome 13, proliferated abnormally in Matrigel, and formed tumors in mice with severe combined immunodeficiency. The ability to rapidly generate many tumor cells from small biopsy specimens and frozen tissue provides significant opportunities for cell-based diagnostics and therapeutics and greatly expands the value of biobanking. In addition, the CRC method allows for the genetic manipulation of epithelial cells ex vivo and their subsequent evaluation in vivo in the same host.

The mechanism for this reprogramming is unclear, although there are insight parallels with the process of cell immortalization induced by the HPVs. The high-risk HPVs encode two oncoproteins, E6 and E7, that are required for the efficient immortalization of primary cells. One of the most critical roles for the E6 protein in cell immortalization is the induction of hTERT [23, 26, 27].

We have shown that the predominant factor for hTERT induction in CRCs is grown in F medium with feeder cells and that Y-27632 has a minimal contribution to the induction. The mechanism by which telomerase is induced by the F medium plus feeder cells is to be investigated. The second component of HPV-mediated cell immortalization is the function of the E7 protein which inactivates the Rb pathway. E7 has recently remodeled the actin cytoskeleton [28] and inactivated Rho [29, 30]. We believe that the combination of F medium containing feeder cells and Y-27632 supplies two distinct functions that promote cell proliferation: (1) Induction of telomerase and (2) cytoskeletal remodeling and/or interference with the p16/Rb pathway (Fig. 2).

Conditionally Reprogrammed (CR) Normal and Primary Tumor Prostate Epithelial Cells: A Novel Same Patient-Derived Cell Model for Studies of Human Prostate Cancer

As our previous study demonstrated, CR cells allow the establishment of patient-derived normal and tumor epithelial cell cultures from a variety of tissue types including breast, lung, colon, and prostate [23].



Fig. 2 Potential model for the cooperative effects of F medium plus feeder and the ROCK inhibitor in cell immortalization inducers of telomerase and deregulation of cytoskeleton and p16/Rb pathway. Class 1 genes induced telomerase activity and class 2 genes alter both the p16/Rb pathway and the cell cytoskeleton. The connecting lines indicate documented interactions between class 1 and class 2 genes that result in cell immortalization

Using CR cells we have recently succeeded in establishing matched normal (GUMC-29) and tumor (GUMC-30) cultures from the same prostate cancer patient, respectively [31]. These CR cells proliferate indefinitely in culture and retain stable karyotypes. More importantly, only tumor-derived GUMC-30 cells produced tumors in SCID mice, demonstrating maintenance of the critical tumor phenotype. Characterization of cells with DNA fingerprinting demonstrated identical patterns in normal and tumor CR cells as well as in SCID mice xenografted tumors. By flow cytometry, both normal and tumor CR cells expressed basal, luminal, and stem cell markers, with the majority of the normal and tumor CR cells expressing prostate basal cell markers, CD44 and Trop2, as well as luminal marker, CD13, suggesting a transit-amplifying phenotype. Consistent with this phenotype, realtime RT-PCR analyses demonstrated that CR cells predominantly expressed high levels of basal cell markers (KRT5, KRT14, and p63) and low levels of luminal markers. When the CR tumor cells were injected into SCID mice, the expression of luminal markers (AR, NKX3.1) increased significantly, while basal cell markers dramatically decreased. These data suggested that CR cells maintain high

Table 5 Properties of GUMC-29 and GUMC-30 cell lines
CR normal culture (GUMC-29) and tumor culture
(GUMC-30) were established from the same prostate
cancer patient
The CR cells grow indefinitely and retain stable
karyology
GUMC-30 cells only produce tumors in SCID mice
DNA finger printing: Identical patterns in normal CR
cells, tumor CR cells, and in xenografted tumors
Flow cytometry: Both normal and tumor cells
Positive in basal, luminal, and stem cell markers with
the majority of both CR cells
Positive prostate basal cell markers, CD44 and Trop2,
and also luminal marker CD13, suggesting a
transit-amplifying phenotype
RT-PCR analysis: Predominantly high level of basal
cell markers (KRTS, KRT14, and p63) and lower
levels of luminal markers
The CR tumor cells injected into SCID mice: The
expression of luminal markers (AR, NKX3.1)
increased significantly while basal cell markers
dramatically decreased
This data suggested that CR cells maintain high level
of proliferation and low level of differentiation in the
presence of feeder cells and ROCK inhibitor but
undergo differentiation once injected into SCID mice
Genomic analyses (SNP and INDEL) identified gene
matched in tumor cells include component of
apoptosis, cell attachment, and hypoxia phenotype

levels of proliferation and low levels of differentiation in the presence of feeder cells and ROCK inhibitor, but undergo differentiation once injected into SCID mice. Genomic analyses, including SNP and INDEL, identified genes mutated in tumor cells, included components of apoptosis, cell attachment, and hypoxia pathway (Table 5). The use of novel matched patient-derived cells provides a unique in vitro model for the studies of early prostate cancer.

Conclusion

As we have described, the use of keratinocyte serum-free medium is a very efficient method for the generation of primary HPE cells. We have generated five immortalized HPE cell cultures derived from both benign and malignant tissues of prostate cancer patient with telomerase. Examination of these cell lines for their morphologies, proliferative capacities, response to androgen stimulation, growth above the agar, and formation of tumors in SCID mice suggests that they may serve as valid and useful tools for the elucidation of early events in prostate tumorigenesis. In addition, we have identified putative stem cell markers CD133 and CXCR4 in these hTERTimmortalized primary non-malignant and malignant tumor-derived HPE cell lines. We have shown the first documented case of the establishment of a pair of non-malignant and malignant tumor derived from an African American prostate cancer patient with HPV-16 E6 E7 genes. The model will provide a novel tool to study the molecular and genetic mechanisms of prostate carcinogenesis especially for high-risk African American men. ROCK inhibitor (Y-27632) and fibroblast feeder cells induce the conditional reprogramming of epithelial cells from many tissues to proliferate indefinitely. In addition, using CR, we have established matched normal and tumor cultures derived from the same patient prostatectomy specimen. The matched patientderived cells will provide a unique novel in vitro model for studies of cancer biology, discovery of biomarker, anti-cancer drug, and cancer precision medicine.

Acknowledgments This work was funded by grants from the US Army Medical Research and Material Commend and also supported by Department of Defense Prostate Cancer Research Program (PCO30694 and PCO4252).

References

- Rhim, J. S. (2013). Human prostate epithelial cell cultures. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, 946, 383–393.
- Burrows, M. T., Burns, J., Suzuki, Y., et al. (1917). Studies on the growth of cells. The cultivation of bladder and prostate tumors outside the body. *The Journal* of Urology, 1, 3–15.
- Gu, Y., Li, H., Kim, K. H., et al. (2006). Phenotypic characterization of telomerase-immortalized primary non-malignant and malignant tumor-derived human prostate epithelial cell lines. *Experimental Cell Research*, 312, 831–843.
- Miki, J., Furusato, B., Li, H., et al. (2007). Identification of prostate stem cell markers, CD133 and CXCR4 in hTERT-immortalized primary epithelial cell lines and in prostate cancer specimens. *Cancer Research*, 67, 3153–3161.

- Siegel, R. L., Miller, K. D., & Jemal, A. (2015). Cancer statics 2015. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 65, 5–29.
- Moul, J. W. (2000). Screening for prostate cancer in African American. Current Urology Reports, 1, 57–64.
- Novone, N. M., Olive, M., Ozen, M., et al. (1997). Establishment of two human prostate cancer cell lines derived from a single bone metastasis. *Clinical Cancer Research*, *3*, 2493–2500.
- Koochekpour, S., Maresh, G. A., Katrner, A., et al. (2004). Establishment and characterization of a primary androgen-responsive African American prostate cancer cell line, E006AA. *Prostate*, 60, 141–152.
- Koochekpour, S., Willard, S. S., Shourideh, M., et al. (2014). Establishment and characterization of a highly tumorigenic African American prostate cancer cell line, E006AA-hT. *International Journal of Biological Sciences*, 10, 834–845.
- Theodore, S., Sharp, S., Zhou, J., et al. (2010). Establishment and characterization of a pair of nonmalignant and malignant tumor-derived cell lines from an African American prostate cancer patient. *International Journal of Oncology*, *37*, 1477–1482.
- Cher, M. L., Lewis, P. E., Banerjee, M., et al. (1998). A similar pattern of chromosomal alterations in prostate cancer from African-American and Caucasian American. *Clinical Cancer Research*, *4*, 1273–1278.
- Yasunaga, Y., Nakamura, K., Ewing, C. M., et al. (2001). A novel human cell culture model for the study of familial prostate cancer. *Cancer Research*, *61*, 5969–5973.
- Smith, I. R., Freije, D., Carpten, J. D., et al. (1996). Major susceptibility locus for prostate cancer on Chromosome 1 suggested by a genome-wide search. *Science*, 274, 1371–1374.
- Ko, D., Gu, Y., Yasunaga, Y., et al. (2003). A novel neoplastic primary-derived human prostate epithelial cell line. *International Journal of Oncology*, 22, 1311–1317.
- Carter, B. S., Carter, H. B., Isaacs, J. T., et al. (1990). Epidemiologic evidence regarding predisposing factors to prostate cancer. *Prostate*, 16, 187–197.
- Kunimi, K., Bergerheim, U. S., & Larsson, I. I. (1991). Allelotyping of human prostate adenocarcinoma. *Genomics*, 11, 530–536.
- Taylor-Papadimitriou, J., Sheaver, M., & Stoker, M. G. (1977). Growth requirements of human mammary epithelial cells in culture. *International Journal* of Cancer, 20, 903–908.
- Bartek, J., Barikova, J., Kyprianon, N., et al. (1991). Efficient immortalization of luminal epithelial cells from human mammary gland by introduction of simian virus 40 large tumor antigen with a recombinant retrovirus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America, 88, 3520–3524.
- Meiser, L. F., Wu, S. Q., Christian, B. J., et al. (1988). Cytogenetic instability with balanced chromosome

changes in an SV40 transformed human uroepithelial cell line. *Cancer Research*, *48*, 3215–3220.

- Foster, S. A., & Galloway, D. A. (1996). Human papillomavirus type E7 alleviates a proliferation block in early passage human mammary epithelial cells. *Oncogene*, *12*, 1773–1779.
- 21. Counter, C. M., Hahn, W. C., Wei, W., et al. (1998). Dissociation among in vitro telomerase activity, telerase maintenance and cellular immortalization. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 95, 147234–114728.
- 22. Claassen, D. A., Dester, M. M., & Rizzino, A. (2009). ROCK inhibition enhances the recovery and growth of cryopreserved human embryonic stem cells and human induced pluripotent stem cells. *Molecular Reproduction and Development*, 76, 722–732.
- Liu, X., Ory, V., Chapman, S., et al. (2012). ROCK inhibitor and feeder cells induce the conditional reprogramming of epithelial cells. *The American Journal of Pathology, 180*, 599–607.
- 24. Suprynowicz, F. A., Upadhyay, G., Krawczyk, E., et al. (2012). Conditionally reprogrammed cells represent a stem-like state of adult epithelial cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 109*, 20035–20040.
- Saenz, F. R., Ory, V., Alotaiby, M., et al. (2014). Conditionally reprogrammed normal and transformed mouse mammary epithelial cells display a progenitorcell-like phenotype. *PLoS One*, 9(5), e97666.
- 26. Liu, X., Dakio, A., Chan, R., et al. (2008). Cellrestricted immortalization by human papillomavirus correlated telomerase activation and engagement of the hTERT promotor by Myc. *Journal of Virology*, 82, 11568–11576.
- Kiyono, T., Foster, S. A., Koop, J. A., et al. (1998). Both Rb/p16/NK4a inactivation and telomerase activity are required to immortalize human epithelial cells. *Nature*, 396, 84–88.
- Liu, X., Dakie, C., Zhang, Y., et al. (2009). HPV E6 protein interacts physically and functionally with the cellular telomeres complex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 106*, 18780–18785.
- Yue, J., Shukla, R., Accardi, R., et al. (2011). HPV18 E7 regulate action cytokelaton structure for increasing cell proliferation through CK2 and the eukaryotic elongation factor1A. *Journal of Virology*, 85, 8477–8494.
- Charette, S. T., & McCance, D. J. (2007). The E7 protein from human papillomavirus type 16 enhances keratinocyte migration in Akt-dependent manner. *Oncogene*, 26, 7386–7390.
- Timofeeva, O. A., Palechon-Ceron, N., Li, G., et al. (2017). Conditionally reprogrammed normal and primary tumor prostate epithelial cells: A novel patientderived cell model for studies of human prostate cancer. *Oncotarget*, 8, 22741–22758.



African-American Prostate Normal and Cancer Cells for Health Disparities Research

Nicole Nicolas, Geeta Upadhyay, Alfredo Velena, Bhaskar Kallakury, Johng S. Rhim, Anatoly Dritschilo, and Mira Jung

Abstract

Prostate cancer is the most frequently diagsolid malignancy nosed in men. Epidemiological studies have shown African-American men to be at higher risk for developing prostate cancer and experience higher death as compared to other ethnic groups. Establishment of prostate cancer cell lines paired with normal cells derived from the same patient is a fundamental breakthrough in cell culture technology and provides a resource to improve our understanding of cancer development and pertinent molecular events. Previous studies have demonstrated that conditional reprogramming (CR) allows the establishment and propagation of patient-derived normal and tumor epithelial cell cultures from a variety of tissue types. Here, we report a new AA prostate cell model, paired normal and cancer epithelial cells from the same patient. "Tumor"

The Lombardi Comprehensive Cancer Center, Department of Radiation Medicine, Georgetown University Medical Center, Washington, DC, USA e-mail: jungm@georgetown.edu

G. Upadhyay Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences, Bethesda, MD, USA cell culture AA-103A was derived from malignant prostate tissues, and "normal" cell culture AA-103B was derived from non-malignant prostate tissues from the prostatectomy specimen of an African-American male. These paired cell cultures have been propagated under CRC conditions to permit direct comparison of the molecular and genetic profiles of the normal epithelium and adenocarcinoma cells for comparison of biomarkers, enabling patient-specific pathological analysis, and molecular and cellular characterization. STR confirmed human origin albeit no karyotypic abnormalities in the two cell lines. Further quantitative PCR analyses demonstrated characteristic markers, including the high level of basal cell marker, the keratin 5 (KRT5) in normal cells and of luminal marker, the androgen receptor (AR) as well as the programmed death-ligand 1 (PD-L1) in tumor cells. Although 3-D sphere formation was observed, the AA-103A of tumor cells did not generate tumors in vivo. We report these paired primary epithelial cultures under CRC growth as a potentially useful tool for studies to understand molecular mechanisms underlying health disparities in prostate cancer.

Keywords

American African · Prostate cancer · Primary epithelial culture · Conditional reprogramming · Cell culture

N. Nicolas · A. Velena · B. Kallakury · A. Dritschilo M. Jung (\boxtimes)

J. S. Rhim

Department of Surgery, Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences, Bethesda, MD, USA

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

J. S. Rhim et al. (eds.), *Human Cell Transformation*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1164, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-22254-3_8

Prostate cancer is the most frequently diagnosed solid malignancy in American men with an estimated 164,690 new cases and 29,430 deaths in USA for 2018. According to National Center for Health Statistics, the average annual prostate cancer incidence rate was 208.7 cases per 100,000 black men, 70% higher than the rate in white men. Health disparities studies have shown a higher risk of developing prostate cancer as well as higher cancer-specific death rates in African-American (AA) men as compared to Caucasian-American (CA) men [1]. Although these observations have been attributed to differences in socioeconomic status, such as limitations in access to health care services and delay of cancer diagnosis, environmental exposures and differences in genetics also have been advanced as potential causative factors [1]. AA men were reported to show a higher incidence rate, higher prostate cancer-related mortality rate, and shorter disease-free interval following treatment for localized disease [2–4].

Characteristics of AA Prostate Cancer Cells

Studies performed at centers offering equal access for patients and adjusting for socioeconomic and lifestyle factors have reported differences in survival attributable to tumor biology [5, 6]. In a study of 35 clinical trials, 1843 prostate cancer patients demonstrated survival differences by race [5]. AA men have been reported to demonstrate higher testosterone levels than CA men [6]. Such variations in molecular signaling offer further support for the possibility that genetically based differences in the biology of AA and CA prostate cancers may underlie the observed health disparities.

The normal prostate gland epithelium contains three primary differentiated cell types: luminal, basal, and neuroendocrine cells [7]. The majority of prostate cancers are pathologically classified as adenocarcinoma and display a luminal phenotype. Studies have shown that luminal columnar epithelial cells express secretory proteins (PSA) and other markers (KRT8, KRT18, NKX3.1, and AR). Basal cells localized beneath the luminal layer express markers (KRT5, KRT14, and TP63), but express low levels of androgen receptor (AR), which binds to testosterone and regulates gene expression in normal prostate tissue and prostate cancers. A comparative analysis of malignant and benign prostate tissues from radical prostatectomy specimens has shown higher expression of AR protein in prostate cancer and benign prostate tissues in AA men than in CA men [7]. Such variations in molecular signaling offer further support for the possibility that genetically based differences in the biology of AA and CA prostate cancers may underlie the observed health disparities.

Previous studies have identified differences in gene expression in tumor biopsy specimens from AA men as compared to CA men [7–9]. Microarray analyses of 69 clinically matched prostate cancer patients demonstrated differences in gene expression profiles of prostate tumors from AA and CA men, particularly in genes affecting tumor aggressiveness and metastases [8, 9]. These observations suggest that primary epithelial cultures may offer a useful tool for discovering molecular mechanisms underlying health disparities in prostate cancer.

Establishment of a Pair of Primary Normal and Cancer Epithelial Cell Cultures from AA Prostate Tumors

To investigate a feasibility of establishing paired primary normal and cancer cell lines from prostate specimens, cells were established from radical prostatectomy specimens. The presence of prostatic adenocarcinoma was determined by an experienced pathologist on gross inspection, dissecting tissue separately for the purpose of generating a cell culture as previously described, and the presence of cancer was confirmed by light microscopy [8]. However, conventional cell culture with keratinocyte serum-free medium (K-SFM) is limited by the small number of passages that can be achieved. Expansion of cells derived from prostate tissues that retain lineage commitment and normal growth and differentiation potential has been limited [8].
The Use of Conditional Reprogramming Cellular Technology for Establishment of Paired Cancer and Normal Epithelial Cell Lines from AA Prostate Tumors

The recently developed approach with to indefinitely extend the life span of primary human keratinocytes using both mouse fibroblast feeder cells (J2) and the Rho-associated kinase (ROCK) inhibitor, Y-27632, has been extended to prostate epithelial cells [10–12]. With this conditional reprogramming (CR) technology, we have been able to establish a new AA prostate cell model paired with normal and cancer epithelial cells from the same patient, AA-103A (derived from malignant prostate tissues and referred to as "tumor") and AA-103B (derived from nonmalignant prostate tissues and referred to as "normal").

Prostatectomy specimens of the AA patient were annotated with clinical data and deidentified and established as malignant (AA-103A) and normal prostate epithelial cell lines (AA-103B) under an IRB approved protocol. Cells were expanded under CRC conditions as previously reported [11]. Growth characteristics of the prostate epithelial cells are shown in Fig. 1a (2D culture) and b (3D-culture). By day 3 after plating on irradiated feeder cells, epithelial colonies had already formed, expanded, and compressed the adjacent feeder cells. The growth rate and morphological characteristics of the normal and tumor cells were similar.



Fig. 1 Characterization of AA-103B (non-malignant-"normal") and AA-103A (cancer) cell lines. The tissues from an African-American patient (44 years old) with prostate cancer were obtained from radical prostatectomy specimens according to Walter Reed Medical Center and Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences Internal Review Board approved protocols. Fresh prostatectomy tissue specimens were obtained under sterile conditions by an experienced pathologist and used for generating primary cell cultures as previously described [10–12]. Briefly, minced pieces of tissues were distributed to several collagen-coated cell culture dishes with keratinocyte serum-free medium (K-SFM) supplemented with bovine pituitary extract and recombinant epidermal growth factor (Life Technologies, Inc., Gaithersburg, MD). (a) The in vitro two-dimensional culture. The prostate epithelial cells were passaged repetitively using trypsinization techniques. The cell numbers were recorded at each passage, and a plot of population doublings versus time (days) was constructed for each cell line. Cells were grown under various conditions: CRC including both feeder cells and Y-27632 in F medium. Only cells grown in F medium containing feeders and Y-27632 continued to proliferate with a constant growth rate. (b) Threedimensional (3-D) cultures. Prostate cells isolated from harvested non-malignant and cancerous tissues, respectively, were plated on a feeder layer of irradiated (4000 rad) Swiss 3 T3 cells (J2 subclone) and grown in low attached plates with F medium containing 10 µmol/L ROCK inhibitor (Y-27632). Small colonies were observed after 2 days. At day 6 there were large islands of epithelial cells that compressed the surrounding feeder cells

Identification of Cell Origin and Cytogenetic Levels

Cells grown in CRC undergo routine mycoplasma testing. To authenticate the novelty of established cell lines, we performed DNA fingerprinting. STR fingerprinting analysis, verifying that these two prostate cell cultures were derived from the same patient and were unique (Fig. 2). The prostate cell cultures have 15 identical STR loci and the Y-specific Amelogenin locus, thereby verifying genetic identity. DNA fingerprinting analysis at nine STR loci and at the Y-specific Amelogenin locus (Cell ID System; Promega) also showed that immortalized CRC cultures were not contaminated with another cell line during prolonged passaging. Karyotype analysis was also performed at early and late passages. The data revealed that both normal and tumor cells retained a diploid karyotype. The results for prostate cells are shown in Fig. 3 and verify that their chromosomes are structurally and numerically normal, with a 46, XY karyotype.

Molecular Characterization of AA Cell Lines

Previous studies have shown that the growth rates of the normal and tumor cells were similar; however, normal and tumor cells differed in the expression of several markers [12]. Analysis of cells taken from CRC conditions revealed that tumor cells differentiated into a luminal phenotype. To characterize both prostate normal and cancer epithelial cells, using RT-PCR we examined the expression level of marker genes associated with growth, migration, invasion, and metastases, including PD-L1, PAI1, htert, p63, KRT5, TIMP3, and AR (Figs. 4 and 5). The data showed that normal cells expressed high levels of basal markers TP63 and KRT5, but very low levels of luminal marker AR (Fig. 5). These data suggest that both phenotypes, basal and luminal, are present in CR cultures. AR, PAI1, TIM3, and PD-L1 were upregulated and p63 and KRT5 were downregulated in AA prostate cancer cells (103A). Htert

103A	(p8)					
DNA Analysis						

DINAAII	laiysis									
	D3S1358	D7S820	vWA	FGA	D8S1179	D21S11	D18S51	D5S818	D13S317	D16S539
SMP1	15, 16	10, 12	16	22	15	29, 32.2	15, 17	9, 13	11, 13	8,9
REF	NA*	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
DNA Analysis										

	TH01	TPOX	CSF1PO	AMEL	Penta D	Penta E
SMP1	7, 9.3	8, 11	11	X, Y	7,8	5, 11
REF	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA

103B (p8)

DNA Ar	nalysis									
	D3S1358	D7S820	vWA	FGA	D8S1179	D21S11	D18S51	D5S818	D13S317	D16S539
SMP1	15, 16	10, 12	16	22	15	29, 32.2	15, 17	9, 13	11, 13	8, 9
REF	NA*	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA

DNA Analysis

	TH01	TPOX	CSF1PO	AMEL	Penta D	Penta E
SMP1	7, 9.3	8, 11	11	X, Y	7,8	5, 11
REF	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA

Fig. 2 Short tandem repeat (STR) analysis. Both the AA-103A and AA-103B cultures were examined for STR patterns. DNA fingerprinting of early passage (p8) prostate cells showed nine identical *STR* loci and the Y-specific Amelogenin locus, thereby verifying their genetic identity. Data are presented as mean SEM. Briefly, the analysis was performed using a commercially available kit (Cell ID System; Promega Corporation, Madison, WI), and the data were matched with cell lines in the ATCC database.

The STR markers include CSF1PO, TPOX, TH01, vWA, D21S11, D16S539, D7S820, D13S317, and D5S818, in addition to the Amelogenin locus. The PCR amplification was performed according to the manufacturer's recommended protocol. Detection of the amplified fragments was achieved with the ABI 3100 genetic analyzer (Applied Biosystems). Data analysis and allele size determination were performed using GeneMapper Software (Applied Biosystems)



Fig. 3 Cytogenetic analysis. Chromosome counts, ploidy distribution, and Giemsa (G)-banded karyotypes were prepared by standard protocol as described previously



[12]. Chromosomal analysis of normal prostate cells AA-103B revealed a normal 46, XY karyotype



Fig. 4 Quantitative RT-PCR. Total RNA extracted from cells was reverse-transcribed using the High Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Applied Biosystems). Quantitative real-time PCR (qRTPCR) was performed in triplicate using TaqMan Gene Expression Assays (Applied Biosystems) on the Applied Biosystems 7900HT Fast

Real-time PCR System using standard mode. Genes include AR, PAI1, KRT5, TIM3, p63, PD-L1, and Hert. GAPDH was used as an endogenous control to standardize the amount of sample added to the reaction for relative values of the amount of target cDNA

activity was similar in both cell lines. Interestingly, PAI1 and PD-L1 levels are significantly higher in tumor cells compared to normal. Furthermore, western analysis of both CR lines expressed high levels of PSA but showed a low level of AR in normal cells and higher level in tumor cells comparable to the established cancer cell line LNCaP (Fig. 5). These observations show that primary epithelial cultures may offer useful markers for discovering molecular mechanisms underlying health disparities in prostate cancer.



Fig. 5 The expression levels of AR gene (RT-qPCR) and protein (Western blotting). RT-qPCR was performed as described in Fig. 4. PSA and AR protein expression levels

Examination of Tumorigenicity In Vivo

To examine capacity of cells to form xenograft tumors, the prostate cancer cells were cultured in conditional medium on low attachment dishes. Within a few days, irregular spheres were formed in conditioned medium on low attachment dishes (Fig. 6a, b). Cells were then injected s.c. into nude mice. After 2 weeks, two of the five mice develop tumors at injected sites measuring 30 mm³ and 50 mm³. The tumors were small and after another week started to regress in size. We attributed this effect to immune responses to these cells at the injected sites in nude mice and sacrificed the mice to harvest tumors. Small tumors were obtained, and histopathologic examination did not confirm evidence of malignant growth (Fig. 6c). The experiment was repeated using severe combined immune-deficient (SCID) mice, but did not see tumor growth. We are aware that the yield of tumorigenic cancer-derived cells using CRC is in the 40% range overall.

Discussion and Conclusion

The most aggressive cancers may present as locally advanced disease precluding prostatectomy for their standard of care. However, the lack of availability of primary epithelial cultures has



were determined by Western analysis. Actin was used as a loading control

decelerated our understanding of molecular mechanisms underlying prostate cancer progression. Therefore, establishment of cell lines from patients with more aggressive disease is imperative.

Growing primary cultures of human prostatic epithelial cells from prostatectomy specimens is a major challenge due to the complex heterogeneity of primary tumors, a low success rate (1-10%) and technical hurdles. The slow growth rate of non-malignant epithelial cells may bias the selection of cells toward more rapidly growing phenotypes. Recently, an innovative technology, CRC, has been developed for growing primary human keratinocytes from patient's specimen using both mouse fibroblast feeder cells (J2) and the Rho-associated kinase (ROCK) inhibitor [10–12]. Appling a CRC approach, we were able to establish a new AA prostate cell model paired with normal and cancer epithelial cells from the same patient. The direct comparison of the molecular and genetic profile of the normal epithelium and adenocarcinoma cells verified their genetic identity as a human origin. Karyotype analyses revealed that both normal and tumor cells retained a diploid karyotype. Molecular characterization demonstrated that normal CR cells expressed high levels of basal cell markers, including KRT5 and TP63, but low AR. Tumor CR cells expressed a significantly high level of luminal marker, AR, as well as immune checkpoint and EMT markers (PD-L1,



Fig. 6 Tumorigenicity in SCID mice. (a) Prostate CRCs in 2D culture in FY medium, 40X; these cells were used to make spheres. (b) Prostate CRCs in sphere condition, 40X. The spheres were cultured in conditioned medium without Y-compound on low attachment dishes. The spheres were injected s.c. into nude mice. After 2 months,

two of the five mice develop tumors at injected sites measuring 30 mm³ and 50 mm³. (c) Histopathologic examination of tumors. The spheres were injected in nude mice. The prostate cancer cells made irregular spheres. Small tumors were subjected to histopathologic examination but did not confirm evidence of malignant growth

TIMP3, and PAI1), while basal cell markers are dramatically decreased. However, tumors were not generated in vivo albeit luminal markers were expressed, consistent with findings that the yield of tumorigenic cancer-derived cells is in the 40% range overall.

Tissues derived from AA patients provided the initial reagents for proof-of-principle studies establishing and characterizing paired AA cell lines. The cells may be useful for enhancing research capabilities of basic scientists and/or provide novel tools to pharmaceutical companies for preclinical oncology studies and drug development relevant to health disparities. Overall, the studies performed with cells provide proof of principal for developing additional prostate cell lines for research to facilitate the reduction of cancer health disparities.

Acknowledgments This work was supported by the NIH/NCI SBIR contract number HHSN261201600038C to Shuttle Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

References

- Chornokur, G., Dalton, K., Borysova, M. E., & Kumar, N. B. (2011). Disparities at presentation, diagnosis, treatment, and survival in African American men, affected by prostate cancer. *Prostate*, 71(9), 985–997.
- Cohen, J. H., Schoenbach, V. J., Kaufman, J. S., Talcott, J. A., Schenck, A. P., Peacock, S., et al. (2006). Racial differences in clinical progression among Medicare recipients after treatment for localized prostate cancer (United States). *Cancer Causes* & *Control*, 17(6), 803–811.
- Evans, S., Metcalfe, C., Ibrahim, F., Persad, R., & Ben-Shlomo, Y. (2008). Investigating black-white differences in prostate cancer prognosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Cancer, 123*(2), 430–435.
- Thompson, I., Tangen, C. M., Tolcher, A., Crawford, E. D., Eisenberger, M., & Moinpour, C. M. (2001). Association of African-American ethnic background with survival in men with metastatic prostate cancer. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 93(3), 219–225.
- Albain, K. S., Unger, J. M., Crowley, J. J., Coltman, C. A., & Hershman, D. L. (2009). Racial disparities in cancer survival among randomized clinical trials patients of the southwest oncology group. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, *101*(14), 984–992.
- Ross, R., Bernstein, L., Judd, H., Hanisch, R., Pike, M., & Henderson, B. (1986). Serum testosterone levels in healthy young black and white men. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 76(1), 45–48.

- Gaston, K. E., Kim, D., Singh, S., Ford, O. H., Mohler, J. L., et al. (2003). Racial differences in androgen receptor protein expression in men with clinically localized prostate cancer. *The Journal of Urology*, *170*(3), 990–993.
- Timofeeva, O. A., Zhang, X., Ressom, H. W., Varghese, R. S., Kallakury, B. V., Wang, K., et al. (2009). Enhanced expression of SOS1 is detected in prostate cancer epithelial cells from African-American men. *International Journal of Oncology*, *35*(4), 751–760.
- Wallace, T. A., Prueitt, R. L., Yi, M., Howe, T. M., Gillespie, J. W., Yfantis, H. G., et al. (2008). Tumor immunobiological differences in prostate cancer between African-American and European-American men. *Cancer Research*, 68(3), 927–936.
- Liu, X., Ory, V., Chapman, S., Yuan, H., Albanese, C., Kallakury, B., et al. (2012). ROCK inhibitor and feeder cells induce the conditional reprogramming of epithelial cells. *The American Journal of Pathology*, *180*(2), 599–607.
- Liu, X., Krawczyk, E., Suprynowicz, F. A., Palechor-Ceron, N., Yuan, H., et al. (2017). Conditional reprogramming and long-term expansion of normal and tumor cells from human biospecimens. *Nature Protocols*, 12(2), 439–451.
- Timofeeva, O. A., Palechor-Ceron, N., Li, G., Yuan, H., Krawczyk, E., Zhong, X., et al. (2017). Conditionally reprogrammed normal and primary tumor prostate epithelial cells: A novel patient-derived cell model for studies of human prostate cancer. *Oncotarget*, 8(14), 22741–22758.



Assessing the Advantages, Limitations and Potential of Human Primary Prostate Epithelial Cells as a Pre-clinical Model for Prostate Cancer Research

Fiona M. Frame, Amanda R. Noble, Peter O'Toole, Jo Marrison, Timothy Godden, Andrew O'Brien, and Norman J. Maitland

Abstract

Choosing an appropriate cell model(s) is the first decision to be made before starting a new project or programme of study. Here, we address the rationale that can be behind this decision and we summarize the current cell models that are used to study prostate cancer. Researchers face the challenge of choosing a model that recapitulates the complexity and heterogeneity of prostate cancer. The use of primary prostate epithelial cells cultured from patient tissue is discussed, and the necessity for close clinical-academic collaboration in order to do this is highlighted. Finally, a novel quantitative phase imaging technique is described, along with the potential for cell characterization to not only include gene expression and protein markers but also morphological features, cell behaviour and kinetic activity.

J. Marrison · T. Godden · A. O'Brien · N. J. Maitland Cancer Research Unit, Department of Biology, University of York, York, UK e-mail: fiona.frame@york.ac.uk

Keywords

 $\label{eq:prostate} \begin{array}{l} Prostate \ cancer \cdot Cellular \ heterogeneity \cdot Cell \\ models \cdot Quantitative \ phase \ imaging \cdot Patient \\ tissue \end{array}$

Introduction

The foundation of all studies, whether to test novel therapeutic agents or to dissect molecular signalling pathways, is the cellular model that we choose (Fig. 1). Ultimately, every model has its advantages and limitations but all too often perhaps a model is chosen because of cost, convenience and accessibility first, with biological relevance coming lower down the list. Despite several drugs showing promise after pre-clinical testing, many clinical trials fail [1, 2], and this is after testing in cell models as well as in xenografts [3, 4]. Thus, this would argue that there is a need for more effective pre-clinical models to give greater chance of success, which would in turn mean improved patient benefit and reduction of wasted funds. Over the years several researchers have met the challenge to generate better and more relevant cellular models for prostate cancer [5-8]. However, with prostate cancer, as with most cancers, a single model cannot be used to answer all questions.

F. M. Frame $(\boxtimes) \cdot A$. R. Noble \cdot P. O'Toole

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

J. S. Rhim et al. (eds.), *Human Cell Transformation*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1164, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-22254-3_9





Prostate Cancer Models: Every model has advantages and limitations.

Current Models for Prostate Cancer Research

Prostate cancer research has relied heavily on a few cell lines. A quick Pubmed search shows >8000 references using LNCaP cells, ~4000-5000 for PC3 and DU145 cells and several others (22RV1, RWPE-1, VCaP) coming in at a few hundred references or fewer. There is a perception in the field that we need more cell lines for prostate cancer, but the concern is that new cell lines may not get disseminated globally and picked up by the prostate community and therefore their potential is not realized; this may already be the case for existing ones. Cell lines can be divided into four main groups, cells that are-(1) immortalized by viral oncogenes (e.g., HPV and SV40) [5, 9-11], (2) cultured from xenograft tumours [5, 9, 10], (3) derived from metastatic lesions (e.g., ascites, lymph nodes and bone) [5, 9, 10] and (4) immortalized using hTERT [12–15]. The latter is an important group because the cell phenotype is retained and there are no oncogenic changes associated with this method of immortalization [16]. Also, this method has produced pairs of cell lines (normal and cancer), which are useful for comparison studies [12, 14].

The popularity of LNCaPs is obvious since for decades the design of new therapeutics has been focused on improving androgen deprivation drugs. However, it has been known from the beginning that androgen deprivation was never going to be the whole answer to prostate cancer treatment [17]. Castration-resistant prostate cancer cer and metastatic prostate cancer remain stubborn foes. More recently, with the advent of ever more sophisticated cell separation and genomic techniques, there have been leaps in understanding of the complexity of prostate cancer and its evolutionary progression [18–24].

Addressing Prostate Cancer Heterogeneity

The challenge with prostate cancer is to have cell line models that represent normal prostate, benign prostatic hyperplasia (BPH), prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia (PIN), localized cancers of varying Gleason grades, aggressive and invasive cancers from within the prostate, metastatic cancers, hormone-responsive cancers, castrationresistant cancers and neuroendocrine cancers. And importantly there is also a need to have cell lines representing different races due to the higher incidence of prostate cancer in African American men [25]. In addition to the different disease states, severity and locations, there is further heterogeneity to take into account. Prostate cancer is a multifocal disease, so there may be more than one tumour in each patient [26] and there is inter-patient variability. Along with this there is cellular heterogeneity within each tumour, multiple gene mutations, gene fusions and epigenetic changes [27]. Finding a cellular model(s) to address all of these parameters is However, challenging. understanding and acknowledging heterogeneity is critical in terms of addressing diagnosis, treatment, resistance and recurrence [28-30].

Using Primary Prostate Epithelial Cells as a Cell Model

Primary cell cultures derived from human prostate tumours have the potential to be excellent cellular models to study the disease. They are clinically relevant, representative of current disease and are not difficult to grow [31-37]. However, one limitation is that they can usually only be obtained from the prostate and not metastatic sites. Using primary cells also opens up the possibility of testing multiple patients thereby taking into account patient variation. However, this also leads to the challenge of assessing and interpreting the variation in response that is observed. How do we decide how many patient samples is enough within a single study? In addition, it is advisable to only use them at low passages, which limits the number of assays that can be done on each sample.

A controversy with use of primary prostate patient cells is the potential for normal cells to overgrow cancer cells [38, 39]. However, several studies have observed differences between normal and cancer primary prostate epithelial cells such as differential expression of matrix metalloproteinases, integrins, E-cadherin and behaviour in collagen I gels [32, 40–42]. When retrieving our samples, we have a dedicated tissue procurement officer who samples the prostate post-radical prostatectomy based on diagnostic MRI scans and trans-rectal ultrasound (TRUS)guided biopsies, taking a needle core from a palpable tumour. Our own studies have shown that cancer cultures are more invasive than benign cultures [43], are positive for the TMPRSS2:ERG fusion at low passages [44] and samples from high Gleason grades respond differently to drug than benign and low Gleason grade samples [45].

One major issue within the field is the lack of standardization in terms of culture media between laboratories. There are differences in terms of the supplements used, some being chosen for their ability to boost cell growth [32, 33] and others to maintain a stem/progenitor population within the culture [31, 43, 46]. This makes comparisons between studies more challenging.

Undertaking a continual assessment and more complete characterization of primary epithelial cells in culture is needed. The advent of new techniques means that it is both possible and necessary to re-visit the characterization of these models. For this reason we are currently collecting both transit amplifying (progenitor) and committed basal cells (more differentiated) cultured from six samples each of Normal, BPH, Gleason 6, Gleason 7(3 + 4), Gleason 7(4 + 3), Gleason 8(4 + 4) and Gleason 9 tissues for RNA sequencing. This should hopefully identify new markers related to disease status.

Using patient cells for a variety of future studies will ultimately determine the utility of these cell cultures and provide support for strengthening clinical-laboratory relations as a research strategy. However, if more labs are to access primary patient material there has to be the will, the funds and the continuity to make a network of relationships work (Fig. 2).

Using Quantitative Phase Imaging (QPI) to Characterize a Cell Model and Address Heterogeneity

Cell characterization usually relates to gene expression patterns, protein markers and cell behaviour such as invasive potential. However, in order to also take into account cell heterogeneity when considering the effect of a drug or radiation



Fig. 2 Collaborative network: in order to establish clinical collaborations, several parties have to be invested and committed. There also has to be long-term continuity within the laboratory to maintain the links and the knowledge. Once the clinical connections are established, the

on primary cultures, there are two ways to assess their response: the first is to treat the whole population of cells and then separate out different cell types, and the second is to label cells with a fluorescent marker to be able to identify cells within the heterogeneous mixture. Both of these methods have their challenges; cell separation is a laborious procedure and it could be argued that cells change their behaviour when separate relative to when they are a mixture, and fluorescent labelling by whatever means always has the potential to change the cell behaviour. A new technique now available is trying to overcome both these challenges by using quantitative phase imaging (QPI) on heterogeneous cultures to observe individual cell response to drugs in real-time. The LivecyteTM is a microscope that uses the principle of ptychography to generate highly contrasted images such that several parameters can be measured for each cell. The measurements can be used to assess cell morphology (e.g., area and thickness sphericity), cell kinetics (e.g., velocity and meandering index) and population dynamics. For more detailed studies using this technology see these references [47–49]. The potential advantages of this technique are to establish cell signatures for different cell types and to identify rare outlier cells. Our

tissue and cell resource attracts collaboration from other parties including academic departments and industry. The importance of the resource and the nature of the work can also be disseminated through public engagement

previous studies using this technique showed that prostate cell lines and primary prostate epithelial cells differ in their size, speed and growth rates. We also showed that the transit amplifying cells (TA) and committed basal cells (CB) found within primary cultures have different cell signatures, with the TA cells being smaller, thicker and faster than the CB cells [27].

Typical drug treatment assays look at the average population, whether there is reduction in cell viability, death by apoptosis or effect on colonyforming ability. The rare cells that show resistance to therapeutic agent are likely to be the ones that don't fit in with the average and are therefore masked by their response. By treating every cell as a data-point, it is hoped that another layer can be peeled away and more information can be garnered that will contribute to the understanding of therapy resistance, tumour recurrence and identification of resistant cell features.

We carried out a study using primary prostate epithelial cells treated with docetaxel, a standard of care chemotherapy treatment for prostate cancer. Five concentrations were chosen to take a closer look at cell behaviour (Fig. 3). When looking at overall metrics, it became clear that as drug concentration increases, cell motility decreases,



Fig. 3 Response of primary cells to docetaxel: (a) a timelapse movie was generated over 72 h with images captured at 6 min intervals to observe the real-time response of primary prostate cells to docetaxel. Untreated cells could be seen moving and dividing in a continuous motion (red arrow). Dividing cell shown in white box insert. Treated cells predominantly responded by entering mitosis (cells rounding up—blue outline arrow) and when mitosis failed, due to the effect of docetaxel, the cells spread out and stopped moving (blue arrow). An outlier

measured as cell velocity and meandering index. In addition, the sphericity of the cells increases with cells entering mitosis and not being able to divide due to the effect of the docetaxel [50]; this can clearly be seen in the video captured by the LivecyteTM. Interestingly, when looking at the

cell was observed that continuously rounded up to try to divide, but upon failure continued moving around in an erratic fashion (yellow arrow). (b) Kinetic and morphological features can be extracted from the data. Each cell is measured and patterns of response are recorded. Bimodal responses are observed with some parameters that can be related to the cell behaviour (turquoise circles). (Images were captured on a LivectyeTM and data was analysed using the Cell Analysis Toolbox (CAT) software: www.phasefocus.com)

whole population, particularly at something like sphericity, a bi-modal or tri-modal response can be observed. Thus, it is necessary to closely observe the videos to identify unusual behaviour. One such cell is represented in Fig. 4. In comparison to the healthy cell that divides, and a cell



Fig. 4 Tracking individual cell behaviour: (a) Individual cells were tracked over time following response to docetaxel treatment (100 nM). Untreated (Healthy) cell has single direction of movement and then divides, and the daughter cell has meandering directionality. Typical cell response to docetaxel is to round up and enter mitosis, then following incomplete mitosis the cell stops

moving. The outlier (putative resistant cell) is much more erratic in its behaviour and is very motile. Following attempted divisions, the cell maintains its highly motile behaviour. (b) Individual parameters also indicate the change in cell behaviour. Thickness clearly indicates the points at when the cell rounds up to enter mitosis **Table 1** When comparingdiseasestate,epithelialhierarchyandtherapeuticresponseacomprehensivecellsignatureshouldbeconsidered



Fig. 5 Patient samples: primary prostate epithelial cells can be cultured from patient tissue. These cells can be grown in 2D, in co-culture systems and in 3D culture



that responds to drug in a typical way (failing to divide, spreading out and halting movement), we also show the outlier cell that is more erratic and sequentially rounds up, fails to divide and yet keeps moving. Only further analysis of outlier cells towards their ultimate fate will determine if the power of this new technique can be harnessed to identify resistant cell populations.

Discussion

Going forward, relationships between scientists, clinicians and patients are critical for the progression of prostate cancer research. When addressing treatment response and tumour recurrence, there are several levels of heterogeneity to take into account, which can only be done through use of patient material. Thus, the feasibility of having primary cell cultures, which crucially represent modern disease, as a critical step in the lab to clinic pipeline, has to be explored. One successful example is the use of primary cells to develop an oncolytic adenovirus that is now in clinical trials [51, 52]. In order for this to become a broad reality, consistency, reproducibility, standardization and practicality are keys. The method of conditional reprogramming (CR) (using feeder cells and ROCK inhibitor) has been used by researchers in other cancer research fields and also by some researchers in the prostate field [53–55]. This is another method that requires further investigation and could be explored alongside the questioning of other fundamentals of tissue culture such as oxygen concentration; several studies have shown that cells can grow indefinitely in physiological oxygen concentrations of 2% and not the standard 20% [56–58].

The desire to have more consistent use of primary cells does not negate the need for useful cell lines, but it does highlight the need to explore the cell lines that already exist because there may already be the correct model to answer critical research questions. We also have to embrace new technology, to examine cell behaviour at another level of complexity. Combined with traditional markers, these technologies could help to give a more complete idea of individual cell signatures (Table 1).

Currently there are many methods that can translate patient prostate tissue to 2D cell culture, co-cultures with patient stroma and 3D models such as spheroids and organoids (Fig. 5). However, the range of media, matrices and apparatus that are used is vast [40, 59–67]. There is much work to be done if there is to be standard-ization across the prostate community globally, starting with the will to make it so.

Acknowledgements This work was supported by Prostate Cancer UK through a Research Innovation Award (RIA15-ST2-022).

References

 Harrison, R. K. (2016). Phase II and phase III failures: 2013-2015. *Nature Reviews. Drug Discovery*, 15, 817–818.

- Jardim, D. L., Groves, E. S., Breitfeld, P. P., & Kurzrock, R. (2017). Factors associated with failure of oncology drugs in late-stage clinical development: A systematic review. *Cancer Treatment Reviews*, 52, 12–21.
- Mak, I. W., Evaniew, N., & Ghert, M. (2014). Lost in translation: Animal models and clinical trials in cancer treatment. *American Journal of Translational Research*, 6, 114–118.
- Risbridger, G. P., & Taylor, R. A. (2016). Patientderived prostate Cancer: FROM basic science to the clinic. *Horm Cancer*, 7, 236–240.
- Cunningham, D., & You, Z. (2015). In vitro and in vivo model systems used in prostate cancer research. *Journal of Biological Methods*, 2, e17.
- Mitchell, S., Abel, P., Ware, M., Stamp, G., & Lalani, E. (2000). Phenotypic and genotypic characterization of commonly used human prostatic cell lines. *BJU International*, 85, 932–944.
- Rhim, J. S. (2000). In vitro human cell culture models for the study of prostate cancer. *Prostate Cancer and Prostatic Diseases*, 3, 229–235.
- Rhim, J. S. (2013). Human prostate epithelial cell cultures. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, 946, 383–393.
- Russell, P. J., & Kingsley, E. A. (2003). Human prostate cancer cell lines. *Methods in Molecular Medicine*, 81, 21–39.
- Sampson, N., Neuwirt, H., Puhr, M., Klocker, H., & Eder, I. E. (2013). In vitro model systems to study androgen receptor signaling in prostate cancer. *Endocrine-Related Cancer*, 20, R49–R64.
- Schwab, T. S., Stewart, T., Lehr, J., Pienta, K. J., Rhim, J. S., & Macoska, J. A. (2000). Phenotypic characterization of immortalized normal and primary tumor-derived human prostate epithelial cell cultures. *Prostate*, 44, 164–171.
- Gu, Y., Li, H., Miki, J., Kim, K. H., Furusato, B., Sesterhenn, I. A., et al. (2006). Phenotypic characterization of telomerase-immortalized primary non-malignant and malignant tumor-derived human prostate epithelial cell lines. *Experimental Cell Research*, 312, 831–843.
- 13. Li, H., Zhou, J., Miki, J., Furusato, B., Gu, Y., Srivastava, S., et al. (2008). Telomerase-immortalized non-malignant human prostate epithelial cells retain the properties of multipotent stem cells. *Experimental Cell Research*, 314, 92–102.
- Miki, J., Furusato, B., Li, H., Gu, Y., Takahashi, H., Egawa, S., et al. (2007). Identification of putative stem cell markers, CD133 and CXCR4, in hTERTimmortalized primary nonmalignant and malignant tumor-derived human prostate epithelial cell lines and in prostate cancer specimens. *Cancer Research*, 67, 3153–3161.
- Rhim, J. S., Li, H., & Furusato, B. (2011). Novel human prostate epithelial cell culture models for the study of carcinogenesis and of normal stem cells and cancer stem cells. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology*, 720, 71–80.
- Lee, K. M., Choi, K. H., & Ouellette, M. M. (2004). Use of exogenous hTERT to immortalize primary human cells. *Cytotechnology*, 45, 33–38.

- Huggins, C., Stephens, R. C., & Hodges, C. V. (1941). Studies on prostatic cancer: 2. The effects of castration on advanced carcinoma of the prostate gland. *The Archives of Surgery*, 43, 209.
- Boutros, P. C., Fraser, M., Harding, N. J., de Borja, R., Trudel, D., Lalonde, E., et al. (2015). Spatial genomic heterogeneity within localized, multifocal prostate cancer. *Nature Genetics*, 47, 736–745.
- Cooper, C. S., Eeles, R., Wedge, D. C., Van Loo, P., Gundem, G., Alexandrov, L. B., et al. (2015). Analysis of the genetic phylogeny of multifocal prostate cancer identifies multiple independent clonal expansions in neoplastic and morphologically normal prostate tissue. *Nature Genetics*, 47, 367–372.
- Gundem, G., Van Loo, P., Kremeyer, B., Alexandrov, L. B., JMC, T., Papaemmanuil, E., et al. (2015). The evolutionary history of lethal metastatic prostate cancer. *Nature*, 520, 353–357.
- Kaffenberger, S. D., & Barbieri, C. E. (2016). Molecular subtyping of prostate cancer. *Current Opinion in Urology*, 26, 213–218.
- Tosoian, J. J., & Antonarakis, E. S. (2017). Molecular heterogeneity of localized prostate cancer: More different than alike. *Translational Cancer Research*, 6, S47–S50.
- Walker, S. M., Knight, L. A., AM, M. C., Logan, G. E., Berge, V., Sherif, A., et al. (2017). Molecular subgroup of primary prostate Cancer presenting with metastatic biology. *European Urology*, 72, 509–518.
- Yadav, S. S., Stockert, J. A., Hackert, V., Yadav, K. K., & Tewari, A. K. (2018). Intratumor heterogeneity in prostate cancer. *Urologic Oncology*, *36*, 349–360.
- Theodore, S., Sharp, S., Zhou, J., Turner, T., Li, H., Miki, J., et al. (2010). Establishment and characterization of a pair of non-malignant and malignant tumor derived cell lines from an African American prostate cancer patient. *International Journal of Oncology*, 37, 1477–1482.
- Clark, J., Attard, G., Jhavar, S., Flohr, P., Reid, A., De-Bono, J., et al. (2008). Complex patterns of ETS gene alteration arise during cancer development in the human prostate. *Oncogene*, *27*, 1993–2003.
- Frame, F. M., Noble, A. R., Klein, S., Walker, H. F., Suman, R., Kasprowicz, R., et al. (2017). Tumor heterogeneity and therapy resistance - implications for future treatments of
- prostate cancer. Journal of Cancer Metastasis and Treatment, 3, 302–314.
- Aly, A., Mullins, C. D., & Hussain, A. (2015). Understanding heterogeneity of treatment effect in prostate cancer. *Current Opinion in Oncology*, 27, 209–216.
- Cyll, K., Ersvær, E., Vlatkovic, L., Pradhan, M., Kildal, W., Kjær, M. A., et al. (2017). Tumour heterogeneity poses a significant challenge to cancer biomarker research. *British Journal of Cancer*, 117, 367–375.
- Lalonde, E., Ishkanian, A. S., Sykes, J., Fraser, M., Ross-Adams, H., et al. (2014). Tumour genomic and microenvironmental heterogeneity for integrated

prediction of 5-year biochemical recurrence of prostate cancer: A retrospective cohort study. *The Lancet Oncology*, *15*, 1521–1532.

- Frame, F. M., Pellacani, D., Collins, A. T., & Maitland, N. J. (2016). Harvesting human prostate tissue material and culturing primary prostate epithelial cells. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, 1443, 181–201.
- Peehl, D. M. (2005). Primary cell cultures as models of prostate cancer development. *Endocrine-Related Cancer*, 12, 19–47.
- Peehl, D. M., & Stamey, T. A. (1986). Growth responses of normal, benign hyperplastic, and malignant human prostatic epithelial cells in vitro to cholera toxin, pituitary extract, and hydrocortisone. *Prostate*, 8, 51–61.
- 34. Rose, A., Xu, Y., Chen, Z., Fan, Z., Stamey, T. A., JE, M. N., et al. (2005). Comparative gene and protein expression in primary cultures of epithelial cells from benign prostatic hyperplasia and prostate cancer. *Cancer Letters*, 227, 213–222.
- 35. Caspar, A., Caspar, A., Mostertz, J., Leymann, M., Ziegler, P., Evert, K., Evert, M., et al. (2016). In vitro cultivation of primary prostate Cancer cells alters the molecular biomarker pattern. *In Vivo*, *30*, 573–579.
- Collins, A. T. (2018). Methodologies applied to establish cell cultures in prostate Cancer. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, 1786, 55–66.
- Niranjan, B., Lawrence, M. G., Papargiris, M. M., Richards, M. G., Hussain, S., Frydenberg, M., et al. (2013). Primary culture and propagation of human prostate epithelial cells. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, 945, 365–382.
- Dalrymple, S., Antony, L., Xu, Y., Uzgare, A. R., Arnold, J. T., Savaugeot, J., et al. (2005). Role of notch-1 and E-cadherin in the differential response to calcium in culturing normal versus malignant prostate cells. *Cancer Research*, 65, 9269–9279.
- Litvinov, I. V., Vander Griend, D. J., Xu, Y., Antony, L., Dalrymple, S. L., & Isaacs, J. T. (2006). Low-calcium serum-free defined medium selects for growth of normal prostatic epithelial stem cells. *Cancer Research*, 66, 8598–8607.
- Hall, J. A., Maitland, N. J., Stower, M., & Lang, S. H. (2002). Primary prostate stromal cells modulate the morphology and migration of primary prostate epithelial cells in type 1 collagen gels. *Cancer Research*, 62, 58–62.
- 41. Lau, K. M., LaSpina, M., Long, J., & Ho, S. M. (2000). Expression of estrogen receptor (ER)-alpha and ER-beta in normal and malignant prostatic epithelial cells: Regulation by methylation and involvement in growth regulation. *Cancer Research*, 60, 3175–3182.
- 42. Zheng, D. Q., Woodard, A. S., Fornaro, M., Tallini, G., & Languino, L. R. (1999). Prostatic carcinoma cell migration via alpha(v)beta3 integrin is modulated by a focal adhesion kinase pathway. *Cancer Research*, 59, 1655–1664.
- Collins, A. T., Berry, P. A., Hyde, C., Stower, M. J., & Maitland, N. J. (2005). Prospective identification

of tumorigenic prostate cancer stem cells. *Cancer Research*, 65, 10946–10951.

- 44. Polson, E. S., Lewis, J. L., Celik, H., Mann, V. M., Stower, M. J., Simms, M. S., et al. (2013). Monoallelic expression of TMPRSS2/ERG in prostate cancer stem cells. *Nature Communications*, *4*, 1623.
- 45. Ulukaya, E., Frame, F. M., Cevatemre, B., Pellacani, D., Walker, H., Mann, V. M., Simms, M. S., et al. (2013). Differential cytotoxic activity of a novel palladium-based compound on prostate cell lines, primary prostate epithelial cells and prostate stem cells. *PLoS One*, *8*, e64278.
- Robinson, E. J., Neal, D. E., & Collins, A. T. (1998). Basal cells are progenitors of luminal cells in primary cultures of differentiating human prostatic epithelium. *Prostate*, 37, 149–160.
- 47. Kasprowicz, R., Suman, R., & O'Toole, P. (2017). Characterising live cell behaviour: Traditional labelfree and quantitative phase imaging approaches. *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology*, 84, 89–95.
- Marrison, J., Raty, L., Marriott, P., & O'Toole, P. (2013). Ptychography–a label free, high-contrast imaging technique for live cells using quantitative phase information. *Scientific Reports*, *3*, 2369.
- Suman, R., Smith, G., Hazel, K. E., Kasprowicz, R., Coles, M., O'Toole, P., et al. (2016). Label-free imaging to study phenotypic behavioural traits of cells in complex co-cultures. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 22032.
- Mollinedo, F., & Gajate, C. (2003). Microtubules, microtubule-interfering agents and apoptosis. *Apoptosis*, 8, 413–450.
- 51. Adamson, R. E., Frazier, A. A., Evans, H., Chambers, K. F., Schenk, E., Essand, M., et al. (2012). In vitro primary cell culture as a physiologically relevant method for preclinical testing of human oncolytic adenovirus. *Human Gene Therapy*, 23, 218–230.
- 52. Schenk, E., Essand, M., Kraaij, R., Adamson, R., Maitland, N. J., & Bangma, C. H. (2014). Preclinical safety assessment of Ad[I/PPT-E1A], a novel oncolytic adenovirus for prostate cancer. *Hum Gene Ther Clin Dev*, 25, 7–15.
- 53. Timofeeva, O. A., et al. (2017). Conditionally reprogrammed normal and primary tumor prostate epithelial cells: A novel patient-derived cell model for studies of human prostate cancer. *Oncotarget*, *8*, 22741–22758.
- 54. Palechor-Ceron, N., Suprynowicz, F. A., Upadhyay, G., Dakic, A., Minas, T., Simic, V., et al. (2013). Radiation induces diffusible feeder cell factor(s) that cooperate with ROCK inhibitor to conditionally reprogram and immortalize epithelial cells. *The American Journal of Pathology*, *183*, 1862–1870.
- Liu, X., Ory, V., Chapman, S., Yuan, H., Albanese, C., Kallakury, B., et al. (2012). ROCK inhibitor and feeder cells induce the conditional reprogramming of epithelial cells. *The American Journal of Pathology*, *180*, 599–607.

- 56. Peters-Hall, J. R., Coquelin, M. L., Torres, M. J., La Ranger, R., Alabi, B. R., Sho, S., et al. (2018). Longterm culture and cloning of primary human bronchial basal cells that maintain multipotent differentiation capacity and CFTR channel function. *American Journal of Physiology. Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology, 315*, L313–L327.
- Yazdani, M. (2016). Technical aspects of oxygen level regulation in primary cell cultures: A review. *Interdisciplinary Toxicology*, 9, 85–89.
- Forsyth, N. R., Evans, A. P., Shay, J. W., & Wright, W. E. (2003). Developmental differences in the immortalization of lung fibroblasts by telomerase. *Aging Cell*, 2, 235–243.
- Akerfelt, M., Bayramoglu, N., Robinson, S., Toriseva, M., Schukov, H. P., Härmä, V., et al. (2015). Automated tracking of tumor-stroma morphology in microtissues identifies functional targets within the tumor microenvironment for therapeutic intervention. *Oncotarget*, *6*, 30035–30056.
- 60. Drost, J., Karthaus, W. R., Gao, D., Driehuis, E., Sawyers, C. L., Chen, Y., et al. (2016). Organoid culture systems for prostate epithelial and cancer tissue. *Nature Protocols*, 11, 347–358.
- Ellem, S. J., De-Juan-Pardo, E. M., & Risbridger, G. P. (2014). In vitro modeling of the prostate cancer microenvironment. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, 79-80, 214–221.
- Gao, D., Vela, I., Sboner, A., Iaquinta, P. J., Karthaus, W. R., Gopalan, A., et al. (2014). Organoid cultures derived from patients with advanced prostate cancer. *Cell*, 159, 176–187.
- 63. Harma, V., Virtanen, J., Mäkelä, R., Happonen, A., Mpindi, J. P., Knuuttila, M., et al. (2010). A comprehensive panel of three-dimensional models for studies of prostate cancer growth, invasion and drug responses. *PLoS One*, *5*, e10431.
- 64. Mosaad, E., Chambers, K., Futrega, K., Clements, J., & Doran, M. R. (2018). Using high throughput microtissue culture to study the difference in prostate cancer cell behavior and drug response in 2D and 3D co-cultures. *BMC Cancer*, 18, 592.
- 65. Park, J. W., Lee, J. K., Phillips, J. W., Huang, P., Cheng, D., Huang, J., et al. (2016). Prostate epithelial cell of origin determines cancer differentiation state in an organoid transformation assay. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 113*, 4482–4487.
- 66. Tyson, D. R., Inokuchi, J., Tsunoda, T., Lau, A., & Ornstein, D. K. (2007). Culture requirements of prostatic epithelial cell lines for acinar morphogenesis and lumen formation in vitro: Role of extracellular calcium. *Prostate*, *67*, 1601–1613.
- 67. Xu, X., Gurski, L. A., Zhang, C., Harrington, D. A., Farach-Carson, M. C., & Jia, X. (2012). Recreating the tumor microenvironment in a bilayer, hyaluronic acid hydrogel construct for the growth of prostate cancer spheroids. *Biomaterials*, 33, 9049–9060.



Role of Alternative Splicing in Prostate Cancer Aggressiveness and Drug Resistance in African Americans

Jacqueline Olender and Norman H. Lee

Abstract

Alternative splicing, the process of removing introns and joining exons of pre-mRNA, is critical for growth, development, tissue homeostasis. and species diversity. Dysregulation of alternative splicing can initiate and drive disease. Aberrant alternative splicing has been shown to promote the "hallmarks of cancer" in both hematological and solid cancers. Of interest, recent work has focused on the role of alternative splicing in prostate cancer and prostate cancer health disparities. We will provide a review of prostate cancer health disparities involving the African American population, alternative RNA splicing, and alternative splicing in prostate cancer. Lastly, we will summarize our work on differential alternative splicing in prostate cancer disparities and its implications for disparate health outcomes and therapeutic targets.

Keywords

Alternative splicing · Prostate cancer · Cancer disparities · Drug resistance

J. Olender · N. H. Lee (🖂)

Introduction

Alternative splicing of pre-mRNA plays a major role in both normal development and cancer progression. By hijacking and leveraging the complex and tightly regulated process of alternative splicing, cancer cells are able to acquire many of the "hallmarks of cancer" [1]. Prostate cancer (PCa), the most diagnosed cancer in men in the USA, is no exception. There have been several comprehensive review articles detailing the important role of alternative splicing in PCa progression and aggressiveness [1–7]. These reviews, however, do not address the critical topic of alternative splicing in PCa health disparities. PCa exhibits dramatic race/ethnic disparities as African American (AA) men have significantly higher risk, morbidity, and mortality compared to European American (EA) men. In this review, we will summarize some of the major molecular mechanisms and alternative splice events in PCa, as well as introduce our recent study elucidating the important role of differential alternative splicing in mediating PCa disparities.

Prostate Cancer Health Disparities

PCa is the most diagnosed cancer in men in the USA and accounts for over one-fifth of all newly diagnosed cancers in men [8]. More than 164,000 new cases are diagnosed each year, and PCa is

Department of Pharmacology and Physiology, GW Cancer Center, George Washington University School of Medicine and Health Sciences, Washington, DC, USA e-mail: nhlee@gwu.edu

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

J. S. Rhim et al. (eds.), *Human Cell Transformation*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1164, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-22254-3_10

the second leading cause of male-cancer-related deaths annually. PCa also has the highest heritability of any cancer at 10% [9]. In addition to family history, well-established risk factors of PCa include Lynch syndrome, age, and race/ethnicity [10, 11]. Despite increased screening and overall decreasing mortality rates of PCa, AA men have significantly higher rates of PCa incidence, high-risk cancer, and mortality [12]. AA men are 1.7 times more likely to be diagnosed with PCa and have a 2.4 times greater mortality rate compared to EA men [13]. This mortality ratio is the largest of any other malignancy in the USA [14]. Additionally, PCa appears to develop at an earlier age in AA men who present with significantly higher prostate-specific antigen (PSA) plasma levels, more clinically advanced disease, and develop higher grade metastatic disease at a three- to four-fold greater rate [15–18]. This health disparity has been attributed to epidemiological differences in socioeconomic status, health-seeking behavior, access to healthcare, and treatment plans [15, 16]. Even after adjusting for clinical and epidemiological factors, however, AA men still have significantly higher occurrence and mortality rates [19-21]. This disease disparity suggests that genetic ancestry plays an important role in PCa incidence, progression, and aggressiveness.

Molecular Differences in African American Prostate Cancer

Multiple studies have shown genetic and biological differences in prostate tumors in AA and EA patient populations. *TMPRSS2-ERG* gene fusions and *PTEN* deletions were once thought to be characteristic of all prostate tumors. However, recent reports have shown that these genetic alterations occur at a much lower frequency in AA PCa. Only 20–30% of AA PCa tumors contain *TMPRSS2-ERG* gene fusions compared to 40–50% in EA patients [22], and loss of *PTEN* was observed in 34% of EA men and only 18% of AAs [23].

Genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have identified multiple loci that confer a greater

risk for PCa in AA men compared to EA men. The rs1447295 variant at the 8q24 locus has been associated with earlier diagnosis and increased risk in AA patients [24]. Six other variants (rs16901979, rs7000448, rs6983267, rs111906932, rs114798100, and rs111906923) have also been linked to increased PCa risk in AA men [25, 26]. African ancestry-specific PCa risk alleles have been identified at chromosomes 13q34 and 22q12 [27]. Additionally, a risk variant at the 17q21 locus has been found more frequently in men of African descent compared to other populations [28]. Many of these alleles reside within long coding RNA sequences.

Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in genes that regulate androgen and testosterone metabolism have also been linked to PCa disparity in AAs. Polymorphisms in the cytochrome p450 enzyme *CYP17* increase the risk of PCa in AA men by 60% [29]. A homozygous "CC" genotype in the 5' promoter region (rs743572) in AA men is clinically associated with advanced PCa disease [30].

In terms of the cancer transcriptome, AA PCa has been shown to exhibit increased expression of genes that promote growth (e.g., EGFR and AKT1) and metastasis (e.g., CXCR4 and BMP2) compared to EA PCa [31–33]. For the IL-6 gene, a race-specific and anti-correlated expression pattern is observed during PCa progression. Namely, EA PCa has increased expression of IL-6 compared to EA normal prostate, while IL-6 is downregulated in AA PCa compared to AA normal prostate [34]. Exogenous treatment with IL-6 downregulated TP53 in AA PCa cell lines and upregulated expression of a splice variant of MBD2, promoting a cancer stem-like cell phenotype [34]. Additionally, AA PCa exhibits an increased inflammatory signature, including increased expression of inflammatory genes (e.g., CCR7) and more frequent copy number variations of genes related to the immune response (e.g., IL-27, ITGAL, and ITGAM) [31, 33, 35, 36].

AA PCa cell lines and patient specimens have distinct miRNA profiles compared to EA PCa. AA PCa cell lines have increased expression of hsa-miR-26a compared to EA cell lines derived from tumors of similar stage and grade [37]. Theodore et al. [38] showed decreased expression of five miRNAs due to hypermethylation of CpG islands within promoter regions in AA PCa. Of particular interest, miR-152 had significantly lower expression in AA patients versus EA patients (in both non- and malignant tissue). Ectopic over-expression of miR-152 in PCa cell lines downregulated expression of DNMT1 by binding to the 3'UTR of the mRNA, leading to decreased proliferation, migration, and invasion.

Ten miRNAs have been identified that exhibit enriched or depleted expression in AA versus EA PCa [39]. These miRNAs, including miR-133a (AA depleted), miR-513c (AA depleted), and miR-96 (AA enriched), were computationally predicted and experimentally shown to target key genes known to promote cancer, such as MCL1, STAT1, and FOXO3A. Ectopic treatment of PCa cell lines with AA-depleted miRNA mimics (for miR-133a and -513c) or AA-enriched miRNA antagomirs (for miR-96) resulted in decreased proliferation, invasion, and caspase activity. In agreement with these in vitro findings, AA PCa specimens showed significantly increased expression of MCL-1 and STAT1 and decreased expression of FOXO3A compared to EA PCa samples.

The role of epigenetics in PCa disparities is also being explored. Using quantitative pyrosequencing, Kwabi-Addo et al. [40] and Devaney et al. [41] revealed increased gene promoter methylation in AA PCa specimens compared to EA PCa. *RAR* β 2, *SPARC*, *TIMP3*, *NKXX2-5*, *ABCG5*, and *SNRPN* genes were all found to be highly methylated in AA PCa samples and cell lines. Tang et al. [42] identified an association between increased *RARB* and *APC* methylation and increased PCa risk in AA men.

Alternative Splicing

An area of research that has recently garnered considerable attention with the advent of genomewide approaches (e.g., exon arrays and RNA-Seq) is the role of alternative splicing (AS) in cancer and cancer disparities. AS is the major mechanism for post-transcriptional regulation of

gene expression, mRNA diversity, and protein modification. During AS, introns are typically excised from the precursor mRNA (pre-mRNA) and the remaining exons can be joined together in different combinations to produce multiple unique mature mRNA transcripts from a single gene. It is estimated that over 90% of human genes transcribe pre-mRNAs that undergo AS with an average of five unique mRNA variants per coding gene. This generates a proteomic complexity of ~100,000 distinct protein isoforms from ~20,000 protein-coding genes. Types of splicing events include exon skipping (removal of specific exons), cryptic exon expression, selection between two mutually exclusive exons, exon scrambling, intron retention, alternative 5' or 3'splice sites (altering boundaries between introns and exons), alternative promoters (which can alter reading frames), and alternative polyadenylation sites (Fig. 1). This is a highly complex and flexible system that responds to cell type, tissue type, developmental stage, physiological system, and disease state.

AS generates a variety of protein isoforms with different sequences and altered functions from the same gene, promoting diversification of the transcriptome and proteome at both the species and interspecies levels. Although not all AS variants are functional, many can have similar or different functions, different stability kinetics, alternative subcellular localizations, or encode isoforms that are susceptible to different posttranslational modifications (e.g., phosphorylation and ubiquitination). By altering the repertoire of splice variants within a cell in a time- and/or spatial-dependent manner, AS can lead to protein isoforms with different interactome networks by promoting or inhibiting different DNA-protein, protein-protein, protein-ligand, and proteindrug interactions.

Splicing events are regulated by *cis*-acting sequences (splice sites, splicing enhancers or silencers, and branch points) located within the pre-mRNA and 30–500 *trans*-acting factors of the spliceosome, including small nuclear RNAs (snRNAs) and RNA-binding proteins (RBPs). AS is also strongly influenced by RNA polymerase kinetics, chromatin modifications,



Fig. 1 Schematic representations of different types of splicing events. Exons are depicted as rectangles and introns as solid lines. Broken lines represent splicing

events. Abbreviations: Poly(A), polyadenylation site. Designed on https://prosite.expasy.org

chromatin structure, epigenetic modifications (e.g., DNA and/or RNA methylation), nucleosome occupancy, location of *cis*-elements, secondary structure of pre-mRNA, and sequence editing [43, 44].

Cis-regulatory sequences are divided into two groups: splice sites that are required for spliceosome binding and binding sites for other RBPs. Sequences within exons (5' and 3' splice sites) and within introns (branch point and polypyrimidine sequences) designate exon-intron boundaries for the spliceosome. These splice sites can be constitutive (always recognized as splice sites) or alternative. The strength of a splice site is important for splicing accuracy and frequency. Strong splice sites contain consensus sequences that are well recognized by the spliceosome, thereby undergo splicing at a high rate. Weak splice sites rely on cis-acting sequences and cell context for splicing to occur. Splicing regulatory elements (SREs) include intronic or exonic splicing enhancers (ISE, ESE) or silencers (ISS, ESS). These provide binding sites for *trans*-acting factors, such as splicing factors (SF).

The spliceosome is composed of five snRNPs and over 200 SFs and auxiliary proteins. SnRPs (U1, U2, U4, U5, and U6) are the core components of the spliceosome ribozyme and are responsible for recognizing splice sites. The spliceosome also contains DEAD/H-box RNAdependent ATPases that allow for changes in RNA-RNA base pairing [45]. A splicing event begins with U1 binding, the 5' splice site, the SF3b complex within U2 binding, the branch point site, and U2AF1 and U2AF2 auxiliary proteins binding, the 3' splice site. U1 and U2 interact to form the pre-spliceosome. Next, U4, 5, and 6 are recruited, the spliceosome rearranges, U1 and U4 are released, and the spliceosome becomes activated. In the first splicing reaction, the phosphodiester bond at the 5' splice site is cleaved via nucleophilic attack from the adenosine in the branch point site. The intron then forms an intermediate lariat structure, and the

phosphodiester bond at the 3' splice site is cleaved via nucleophilic attack by the free 3' hydroxyl group on the phosphate of the 3' splice site. Finally, the two exons are ligated together and the intron lariat is released [46].

Trans-acting RBPs, such as SFs and auxiliary proteins (e.g., SF1 and U2AF), complex with the spliceosome to add additional flexibility and complexity to the splicing process. RBPs bind cis-regulatory sites to promote or inhibit splice site recognition which is dependent on location of binding (e.g., within intronic or exonic sequences, upstream of an alternative exon, and within a downstream intron), cellular context, regulation by other RBPs, and expression level of the RBP [47, 48]. The most well-studied transacting factors are the serine/arginine-rich SF (SRSF) and heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein particle (hnRNP) families. SRSFs are composed of two RNA recognition motifs at the N-terminus and a serine-rich domain at the C-terminus that is involved in protein-protein interactions. SRSFs are generally considered positive splicing regulators. They promote exon inclusion by preferentially binding to purine-rich ESE or ISE sequences and recruiting U1 to 5' splice sites and U2AF to 3' splice sites [49]. SRSF protein kinases (SRPKs) and CDC-like kinases (CLKs) activate SRSFs by phosphorylation in the cytoplasm or nucleus, respectively. The hnRNP family is largely classified as negative splicing regulators. Like SRSFs, they have two RNA recognition motifs; however, their protein-protein interaction domains are unstructured. HnRNPs promote exon skipping by binding ESS and ISS sequences and inhibiting recognition of splice sites. They may also prevent spliceosome assembly after 3' splice site recognition via steric hindrance of snRNPs.

SRSFs and hnRNPs have more nuanced roles than exclusively positive or negative splicing regulators [50, 51]. Their effect on splicing can depend on several factors, such as the location of the binding site. For example, SRSFs enhance splicing when binding to sequences within exons and repress splicing when bound to introns [49]. The functional consequences of SF binding can also be influenced by cell differentiation, cell fate, tissue identity, organ development, and disease state [52].

Alternative Splicing and Cancer

All components of the splicing process are tightly regulated, and any alteration can lead to disease causation and progression. The involvement of splicing dysregulation in oncogenic processes is known to activate oncogenes and inactivate tumor suppressors. Gene expression program changes via aberrant splicing in cancer cells select for functional changes that promote the malignant progression of the tumor [53]. Modifications in the splice sites or splicing machinery can lead to DNA damage, genomic instability, changes in epigenetics, alterations in transcriptional elongation, and changes in gene expression, thus helping to promote any of the "hallmarks of cancer" [54–56]. Splice variants are being used to characterize tumor subtypes and are targets of interest for cancer biomarkers and therapeutics [57]. Due to the potential for functional differences, individual AS variants need to be studied separately to better understand each variant's role in disease progression. In addition, an understanding of the overall splicing changes, as a change in one trans-acting factor can affect the splicing of hundreds of transcripts, will be instrumental in identifying the role of AS in cancer.

The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) data have been used to identify genome-wide AS events in cancer versus normal tissues and between different tumor subtypes and stages. Globally, AS events occur more frequently than somatic mutations in driver genes. AS also occurs more often in cancer-related pathways and in genes that are frequently mutated in cancers [58, 59]. Analysis of TCGA data has also identified key somatic mutations in splice sites that affect exon-intron boundaries, resulting in changes in expression of oncogenes and tumor suppressors in cancer [60]. In general, splicing of proto-oncogenes generates constitutively active or gain of function variants that confer an increased oncogenic advantage. Synonymous mutations, which can alter splice sites, are also more highly enriched in oncogenes.

Conversely, AS of tumor suppressors can introduce premature stop codons and altered reading frames, resulting in decreased protein levels via nonsense-mediated decay or decreased function. Cancer cells have increased levels of intron retention in tumor suppressor transcripts which promote premature termination, nonsense-mediated decay, and tumor suppressor inactivation [61– 63]. Mutations in splice sites or splice site choice can result in isoform switching or generation of novel splice variants [64]. Thus, somatic mutations in key genes or splice sites involved in AS may be a major driver in many cancers.

Differential splicing can generate variants with opposing functions or shift the balance between two isoforms. For example, while the full-length isoform of caspase-9 is pro-apoptotic, a shorter isoform missing exons 3-6 is antiapoptotic and has been identified in cancers, including non-small cell lung carcinoma [65]. SRSF1, which is overexpressed in many cancers, binds within intron 6 to promote inclusion of exons 3–6 to generate the long variant [66]. Conversely, hnRNPL binds an ESS in exon 3 and induces splicing exclusion of exons 3-6 to generate the short variant [67]. Kinases such as AKT are predicted to phosphorylate and activate both SRSF1 and hnRNPL [68]. The known tumor suppressor gene TP53 has over seven different splice variants that have been detected in a variety of cancers [69]. Splicing events are concentrated in the 5' and 3' ends and result in alternative promoter selection, exon skipping, intron retention, alternative 5' and 3' splice sites, or alternative reading frames. These P53 isoforms can inhibit full-length P53, impair growth or senescence suppression, and are associated with decreased patient survival.

Frequently, tumors display alterations in *trans*-acting factors. Perturbations in the expression level, localization, activity, or degradation of RBPs, SFs, or their upstream regulators can vary dramatically between different cancers. While hnRNPA2/B1 is an oncogenic driver in glioblastoma via splicing of tumor suppressors *IG20* and *MST1R* (*RON*) [70], RBM4 controls apoptosis, proliferation, and migration as a tumor suppressor in a variety of other solid tumors [71]. The

most common SF mutations in hematological and solid tumors are heterozygous missense gain or alteration of function mutations in SF3B1, U2AF1, and SRSF2 and homozygous loss of function mutations in ZRSR2 [54, 72]. SF3B1 is a member of the SF3b complex within the U2 snRNP of the spliceosome. Mutations have been observed in the 3' splice site of the SF3B1 premRNA resulting in nonsense-mediated decay, which commonly occurs in breast cancer [73]. Mutations in the zinc finger domains of U2AF1, a U2 small nuclear RNA auxiliary factor, are frequently identified in non-small cell lung cancer [74]. Missense mutations are often observed in SRSF2 that change its binding affinity to ESE sequences and are common in chronic myelomonocytic leukemia [75]. ZRSR2 is a zinc finger RBP in the U12 minor spliceosome complex. Mutations that introduce in-frame stop codons or disrupt the reading frame are common in myelodysplastic syndrome [76].

Due to the pivotal role of AS in cancer, many researchers are focusing their efforts on identifying or developing molecules that target aberrant AS in cancers [44, 54, 77]. Potential targets for these therapies include mutations in splice sites, cis-regulatory elements, and promoter or coding regions of trans-acting factors. Due to the high mutation rates observed in cancers, SF3B1 is a major target for splicing-modulating drugs. In addition, upstream factors such as SF kinases and specific splice isoforms of oncogenes or tumor suppressors are also attractive targets. Cancers that rely on splicing activity are ideal candidates for AS-targeted therapy. For example, MYCdriven cancers rely on the spliceosome, through BUD31, for promoting oncogenesis [78]. BUD31 associates with SF3B1, U2AF1, and other core spliceosome factors. Inhibition of the spliceosome via spliceosome inhibitors or BUD31 depletion downregulates survival, tumor growth, and metastatic potential of breast cancers driven by MYC.

There are a variety of types of therapeutic compounds used to target AS. The most wellknown are antisense oligonucleotides (ASOs) which are composed of nucleotides or analogs that hybridize with a complimentary nucleic acid sequence. By coding for the complimentary sequence of the target, ASOs can potentially block splice sites via steric hindrance, target mRNAs for degradation, redirect splicing, or prevent *trans*-factors from binding. ASOs have gained traction in treating Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD), spinal muscular atrophy (SMA), and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) [44]. In oncology, two ASOs, AZD9150 targeting *STAT3* and AZD4785 targeting *KRAS*, are in clinical trials for solid advanced and metastatic diseases [79, 80].

Small molecule inhibitors (SMIs) have been designed to target SF kinases and spliceosome components. SRPIN340 which targets SRPKs and TG-003 which targets CLKs cause decreased activity of SFs and subsequent decreased expression of "splice-correct" signaling proteins, such as VEGF and p70-S6K [81, 82]. ML315, a chemically modified quinazoline probe, selectively inhibits the CLK family as well [83]. Cp028 has been shown to inhibit intermediate stage spliceosome assembly by causing the early release of U4/U6 [84].

Natural products and their derivatives have also shown promise in targeting different stages of AS. Leucettine L_{41} , derived from the marine sponge product leucettamine B, is an ATPcompetitive inhibitor against CLK1 and CLK3 and has been shown to inhibit phosphorylation of SRSF4 and SRSF6 [85]. Another natural product, *N*-palmitoyl-l-leucine, targets late stage spliceosome assembly [86].

Indole derivatives, such as benzopyridoindoles and pyridocarbazoles, alter SF-ESEdependent splicing in key oncogenic genes such as *MST1R* [87, 88]. The RBP RBM39 is a target of sulfonamides derived from para-aminobenzoic. Mutations in RBM39 and resistance to indisulam are common in leukemia and lymphomas. These mutations block the complex formation of RBM39 with the CUL4-DCAF15 ubiquitin ligase complex, halting the normal proteasomal degradation of RBM39 and resulting in aberrant pre-mRNA splicing [89]. SRPIN340 is an isonicotinamide compound shown to inhibit expression of SRPK1 and a pro-angiogenic *VEGF* variant [90]. Derivatives of the natural compound FR901464 have shown promising ability to inhibit SF3B. These analogs include spliceostatin A, meayamycin, and sudemycin [91–93].

Pladienolide-scaffold derivatives have had the most success in clinical trials. E7107, derived from pladienolide B, inhibits SAP130 of the SF3B complex [94]. This weakens the binding interaction between U2 and the pre-mRNA by locking SF3B1 in an inactive conformation and sterically preventing binding to the branch point adenosine [95]. E7107 was one of the first splicing modulator drugs to enter clinical trials in solid tumors in 2007 [96, 97]; however, further studies in humans were suspended due to unexpected toxicity. H3B-8800, another pladienolide derivative, selectively inhibits wild-type and mutated SF3B1 isoforms and enriches for intron retention in SF-coding mRNAs [98]. Trials using H3B-8800 in hematological cancers have been ongoing since 2016.

Our current limited understanding of overall "splicing sickness," restoration of normal splicing, and downstream effects of spliceosomal mutations need to be addressed in order to develop new AS drugs. Overcoming issues of systemic delivery, toxicity, off-target effects, efficacy, and targeting the desired cell type will be keys in splice-modulating therapies, becoming a safe and efficacious therapeutic option for cancer patients.

Alternative Splicing in Prostate Cancer

A number of genes undergoing AS have been associated with PCa development and progression. The androgen receptor (AR), a steroid nuclear hormone that plays a major role in normal prostate homeostasis and PCa development, is the primary target for early PCa treatment. PCa tumors, however, develop AR-targeted treatment resistance (i.e., castrate-resistant) as the disease progresses. One mechanism in which PCa tumors develop drug resistance is through AS of the *AR*. Among the 20 different *AR* splice variants identified, *ARv7* is the most clinically frequent and relevant variant. The *ARv7* variant is generated by inclusion of a cryptic exon within exon 3 that encodes a protein isoform with a truncation of the entire C-terminal ligand binding domain (LBD). The LBD is important for AR activation by androgens and subsequent translocation of the AR into the nucleus for transcriptional regulation of androgen-dependent genes. The ARv7 isoform acts independently of androgen binding and is constitutively present in the nucleus of prostate cells, regardless of androgen stimulation [99]. Levels of ARv7 mRNA in PCa patients can help predict responsiveness to anti-androgen therapies, such as abiraterone and enzalutamide [100]. The SF hnRNPA1 and RBP SAM68 are believed to contribute to the regulation of the ARv7 variant. Relocalization of hnRNPA1 from the nucleus to the cytoplasm decreases expression of ARv7 in PCa cells and resensitizes them to enzalutamide [100–103]. SAM68 preferentially increases expression of ARv7 in PCa cells, via SAM68 stabilization of the ARv7 mRNA via direct RNAprotein binding and indirect mediation by SRSF1 [104].

A second clinically relevant *AR* splice variant, *ARv567es*, has been identified in PCa cells where exons 5–7 (of 8 total) are skipped, truncating the majority of the LBD. Similar to the ARv7 isoform, ARv567es is constitutively active and androgen independent [105]. This variant is highly expressed in metastatic and malignant prostate tissue [106]. ARv567es regulates oncogenes involved in cell cycle progression including *UBE2C*, which codes for a ubiquitin-conjugating protein involved in the machinery that inactivates the mitotic checkpoint and promotes proliferation [107].

The *fibroblast growth factor receptor (FGFR)* 2 undergoes AS of the third Ig-like extracellular domain, generating two isoforms: FGFR2IIIb and FGFR2IIIc. FGFR2IIIb is expressed highly in normal prostate epithelial cells and is a known tumor suppressor. FGFR2IIIc is involved in autocrine signaling and expressed more highly in mesenchymal cells. While no change in overall FGFR2 protein expression is observed as PCa progresses [108], a switch in FGFR2 isoforms occurs due to AS. Decreased expression of the IIIb isoform and exclusive expression of the IIIc isoform is associated with epithelial to mesenchyme transition (EMT) and loss of AR sensitivity [109]. This increase in FGFR2IIIc expression correlates with an increase in fibroblast growth factor (FGF) 8b, a ligand associated with PCa [110].

The vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is largely responsible for cellular growth and survival via angiogenesis in both normal and cancerous conditions. "Canonical" splicing of VEGF produces a VEGF isoform that is proangiogenic, while an alternative 3' splice site event generates an anti-angiogenic isoform VEGF₁₆₅b, which is the main isoform. VEGF₁₆₅b differs from pro-angiogenic VEGF in the last six amino acids and acts as an antagonist of the VEGF receptor [111]. Expression of proangiogenic VEGF is an early driver of PCa, and increased expression corresponds with later stage PCa and increased expression of SRSF1 [112]. Inhibition of the SF kinase SRPK1, a known activator of SRSF1, causes splice switching of $VEGF_{165}b$ in PCa cells and decreased tumor formation in PCa mouse models [113].

Bcl-x plays a pivotal role in regulating apoptosis. Alternative 5' splice site usage within exon 2 of the BCL2L1 pre-mRNA generates two variants that have opposing functions. The long antiapoptotic isoform, Bcl-x(L), is associated with cell survival, while the shorter isoform Bcl-x(S)promotes apoptosis, cell death, and sensitivity to chemotherapeutics in PCa [114]. High Bcl-x(L) to Bcl-x(S) ratios have been observed in PCa and over-expression of the short isoform induces apoptosis-mediated cell death in cancer cells [1, 6]. SAM68 selectively favors the upstream 5' splice site, thus favoring production of the BCL2L1 long variant and preventing apoptosis. Increased expression of Bcl-x(L) has been identified in PCa patients and cell lines, resulting in decreased apoptotic-induced cell death and decreased sensitivity to cytotoxic therapeutics [115].

Splice variants of another apoptotic-related gene *SH3GLB1*, which codes for the BAXbinding protein Bif-1, has recently been implicated in the transition of adenocarcinoma to aggressive treatment-induced neuroendocrine (t-NE) PCa. Bif-1a, the pro-apoptotic protein isoform encoded by a variant lacking exon 6, is the predominant isoform expressed in adenocarcinoma specimens [116]. Bif-1b (encoded by a variant containing a short version of exon 6) and Bif-1c (encoded by a variant containing a long version of exon 6), however, become highly expressed in t-NE PCa. This switch in dominant variant expression is regulated by the SF SRRM4.

Cyclin D1 (CCDN1) associates with cyclindependent kinase 4 (CDK4) to promote cell cycle progression through the G1 phase. Two alternative splice variants of *CCDN1* have been identified: the cyclin D1a mRNA, which is the full-length and more common variant, and the cyclin D1b variant, in which intron 4 is retained leading to early termination. The cyclin D1b protein isoform plays a distinct role as an AR coregulator to promote expression of AR-dependent genes associated with tumor growth and metastasis in PCa, specifically *SNAI1* [117]. Additionally, increased expression of SRSF1 in PCa cells correlates with enhanced expression of cyclin D1b, but not D1a [118, 119].

ST6GalNac1 is an enzyme that synthesizes the sialyl-T (sTn) antigen and modifies the glycosylation pattern of cell surface glycoproteins that play a role in cell adhesion and metastasis. ST6GalNac1 is androgen-sensitive, thus indicating a role for this enzyme in PCa. Recently, RNA-seq data have identified a shorter splice variant of ST6GalNac1 that has only been reported in PCa [120]. The short isoform results from the inclusion of an additional exon (exon 2) within the 5' UTR that generates a new start codon and encodes a longer mRNA variant but a shorter, fully functional protein isoform that has increased expression compared to the full-length protein isoform missing exon 2. In vitro studies suggest a role for the short isoform in promoting EMT through decreased cell adhesion and increased cell motility.

A new splice variant of *PCSK6* has been identified in PCa. *PCSK6* codes for the proprotein convertase PACE4 that modifies proprotein substrates in secretory and known oncogenic pathways. Couture et al. [121] identified a variant of *PCSK6* with a shorter 3'UTR via AS of exon 25

(variant known as *PACE4-altCT*). While both the full-length PACE4 and the shorter PACE4-altCT are expressed in PCa specimens, PACE4-altCT showed increased expression in higher grade tumors. Additionally, PACE4-altCT appears less susceptible to degradation and secretion, is more stable, more rapidly activated, and increases growth and proliferation when compared to the full-length protein. PACE4-altCT directly increases the processing of pro-GDF15 (i.e., prostate differentiation factor), a TGF^β ligand with a known role in immunosuppression, protection against radiation-induced cell death, and neovascularization.

Three splice variants of CLK1 have been identified: full-length CLK1, $CLK1^{T1}$ (skipping of exon 4), and $CLK1^{T2}$ (retention of intron 4). CLK1 is responsible for phosphorylating and activating SRSFs and other SFs. Both T1 and T2 isoforms lack the catalytic domain and are inactive. The $CLK1^{T2}$ has been found to be the more prominent isoform in PCa. Treating PCa cells with a CLK1 inhibitor shifts the CLK1 variant expression ratio to favor both the expression of full-length active CLK1, as well as expression of the pro-apoptotic variants of *CASP9*, *MCL-1*, *BCL2L1*, and *survivin* [122].

The HSD17B4 gene encodes 17β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 4 $(17\beta$ HSD4), an enzyme involved in testosterone and dihydrotestosterone metabolism. Recently, five splice variants of HSD17B4 were identified, four of which encode enzyme isoforms that do not inactivate testosterone and dihydrotestosterone via conversion to inert steroid products [123]. The remaining isoform, isoform 2, is the major enzyme expressed in prostate tissue and is able to inactivate androgens. The splice variant encoding isoform 2 of 17\betaHSD4 is missing part of exon 2 and all of exon 3, which code for sections of the short-chain alcohol dehydrogenase domain. This isoform was found to be functionally suppressed in metastatic castration-resistant PCa.

As outlined above, AS plays an important role in PCa development, progression, and drug resistance. While it is fairly well accepted that AA PCa is genetically different from EA PCa, the role of AS in PCa disparities is less clear. Over

Deference	Spliced gene	Alternative enliging event	Call lines and/or notiont complete
Cap et al [99]		Cryptic evon	L NC ₂ P 22 Pv1 PC 3
	ADV7 (hapNDA1)	Cryptic exon	Detients (sthrights N(A))
[100]	ARV7 (IIIKINPAT)	Crypuc exon	Patients (ethnicity N/A)
Ko et al. [101]	ARV7 (hnRNPA1)	Cryptic exon	PC-3
Nadiminty et al. [102]	ARV7 (hnRNPA1)	Cryptic exon	LNCaP, <u>22Rv1</u> , VCaP, C4-2B
Tummala et al. [103]	ARV7 (hnRNPA1)	Cryptic exon	<u>22Rv1</u> , C4-2B
Stockley et al. [104]	ARV7 (Sam68, SRSF1)	Cryptic exon	<u>22Rv1</u> , VCaP, CWR22, PC3-M
Sun et al. [105]	ARv567es	Exon skipping	M12, LNCaP, LuCaP
Hörnberg et al. [106]	ARv567es	Exon skipping	Patients (ethnicity N/A)
Liu et al. [107]	ARv567es(MED1)	Exon skipping	LNCaP, <u>M12</u>
Sahadevan et al. [108]	FGFR2	Mutually exclusive exons	PC-3, DU145, patients (ethnicity N/A)
Carstens et al. [109]	FGFR2	Mutually exclusive exons	LNCaP,PC-3, DU145, DUP9479, DUKAP-1, DUPKAP-2
Gnanapragasam et al. [110]	FGFR2	Mutually exclusive exons	Patients (ethnicity N/A)
Woolard et al. [111]	VEGF	Alternative 3' splice site	Patients (ethnicity N/A)
Rennel et al. [112]	VEGF	Alternative 3' splice site	PC-3, patients (ethnicity N/A)
Mavrou et al. [113]	VEGF	Alternative 3' splice site	PC3, LNCaP, DU145
Mercatante et al. [114]	BCL2L1	Alternative 5' splice site	PC-3
Busà et al. [115]	BCL2L1 (SAM68)	Alternative 5' splice site	LNCaP, patients (ethnicity N/A)
Gan et al. [116]	SH3GLB1 (SRRM4)	Alternative 5' splice site, exon skipping	LNCaP, 22RV1 , PC-3, DU145, NCI-H660, LNCaP95, patients (ethnicity N/A)
Augello et al. [117]	CCND1	Intron retention	LNCaP, VCaP, LAPC4, PC-3, C4-2
Olshavsky et al. [118]	CCND1 (SRSF1)	Intron retention	LNCaP, LAPC4
Paronetto et al. [119]	CCND1	Intron retention	PC3, LNCaP
Munkley et al. [120]	ST6GalNAc1	Exon skipping	LNCaP, VCaP, PC-3, 22Rv1, DU145, LNCaP-AI, and LNCaP-cdxR, BPH-1
Couture et al. [121]	PCSK6	Exon skipping	DU145, LNCaP, patients (ethnicity N/A)
Uzor et al. [122]	CLK1	Exon skipping, intron retention	PC-3, DU145, VCaP
Ko et al. [123]	17βHSD4	Alternative 5' splice site, exon skipping	LNCaP, LAPC4, VCaP, PC-3, DU145, RWPE-1, <u>22Rv1</u> , patients (ethnicity N/A)
Wang et al. [59]	PIK3CD	Exon skipping	MDA PCa 2b, VCaP, LNCaP, PC-3, patients (AA, EA)

 Table 1
 Summary of splicing events in prostate cancer

Cell lines and patient samples with known African American ancestry are in bold and underlined *ARV7* androgen receptor splice variant 7, *hnRNPA1* heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein A1, *SRSF1* serine/arginine splicing factor 1, ARv567es androgen receptor variant (exons) 5,6,7 exon skipping, *MED1* mediator complex subunit 1, *FGFR2* fibroblast growth factor receptor 2, *VEGF* vascular endothelial growth factor, *BCL2L1* B-cell lymphoma 2-like 1, *Sam68* Src-associated substrate in mitosis of 68 kDa, *SH3GLB1* SH3 domain-containing GRB2-like protein B1, *SRRM4* serine/arginine repetitive matrix 4, *CCND1* cyclin D1, *SRSF1* serine/arginine splicing factor 1, *ST6GalNAc1* ST6 *N*-acetylgalactosaminide alpha-2,6-sialyltransferase 1, *PCSK6*, proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 6, *CLK1* CDC-like kinase 1, *17βHSD4* 17β-Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 4, *PIK3CD* phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate 3-kinase catalytic subunit delta, *AA* African American, *EA* European American

60% of the studies cited above used only cell lines derived from EA patients (Table 1). Of the remaining studies, two cell lines (22RV1 and M12) of mixed or self-reported AA ancestry were utilized. The 22RV1 cell line was derived from the CWR22 line, a primary prostatic carcinoma serially transplanted in nude mice [124, 125]. A recent study determined 22RV1 was only 41% AA ancestry [126]. The M12 line was immortalized from the P69SV40T cell line via transfection with SV40 T antigen and passaged in nude mice [127, 128]. While the ancestry of the M12 line has not been confirmed by genotyping, the parental cell line was reported to be derived from prostate epithelial cells from a 63-year-old AA man. None of these studies use an AA PCa cell line with over 50% AA genetic ancestry, such as MDA PCa 2b or RC77 T/E (74% and 73%, respectively) [126]. Forty-one percent of the studies cited analyzed primary prostatic samples, but none specified the ancestry (genotyped or self-reported) of the patients.

The lack of AA cell lines and patient samples used in AS PCa studies reflects the lack of minority subjects across all cancer, and specifically PCa, research [129]. In order to better understand PCa disparities, eliminate the disproportionate disease burden, provide novel biomarkers, and improve survival and quality of life in AA PCa patients, we must increase the use of AA PCa cell lines and specimens in our research.

Differential Alternative Splicing of *PIK3CD* in Prostate Cancer Disparities

In order to further our understanding of AS in PCa health disparities, we applied a functional genomics approach to investigate differential AS (dAS) events in AA and EA PCa patients [59]. Twenty AA and 15 EA PCa tumor and matched normal specimens (treatment naïve, Gleason

score 6-8, age 49-81) were collected, and samples were analyzed using the Affymetrix Human GeneChip exon array to identify genes undergoing AS (Table 2). We identified 158 unique genes that underwent AS in both AA and EA PCa. It can be concluded that these genes, which included TMPRSS2 and AR, are important for PCa development regardless of race. In comparing AA versus EA PCa, 1876 unique genes undergoing dAS were identified, including RASGRP2, NF1, and BAK1. Over 2200 unique genes underwent dAS in AA versus EA normal prostate tissue, suggesting a differential role for these genes in normal prostate homeostasis. We identified splicing events involving 644 genes, including PIK3CD, ITGA4, and MET, that were present in both AA PCa and AA normal tissue, but were absent in EA

Table 2 Examples of differential alternative splicing events in AA PCa, EA PCa, AA normal, and EA normal specimens

	# of AS	
Patient groups	genes	Examples
AA PCa and EA	158	TMPRSS2, AR
PCa		
AA PCa vs. EA	1876	RASGRP2, NF1,
PCa		BAK1
AA normal vs. EA	2205	MTOR,EGFR,
normal		BCL2L1
AA PCa and AA	644	PIK3CD, ITGA4,
normal		MET
AA PCa vs. AA	1575	FGFR3, TSC2
normal		

AA African American, EA European American, PCa prostate cancer, TMPRSS2, transmembrane protease serine 2, AR androgen receptor RASGRP2 RAS guanyl releasing protein 2, NF1 neurofibromin 1, BAK1 BCL2 antagonist/ killer 1, MTOR mechanistic target of rapamycin kinase, EGFR endothelial growth factor receptor, BCL2L1 B-cell lymphoma 2-like 1, PIK3CD phosphatidylinositol-4,5bisphosphate 3-kinase catalytic subunit delta, ITGA4 integrin subunit alpha 4, MET MET proto-oncogene, receptor tyrosine kinase, FGFR3 fibroblast growth factor receptor 3, TSC2 tuberous sclerosis complex subunit 2 specimens. We also identified 1575 unique genes (e.g., FGFR3 and TSC2) undergoing dAS in AA PCa versus AA normal, but not EA PCa versus EA normal. These last two comparisons identify two important groups of splicing events: splicing events involving 644 genes that are inherited based on African ancestry, and splicing events involving 1575 genes that occur de novo during PCa progression solely in AA men. Over 70% of dAS events identified in AA PCa versus EA PCa occur in pathways known to contribute to oncogenesis (e.g., cell growth, proliferation, cell survival, cell adhesion, and DNA repair), and the majority were in-frame exon skipping events. Further validation of a subset of genes identified as potential targets for dAS was performed in an additional cohort of 22-25 AA and 21-24 EA specimens. Ninety-one percent of genes chosen for validation via RT-PCR were confirmed. The exon array results also identified 886 differentially expressed genes in AA versus EA PCa (compared to 1876 dAS genes). These data suggest that dAS is playing a much greater role in AA PCa disparities than differential gene expression.

Of the dAS genes identified, we focused on PIK3CD. PIK3CD codes for the p1108 (or PIK3C\delta) catalytic domain of the class I PI3Ks that bind the p85 inhibitory subunit. Upon activation by a receptor tyrosine kinase, p1108 phosphorylates phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PftdIns(4,5)P2), generating phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate (PIP3) which recruits AKT1 to the cell membrane thus activating downstream signaling cascades involved in cell growth, survival, and proliferation. The delta subunit of p110 is highly expressed in leukocytes [130, 131]. Four PIK3CD splice variants were identified: PIK3CD-L includes all 24 exons; PIK3CD-Si is missing exon 8 (encoding a domain between the Ras-binding and C2 domains); PIK3CD-Sii is missing exon 20 (encoding part of catalytic domain) (Fig. 2); PIK3CD-Siii is missing exon 8 and 20; and PIK3CD-Siv has a large deletion that encodes the helical domain and part of catalytic domain.

We selected the *PIK3CD-Sii* variant (identified as *PIK3CD-S* from here on) for further characterization for two reasons. First, the *PIK3CD-Sii* variant encodes a protein isoform missing 56 amino acids (Fig. 3) of the catalytic domain which has an important role in p1108 activity. Second, analysis of 494 PCa patients from The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) revealed significantly decreased disease-free survival in patients with high *PIK3CD-S/PIK3CD-L* expression ratios (p = 0.0052). Although this analysis was performed irrespective of race or tumor grade, these data provide evidence for the clinical relevance of PIK3Cδ-S in PCa.

We performed siRNA-mediated knockdown of the PIK3CD-L variant in an EA PCa cell line VCaP (which has little to no expression of PIK3CD-S) and knockdown of either the PIK3CD-L or PIK3CD-S variant in an AA PCa cell line MDA PCa 2b (which expresses both variants). Knockdown of PIK3CD-L in VCaP cells results in a significant decrease in invasion, proliferation, and phosphorylation of key downstream signaling proteins (i.e., AKT, mTOR, and S6). In the AA cell line, knockdown of PIK3CD-L enriches expression of PIK3CD-S, leading to increased proliferation, invasion, and phosphorylation of AKT, mTOR, and S6. Not surprisingly, we observe no significant effects on invasion, proliferation, nor phosphorylation of signaling proteins after "knockdown" of PIK3CD-S in the EA cell line. However, a significant decrease in invasion, proliferation, and phosphorylation was observed after knockdown of PIK3CD-S (thereby enriching for *PIK3CD-L*) in the AA cell line.

In order to determine the effect of both variants on drug resistance, we ectopically overexpressed either PIK3Cô-L or PIK3Cô-S in two EA cell lines, VCaP and PC-3, and treated cells with SMI CAL-101. CAL-101 the (idelalisib (Zydelig[®])) targets p1108 and is approved for treatment of hematological malignancies such as chronic lymphocytic leukemia, follicular B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma, and small lymphocytic lymphoma. Treatment of PCa cells overexpressing PIK3Cδ-L with CAL-101 results in a significant decrease in proliferation and AKT and S6 phosphorylation. CAL-101 treatment of PIK3Cδ-S overexpressing cells results in no significant suppression of proliferation or AKT and



Fig. 2 Alternative splicing of *PIK3CD*. Schematic representations of alternative splicing of *PIK3CD* premRNA. EA patients predominantly express *PIK3CD-L*

which includes exon 20 (blue), while exon 20 is skipped (red) in AA patients to generate *PIK3CD-S*. Designed on https://prosite.expasy.org



Fig. 3 Protein isoforms of p1108 due to alternative splicing. Schematic representations of long isoform due to exon 20 inclusion (top) and short isoform due to exon 20 skipping (bottom) of p1108. Adaptor (p85) binding domain (ABD), RAS binding domain (RBD), C2, helical,

and catalytic domains are shown in gray. Key phosphorylation and ubiquitin lysine (K), serine (S), tyrosine (Y), and threonine (T) sites are indicated as diamonds. The catalytic domain region encoded by exon 20 is shown in blue. Designed on https://prosite.expasy.org

S6 phosphorylation compared to vehicle-treated cells. In addition, PIK3Cδ-S expressing cells also have greater baseline proliferation compared to PIK3Cδ-L expressing cells.

Next, we investigated the effect of both PIK3C8 isoforms on tumor formation, metastasis, and responsiveness to CAL-101 treatment in non-obese diabetic/severe combined immunode-ficiency (NOD/SCID) mice. We observe significantly decreased tumor formation in mice injected subcutaneously with PIK3C8-L-expressing PCa cells and treated with 50 mg/kg CAL-101 compared to mice injected with

PIK3C δ -S-expressing cells and treated with CAL-101. Additionally, mice injected with PIK3C δ -L-expressing cells via tail vein and treated with CAL-101 develop significantly less lung metastases compared to mice injected with PIK3C δ -S-expressing cells and treated with CAL-101. These data suggest that CAL-101 is not effective against the PIK3C δ -S isoform in vivo.

In order to test the functional differences between the two PIK3C8 isoforms, we performed co-immunoprecipitation (co-IP) and cell-free kinase assays. Co-IP experiments demonstrate that the PIK3C δ -L isoform binds with a significantly higher affinity to the p85 α regulatory subunit compared to PIK3C δ -S. We also observe higher activity of PIK3C δ -S in a cell-free kinase assay with and without the p85 α subunit present and with or without wortmannin or CAL-101 treatment compared to PIK3C δ -L. This suggests that PIK3C δ -S activity is not as tightly suppressed by p85 α and retains kinase activity even in the presence of SMIs such as CAL-101.

What has not been investigated up to this point is the mechanism responsible for the preferential expression of the *PIK3CD-S* variant in AA PCa. Therefore, we returned to gene expression data generated from previous studies [39, 132] to investigate which upstream SFs may be playing a role in the generation of the *PIK3CD-S* variant in AA PCa. Interestingly, we identified several SFs, including SRSF2, SRSF7, and HNRNPF, with increased expression in AA PCa compared to EA PCa at both the mRNA and protein levels (data

not shown). Moreover, the intronic regions surrounding exon 20 of the PIK3CD pre-mRNA have computationally predicted binding sites for these three SFs. We hypothesized that binding of SRSF2, SRSF7, and/or hnRNPF to flanking regions of exon 20 in the PIK3CD pre-mRNA may facilitate exon 20 skipping, leading to the generation of PIK3CD-S. In order to test this hypothesis, we treated MDA PCa 2b cells with siRNAs targeting SRSF2, SRSF7, or HNRNPF, and observe a decrease in expression of PIK3CD-S and an enrichment of PIK3CD-L (Fig. 4a). We refer to this phenomenon as splice switching. SiRNA-mediated SF knockdowns are confirmed by western blot analysis (Fig. 4b). Our findings suggest that aberrant expression of SFs may be playing a role in the dAS observed in AA PCa.

Thus, we propose a mechanism in which "normal" expression of specific SFs (SRSF2, SRSF7, and/or hnRNPF) in EA PCa promotes inclusion



Fig. 4 Knockdown of overexpressed splicing factors causes splice switching of *PIK3CD* variants. (a) siRNA-mediated knockdown of three splicing factors in an AA cell line switches predominant expression of *PIK3CD* from the -S to the -L variant. Blots were quantified by densitometry and numbers underneath blots represent the

-S/-L expression ratio. Shown are representative blots from 3–4 independent experiments. (b) Western blot confirms knockdown of splicing factors at the protein level. Abbreviations: F2, SRSF2; F7, SRSF7; PF, hnRNPF; β , β -actin. Shown are representative blots from 3 to 4 independent experiments



Fig. 5 Proposed mechanism for role of aberrant splicing of *PIK3CD* in PCa disparities. EA cell lines (e.g., VCaP) and patient specimens show "normal"/low expression of SFs, such as SRSF2 (left panel). Normal splicing of *PIK3CD* pre-mRNA generates the long variant containing exon 20, which encodes the p1108-L protein that has low

of exon 20 in the final transcript of PIK3CD-L and generation of the PIK3Cδ-L protein (Fig. 5). This protein isoform is sensitive to CAL-101 and has high binding affinity to the p85 α regulatory subunit. In AA PCa, however, increased expression of SFs SRSF2, SRSF7, and/or hnRNPF results in dAS of the PIK3CD pre-mRNA, leading to skipping of exon 20, and subsequent generation of the PIK3C8-S protein isoform, which exhibits increased oncogenic signaling and decreased sensitivity to SMIs such as CAL-101 (idelalisib). Of interest, ~50% of patients treated second line with idelalisib for certain B-cell malignancies (e.g., chronic lymphocytic leukemia) will exhibit primary resistance to this SMI [133–135]. The mechanism of resistance is

oncogenic properties. Aberrant over-expression of SRSF2 in AA cell lines (MDA PCa 2b) and patient samples results in differential alternative splicing of *PIK3CD* (right panel). This generates p110δ-S protein that has higher oncogenic signaling and is resistant to CAL-101 (idelalisib)

currently unknown. We propose that expression of the PIK3C\delta-S protein isoform may be responsible, in part, for this resistance. We are currently performing a high throughput chemical library screen to identify a SMI that will effectively suppress PIK3C\delta-S activity.

Conclusion

While studies focusing on PCa disparities have increased over the past 10 years, the RNA splicing landscape has not been fully characterized as a potential mechanism for race-related PCa aggressiveness. Our recent study has highlighted genome-wide dAS events occurring specifically in AA PCa. The dAS events in AA PCa are overrepresented in known oncogenic signaling pathproviding a mechanistic ways, possibly explanation for PCa disparities. While further studies are needed to fully understand the oncogenic capacity of other variants identified in our study (e.g., FGFR3, MET, and TSC2), these AS variants could serve as useful biomarkers for prognostic predictions and in identifying nonresponsive patients to SMIs. Further characterization of dAS variants in AA PCa patients will provide greater, and much needed, insight into the mechanisms responsible for PCa disparities possible leads and new for therapeutic intervention.

Acknowledgements This work is supported by NIH R01 CA204806 (N.H.L.)

References

- David, C. J., & Manley, J. L. (2010). Alternative premRNA splicing regulation in cancer: Pathways and programs unhinged. *Genes & Development*, 24(21), 2343–2364.
- Antonopoulou, E., & Ladomery, M. (2018). Targeting splicing in prostate cancer. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 19(5), 1287–1302.
- Hagen, R. M., & Ladomery, M. R. (2012). Role of splice variants in the metastatic progression of prostate cancer. *Biochemical Society Transactions*, 40(4), 870–874.
- Lapuk, A. V., Volik, S. V., Wang, Y., & Collins, C. C. (2014). The role of mRNA splicing in prostate cancer. *Asian Journal of Andrology*, 16(4), 515–521.
- Munkley, J., Livermore, K., Rajan, P., & Elliott, D. J. (2017). RNA splicing and splicing regulator changes in prostate cancer pathology. *Human Genetics*, 136, 1143–1154.
- Rajan, P., Elliott, D. J., Robson, C. N., & Leung, H. Y. (2009). Alternative splicing and biological heterogeneity in prostate cancer. *Nature Reviews Urology*, 6(8), 454–460.
- Sette, C. (2013). Alternative splicing programs in prostate cancer. *International Journal of Cell Biology*, 2013, 458727.
- Siegel, R. L., Miller, K. D., & Jemal, A. (2018). Cancer statistics, 2018. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 68(1), 7–30.
- Lynch, H. T., Kosoko-Lasaki, O., Leslie, S. W., Rendell, M., Shaw, T., Snyder, C., D'Amico, A. V., Buxbaum, S., et al. (2016). Screening for familial and hereditary prostate cancer. *International Journal* of Cancer, 138(11), 2579–2591.

- Brawley, O. W. (2012). Prostate cancer epidemiology in the United States. World Journal of Urology, 30(2), 195–200.
- Powell, I. J. (2007). Epidemiology and pathophysiology of prostate cancer in African-American men. *Journal of Urology*, 177(2), 444–449.
- Cooperberg, M. R. (2013). Re-examining racial disparities in prostate cancer outcomes. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 31(24), 2979–2980.
- DeSantis, C. E., DeSantis, C. E, Siegel, R. L., Sauer, A. G., Miller, K. D., Fedewa, S. A., Alcaraz, K. I., et al. (2016). Cancer statistics for African Americans, 2016: Progress and opportunities in reducing racial disparities. *A Cancer Journal for Clinicians*, 66(4), 290–308.
- Rebbeck, T. R. (2017). Prostate cancer disparities by race and ethnicity: From nucleotide to neighborhood. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine*, 8(9), a030387.
- Chornokur, G., Dalton, K., Borysova, M. E., & Kumar, N. B. (2011). Disparities at presentation, diagnosis, treatment, and survival in African American men, affected by prostate cancer. *The Prostate*, 71(9), 985–997.
- Martin, D. N., Starks, A. M., & Ambs, S. (2013). Biological determinants of health disparities in prostate cancer. *Current Opinion in Oncology*, 25(3), 235–241.
- Oltean, S., Sorg, B. S., Albrecht, T., Bonano, V. I., Brazas, R. M., Dewhirst, M. W., et al. (2006). Alternative inclusion of fibroblast growth factor receptor 2 exon IIIc in dunning prostate tumors reveals unexpected epithelial mesenchymal plasticity. *PNAS*, 103(38), 14116–14121.
- Powell, I. J., & Bollig-Fischer, A. (2013). Minireview: The molecular and genomic basis for prostate cancer health disparities. *Molecular Endocrinology*, 27(6), 879–891.
- Evans, S., Metcalfe, C., Ibrahim, F., Persad, R., & Ben-Shlomo, Y. (2008). Investigating black-white differences in prostate cancer prognosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal* of Cancer, 123(2), 430–435.
- Robbins, A. S., Whittemore, A. S., & Thom, D. H. (2000). Differences in socioeconomic status and survival among white and black men with prostate cancer. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 151(4), 409–416.
- Tyson, M. D., & Castle, E. P. (2014). Racial disparities in survival for patients with clinically localized prostate cancer adjusted for treatment effects. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 89(3), 300–307.
- 22. Magi-Galluzzi, C., Magi-Galluzzi, C., Tsusuki, T., Elson, P., Simmerman, K., LaFargue, C., Esgueva, R., et al. (2011). TMPRSS2-ERG gene fusion prevalence and class are significantly different in prostate cancer of Caucasian, African-American and Japanese patients. *The Prostate*, *71*(5), 489–497.
- Tosoian, J. J., Almutairi, F., Morais, C. L., Glavaris, S., Hicks, J., Sundi, D., et al. (2017). Prevalence and

prognostic significance of PTEN loss in African-American and European-American men undergoing radical prostatectomy. *European Urology*, 71(5), 697–700.

- Schumacher, F. R., Feigelson, H. S., Cox, D. G., Haiman, C. A., Albanes, D., Buring, J., et al. (2007). A common 8q24 variant in prostate and breast cancer from a large nested case-control study. *Cancer Research*, 67(7), 2951–2956.
- Haiman, C. A., Patterson, N., Freedman, M. L., Myers, S. R., Pike, M. C., Waliszewska, A., et al. (2007). Multiple regions within 8q24 independently affect risk for prostate cancer. *Nature Genetics*, 39(5), 638–644.
- 26. Han, Y., Rand, K. A., Hazelett, D. J., Imgles, S. A., Kittles, R. A., Strom, S. S., et al. (2016). Prostate cancer susceptibility in men of African ancestry at 8q24. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, *108*(7), djv431.
- 27. Conti, D. V., Conti, D. V., Wang, K., Sheng, X., Bensen, J. T., Hazelett, D. J., Cook, M. B., et al. (2017). Two novel susceptibility loci for prostate cancer in men of African ancestry. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 109(8), djx084.
- Haiman, C. A. (2011). Genome-wide association study of prostate cancer in men of African ancestry identifies a susceptibility locus at 17q21. *Nature Genetics*, 43(6), 570–573.
- Taioli, E., Sears, V., Watson, A., Flores-Obando, R. E., Jackson, M. D., Ukoli, F. A., et al. (2013). Polymorphisms in CYP17 and CYP3A4 and prostate cancer in men of African descent. *The Prostate*, 73(6), 668–676.
- Kittles, R. A., Panguluri, R. K., Chen, W., Massac, A., Ahaghotu, C., Jackson, A., et al. (2001). CYP17 promoter variant associated with prostate cancer aggressiveness in African Americans. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention, 10*, 943–947.
- Powell, I. J. (2013). Genes associated with prostate cancer are differentially expressed in African American and European American men. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention*, 22(5), 891–897.
- 32. Shuch, B., Mikhail, M., Satagopan, J., Lee, P., Yee, H., Chang, C., et al. (2004). Racial disparity of epidermal growth factor receptor expression in prostate cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 22(23), 4725–4729.
- 33. Wallace, T. A., Prueitt, R. L., Yi, M., Howe, T. M., Gillespie, J. W., Yfantis, H. G., et al. (2008). Tumor immunobiological differences in prostate cancer between African-American and European-American men. *Cancer Research*, 68(3), 927–936.
- 34. Teslow, E. A., Bao, B., Dyson, G., Legendre, C., Mitrea, C., Sakr, W., et al. (2018). Exogenous IL-6 induces mRNA splice variant MBD2_v2 to promote stemness in TP53 wild-type, African American PCa cells. *Molecular Oncology*, *12*(7), 1138–1152.

- Hardiman, G., Savage, S. J., Hazard, E. S., Wilson, R. C., Courtney, S. M., Smith, M. T., et al. (2016). Systems analysis of the prostate transcriptome in African–American men compared with European– American men. *Pharmacogenomics*, 17(10), 1129–1143.
- 36. Rose, A. E., Satagopan, J. M., Oddoux, C., Zhou, Q., Xu, R., Olshen, A. B., et al. (2010). Copy number and gene expression differences between African American and Caucasian American prostate cancer. *Journal of Translational Medicine*, 8(1), 70.
- Theodore, S. C., Rhim, J. S., Turner, T., & Yates, C. (2010). MiRNA 26a expression in a novel panel of African American prostate cancer cell lines. *Ethnicity and Disease*, 20(1 Suppl 1), S1–96–100.
- 38. Theodore, S. C., Davis, M., Zhao, F., Wang, H., Chen, D., Rhim, J., et al. (2014). MicroRNA profiling of novel African American and Caucasian prostate cancer cell lines reveals a reciprocal regulatory relationship of *miR-152* and DNA methyltransferase 1. *Oncotarget*, 5(11), 3512–3525.
- 39. Wang, B.-D., Ceniccola, K., Yang, Q., Andrawis, R., Patel, V., Ji, Y., et al. (2015). Identification and functional validation of reciprocal microRNAmRNA pairings in African American prostate cancer disparities. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 21(21), 4970–4984.
- 40. Kwabi-Addo, B., Wang, S., Chung, W., Jelinek, J., Patierno, S. R., Wang, B.-D., et al. (2010). Identification of differentially methylated genes in normal prostate tissues from African American and Caucasian men. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 16(14), 3539–3547.
- 41. Devaney, J. M., Wang, S., Furbert-Harris, P., Apprey, V., Ittmann, M., Wang, B.-D., et al. (2015). Genomewide differentially methylated genes in prostate cancer tissues from African-American and Caucasian men. *Epigenetics*, 10(4), 319–328.
- 42. Tang, D., Kryvenko, O. N., Mitrache, N., Do, K. C., Jankowski, M., Chitale, D. A., et al. (2013). Methylation of the RARB gene increases prostate cancer risk in black Americans. *The Journal of Urology, 190*(1), 317–324.
- Baralle, F. E., & Giudice, J. (2017). Alternative splicing as a regulator of development and tissue identity. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 18(7), 437–451.
- 44. Gallego-Paez, L. M., Bordone, M. C., Leote, A. C., Saraiva-Agostinho, N., Ascensão-Ferreira, M., & Barbosa-Morais, N. L. (2017). Alternative splicing: The pledge, the turn, and the prestige: The key role of alternative splicing in human biological systems. *Human Genetics*, *136*(9), 1015–1042.
- Will, C. L., & Lührmann, R. (2011). Spliceosome structure and function. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 3(7), a003707.
- Wongpalee, S. P., & Sharma, S. (2014). The premRNA splicing reaction. In *Methods in molecular biology* (pp. 3–12). Clifton, NJ: Humana Press.

- Fu, X. D., & Ares, M. (2014). Context-dependent control of alternative splicing by RNA-binding proteins. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 15(10), 689–701.
- Rossbach, O., Hung, L.-H., Khrameeva, E., Schreiner, S., König, J., Curk, T., et al. (2014). Crosslinking-immunoprecipitation (iCLIP) analysis reveals global regulatory roles of hnRNP L. *RNA Biology*, 11(2), 146–155.
- Zhou, Z., & Fu, X.-D. (2013). Regulation of splicing by SR proteins and SR protein-specific kinases. *Chromosoma*, 122(3), 191–207.
- 50. Huelga, S. C., Vu, A. Q., Arnold, J. D., Liang, T. Y., Liu, P. P., Yan, B. Y., et al. (2012). Integrative genome-wide analysis reveals cooperative regulation of alternative splicing by hnRNP proteins. *Cell Reports*, 1(2), 167–178.
- Pandit, S., Zhou, Y., Shiue, L., Coutinho-Mansfield, G., Li, H., Qiu, J., et al. (2013). Genome-wide analysis reveals SR protein cooperation and competition in regulated splicing. *Molecular Cell*, 50(2), 223–235.
- Wang, E. T., Sandberg, R., Luo, S., Khrebtukova, I., Zhang, L., Mayr, C., et al. (2008). Alternative isoform regulation in human tissue transcriptomes. *Nature*, 456(7221), 470–476.
- Gonçalves, V., Pereira, J. F. S., & Jordan, P. (2017). Signaling pathways driving aberrant splicing in cancer cells. *Genes*, 9(1), 9.
- Dvinge, H., Kim, E., Abdel-Wahab, O., & Bradley, R. K. (2016). RNA splicing factors as oncoproteins and tumour suppressors. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, *16*(7), 413.
- 55. Ryan, M., Wong, W. C., Brown, R., Akbani, R., Su, X., Broom, B., et al. (2016). TCGASpliceSeq a compendium of alternative mRNA splicing in cancer. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 44(D1), D1018–D1022.
- 56. Sebestyén, E., Singh, B., Miñana, B., Pagès, A., Mateo, F., Pujana, M. A., et al. (2016). Large-scale analysis of genome and transcriptome alterations in multiple tumors unveils novel cancer-relevant splicing networks. *Genome Research*, 26(6), 732–744.
- Oltean, S., & Bates, D. O. (2014). Hallmarks of alternative splicing in cancer. *Oncogene*, 33(46), 5311–5318.
- Climente-González, H., Porta-Pardo, E., Godzik, A., & Eyras, E. (2017). The functional impact of alternative splicing in cancer. *Cell Reports*, 20(9), 2215–2226.
- 59. Wang, B.-D., Ceniccola, K., Hwang, S., Andrawis, R., Horvath, A., Freedman, J. A., et al. (2017). Alternative splicing promotes tumour aggressiveness and drug resistance in African American prostate cancer. *Nature Communications*, 8, 15921.
- Supek, F., Miñana, B., Valcárcel, J., Gabaldón, T., & Lehner, B. (2014). Synonymous mutations frequently act as driver mutations in human cancers. *Cell*, 156(6), 1324–1335.
- Dvinge, H., & Bradley, R. K. (2015). Widespread intron retention diversifies most cancer transcriptomes. *Genome Medicine*, 7(1), 45.

- 62. Hu, Z., Yau, C., & Ahmed, A. A. (2017). A pancancer genome-wide analysis reveals tumour dependencies by induction of nonsense-mediated decay. *Nature Communications*, 8, 15943.
- Jung, H., Lee, D., Lee, J., Park, D., Kim, Y. J., Park, W.-Y., et al. (2015). Intron retention is a widespread mechanism of tumor-suppressor inactivation. *Nature Genetics*, 47(11), 1242–1248.
- 64. Alsafadi, S., Houy, A., Battistella, A., Popova, T., Wassef, M., Henry, E., et al. (2016). Cancerassociated SF3B1 mutations affect alternative splicing by promoting alternative branchpoint usage. *Nature Communications*, 7, 10615.
- 65. Seol, D.-W., & Billiar, T. R. (1999). A caspase-9 variant missing the catalytic site is an endogenous inhibitor of apoptosis. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274(4), 2072–2076.
- 66. Shultz, J. C., Goehe, R. W., Murudkar, C. S., Wijesinghe, D. S., Mayton, E. K., Massiello, A., et al. (2011). SRSF1 regulates the alternative splicing of caspase 9 via a novel intronic splicing enhancer affecting the chemotherapeutic sensitivity of non-small cell lung cancer cells. *Molecular Cancer Research*, 9(7), 889–900.
- 67. Goehe, R. W., Shultz, J. C., Murudkar, C., Usanovic, S., Lamour, N. F., Massey, D. H., et al. (2010). hnRNP L regulates the tumorigenic capacity of lung cancer xenografts in mice via caspase-9 pre-mRNA processing. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *120*(11), 3923–3939.
- Vu, N. T., Park, M. A., Shultz, J. C., Goehe, R. W., Hoeferlin, L. A., Shultz, M. D., et al. (2013). hnRNP U enhances caspase-9 splicing and is modulated by AKT-dependent phosphorylation of hnRNP L. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 288(12), 8575–8584.
- Chen, J., & Weiss, W. A. (2015). Alternative splicing in cancer: Implications for biology and therapy. *Oncogene*, 34(1), 1–14.
- Golan-Gerstl, R., Cohen, M., Shilo, A., Suh, S.-S., Bakacs, A., Coppola, L., & Karni, R. (2011). Splicing factor hnRNP A2/B1 regulates tumor suppressor gene splicing and is an oncogenic driver in glioblastoma. *Cancer Research*, *71*(13), 4464–4472.
- Wang, Y., Chen, D., Qian, H., Tsai, Y. S., Shao, S., Liu, Q., et al. (2014). The splicing factor RBM4 controls apoptosis, proliferation, and migration to suppress tumor progression. *Cancer Cell*, 26(3), 374–389.
- 72. Agrawal, A. A., Lihau, Y., Smith, P. G., & Buonamici, S. (2018). Targeting splicing abnormalities in cancer. *Current Opinion in Genetics & Development*, 48, 67–74.
- Maguire, S. L., Leonidou, A., Wai, P., Marchiò, C., Ng, C. K., Sapino, A., et al. (2015). SF3B1 mutations constitute a novel therapeutic target in breast Cancer. *The Journal of Pathology*, 235(4), 571–580.
- 74. Imielinski, M., Berger, A. H., Hammerman, P. S., Hernandez, B., Pugh, T. J., Hodis, E., et al. (2012). Mapping the hallmarks of lung adenocarcinoma

with massively parallel sequencing. *Cell*, 150(6), 1107–1120.

- Yoshida, K., Sanada, M., Shiraishi, Y., Nowak, D., Nagata, Y., Yamamoto, R., et al. (2011). Frequent pathway mutations of splicing machinery in myelodysplasia. *Nature*, 478(7367), 64–69.
- Madan, V., Kanojia, D., Li, J., Okamoto, R., Sato-Otsubo, A., Kohlmann, A., et al. (2015). Aberrant splicing of U12-type introns is the hallmark of ZRSR2 mutant myelodysplastic syndrome. *Nature Communications*, 6(1), 6042.
- Bates, D. O., Morris, J. C., Oltean, S., & Donaldson, L. F. (2017). Pharmacology of modulators of alternative splicing. *Pharmacological Reviews*, 69(1), 63–79.
- Hsu, T. Y.-T., Simon, L. M., Neill, N. J., Marcotte, R., Sayad, A., Bland, C. S., et al. (2015). The spliceosome is a therapeutic vulnerability in MYCdriven Cancer. *Nature*, 525(7569), 384–388.
- 79. Hong, D., Kurzrock, R., Naing, A., Wheler, J. J., Falchook, G. S., Schiffman, J. S., et al. (2015). AZD9150, a next-generation antisense oligonucleotide inhibitor of *STAT3* with early evidence of clinical activity in lymphoma and lung cancer. *Science Translational Medicine*, 7(314), 314ra185–314ra185.
- Ross, S. J., Revenko, A. S., Hanson, L. L., Ellston, R., Staniszewska, A., Whalley, N., et al. (2017). Targeting KRAS-dependent tumors with AZD4785, a high-affinity therapeutic antisense oligonucleotide inhibitor of KRAS. *Science Translational Medicine*, 9(394), eaal5253.
- 81. Araki, S., Dairiki, R., Nakayama, Y., Murai, A., Miyashita, R., Iwatani, M., et al. (2015). Inhibitors of CLK protein kinases suppress cell growth and induce apoptosis by modulating pre-mRNA splicing. *PLoS One*, *10*(1), e0116929.
- Siqueira, R. P., Barbosa, É. de A. A., Polêto, M. D., Righetto, G. L., Seraphim, T. V., Salgado, R. L., et al. (2015). Potential antileukemia effect and structural analyses of SRPK inhibition by N-(2-(piperidin-1-YI)-5-(trifluoromethyl)phenyl)isonicotinamide (SRPIN340). *PLoS One, 10*(8), e0134882.
- 83. Coombs, T. C., Tanega, C., Shen, M., Neuenswander, B., Porubsky, P., Wang, J. L., et al. (2010). Probe reports from the NIH molecular libraries program. In *Identification of Selective Inhibitors of cdc2like Kinases 1 and 4 (Clk1, Clk4)*. Bethesda, MD: National Center for Biotechnology Information (US).
- 84. Sidarovich, A., Will, C. L., Anokhina, M. M., Ceballos, J., Sievers, S., Agafonov, D. E., et al. (2017). Identification of a small molecule inhibitor that stalls splicing at an early step of spliceosome activation. *eLife*, 6, e23533.
- 85. Debdab, M., Carreaux, F., Renault, S., Soundararajan, M., Fedorov, O., Filippakopoulos, P., et al. (2011). Leucettines, a class of potent inhibitors of cdc2-like kinases and dual specificity, tyrosine phosphorylation regulated kinases derived from the marine

sponge leucettamine B: Modulation of alternative pre-RNA splicing. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, *54*(12), 4172–4186.

- 86. Effenberger, K. A., James, R. C., Urabe, V. K., Dickey, B. J., Linington, R. G., & Jurica, M. S. (2015). The natural product N-palmitoyl-Lleucine selectively inhibits late assembly of human spliceosomes. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 290(46), 27524–27531.
- Ghigna, C., De Toledo, M., Bonomi, S., Valacca, C., Gallo, S., Apicella, M., et al. (2010). Pro-metastatic splicing of Ron proto-oncogene mRNA can be reversed: Therapeutic potential of bifunctional oligonucleotides and indole derivatives. *RNA Biology*, 7(4), 495–503.
- Soret, J., Bakkour, N., Maire, S., Durand, S., Zekri, L., Gabut, M., et al. (2005). Selective modification of alternative splicing by indole derivatives that target serine-arginine-rich protein splicing factors. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 102(24), 8764–8769.
- Han, T., Goralski, M., Gaskill, N., Capota, E., Kim, J., Ting, T. C., et al. (2017). Anticancer sulfonamides target splicing by inducing RBM39 degradation via recruitment to DCAF15. *Science*, 356(6336), eaal3755.
- Gammons, M. V., Lucas, R., Dean, R., Coupland, S. E., Oltean, S., & Bates, D. O. (2014). Targeting SRPK1 to control VEGF-mediated tumour angiogenesis in metastatic melanoma. *British Journal of Cancer*, 111(3), 477–485.
- Albert, B. J., McPherson, P. A., O'Brien, K., Czaicki, N. L., De Stefino, V., Osman, S., et al. (2009). Meayamycin inhibits pre-messenger RNA splicing and exhibits picomolar activity against multidrugresistant cells. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 8(8), 2308–2318.
- Convertini, P., Shen, M., Potter, P. M., Palacios, G., Lagisetti, C., de la Grange, P., et al. (2014). Sudemycin E influences alternative splicing and changes chromatin modifications. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 42(8), 4947–4961.
- Kaida, D., Motoyoshi, H., Tashiro, E., Nojima, T., Hagiwara, M., Ishigami, K., et al. (2007). Spliceostatin a targets SF3b and inhibits both splicing and nuclear retention of pre-mRNA. *Nature Chemical Biology*, 3(9), 576–583.
- 94. Kotake, Y., Sagane, K., Owa, T., Mimori-Kiyosue, Y., Shimizu, H., Uesugi, M., et al. (2007). Splicing factor SF3b as a target of the antitumor natural product pladienolide. *Nature Chemical Biology*, 3(9), 570–575.
- Finci, L. I., Zhang, X., Huang, X., Zhou, Q., Tsai, J., Teng, T., et al. (2018). The cryo-EM structure of the SF3b spliceosome complex bound to a splicing modulator reveals a pre-mRNA substrate competitive mechanism of action. *Genes & Development*, 32(3– 4), 309–320.
- 96. Eskens, F. A., Ramos, F. J., Burger, H., O'Brien, J. P., Piera, A., de Jonge, M. J. A., et al. (2013). Phase

I pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic study of the first-in-class spliceosome inhibitor E7107 in patients with advanced solid tumors. *Clinical Cancer Research*, *19*(22), 6296–6304.

- 97. Hong, D. S., Kurzrock, R., Naing, A., Wheler, J. J., Falchook, G. S., Schiffman, J. S., et al. (2014). A phase I, open-label, single-arm, dose-escalation study of E7107, a precursor messenger ribonucleic acid (pre-mRNA) splicesome inhibitor administered intravenously on days 1 and 8 every 21 days to patients with solid tumors. *Investigational New Drugs*, 32(3), 436–444.
- 98. Seiler, M., Yoshimi, A., Darman, R., Chan, B., Keaney, G., Thomas, M., et al. (2018). H3B-8800, an orally available small-molecule splicing modulator, induces lethality in spliceosome-mutant cancers. *Nature Medicine*, 24(4), 497–504.
- 99. Cao, B., Qi, Y., Zhang, G., Xu, D., Zhan, Y., Alvarez, X., et al. (2014). Androgen receptor splice variants activating the full-length receptor in mediating resistance to androgen-directed therapy. *Oncotarget*, 5(6), 1646–1656.
- 100. Antonarakis, E. S., Lu, C., Wang, H., Luber, B., Nakazawa, M., Roeser, J. C., et al. (2014). AR-V7 and resistance to enzalutamide and abiraterone in prostate cancer. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 371(11), 1028–1038.
- 101. Ko, C.-C., Chen, Y.-J., Chen, C.-T., Liu, Y.-C., Cheng, F.-C., Hsu, K.-C., & Chow, L.-P. (2014). Chemical proteomics identifies heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein (hnRNP) A1 as the molecular target of Quercetin in its anti-cancer effects in PC-3 cells. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 289(32), 22078–22089.
- 102. Nadiminty, N., Tummala, R., Liu, C., Lou, W., Evans, C. P., & Gao, A. C. et al. (2015). NF-κB2/ p52:c-Myc:hnRNPA1 pathway regulates expression of androgen receptor splice variants and enzalutamide sensitivity in prostate cancer. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 14(8), 1884–1895.
- 103. Tummala, R., Lou, W., Gao, A. C., & Nadiminty, N. (2017). Quercetin targets hnRNPA1 to overcome enzalutamide resistance in prostate cancer cells. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 16(12), 2770–2779.
- 104. Stockley, J., arkert, E., Zhou, Y., Robson, C. N., Elliott, D. J., Lindberg, J., et al. (2015). The RNAbinding protein Sam68 regulates expression and transcription function of the androgen receptor splice variant AR-V7. *Scientific Reports*, 5(1), 13426.
- 105. Sun, S., Sprenger, C. C. T., Vessella, R. L., Haugk, K., Soriano, K., Mostaghel, E. A., et al. (2010). Castration resistance in human prostate cancer is conferred by a frequently occurring androgen receptor splice variant. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 120(8), 2715–2730.
- 106. Hörnberg, E., Ylitalo, E. B., Crnalic, S., Antti, H., Stattin, P., Widmark, A., et al. (2011). Expression of androgen receptor splice variants in prostate cancer bone metastases is associated with castration-

resistance and short survival. *PLoS One*, 6(4), e19059.

- 107. Liu, G., Sprenger, C., Wu, P.-J., Sun, S., Uo, T., Haugk, K., et al. (2015). MED1 mediates androgen receptor splice variant induced gene expression in the absence of ligand. *Oncotarget*, 6(1), 288–304.
- 108. Sahadevan, K., Darby, S., Leung, H. Y., Mathers, M. E., Robson, C. N., & Gnanapragasam, V. (2007). Selective over-expression of fibroblast growth factor receptors 1 and 4 in clinical prostate cancer. *The Journal of Pathology*, 213(1), 82–90.
- 109. Carstens, R. P., Eaton, J. V, Krigman, H. R., Walther, P. J., & Garcia-Blanco, M. A. et al. (1997). Alternative splicing of fibroblast growth factor receptor 2 (FGF-R2) in human prostate cancer. *Oncogene*, 15(25), 3059–3065.
- 110. Gnanapragasam, V. J., Robinson, M. C., Marsh, C., Robson, C. N., Hamdy, F. C., & Leung, H. (2003). FGF8 isoform B expression in human prostate cancer. *British Journal of Cancer*, 88(9), 1432–1438.
- 111. Woolard, J., Wang, W., Bevan, H., Qiu, Y., Morbidelli, L., & Al., E. (2004). VEGF165b, an inhibitory vascular endothelial growth factor splice variant: Mechanism of action, in vivo effect on angiogenesis and endogenous protein expression. *Cancer Research*, 64, 7822–7835.
- 112. Rennel, E., Waine, E., Guan, H., Schüler, Y., Leenders, W., Woolard, J., et al. (2008). The endogenous anti-angiogenic VEGF isoform, VEGF165b inhibits human tumour growth in mice. *British Journal of Cancer*, 98(7), 1250–1257.
- 113. Mavrou, A., Brakspear, K., Hamdollah-Zadeh, M., Damodaran, G., Babaei-Jadidi, R., Oxley, J., et al. (2015). Serine-arginine protein kinase 1 (SRPK1) inhibition as a potential novel targeted therapeutic strategy in prostate cancer. *Oncogene*, 34(33), 4311–4319.
- 114. Mercatante, D. R., Mohler, J. L., & Kole, R. (2002). Cellular response to an antisense-mediated shift of Bcl-X pre-mRNA splicing and antineoplastic agents. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(51), 49374–49382.
- 115. Busà, R., Paronetto, M. P., Farini, D., Pierantozzi, E., Botti, F., Angelini, D. F., et al. (2007). The RNA-binding protein Sam68 contributes to proliferation and survival of human prostate cancer cells. *Oncogene*, 26(30), 4372–4382.
- 116. Gan, Y., Li, Y., Long, Z., Lee, A. R., Xie, N., Lovnicki, J. M., et al. (2018). Roles of alternative RNA splicing of the Bif-1 gene by SRRM4 during the development of treatment-induced neuroendocrine prostate cancer. *eBioMedicine*, 31, 267–275.
- 117. Augello, M. A., Burd, C. J., Birbe, R., McNair, C., Ertel, A., Magee, M. S., et al. (2013). Convergence of oncogenic and hormone receptor pathways promotes metastatic phenotypes. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 123(1), 493–508.
- Olshavsky, N. A., Comstock, C. E. S., Schiewer, M. J., Augello, M. A., Hyslop, T., Sette, C., et al. (2010). Identification of ASF/SF2 as a critical,
allele-specific effector of the cyclin D1b oncogene. *Cancer Research*, 70(10), 3975–3984.

- 119. Paronetto, M. P., Cappellari, M., Busà, R., Pedrotti, S., Vitali, R., Comstock, C., et al. (2010). Alternative splicing of the cyclin D1 proto-oncogene is regulated by the RNA-binding protein Sam68. *Cancer Research*, 70(1), 229–239.
- 120. Munkley, J., Oltean, S., Vodák, D., Wilson, B. T., Livermore, K. E., Zhou, Y., et al. (2015). The androgen receptor controls expression of the cancerassociated sTn antigen and cell adhesion through induction of ST6GalNAc1 in prostate cancer. *Oncotarget*, 6(33), 34358–34374.
- 121. Couture, F., Sabbagh, R., Kwiatkowska, A., Desjardins, R., Guay, S.-P., Bouchard, L., & Day, R. (2017). PACE4 undergoes an oncogenic alternative splicing switch in cancer. *Cancer Research*, 77(24), 6863–6879.
- 122. Uzor, S., Zorzou, P., Bowler, E., Porazinski, S., Wilson, I., & Ladomery, M. (2018). Autoregulation of the human splice factor kinase CLK1 through exon skipping and intron retention. *Gene*, 670, 46–54.
- 123. Ko, H.-K., Berk, M., Chung, Y.-M., Willard, B., Bareja, R., Rubin, M., et al. (2018). Loss of an androgen-inactivating and isoform-specific HSD17B4 splice form enables emergence of castration-resistant prostate cancer. *Cell Reports*, 22(3), 809–819.
- 124. Sramkoski, Michael, R.,Pretlow, T. G., Giaconia, J. M., Pretlow, T. P., Schwartz, S., Sy, M.-S., et al. (1999). A new human prostate carcinoma cell line, 22Rv1. *In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology -Animal*, 35(7), 403–409.
- 125. Wainstein, M. A., He, F., Robinson, D., Kung, H.-J., Schwartz, S., Giaconia, J. M., et al. (1994). CWR22: Androgen-dependent xenograft model derived from a primary human prostatic carcinoma1. *Cancer Research*, 54(23), 6049–6052.
- 126. Woods-Burnham, L., Basu, A., Cajigas-Du Ross, C. K., Love, A., Yates, C., De Leon, M., et al. (2017). The 22Rv1 prostate cancer cell line carries mixed genetic ancestry: Implications for prostate cancer health disparities research using pre-clinical models. *The Prostate*, 77(16), 1601–1608.

- 127. Bae, V. L., Jackson-Cook, C. K., Brothman, A. R., Maygardens, S. J., & Ware, J. L. (1994). Tumorigenicity of SV40 T antigen immortalized human prostate epithelial cells: Association with decreased epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) expression. *International Journal of Cancer*, 58(5), 721–729.
- 128. Bae, V. L. Jackson-Cook, C. K., Maygarden, S. J., Plymate, S. R., Chen, J., & Ware, J. L. (1998). Metastatic sublines of an SV40 large T antigen immortalized human prostate epithelial cell line. *The Prostate*, *34*(4), 275–282.
- Spratt, D. E., Chan, T., Waldron, L., Speers, C., Feng, F. Y., Ogunwobi, O. O., & Osborne, J. R. (2016). Racial/ethnic disparities in genomic sequencing. *JAMA Oncology*, 2(8), 1070.
- 130. Clayton, E., Bardi, G., Bell, S. E., Chantry, D., Downes, C. P., Gray, A., et al. (2002). A crucial role for the p110delta subunit of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase in B cell development and activation. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 196(6), 753–763.
- 131. Jou, S.-T., Carpino, N., Takahashi, Y., Piekorz, R., Chao, J.-R., Carpino, N., et al. (2002). Essential, nonredundant role for the phosphoinositide 3-kinase p110delta in signaling by the B-cell receptor complex. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 22(24), 8580–8591.
- 132. Wang, B.-D., Yang, Q., Ceniccola, K., Bianco, F., Andrawis, R., Jarrett, T., et al. (2013). Androgen receptor-target genes in African American prostate cancer disparities. *Prostate Cancer*, 2013, 1–15.
- 133. Brown, J. R., Byrd, J. C., Coutre, S. E., Benson, D. M., Flinn, I. W., Wagner-Johnston, N. D., et al. (2014). Idelalisib, an inhibitor of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase p1108, for relapsed/refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood*, 123(22), 3390–3397.
- 134. Gopal, A. K., Kahl, B. S., de Vos, S., Wagner-Johnston, N. D., Schuster, S. J., Jurczak, W. J., et al. (2014). PI3Kδ inhibition by idelalisib in patients with relapsed indolent lymphoma. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 370(11), 1008–1018.
- 135. Shah, A., & Mangaonkar, A. (2015). Idelalisib: A novel PI3Kδ inhibitor for chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Annals of Pharmacotherapy*, 49(10), 1162–1170.



Discovery of Metabolic Biomarkers Predicting Radiation Therapy Late Effects in Prostate Cancer Patients

Amrita K. Cheema, Scott Grindrod, Xiaogang Zhong, Shreyans Jain, Smrithi S. Menon, Khyati Y. Mehta, Simeng Suy, Sean Collins, Yiwen Wang, Olga Timofeeva, Gaurav Bandi, John Pahira, Keith Kowalczyk, John Lynch, and Anatoly Dritschilo

Abstract

Patients presenting with prostate cancers undergo clinical staging evaluations to determine the extent of disease to guide therapeutic recommendations. Management options may include watchful waiting, surgery, or radiation therapy. Thus, initial risk stratification of prostate cancer patients is important for achieving optimal therapeutic results or cancer cure and preservation of quality of life. Predictive biomarkers for risks of complications or late effects of treatment are needed to inform

A. K. Cheema

Department of Biochemistry, Molecular and Cellular Biology, Georgetown University Medical Center, Washington, DC, USA

S. Grindrod Shuttle Pharmaceuticals Inc, Rockville, MD, USA

X. Zhong · Y. Wang Department of Biostatistics and Biomathematics, Georgetown University Medical Center, Washington, DC, USA

S. Jain · S. S. Menon · K. Y. Mehta · O. Timofeeva Department of Oncology, Lombardi Comprehensive Cancer Center, Georgetown University Medical Center, Washington, DC, USA clinical decisions for treatment selection. Here, we analyzed pre-treatment plasma metabolites in a cohort of prostate cancer patients (N = 99) treated with Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy (SBRT) at Medstar-Georgetown University Hospital in a longitudinal, quality-of-life study to determine if individuals experiencing radiation toxicities can be identified by a molecular profile in plasma prior to treatment. We used a multiple reaction mass spectrometry-based molecular phenotyping of clinically annotated plasma

G. Bandi · J. Pahira · K. Kowalczyk · J. Lynch Department of Urology, Medstar-Georgetown University Hospital, Washington, DC, USA

A. Dritschilo (⊠) Shuttle Pharmaceuticals Inc, Rockville, MD, USA

Department of Radiation Medicine, Medstar-Georgetown University Hospital, Washington, DC, USA e-mail: dritscha@georgetown.edu

Department of Oncology, Lombardi Comprehensive Cancer Center, Georgetown University Medical Center, Washington, DC, USA

S. Suy · S. Collins

Department of Radiation Medicine, Medstar-Georgetown University Hospital, Washington, DC, USA

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

J. S. Rhim et al. (eds.), *Human Cell Transformation*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1164, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-22254-3_11

samples in a retrospective outcome analysis to identify candidate biomarker panels correlating with adverse clinical outcomes following radiation therapy. We describe the discovery of candidate biomarkers, based on small molecule metabolite panels, showing high correlations (AUCs \geq 95%) with radiation toxicities, suitable for validation studies in an expanded cohort of patients.

Keywords

 $Metabolomics \cdot Prognostic \ biomarkers \cdot Prostate \\ cancer \cdot SBRT$

Introduction

Radiation therapy (RT) is an effective modality as a primary treatment of cancers, or as an adjuvant to surgery or chemotherapy. Risks, benefits, and late effects of radiation therapy are observed in the heterogeneous clinical responses of patients receiving curative radiation therapy. In principle, all cancers can be controlled if sufficient radiation doses can be delivered to tumors; however, in practice, the achievable radiation doses are frequently limited by toxicities that may result following exposure of normal tissues to high radiation doses [1]. Organ-specific tissue injuries following prostate irradiation may include acute toxicities (such as cystitis and proctitis), late toxicities (such as bleeding from the bladder or rectum), and broad toxicities (such as bone marrow depletion or soft tissue necrosis) [2–4]. Strategies to improve the therapeutic index of treatment with RT have focused on conformal radiation dose delivery technologies to target tumors more precisely, limit the volume of exposed normal tissues, and limit the doses delivered to normal tissues. These technologies include computerassisted shaping of radiation doses, using intensity-modulated radiation therapy (IMRT), stereotactic radiosurgery (SRS), high-dose rate (HDR) brachytherapy, or particle therapies (e.g., proton beam therapy). Despite the sophistication of such technologies, the need to deliver high doses of radiation to tumors results in normal tissue toxicities in sensitive sub-sets of patients.

Variations in patients' normal tissue sensitivities to radiation have been attributed to genetic factors, including mutations in genes associated with DNA repair processes, immunological diseases, and connective tissue diseases. Extreme examples are provided by the genetic syndromes of ataxia-telangiectasia, Nijmegen breakage syndrome, and the clinical syndromes of scleroderma and systemic Lupus erythematosus [5]. Patients experiencing radiation therapy-related late effects experience symptoms many months after treatment. This underscores the need for clinical biomarkers to predict responses in a timely manner to support informing therapy decisions [6-8]. We tested the hypothesis that prostate cancer patients susceptible to adverse effects caused by radiation treatment-related toxicities carry a biochemical fingerprint that may be characterized using blood-based metabolite profiling. Furthermore, molecular changes may provide insight into specific pathway perturbations that further inform clinical therapeutic decisions. Based on this retrospective outcome study, we discovered candidate biomarker panels correlating with radiation responses. We recognize that these results will require validation in a larger, prospective clinical trial; however, we are also cognizant that this methodology may be applied to the validation study findings to improve the biomarker utility and to other modalities of treatment and other diseases.

Materials and Methods

Patient Recruitment and Study Population

Patients were enrolled at MedStar–Georgetown University Hospital into IRB protocol 2012-1175, an approved quality of life clinical trial. The protocol permitted longitudinal collection of clinical samples, symptom monitoring, and quality of life data, which have contributed to interim published reports of clinical outcomes including GU and GI acute and late effects [2, 9–15]. This study population is a part of ongoing recruitment of patients with prostate cancers coming in through the referral network to Medstar-GUH.

The study participants included Caucasians, African Americans, and men of other ethnicities, aged 35-70 years, residing in Washington DC and surrounding areas, who were diagnosed with localized prostate cancer by biopsy. Patients were recruited from the Departments of Radiation Medicine and Urology at the Medstar-GUH. All protocol enrolled participants completed informed consent for blood and urine collection and periodic self-reported symptom monitoring. Prior to enrollment, patients undergo physical examination, including a digital rectal examination (DRE). Phlebotomies (by trained phlebotomists) were performed prior to the first radiation treatment and at each subsequent following visit thereafter (1, 3, 3)6, 9, and 18 months after SBRT treatment).

Patient eligibility criteria included histologically confirmed adenocarcinoma of the prostate (biopsy within 1 year of enrollment); Gleason score 2-10; clinical stages T1c-T3c; no clinically or pathologically involved lymph nodes on imaging; no distant metastases on bone scan; measurement of prostate serum antigen (PSA) levels <60 days prior to registration; no history of pelvic radiotherapy, chemotherapy, or radical prostate surgery; no recent (within 5 years) or concurrent cancers other than non-melanoma skin cancers; no medical or psychiatric illnesses that would interfere with treatment or follow-up; a baseline AUA/IPSS score of <20; and no history of inflammatory bowel disease. All patients signed a study-specific consent form. Patients completed a detailed questionnaire regarding familial cancer history, tobacco use, medication use, occupational history, and socio-economic status, the 26-item EPIC (sexual, bowel, and urinary symptoms). Other patient data such as patient de-identifier number, prostatic volume, Gleason's grade, prior hormonal therapy, clinical co-morbidities, age, ethnicity, and body mass index were recorded. Blood samples were processed for serum and plasma collection. Buffy coat, mononuclear cells, and RBCs were collected and stored for future studies. All samples were processed within 4 h of collection, aliquoted and stored at -80 °C to preserve sample integrity. The clinical characteristics of the cohort in this study are detailed in Table 1.

	Mean Age	Mean PSA	Mean Gleason
High risk group $(n = 29)$	71	24.50	8
Intermediate risk group (n = 50)	69	7.85	7
Low risk group $(n = 20)$	65	5.27	6

Prostate SBRT Treatment Planning and Delivery

Technical aspects of stereotactic body radiation therapy treatment planning and radiation delivery have been previously described [16, 17]. Briefly, ultrasound guided placement of gold fiducial markers is performed two or more weeks prior to thin-cut CT and high-resolution MRI imaging. The clinical target volume (CTV) includes the prostate and proximal seminal vesicles, to the bifurcation. The prescribed doses of 35-36.25 Gy are delivered in five fractions of 7-7.25 Gy over 2 weeks. Symptom management medications were prescribed based on the treating physician's clinical judgment, and urinary symptoms were managed with alpha-adrenergic antagonists and bothersome bowel symptoms were managed with anti-diarrheal medication (loperamide).

Mass Spectrometry-Based Molecular Profiling

We used stable isotope-labeled multiple reaction monitoring mass spectrometry (SID-MRM-MS) for quantitation of 350 metabolites. Metabolite extractions were performed using 25 µL of plasma sample, with 175 µL of 40% acetonitrile in 25% methanol and 35% water containing internal standards (stable isotope labeled). The samples were incubated on ice for 10 min and centrifuged at 14,000 rpm at 4 °C for 20 min. The supernatant was transferred to a fresh tube and used for UPLC-QQQ-MS analysis. Each plasma sample $(2 \mu L)$ was injected onto a reverse-phase CSH C18 1.7 μ M 2.1 × 100 mm column using an Acquity UPLC online with a triple quadrupole MS (Xevo TQ-S, Waters Corporation, USA) G2-QTOF system operating in the MRM mode.

Statistical Methods

After data pre-processing and ion annotation, the m/z values of the measured metabolites from plasma samples were normalized with log transformation that stabilizes the variance, followed by quantile normalization to make the empirical distribution of intensities the same across samples. Next, we performed feature selection using a ROC regularized learning technique, which uses the least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) penalty. First, we obtained the regularization path over a grid of values for the tuning parameter lambda through tenfold crossvalidation. Then, the optimal value of lambda, obtained by the cross-validation procedure, is used to fit the model. Finally, all the features with non-zero coefficients were retained as the candidate biomarker panel. This technique is known to reduce over-fitting and variance in classification.

The classification performance of the biomarker panel is assessed using the area under the ROC (receiver operating characteristic) curve (AUC). The ROC curve can be understood as a plot of the probability of classifying the positive samples correctly against the rate of incorrectly classifying true negative samples. Therefore, the AUC measure of a ROC plot is a measure of predictive accuracy. Due to the perfect separation for the classification, we also evaluated the panel using a robust method, the hidden logistic regression model with the maximum estimated likelihood (MEL) estimator. The resultant AUC scores turn out to be similar. We also calculated the AUC score for the regression with each marker, to rule out correlation with the patients' hormone therapy status.

Results

Metabolite Correlation with Adverse Outcomes for Biomarker Discovery

Analysis of metabolites offers to provide insight into molecular events occurring in a patient's cancer and in normal tissues. The patients in this cohort are uniquely positioned for the discovery phase study due to uniformity of treatment by a single radiation oncologist (SLC), standardized treatment planning and dosimetry and close follow-up management and publication of outcomes [18]. Reports of clinical outcomes have been comparable favorably to conventional radiation therapy and SBRT has been recognized as a standard of care option for treating prostate cancer patients.

Patients assigned into the conventional clinical risk groups of "low risk" (N = 20), "high risk" (N = 29), or "Intermediate risk" (N = 50) were included in this study. The risk categories are based on clinical evaluation strategies which account for PSA levels, Gleason's grade, age, and other co-morbidities. Although, a high percentage of the high-risk patients shows tumor recurrence, the clinical management of patients falling in the intermediate and low-risk group is based on "wait and watch" strategy. There are no anticipatory biomarkers that can help stratify a more susceptible sub-population in this group that may be at a higher than average risk for adverse outcomes of radiation therapy. We hypothesized that a specific plasma metabolic bio-signature, prior to radiation therapy, may characterize clinical susceptibility to late effects of radiation therapy. The overall study design is illustrated in Fig. 1.





Biomarker Panel Predictive of Rectal Proctitis

Our approach to identify pre-emptive markers of normal tissue toxicity due to radiotherapy was based on leveraging a state-of-the-art metabolomics analytical platform in conjunction with the clinical outcome data that were available for this cohort. Molecular profiles of pre-radiation samples from PC patients who developed rectal proctitis were compared to those who did not. Initially, we performed exploratory analyses to visualize overall differences in metabolic profiles of patients who developed radiation proctitis (within 8-12 months following SBRT), using PLS-DA (Fig. 2, Panel A) and interrogated the features contributing significantly to the group separation using volcano plots (Fig. 2, Panel B). We extended the same approach for developing predictive biomarker panels of adverse outcomes of radiation therapy. We performed retrospective outcomes analysis on a sub-set of patients who reported rectal toxicity/proctitis (N = 6) by comparing their pre-radiation plasma metabolite profiles with those of patients who did not experience rectal toxicity during the 2-year post-radiation monitoring period. A three-metabolite biomarker panel yielded an AUC of 97.8% (Fig. 3, Panel A). Using logistic regression, a plasma three-metabolite index was developed to stratify patients who later developed proctitis from those who did not develop symptoms during this interval, within a 95% confidence interval (Fig. 3, Panel B). The metabolite markers are listed in Fig. 3, Panel C. We found pantothenic acid and hypoxanthine to be upregulated while chenodeoxycholic acid/deoxycholic acid ratio (CDCA/DCA) to be downregulated in patients who developed radiation proctitis.

Biomarker Panel Predictive of Urinary Symptoms in Prostate Cancer Patients

Next, we asked if a comparison of pre-radiation profiles of patients who reported urinary late effects (flare) with patients who remained without such symptoms during this time would help develop a classification algorithm with high predictive accuracy. Flare usually occurs in a subset of patients about 1 year after SBRT and is characterized by lower urinary tract symptoms of increased urinary frequency, urgency, and a decreased stream [19]. Multivariate analysis using a PLS-DA model for plasma included two orthogonal components with R2 = 0.99 and Q2 = 0.62providing support for the quality of the model (Fig. 4, Panel A), while the features contributing to the group differences (red dots) were visualized





senting significantly dysregulated metabolites in the two comparative groups. Each red dot represents a metabolite with p-value<0.05 and fold change greater than 1.4 or less than 0.7



Fig. 3 Predictive biomarkers of proctitis post-prostate SBRT. (a) ROC curve for a 3 metabolite panel classifying patients experiencing proctitis. (b) Plasma Metabolite Index (PMI) plot demonstrates group stratification. The P3MI results based on the logistic regression model are illustrated as a boxplot that distinguishes between

prostate cancer patients with and without proctitis post SBRT. Solid black horizontal lines represent the mean value, whiskers show the spread within a group. Orange and light blue dots represent PC patients receiving hormone therapy or not, respectively. (c) Biomarker panel (3 metabolites) predictive of proctitis



Fig. 4 Metabolomics profiling yields a biomarker panel, predictive of urinary flare post-prostate SBRT. (a) PLS-DA plot shows inter-group separation on the X-axis and intragroup heterogeneity on the Y-axis. (b) Volcano plot shows

dysregulated metabolites in patients experiencing flare or not. Each red dot represents a metabolite with p-value<0.05 and fold change greater than 1.4 or less than 0.7



Fig. 5 Predictive biomarkers of Urinary Flare postprostate SBRT. (a) ROC curve for a 9 metabolite biomarker of urinary flare. (b) Plasma Metabolite Index (PMI) plot demonstrates group stratification. Solid black horizontal lines represent the mean value, while whiskers

show the spread within a group. Orange and light blue dots represent patients receiving hormone therapy or not, respectively. (c) Table showing a 9 metabolites panel predictive of urinary flare patients treated with prostate SBRT

as volcano plots (Fig. 4, Panel B). Using LASSO (see methods), we were able to generate a ninemetabolite panel with an AUC of >95% (Fig. 5, Panel A). The plasma nine-metabolite index helped stratify the two comparative groups (Fig. 5, Panel B), while the metabolites comprising this panel are listed in Panel C. Several glycerophospholipids including PC aa C40:6, PC aa C36:1, and PC ae C42:5 were downregulated, while Lyso PC C14:0 and Lyso PC C20:4 were upregulated in patients experiencing urinary flare symptoms. An overall increase in Lyso PC/PC ratio suggests an increase in systemic oxidative stress and inflammation in part due to increased phospholipase 2 activity [20]. Serum levels of biotin and pantothenic acid were also elevated in this subset of patients; interestingly the elevation of pantothenic acid has been implicated in breast cancer progression [21].

Discussion

Prostate cancer treatment has reached a technical plateau in terms of capability for dose escalation. Using modern conformal technology, a maximum tolerable radiation dose may be achieved in patients. Further escalations are undesirable due to a steep increase in the complication rate. The genetics underlying radiation sensitivities of patients are yet to be fully defined; however, omics approaches may offer an intermediate endpoint for risk stratification [22]. We provide metabolite panels as candidate predictive biomarkers for rectal and urinary late effects of radiation therapy. However, about 10% of patients treated for cancer experience radiation treatmentrelated late effects that adversely affect the quality of life [23, 24]. The manifestation of these symptoms takes months to develop and raises an urgent need for developing smarter strategies for symptom anticipation and management.

Currently there is no blood test that can be used to predict or monitor adverse symptoms in sensitive sub-populations of patients receiving radiation therapy. The value of using high throughput technologies, such as metabolomics, lies in the ability to develop predictive biomarker panels that can be used for identifying patients who are less likely to benefit from therapy because they are at risk of developing adverse symptoms. The underlying idea is to use this information to instruct personalized clinical therapeutics.

The objective of this study was to employ a high throughput metabolomics approach for delineating biomarker panels predictive of radiationinduced adverse effects in patients treated for prostate cancer. Such biomarkers would inform clinicians of risks for tissue toxicities in cancer patients and allow early intervention in patients at risk. We developed metabolite signatures predictive of recurrence and adverse responses to radiation therapy in a cohort of patients undergoing stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for prostate cancer. Sub-sets of patients developed rectal and urinary toxicities including symptomatic urinary flare (USF), and obstructed voiding symptoms/retention (UR) and radiation proctitis (RP). We hypothesized that individuals who are sensitive to radiation and develop toxicities carry a biochemical fingerprint that may be identified in the plasma profile.

By analyzing pre-radiation plasma samples, we were able to develop high accuracy predictive algorithms for urinary (nine-metabolite panel with AUC > 95%) and rectal toxicities (threemetabolite panel with AUC > 98%) in this cohort of prostate cancer patients. Interestingly, pantothenic acid was a common biomarker that appeared in both of the panels predictive of adverse symptoms in our prostate cancer cohort. Increased pantothenic acid (vitamin B5) has been thought to promote a glycolytic phenotype that is a hallmark of cancer cell proliferation. We also observed an increase in biotin. In general, Vitamin B1 metabolism has been linked to the typical anabolic metabolism for accumulating biomass essential to support proliferating cancer cells [25]. Our findings thus also implicate interesting biochemistry that can be leveraged as a metabolic vulnerability for better management of sensitive sub-sets of patients.

We also found changes in glycerophosphocholine (PC) metabolism, specifically an increase in overall serum Lyso PC levels with a concomitant decrease in PCs suggesting systemic and chronic inflammation and oxidative stress in patients who were susceptible to late effects. Lysophosphatidylcholines (lyso-PC) are products of phosphatidylcholine hydrolysis by phospholipase A2 (PLA2) and are present in cell membranes. Oxidized lipoproteins that result in the release of arachidonic acid and phosphocholines may lead to chronic stress-induced normal tissue toxicity. Patients who experienced tumor recurrence had lower serum levels of lithocholic acid, a metabolite that has been shown to have anti-tumor effects in cultured human cancer cells by activating certain anti-cancer processes [26]. In the same set of patients, we also observed decreased levels of carnitine that is reportedly associated with increased pain sensation in patients with cancer [27]. Understanding the metabolic changes in cancer patients that are sensitive to adverse reaction of radiation therapy may be a key to devising better patient management strategies.

From a clinical diagnostic standpoint, development of these biomarker panels helps underscore the feasibility of a high throughput approach for predicting late effects of radiation therapy and lays the foundation for the development of strategies by which toxicity may be detected at an early stage and mitigated with intervention therapies. Although the candidate biomarker panels were developed in a defined cohort of patients undergoing prostate SBRT, we propose that the use of pre-treatment samples to identify the metabolite correlations may apply to other radiation modalities, such as IMRT and proton therapy, offering a broader context for these findings. One of the constraints of this study was the small sample size which did not allow us to perform an independent validation study for these biomarker panels. We propose that future validation studies include all RT modalities with larger clinical cohorts for prostate cancer treatment. We envision that such a biomarker panel may be useful for screening patients at risk of developing adverse symptoms subsequent to radiation therapy, in conjunction with clinical evaluation methodologies to improve strategies for patient management.

Acknowledgements NIH SBIR contract # HHSN261201600027C to Shuttle Pharmaceuticals, Inc. with sub-contract to Georgetown University provided funding for this work.

NIH/NCI/CCSG grant P30-CA051008 supports the Georgetown University Metabolomics Shared Resource.

Accuray Inc. provided a grant to support a data manager for CyberKnife SBRT-treated patients.

Disclosures Anatoly Dritschilo, MD, owns equity and serves as CEO of Shuttle Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Sean Collins, MD, PhD, receives grant support from Accuray, Inc.

Georgetown University has filed a patent application for the intellectual property associated with the discovered metabolite predictive biomarker panels.

References

- Emami, B., Lyman, J., Brown, A., Coia, L., Goitein, M., Munzenrider, J. E., et al. (1991). Tolerance of normal tissue to therapeutic irradiation. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology, Biology, Physics*, 21(1), 109–122.
- Joh, D. Y., Chen, L. N., Porter, G., Bhagat, A., Sood, S., Kim, J. S., et al. (2014). Proctitis following stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer. *Radiation Oncology*, 9, 277.
- Gurka, M. K., Chen, L. N., Bhagat, A., Moures, R., Kim, J. S., Yung, T., et al. (2015). Hematuria following stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for clinically localized prostate cancer. *Radiation Oncology*, 10, 44.
- Kim, J. H., Jenrow, K. A., & Brown, S. L. (2014). Mechanisms of radiation-induced normal tissue toxicity and implications for future clinical trials. *Radiation Oncology Journal*, 32(3), 103–115.
- Kerns, S. L., Ostrer, H., & Rosenstein, B. S. (2014). Radiogenomics: Using genetics to identify cancer patients at risk for development of adverse effects following radiotherapy. *Cancer Discovery*, 4(2), 155–165.
- Velonas, V. M., Woo, H. H., dos Remedios, C. G., & Assinder, S. J. (2013). Current status of biomarkers for prostate cancer. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 14(6), 11034–11060.
- Cary, K. C., & Cooperberg, M. R. (2013). Biomarkers in prostate cancer surveillance and screening: Past, present, and future. *Therapeutic Advances in Urology*, 5(6), 318–329.
- Kornberg, Z., Cooperberg, M. R., Spratt, D. E., & Feng, F. Y. (2018). Genomic biomarkers in prostate cancer. *Translational Andrology and Urology*, 7(3), 459–471.
- Repka, M. C., Kole, T. P., Lee, J., Wu, B., Lei, S., Yung, T., et al. (2017). Predictors of acute urinary symptom flare following stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) in the definitive treatment of localized prostate cancer. *Acta Oncologica*, 56(8), 1136–1138.
- Paydar, I., Cyr, R. A., Yung, T. M., Lei, S., Collins, B. T., Chen, L. N., et al. (2016). Proctitis 1 week after stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer: Implications for clinical trial design. *Frontiers in Oncology*, *6*, 167.
- Mercado, C., Kress, M. A., Cyr, R. A., Chen, L. N., Yung, T. M., Bullock, E. G., et al. (2016). Intensitymodulated radiation therapy with stereotactic body radiation therapy boost for unfavorable prostate cancer: The Georgetown University experience. *Frontiers in Oncology*, *6*, 114.

- Janowski, E. M., Kole, T. P., Chen, L. N., Kim, J. S., Yung, T. M., Collins, B. T., et al. (2015). Dysuria following stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer. *Frontiers in Oncology*, *5*, 151.
- Kole, T. P., Tong, M., Wu, B., Lei, S., Obayomi-Davies, O., Chen, L. N., et al. (2016). Late urinary toxicity modeling after stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) in the definitive treatment of localized prostate cancer. *Acta Oncologica*, 55(1), 52–58.
- 14. Woo, J. A., Chen, L. N., Wang, H., Cyr, R. A., Bhattasali, O., Kim, J. S., et al. (2015). Stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer: What is the appropriate patient-reported outcome for clinical trial design? *Frontiers in Oncology*, *5*, 77.
- Rana, Z., Cyr, R. A., Chen, L. N., Kim, B. S., Moures, R. A., Yung, T. M., et al. (2014). Improved irritative voiding symptoms 3 years after stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer. *Frontiers in Oncology*, *4*, 290.
- Foote, M., Bailey, M., Smith, L., Siva, S., Hegi-Johnson, F., Seeley, A., et al. (2015). Guidelines for safe practice of stereotactic body (ablative) radiation therapy. *Journal of Medical Imaging and Radiation Oncology*, 59(5), 646–653.
- Tsang, M. W. (2016). Stereotactic body radiotherapy: Current strategies and future development. *Journal of Thoracic Disease*, 8(Suppl 6), S517–S527.
- Chen, L. N., Suy, S., Uhm, S., Oermann, E. K., Ju, A. W., Chen, V., et al. (2013). Stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for clinically localized prostate cancer: The Georgetown University experience. *Radiation Oncology*, *8*, 58.
- Woo, J. A., Chen, L. N., Bhagat, A., Oermann, E. K., Kim, J. S., Moures, R., et al. (2014). Clinical characteristics and management of late urinary symptom flare following stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer. *Frontiers in Oncology*, *4*, 122.
- Goudarzi, M., Weber, W. M., Mak, T. D., Chung, J., Doyle-Eisele, M., Melo, D. R., et al. (2015).

Metabolomic and lipidomic analysis of serum from mice exposed to an internal emitter, Cesium-137, using a shotgun LC–MSE approach. *Journal of Proteome Research*, *14*(1), 374–384.

- Hutschenreuther, A., Birkenmeier, G., Bigl, M., Krohn, K., & Birkemeyer, C. (2013). Glycerophosphoglycerol, beta-alanine, and pantothenic acid as metabolic companions of glycolytic activity and cell migration in breast cancer cell lines. *Metabolites*, 3(4), 1084–1101.
- 22. Zaorsky, N. G., Keith, S. W., Shaikh, T., Nguyen, P. L., Horwitz, E. M., Dicker, A. P., et al. (2018). Impact of radiation therapy dose escalation on prostate cancer outcomes and toxicities. *American Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *41*(4), 409–415.
- Obayomi-Davies, O., Chen, L. N., Bhagat, A., Wright, H. C., Uhm, S., Kim, J. S., et al. (2013). Potency preservation following stereotactic body radiation therapy for prostate cancer. *Radiation Oncology*, *8*, 256.
- 24. Dash, C., Demas, K., Uhm, S., Hanscom, H. N., Kim, J. S., Suy, S., et al. (2012). Low incidence of fatigue after hypofractionated stereotactic body radiation therapy for localized prostate cancer. *Frontiers in Oncology*, 2, 142.
- Zastre, J. A., Sweet, R. L., Hanberry, B. S., & Ye, S. (2013). Linking vitamin B1 with cancer cell metabolism. *Cancer & Metabolism*, 1(1), 16.
- Goldberg, A. A., Beach, A., Davies, G. F., Harkness, T. A. A., LeBlanc, A., & Titorenko, V. I. (2011). Lithocholic bile acid selectively kills neuroblastoma cells, while sparing normal neuronal cells. *Oncotarget*, 2(10), 761–782.
- Cruciani, R. A., Zhang, J. J., Manola, J., Cella, D., Ansari, B., & Fisch, M. J. (2012). L-Carnitine supplementation for the management of fatigue in patients with cancer: An eastern cooperative oncology group phase III, randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 30(31), 3864–3869.

Part III

Skeletal Dysregulation and Cancer Spread to the Skeleton



The Aging Skeleton

David Goltzman

Abstract

Skeletal aging begins after peak bone mass is reached; progressive bone loss then occurs. Peak bone mass may occur at different ages in different skeletal sites and varies between sexes. Accelerated loss of bone occurs in the perimenopausal period in women, whereas more gradual but progressive loss of bone occurs in aging men. Changes in bone quality as well as bone quantity occur during growth and subsequent aging. These include changes in bone microarchitecture which may differ between cortical and trabecular compartments and in different sites, and may impact on bone size and geometry. Changes in material properties of bone matrix may also occur with aging. Loss of bone quantity and altered bone quality with aging may weaken bones and culminate in osteoporosis with an increased risk of fractures. Both genetic and epigenetic mechanisms may predispose to osteoporosis. Cellular and molecular events underlie the alterations in bone quantity and quality. Osteoclastic bone resorption and osteoblastic bone formation, tightly regulated by hormones, growth factors, and cytokines, are

Department of Medicine, McGill University and McGill University Health Centre, Montreal, QC, Canada e-mail: david.goltzman@mcgill.ca organized in coordinated activities resulting in remodeling and modeling. Malignancies, and anti-neoplastic therapies, may impact on the cellular and molecular events in the aging skeleton and produce focal or diffuse skeletal lesions and fractures.

Keywords

Bone remodeling · Osteoclasts · Osteoblasts · Osteoporosis · Malignancy

Overall Composition of Bone

Bone can be classified as consisting of in two major compartments: cortical bone, comprising 75-80% of skeletal mass, and defining the shape of bone, and trabecular bone (also called cancellous bone), consisting of a network of connecting plate and rod-like structures inside the cortical shell, and comprising 20-25% of skeletal mass. At a microscopic level, bone is composed of cells, and a matrix which is 67% inorganic, largely consisting of calcium (39%) and phosphorus (17%) and deposited mainly as hydroxyapatite crystals. The organic component (33%) of the matrix consists of protein, which is largely type I collagen and some non-collagenous proteins, and of mucopolysaccharides. The precise structure and composition of bone may vary with age and disease process.

D. Goltzman (🖂)

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

J. S. Rhim et al. (eds.), *Human Cell Transformation*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1164, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-22254-3_12

Cellular Components of Bone

The major bone cells consist of members of the osteoclast and osteoblast lineage. Osteoclasts are derived from hematopoietic stem cells (HSC) in the HSC niche (the anatomical location in which they reside) in bone marrow or from HSC arriving via the capillary blood supply. HSC may be quiescent, undergo self-renewal or differentiate through myeloid progenitors (CFU-M) either to the monocyte/macrophage lineage or through pre-osteoclasts to inactive multinucleated osteoclasts to active multinucleated osteoclasts. Active osteoclasts line the bone cell surface and are adapted to release enzymes and acid to resorb bone. Osteoblasts, in contrast, are derived from mesenchymal stem cells, and line the HSC niche in bone marrow. Mature bone-forming osteoblasts on the surface of bone synthesize and release bone matrix proteins and minerals, and may subsequently become embedded in mineralized bone as osteocytes. Osteocytes may sense mechanical stimuli and, via a network of canaliculi, release factors which modulate osteoblast and osteoclast function.

Tumor cells invading bone via blood and/or lymphatics enter bone marrow and bind to HSCs (Fig. 1). Tumor cells expressing the chemokine receptor CXCR4 home to osteoblastic cells expressing the chemokine protein CXCL12 and colonize the HSC niche [1]. Tumor cells may remain dormant in the HSC niche or may produce a variety of factors which activate osteoblasts and osteoclasts and result in osteoclastic osteolysis. These factors include transcription factors such as GLI2, runt-related transcription factor 2 (RUNX2), and hypoxia-induced growth factor 1α (HIF1 α) that promotes osteolysis, and factors such as prostanoids and cytokines that stimulate osteoclasts. Jagged1 (Jag1) expressed on tumor cells may also activate osteoclast differentiation by inducing Notch signaling in preosteoclasts. Furthermore, tumor cells may release parathyroid hormone-related protein (PTHrP) which can bind to receptors on osteoblasts in bone marrow, enhance release of the tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-related cytokine, receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa-B ligand (RANKL), and diminish release of the RANKL antagonist osteoprotegerin [2]. RANKL binding



Fig. 1 Neoplastic cells travel to bone via blood vessels and/or lymphatics. CXCR4-expressing tumor cells home to CXCL 12-positive osteoblasts and colonize the hematopoietic stem cell (HSC) niche. Neoplastic cells are

released from dormancy, and secrete osteoclast and osteoblast-stimulating factors. Osteoclastic bone resorption releases paracrine growth factors from the bone matrix which enhances neoplastic cell proliferation to its receptor RANK on osteoclasts augments osteoclastic bone resorption, thus facilitating tumor cell penetration of bone. Osteoclastic osteolysis can release paracrine growth factors from the matrix which can then further enhance tumor cell proliferation.

Cellular Events in Skeletal Homeostasis

Modeling occurs when old bone is broken down at one site and new bone is formed in a different site within the same bone—the shape and position of bone may be changed in modeling, and modeling is thus a major process during growth. Modeling can still occur in adults, however, e.g., with aging, if excessive amounts of bone are removed from the inner (endosteal) surface, some new bone can be laid down on the outer (periosteal) surface, thus preserving the mechanical strength of the bone despite the loss of bone mass.

A second major cellular event in skeletal homeostasis is bone remodeling or turnover. In remodeling, a small amount of bone on the surface of trabeculae or in the interior of the cortex is removed and then replaced at the same site. Bone remodeling therefore occurs on the same surface of bone. This process is initiated when pre-osteoclasts are activated to become osteoclasts which then resorb a surface packet of bone. Preosteoblasts then migrate to the resorption lacuna that was produced, as the first event in the reversal process. Mature osteoblasts then differentiate and form new bone. The resorption defect is initially filled with new unmineralized bone or osteoid, which subsequently mineralizes to form mature bone. Active osteoblasts then become quiescent bone lining cells which cover the surface of bone. The complement of osteoclastic and osteoblastic cells that resorb an area of the bone surface and then fill it with new bone is termed the bone multicellular unit (BMU). Initiation of osteoclast activation in bone remodeling may occur in association with events such as calcium homeostasis, inflammation, bone microfracture repair, and mechanical loading. A genetic basis for bone remodeling and modeling is also present.

Osteoclasts can be positively or negatively regulated by a number of humoral factors. Thus, osteoclasts may be very potently activated by RANKL, which is produced by osteoblasts and osteocytes, and by several other signaling molecules including macrophage-colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and nitric oxide that are likely released from cells of the osteoblast lineage and endothelial cells [3]. A variety of cytokines released by immune cells, notably T cells in the bone marrow, including interleukin-1, interleukin-6, and tumor necrosis factor (TNF) alpha, can also stimulate osteoclasts. The egress of osteoclast precursors from the vasculature is stimuincluding lated by chemotactic factors sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) via a process that enhanced by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D is $[1,25(OH)_2D]$ which, in high circulating concentrations, may also directly augment osteoclastogenesis. Osteoclasts can be inhibited directly by estrogens which prevent osteoclastogenesis and induce osteoclast apoptosis by acting on osteoclastic estrogen receptors α and β . Androgens appear to inhibit osteoclasts indirectly via conversion to estrogens by aromatization. Estrogens may also activate transforming growth factor (TGFbeta) which can inhibit osteoclast activity. Inhibins may also negatively regulate osteoclasts.

Osteoblast Regulation

Osteoclasts, by enhancing osteolysis, may facilitate release of a number of latent growth factors present in bone matrix, including insulin-like growth factors (IGFs), IGF-binding proteins (IGFBPs), fibroblast growth factor (FGF), bone morphogenetic factors (BMPs), and TGF beta which can then activate osteoblasts. Direct communication between osteoclasts and osteoblasts by osteoclastic production of soluble osteoblaststimulating factors termed clastokines has also been postulated; however, the role of these direct "coupling factors" have yet to be definitively defined. A potent osteoblast-stimulating signaling system is the WNT growth factor system which can be inhibited by an osteocyte product called sclerostin. WNT1 is a B-cell product in bone marrow that promotes osteoblastic bone formation; however, other WNTs are also likely of importance in augmenting osteoblast activity. Mechanical loading and other stimuli that activate osteocytes may inhibit osteocytic release of sclerostin and thus allow enhanced WNT osteoblast-stimulating activity. Other circulating and locally released factors that can stimulate osteoblasts include PTH, PTHrP, androgens (by stimulating osteoblast precursors via androgen receptors), and osteblasts can be stimulated by a variety of circulating growth factors and cytokines.

Changes in Bone with Age

Loss of Bone Mass

Bone accrual increases during growth and development, reaches a peak bone mass (PBM), and then begins to decline as the organism ages. Reduced bone mass at old age, in one individual versus another, may result, in theory at least, if PBM that is achieved in one individual is lower than in another, or if the rate of bone loss with aging is accelerated in one individual relative to another individual even if the PBM achieved is the same in both. Both mechanisms may of course occur. Actual measurements of PBM, by determining bone mineral density (BMD) by dual X-ray absorptiometry (DXA), has shown that the age at which PBM is achieved may vary between regions of the skeleton and between males and females, e.g., PBM occurs earlier in the hip than in the spine in both sexes but is achieved earlier in males than females in the spine and earlier in females in the hip [4]. Similarly rates of bone loss after PBM occur differently in men and women. Thus in women, bone loss is markedly accelerated in the perimenopausal period and then continues at a lower rate, whereas in men, a persistent lower rate of bone loss occurs with aging [5].

There are genetic factors which clearly impinge on both PBM and bone mass loss with aging. Thus genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have identified single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in the WNT 16 gene and in the *ESR1/C6orf*97 gene encoding the estrogen receptor alpha in premenopausal women with reduced bone mass, i.e., reduced PBM [6], whereas 56 loci (32 new) associated with low bone mass were identified in a very large GWAS done in postmenopausal women; several of these loci were associated with factors clustered within the pathways for mesenchymal stem cell differentiation, endochondral bone formation (e.g., PTHrP), osteoblast differentiation (Wnt signaling pathways), and osteoclast differentiation (RANK-RANKL-OPG system) [7].

Epigenetic mechanisms are critical regulators of the differentiation programs for cell fate and are subject to change during aging. Epigenetic regulation has also been associated with the development of osteoporosis associated with aging [8].

Loss of Bone Quality

Reduced bone strength (Fig. 2) can occur when bone quantity and/or bone quality is decreased, thus leading to increased fracture risk in the presence of a given mechanical load (e.g., a fall) and culminating in the systemic skeletal disease, osteoporosis. Bone quality is comprised of bone size, bone geometry, bone microarchitecture, and bone molecular architecture (material properties). Using an imaging technique termed high-resolution peripheral quantitative computed tomography (HR-pQCT), it has been possible to determine characteristics of bone microarchitecture in the radius and tibia. Thus, in younger individuals, cortical porosity due to increased osteoclastic resorbing activity in Haversian canals in cortical bone was lower in young women than in young men, but trabecular number and thickness were higher in young men than in young women. With aging, cortical porosity increased more in women than in men, trabecular thickness



Osteoporosis is a systemic skeletal disease characterized by reduced bone strength and a predisposition to fractures

Fig. 2 Bone strength is comprised of bone quantity and bone quality. An estimate of bone quantity can be obtained by measuring bone mineral density (BMD) by dual X-ray absorptiometry (DXA). Bone quality comprises bone

size, bone geometry, bone microarchitecture, and bone molecular architecture. With reduced bone strength, in the presence of a mechanical load such as a fall, there is an increased risk of fractures

declined more with age in men than in women, and expansion of bone at the outer (periosteal) surface increased more in men than in women so that total bone area was larger in men than in women [9]. By applying an engineering technique called finite element analysis (FEA) to HR-pQCT readings, it was possible to calculate mechanical strength of the bone and to determine that bone strength was 34-47% greater in young men than in young women and that the predicted change with age was similar in both sexes. The predicted increase in the mechanical load-to-strength ratio at the radius, an estimate of forearm fracture risk, was greater in women than in men. It was also possible to show that aging women with osteoporosis had thinner and more porous cortices than normal postmenopausal women [10]. It has also been reported that mineral to matrix ratios increase in trabecular bone with aging, and that carbonate to phosphate ratios and collagen cross-linking in the matrix increase with aging in both trabecular and cortical bones [11].

Modulation of Mechanisms of Skeletal Aging by Malignancies and by Anti-Neoplastic Therapies

Malignancies and Bone

A variety of malignancies notably those originating in breast and prostate may colonize bone, alter bone remodeling, and produce focal skeletal lesions. In addition, in the absence of metastases, malignancies may produce a variety of cytokines and growth factors, which can enhance bone turnover and produce diffuse demineralization of bone. Two notable such mediators are PTHrP and 1,25(OH)₂D. PTHrP may act hormonally after release by a tumor which has not yet invaded bone, and may bind to its cognate receptor on osteoblasts, increase release of RANKL, and increase osteoclastic bone resorption thus causing reduced skeletal mass (osteopenia), and calcium release from bone which can lead to hypercalcemia [12]. Other tumors, notably lymphomas, may produce a highly active

25-hydroxyvitamin D 1alpha-hydroxylase enzyme, which can convert circulating levels of the inert precursor, 25hydroxyvitamin D [25OHD], to its active form $1,25(OH)_2D$ [13]. The increased active circulating $1,25(OH)_2D$ can enhance gut absorption of calcium; however, high circulating concentrations of $1,25(OH)_2D$ by its action on the vitamin D receptor (VDR) in osteoclasts can also increase osteoclastic bone resorption, cause generalized osteopenia, and

liberate calcium from bone. Both mechanisms may thus contribute to the development of hypercalcemia. Both focal bone lesions induced by metastases and generalized osteopenia due to widespread increased bone resorption augment the risk of fractures over that already present in an aging skeleton.

Anti-Neoplastic Therapies and Bone

Anti-neoplastic therapies may also adversely affect the skeleton. Thus adjuvant therapy for breast cancer may induce a premature menopause and accelerate the normal processes of skeletal aging resulting in osteoporosis and increased fracture risk. Furthermore, hormone deprivation therapy for breast cancer and for prostate cancer may also have deleterious effects on the skeleton.

Major therapeutic approaches for estrogen receptor positive (ER+) breast cancer involve either blockade of estrogen production, blockade of estrogen action, or down-regulation of estrogen receptors [14, 15]. Blockade of estrogen production may involve ovarian ablation by oophorectomy, or in women with premenopausal ER+ breast cancer, administration of LHRH agonists (also called gonadotropin-releasing hormone or GnRH agonists) suppresses ovarian estrogen production ("medical castration"). Thus, LHRH agonists bind to pituitary receptors with greater affinity and a longer half-life than does endogenous LHRH, resulting in internalization of pituitary GnRH receptors, and causing the gonadotropic cells to become refractory to endogenous LHRH. Gonadotropin release is therefore inhibited, and ovarian estrogen production is reduced.

Reduced synthesis of estrogens from androgen precursors can also be achieved in postmenopausal women with ER+ breast cancer using aromatase inhibitors. In women, estrogens are critical for bone health and are derived by aromatization of adrenal and ovarian androgens, dehydroepiandrosterone including (DHEA), DHEA sulfate (DHEAS), androstenedione, testosterone, and dihydrotestosterone (DHT), or by aromatization of peripheral androstenedione. Aromatase inhibitors may be reversible non-steroidal inhibitors, e.g., anastrozole and letrozole or irreversible steroidal inhibitors, e.g., exemestane. A number of adjuvant studies in breast cancer, using a variety of aromatase inhibitors, have shown increased fractures relative to treatment with the selective estrogen receptor modulator (SERM), tamoxifen [16].

Reversible blockade of estrogen action in ER+ breast cancer may be initiated with SERMs such as tamoxifen in contrast to inhibitors of estrogen production. Although SERMs are estrogen antagonists in breast, they may have weak estrogenic activity in bone and therefore may substantially spare the effects of estrogen loss in the postmenopausal skeleton. However bone loss may occur in premenopausal women because skeletal effects of SERMs are weaker than those of natural estrogens.

Finally, agents to down-regulate estrogen receptors, i.e., selective estrogen receptor down-regulators (SERDs) such as fulvestrant, may be employed which share the deleterious effects on the skeleton of blockade of estrogen production.

Androgen deprivation therapy (ADT) is used for castrate-sensitive non-metastatic prostate cancer and includes the use of orchiectomy, or LHRH agonists and antagonists, given either alone or in combination with androgen receptor antagonists. These agents can delay progression and prolong survival of prostate cancer but can also accelerate the development of osteoporosis. Thus, androstenedione is converted to estrone and testosterone to estradiol by aromatase activity in men as well as in women, and estrogens are more important mediators than androgens of skeletal health in men as well as in women [17–19]. Consequently ADT, including both orchiectomy and GNRH agonists, via their action to reduce estrogen synthesis in men, can predispose to osteoporosis and increased osteoporotic fractures [20].

Currently anti-resorptive agents are available to prevent osteoporotic fractures in treatment-induced osteoporosis. This includes oral or intravenous bisphosphonates which appear to act by inhibiting osteoclastic farnesyl diphosphate synthase and osteoclastic aminoacyl tRNA synthetase, or denosumab which is a blocking antibody to the osteoclast-stimulating cytokine, RANKL [21].

Summary

Aging of the skeleton involves reductions in bone quantity and alterations in bone quality. Complex cellular and molecular mechanisms underlie these processes. Reductions in bone strength may lead to increased bone fragility and a predisposition to fractures. Neoplasms may impinge on the underlying skeletal mechanisms of aging to produce focal and generalized loss of bone and reduced bone strength. Anti-neoplastic adjuvant therapy may also impact negatively on the skeleton and accelerate aging. Pharmacologic therapy is available to retard the negative consequences of malignancy and its therapy on the aging skeleton.

Acknowledgments This work was supported by a grant from the Canadian Institutes for Health Research.

Conflicts of Interest None.

References

- Waning, D. L., & Guise, T. A. (2014). Molecular mechanisms of bone metastasis and associated muscle weakness. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 20, 3071–3077.
- Goltzman, D., Karaplis, A. C., Kremer, R., et al. (2000). Molecular basis of the spectrum of skeletal complications of neoplasia. *Cancer*, 88, 2903–2908.

- Sims, N. A., & Martin, T. J. (2014). Coupling the activities of bone formation and resorption: A multitude of signals within the basic multicellular unit. *BoneKEy Reports*, 3, 481.
- Berger, C., Goltzman, D., Langsetmo, L., et al. (2010). Peak bone mass from longitudinal data: Implications for the prevalence, pathophysiology, and diagnosis of osteoporosis. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 25, 1948–1957.
- Berger, C., Langsetmo, L., Joseph, L., et al. (2008). Change in bone mineral density as a function of age in women and men and association with the use of antiresorptive agents. *CMAJ*, 178, 1660–1668.
- Koller, D. L., Zheng, H. F., Karasik, D., et al. (2013). Meta-analysis of genome-wide studies identifies WNT16 and ESR1 SNPS associated with bone mineral density in premenopausal women. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 28, 547–558.
- Estrada, K., Styrkarsdottir, U., Evangelou, E., et al. (2012). Genome-wide meta-analysis identifies 56 bone mineral density loci and reveals 14 loci associated with risk of fracture. *Nature Genetics*, 44, 491–501.
- Cheishvili, D., Parashar, S., Mahmood, N., et al. (2018). Identification of an epigenetic signature of osteoporosis in blood DNA of postmenopausal women. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 33, 1980–1989.
- Macdonald, H. M., Nishiyama, K. K., Kang, J., et al. (2011). Age-related patterns of trabecular and cortical bone loss differ between sexes and skeletal sites: A population-based HR-pQCT study. *Journal of Bone* and Mineral Research, 26, 50–62.
- Nishiyama, K. K., Macdonald, H. M., Buie, H. R., et al. (2010). Postmenopausal women with osteopenia have higher cortical porosity and thinner cortices at the distal radius and tibia than women with normal aBMD: An in vivo HR-pQCT study. *Journal of Bone* and Mineral Research, 25, 882–890.
- Boskey, A. L., & Imbert, L. (2017). Bone quality changes associated with aging and disease: A review. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1410, 93–106.
- Yasuda, T., Banville, D., Hendy, G. N., et al. (1989). Characterization of the human parathyroid hormone-like peptide gene. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 264, 7720–7725.
- Seymour, J. F., Gagel, R. F., Hagemeister, F. B., et al. (1994). Calcitriol production in hypercalcemia and normocalcemia patients with non-Hodgkin lymphoma. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *121*, 633–640.
- Spring, L. M., Gupta, A., Reynolds, K. L., et al. (2016). Neoadjuvant endocrine therapy for estrogen receptor-positive breast cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Oncology*, 2, 1477–1486.
- Glassman, D., Hignett, S., Rehman, S., et al. (2017). Adjuvant endocrine therapy for hormone-positive breast Cancer, focusing on ovarian suppression and extended treatment: An update. *Anticancer Research*, 37, 5329–5341.

- Handforth, C., D'Oronzo, S., Coleman, R., et al. (2018). Cancer treatment and bone health. *Calcified Tissue International*, 102, 251–264.
- Falahati-Nini, A., Riggs, B. L., Atkinson, E. J., et al. (2000). Relative contributions of testosterone and estrogen in regulating bone resorption and formation in normal elderly men. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 106, 1553–1560.
- Burnett-Bowie, S. A., McKay, E. A., Lee, H., et al. (2009). Effects of aromatase inhibition on bone mineral density and bone turnover in older men with low testosterone levels. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 94, 4785–4792.
- Eriksson, A. L., Perry, J. R. B., Coviello, A. D., et al. (2018). Genetic determinants of circulating estrogen levels and evidence of a causal effect of estradiol on bone density in men. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 103, 991–1004.
- Coleman, R. E., Rathbone, E., & Brown, J. E. (2013). Management of cancer treatment-induced bone loss. *Nature Reviews Rheumatology*, *9*, 365–374.
- Baron, R., Ferrari, S., & Russell, R. G. (2011). Denosumab and bisphosphonates: Different mechanisms of action and effects. *Bone*, 48, 677–692.



Parathyroid Hormone-Related Protein (PTHrP): An Emerging Target in Cancer Progression and Metastasis

Rui Zhang, Jiarong Li, Gloria Assaker, Anne Camirand, Siham Sabri, Andrew C. Karaplis, and Richard Kremer

Abstract

PTHrP was first discovered as the most common mediator of malignancy-associated hypercalcemia. Subsequently, the discovery of its ubiquitous expression in normal tissues unraveled its role as a physiological autocrine/paracrine regulator. The significance of PTHrP in cancer is not confined to malignancy-associated hypercalcemia, and sufficient evidence now also supports its role in skeletal metastasis through its modulation of bone turnover. Furthermore, our own studies have recently shown the critical role of PTHrP in breast cancer initiation, growth, and metastasis. More recently, we have provided new evidence that overexpression of PTHrP is associated with higher incidence of brain metastasis and decreased overall survival in triple-negative breast cancer patients. Further mechanistic studies in human and mouse model are necessary to fully understand the role of PTHrP in tumor progression and metastasis.

A. C. Karaplis Lady Davis Institute for Medical Research, Montréal, QC, Canada

PTHrP Background, Discovery, and Gene Structure

Background and Discovery

PTHrP was first identified after a nearly fourdecade search of humoral factors that underlie the development of hypercalcemia in malignancy, a severe complication in patients with advancedstage cancers. Fuller Albright, in 1941, was the first to postulate that ectopic production of parathyroid hormone (PTH), or a PTH-like factor, could be responsible for this "humoral hypercalcemia of malignancy" (HHM). He reported the case of a patient with renal carcinoma and a solitary bone metastasis associated with hypercalcemia and hypophosphatemia mimicking primary hyperparathyroidism [1]. PTH is an 84-amino acid hormone secreted exclusively by parathyroid cells, and it plays a key role in regulating Vitamin D, phosphate, and calcium homeostasis. Albright's hypothesis that cancer-secreted PTH was the putative etiological factor in HHM was a logical explanation due to its similarity to PTH actions. However, he was unable at that time to prove his hypothesis in the absence of specific immunoassay for the detection of PTH in the blood circulation of patients with HHM. Subsequently, several groups using PTH immunoassays determined that PTH blood levels in HHM were suppressed in response to calciuminduced inhibition of PTH by the parathyroid

R. Zhang · J. Li · A. Camirand · R. Kremer (⊠) Department of Medicine, McGill University Health Centre, Montréal, QC, Canada e-mail: richard.kremer@mcgill.ca

G. Assaker · S. Sabri Department of Pathology, McGill University Health Centre, Montréal, QC, Canada

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

J. S. Rhim et al. (eds.), *Human Cell Transformation*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1164, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-22254-3_13

gland [2]. It was not until 1987, after great efforts were devoted to identifying and isolating this putative tumor-secreted factor, that three independent groups simultaneously identified a protein with similar biological activities and homology to the amino terminus of PTH, therefore named PTHrP. An active peptide with a molecular weight of 18-kDa was isolated by one group from a human lung cancer cell line, a second group from a 6-kDa active peptide from human renal carcinoma cells, and a third group from a 17-kDa active peptide from human breast carcinoma [3–5]. Subsequently, the complementary DNA (cDNA) encoding these peptides confirmed that eight of the initial 13 N-terminal amino acids of PTHrP were identical to those of human PTH [6-8]. These findings explained the biochemical similarities between primary hyperparathyroidism due to excessive production of PTH and HHM from cancer-producing PTHrP.

Gene Structure

The human PTHrP gene (PTHLH) is located on the short arm of chromosome 12, distinct from the human PTH gene, which is located on the short arm of chromosome 11. The similarities in overall genomic organization and similar exonintron boundaries of PTHLH and PTH genes give compelling evidence of their origin from a common ancestral gene which evolved from a gene duplication event during evolution [9] (Fig. 1). The human PTHLH gene spans ~15 kb of genomic DNA and includes nine exons that are transcribed by three functionally distinct promoters (Fig. 1). The canonical TATA promoters (P1 and P3) are located upstream of the noncoding exon 1 and exon 4, respectively, whereas 5' to noncoding exon 3 is a GC-rich promoter (P2) (Fig. 1). Although it is not completely understood whether PTHrP transcription is controlled by each of these promoters in a tissue-specific manner, all species identified to date share only one functional promoter equivalent to the human P3, but not P1 or P2 promoters. Therefore, it is likely that the dominant transcriptional regulation of PTHrP operates through the P3 promoter [10].

Gene sequence comparison reveals that exons equivalent to human exons 4, 5, 6, and 9 are highly conserved among species, which suggests that these exons may constitute the basic *PTHLH* gene structure with important biological functions (Fig. 1).

Alternative splicing gives rise to three separate human PTHrP isoforms which differ at their carboxyl-terminal ends and contain either 139, 141, or 173 amino acids. Although there is no intron between exons 6 and 7 in the human PTHLH gene, the junction provides a splice donor site for acceptors at the beginning of exons 8 and 9 (Fig. 1). Exon 6 encodes a region, common to all three isoforms, whereas exons 8 and 9 encode the exclusive carboxy termini of PTHrP 1-173 and 1-141 isoforms (Fig. 1). The mRNAs for each of these isoforms are commonly expressed in various normal and cancer tissues in humans, but the full characterization of their tissue distribution, processing, and function remains to be established. In contrast to the human PTHLH gene organization, the gene organization in other species is relatively simple, with a single promoter producing one single isoform. In rat and mice, mature peptides of 141 and 139 amino acids, respectively, are expressed [11, 12]. The PTHLH gene yields a single mature peptide of 139 amino acids in chicken and 126 amino acids in fugu [13, 14].

PTHrP Physiology

PTHrP Protein Structure, Functional Domains and Its Receptor

PTHrP amino acid sequences uncovered several functional domains including a prepro sequence, a PTH-like region, a nuclear localizing sequence (NLS), and a C-terminal domain named osteostatin (Fig. 2). The intracellular "prepro" precursors -36 to -1 of the mature peptide are necessary for intracellular trafficking and secretion of the PTHrP polypeptide [10]. The PTHlike region is essential for nearly all the agonist actions of PTHrP at the classical PTH/PTHrP type 1 receptor (PTH1R), a class II G-protein



Fig. 1 Gene structures of human, mouse, rat, chicken, and fugu PTHLH with the human PTH genes. The coding regions and untranslated sequences are indicated by the black and gray boxes, respectively. Exons are noted with Arabic numerals. The positions of the three promoters (red arrow) of human PTHLH are shown (P1, TATA; P2, GC-rich; P3, TATA). The known splicing events in human PTHLH are shown



Fig. 2 Human PTHrP functional domains and amino acid sequences. The three isoforms resulting from alternative splicing have 139, 141, and 173 amino acids (aa), respectively. The prepro region (gray) includes the signal

sequence (aa -36 to -1). The PTH-like region (yellow) binds to the PTH1R receptor (aa 1-34). The region responsible for nuclear localizing sequence (NLS) (green) is (aa 67-94). The osteostatin region (orange) is (aa 107-111)

coupled receptor, expressed on classic PTH target tissues (bone and kidney) that regulate calcium and phosphate homeostasis. This PTH-like region covers the first N-terminal domain of PTHrP (amino acids 1–13), which shares the highest degree of primary sequence homology with PTH (8 of the first 13 residues are identical). The following 14–36 region of PTHrP has no homology with the primary amino acid sequence of PTH; however, it is critical for the binding of PTHrP to the PTH1R. Competitive binding assays have shown that PTH (1-34) and PTHrP (1-36) bind PTH1R with almost equal affinity, whereas shorter N-terminal fragments of either PTH or PTHrP do not [15]. This indicates that the binding domain of PTHrP (14-36) has a similar secondary structure to PTH, regardless of the differences in primary structure.

Upon binding to the PTH1R in bone and kidney, PTHrP can activate intracellular cyclic 3', 5'-adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) which further activates both the adenylyl cyclase/protein kinase A (PKA) pathway as well as the calcium/inositol phosphate/protein kinase C pathway [16]. PTHrP is frequently coexpressed in the same cells or expressed in those immediately adjacent to PTH1R. Such close juxtaposition of cells expressing PTH1R and PTHrP highlights its function as a paracrine/autocrine factor in many tissues [10]. For example, PTHrP/ PTH1R signaling system is crucial not only for physiological functions of PTHrP in bone and mammary gland development but also for pathological effects of PTHrP as a circulating, tumorderived factor in HHM, as well as a locally produced factor at metastatic sites.

The mid-region (amino acids 37-106) of PTHrP includes a nuclear localization sequence (NLS) within residuals 67–94, which can translocate cytoplasmic PTHrP into the nucleus. The NLS of PTHrP contains a basic amino acid sequence, so called cell-penetrating peptides (CPPs), which is homologous to the NLS found in human retroviral regulatory protein [17]. The putative length of NLS was defined by Lam and colleagues to reside between residues 67-94 [18]. The PTHrP import mechanism involves the NLS forming a complex composed of importin β and the monomeric GTP-binding protein Ran which is then transported into the nucleus through the nuclear port complex [10]. PTHrP residues 83–93 are essential for importin β recognition, with residues 71-82 required for high-affinity binding [19]. The crystal structure of a fragment of importin β bound to the non-classical NLS of PTHrP provides the most important molecular evidence for supporting this region as the NLS [20]. This is a strong evidence to support the intracrine role of PTHrP aside from its autocrine/ paracrine actions.

Although the actions of PTHrP in the nucleus are not fully understood, current evidence indicates that it plays important roles in both normal and malignant cells. PTHrP can be targeted to the nucleus in vascular smooth muscle cells and this nuclear targeting is associated with an increase of vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation [21]. In breast, colon, and prostate cancer cells, the nuclear pathway was found to stimulate cell proliferation, prevent tumors cells from apoptosis or anoikis, and stimulate cell migration [22]. Finally, the C-terminal region consisting of amino acids 107–139 is associated with inhibition of osteoclast function and stimulation of osteoblast proliferation [23–25]. It has also been found that this region together with the NLS can increase mitogenesis in vascular smooth muscle cells [26]. However, it should be noted that this C-terminal region is the least conserved domain among all species, the human and mouse having only seven residues, and rat and human having 13 residues in common. The functions of the C-terminal region of PTHP remain controversial and need further investigation.

Normal Physiological Functions of PTHrP

PTHrP is expressed in many normal cell types and tissues and therefore normal physiological functions have been proposed. In normal physiological condition, PTHrP acts as an endocrine factor only in two identified circumstances: (1) in lactation where PTHrP is produced by the breast and reaches the circulation [27]; (2) in the fetus, where it regulates maternal fetal calcium transport [28]. In most cases, PTHrP is regarded as having an autocrine or paracrine role in normal development and postnatal physiology. Here, we will focus on the functions of PTHrP in bone and mammary gland development in order to better examine its pathological role in breast tumor initiation, progression, and bone metastasis.

PTHrP in Mammary Gland Development

A human monogenetic disorder and animal models have shed light on the crucial role of PTHrP in mammary gland development [29]. Fetuses with Blomstrand chondrodysplasia lack breast tissue, indicating that PTHrP is essential for breast development in humans [30]. Studies in *Pthlh*and *Pth1r*-null mice show that PTHrP signaling is indispensable for the formation of mammary glands [29]. The mammary gland formation in embryos is regulated by a cross-talk between the epithelial cells in the bud and ducts and adjacent mesenchymal cells in the stroma [29]. In mice and human fetuses, PTHrP is expressed by the epithelial cells in the mammary bud, which interacts with the PTH1R expressed by the surrounding mesenchyme [31]. PTHrP–PTH1R cross-talk is required for the differentiation of the mesenchymal cells, which in turn stimulates the outgrowth of the epithelial ducts [31]. Disruption of either PTHrP or PTH1R interrupts the cross-talk between epithelium and mesenchyme, leading to a failure of mammary development in mice and humans [31]. Potential downstream signaling regulated by PTHrP includes Wnt and bone morphogenetic protein 4 (BMP4) as well as upregulation of several transcription factors including muscle segment homeobox 2 (Msx2), androgen receptor, and lymphoid enhancer-binding factor 1 (Lef1) [32, 33]. After embryogenesis, PTHrP is highly expressed by alveolar epithelial cells during lactation and is secreted into milk and into the circulation [27].

PTHrP in Bone Development

Generation of mice homozygous for a disrupted Pthlh gene established the first direct evidence for a critical role for PTHrP in the process of normal skeletal development. Pthlh-null mice die at birth, probably of asphyxia, and exhibit widespread abnormalities of endochondral bone development [34]. Subsequent studies characterized this phenotype of chondrodysplasia as a consequence of diminished proliferation, accelerated differentiation, and premature apoptotic death of chondrocytes [16]. Jansen's metaphyseal chondrodysplasia (JMC), a rare autosomal dominant human disorder, provided the first evidence that PTHrP actions in endochondral ossification are mediated by PTH1R [35]. Four different mutations in the *PTH1R* gene have been described in patients with JMC which lead to a constitutive, PTHrPindependent receptor activation [35]. Such activating PTH1R mutations in humans with JMC and overexpression of the same constitutively active receptor in the growth plate of transgenic mice gave rise to a delayed endochondral bone formation phenotype [35, 36]. Overexpression of Pthrp in chondrocyte of transgenic mice results in a similar pattern as observed in mice with active Pth1r overexpression in chondrocyte [37]. Alternatively, mice with homozygous *Pth1r* disruption exhibit accelerated differentiation of chondrocytes, and a more severe but similar phenotype to the one observed in *Pthlh*-null mice [38]. Together, loss-of-function mutations in *PTH1R* gene causes skeletal abnormalities observed in infants with Blomstrand chondrodysplasia, which are mirror images to those observed with JMC [39]. These findings provide sufficient proof that PTH1R mediates most of the cartilaginous effects of PTHrP.

It is interesting to note that the phenotype of *Pth1r*-null mice does not fully recapitulate the one observed in *Pthlh*-null mice, indicating that PTHrP may exert additional effects in a PTH1R-independent fashion. Knock-in mice homozygous for a truncated Pthrp 1–84, missing the NLS and the C-terminal region but preserving their ability to bind with Pth1r were generated [40]. These knock-in mice displayed retarded growth, early senescence, and malnutrition leading to their rapid postnatal demise [40]. This model established a pivotal role for nuclear PTHrP in promoting cellular proliferation while inhibiting pathways leading to senescence.

Pthlh-null mice not only unraveled the central role of PTHrP in endochondral bone formation but also revealed the importance of PTHrP postnatally in bone remodeling. Bone is a dynamic organ that undergoes continuous remodeling. Bone homeostasis depends on the balanced activities between osteoblasts (mesenchymal stem cell-derived bone-forming cells) and boneresorbing cells of monocyte and macrophage lineage known as osteoclasts (Fig. 3). First, in the Pthlh-null mice, osteoblastic progenitor cells contain an inappropriate accumulation of glycogen, which indicates a metabolic defect in cells of the osteogenic lineage secondary to PTHrP deficiency [41]. Second, heterozygous *Pthlh*-null mice are born phenotypically normal, but exhibit a low bone mass by 3 months of age characterized by a marked decreased in trabecular thickness



Fig. 3 Paracrine actions of PTHrP in bone remodeling. PTHrP produced by cells of the early osteoblast lineage acts on more advanced differentiated cells possessing the PTH1R, therefore promoting their differentiation and bone formation and while inhibiting apoptosis of mature

and connectivity, and an abnormally high number of adipocytes in the bone marrow [42]. Third, PTHrP and PTH1R are expressed at different stages of the osteogenic lineage, indicating its pivotal role in the regulation of the maturation of pluripotential bone marrow stromal cells toward the osteogenic lineage [16].

During times of bone homeostasis, osteoclast activity and maturation is regulated by the interaction between its receptor activator of nuclear factor κB (RANK) surface receptor and that of the receptor activator of nuclear factor κB ligand (RANKL) protein expressed by osteoblasts and other bone marrow stromal cells; whereas osteoprotegerin (OPG), a decoy receptor for RANKL, diverts RANKL binding to RANK, reduces the half-life of membranous RANKL, and therefore inhibits bone resorption induced by osteoclasts [43]. PTHrP can stimulate bone resorption indirectly by upregulating the expression of RANKL in stromal osteoprogenitors [44] (Fig. 3). Binding of RANKL to RANK, a membrane protein expressed by hematopoietic progenitors, results in increased differentiation of osteoclast precursors and maturation (Fig. 3).

osteoblasts. Moreover, PTHrP increases production of RANKL and binding of RANKL to RANK on hematopoietic progenitors leading to enhanced differentiation of osteoclast precursors and osteoclasts activation

PTHrP and Cancer Biology

PTHrP and Malignancy-Associated Hypercalcemia (MAH)

MAH is a well-known complication of cancer and occurs in about 20-30% of cancer patients [45]. MAH is classified into four groups: humoral hypercalcemia of malignancy (HHM), local osteolytic hypercalcemia (LOH), excess 1,25(OH)₂D production, and ectopic PTH secretion. In 1936, Gutman et al. identified LOH in patients suffering from multiple myeloma and breast cancer (BC) with extensive bone lesions [45]. In 1941, Fuller Albright proposed a mechanism of hypercalcemia independent of bone metastasis [1]. The existence of a systematic factor with PTH bioactivity was suggested when Albright described a patient with renal carcinoma, hypercalcemia, and hypophosphatemia following an irradiation of bone [1]. At present, hypercalcemia secondary to PTH-like mediators accounts for approximately 80% of the cases, whereas LOH accounts for most of the remaining cases in cancer patients [45]. Excess 1,25(OH)₂D

production accounts for <1% of all cases and ectopic PTH secretion by tumor cells is an even rarer event [45].

The classic signs and symptoms of severe hypercalcemia include confusion, constipation, nausea, anorexia, and coma. Elevated PTHrP in the context of hypercalcemia is almost always associated with PTH suppression [45]. A low or low-normal serum phosphorus level, if present, confirms the diagnosis [45]. There is still some controversy about the 1,25(OH)₂D circulating level in HHM which has been found to be either suppressed, normal, or even elevated [46–48]. Breast, renal, and squamous carcinomas are the most common solid cancers associated with hypercalcemia [45]. Among hematological malignancies, multiple myeloma is the most commonly associated with hypercalcemia, followed by leukemia and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma [45]. Circulating PTHrP levels have been reported to be elevated in 50-90% of hypercalcemic cancer patients with solid tumors and in 25-60% of patients with hematological malignancies [49]. In addition, circulating PTHrP may also have prognostic value. A prospective study conducted by our team in patients with MAH indicated that elevated circulating PTHrP is an indicator of poor prognosis and is associated with reduced survival (Fig. 4) [51]. Several other studies also confirmed the prognostic value of PTHrP [52, 53].

However, measurement of serum PTHrP presents few challenges. First, tumors may express several isoforms of PTHrP which could either circulate intact or be subjected to further metabolism. The nature of these potential circulating forms is still elusive. Second, it has been challenging to establish appropriate immunoassays that can recognize these multiple circulating either bioactive or inactive forms. Shortly after the discovery and characterization of PTHrP, immunoassays were developed which focused on the recognition of both the N-terminal (1-36)bioactive region and the inactive C-terminal (109–136) region of PTHrP [54]. However, little or no immunoreactivity was detected in the circulation of patients with MAH indicating that the three intact isoforms were likely metabolized.

Burtis et al. also designed a two-site immunoassay using two polyclonal antibodies, a capture antibody raised against PTHrP 37-74, and a radiolabelled signal antibody raised against PTHrP 1–36 [54]. Most patients with HHM had elevated PTHrP levels indicating that PTHrP fragments containing at least the first 74 amino acids were present in a variety of hypercalcemic cancer conditions [54]. In addition, Burtis et al. also developed yet another C-terminal radioimmunoassay using a polyclonal antibody raised against PTHrP 109-138 and were able to detect high levels of PTHrP in the circulation of renal failure patients with MAH [54]. An ultrasensitive multiplex two-site immunoassay has recently been reported capable of simultaneously measuring several circulating forms of PTHrP with a limit of detection (LODs) of 150 aM (~1000 fold lower than current immunoradiometric assay) [55]. The clinical value of such ultrasensitive multiplex two-site immunoassay for the diagnosis and prognosis of cancer patients needs further evaluation in well-established populations.

Current therapies in MAH in individuals suffering from moderate to severe hypercalcemia are aimed at lowering serum calcium levels, and specifically act by inhibiting bone resorption [45]. Bisphosphonates are the standard of care in the treatment of MAH since their approval in the late 1980s, and include mainly pamidronate and zoledronic acid administered intravenously [45]. In 2014, the monoclonal antibody denosumab, directed against RANKL, was approved for the treatment of bisphosphonate refractory hypercalcemia [56]. Even though these currently approved therapies can successfully control blood calcium levels and markedly decrease the symptoms of hypercalcemia, such modalities have had little effect on the patients' mortality associated with the underlying malignancy [45]. However, in the case of HHM, all therapies mentioned above do not target the primary underlying cause of hypercalcemia, namely PTHrP, and it is therefore not yet established whether therapies targeting PTHrP will have an additional benefit. Ogata infused chimeric anti-PTHrP antibodies into nude mice transplanted with PTHrP-secreting human cancer tissues and found this treatment resulted in a



Fig. 4 Serum levels of PTHrP and survival of patients with MAH. (a) Survival in 76 hypercalcemic cancer patients, by PTHrP status and pretreatment calcium levels. Numbers shown in the inset are total numbers of deaths/number of patients at baseline. Numbers of patients at risk were 40 at 100 days, 22 at year 1, and 3 at year 3. (b) Survival in hypercalcemic cancer patients, by PTHrP status and age group. Numbers of patients at risk were 41

at 100 days, 22 at year 1, and 3 at year 3. CA \leq 12 = pretreatment serum calcium levels 10.3–12 mg/dL; CA > 12 = pretreatment calcium levels >12 mg/dL; PTHrP 0 = PTHrP not elevated; PTHrP >0 = PTHrP elevated. PTHrP and calcium levels are two independent prognostic factors for patient survival, and the effect of PTHrP is only significant in patients younger than 65. (Reproduce from [50])

prompt and sustained decline in serum calcium [57]. This response was accompanied by improvements in food intake, water intake, body weight gain, and general behavior [57]. Compared to the effects of either bisphosphonates or calcitonin, the author found that some beneficial effects of the antibody were independent of blood calcium levels [57]. These additional benefits of using anti-PTHrP antibodies need further investigation.

PTHrP and Cancer Development

The significance of PTHrP expression by different malignancies is likely not confined to MAH. Overexpression of PTHrP in the absence of hypercalcemia is very common in breast, prostate, lung, and colon cancers [50]. In contrast, normal or non-neoplastic tissues express low levels of PTHrP [50]. This correlation between PTHrP expression and tumor progression suggests that it could be mechanistically linked.

PTHrP expression has been shown to be under the control of numerous growth and angiogenic factors such as transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β), epidermal growth factor (EGF), platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) [50]. Various in vitro studies have provided mounting evidence of the multifunctional role of PTHrP in cancer cell biology including regulation of tumor cell growth, differentiation, and invasion as well as regulation of tumor cell survival factors and interference with apoptotic signaling pathways [50].

PTHrP in Breast Cancer Development

BC is a heterogeneous disease characterized by different pathological and molecular subtypes that have different treatment responses and clinical outcomes. Breast cancer receptor status, most commonly defined by estrogen-receptor (ER), progesterone-receptor (PR), and human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) status in the clinical setting, is critical for determining therapeutic intervention and prevention strategies. In addition to the receptor status, five distinct human subtypes have been defined based on gene expression profiling. These include the luminal A (ER and/or PR positive and HER2 negative) and B (ER and/or PR positive and HER2 negative) and B (ER and/or PR positive and HER2 negative/positive), basal-like (ER, PR, and HER2 negative), claudin-low (ER, PR, and HER2 negative), and HER2/ERBB2-positive (ER and PR negative and HER2 positive) tumors [58]. Most basal-like tumors have a 'triple-negative' immunophenotype (defined by absence of ER, PR, and HER2 expression) and their gene expression signatures are similar to those of normal basal/myoepithelial cells [59].

Studies investigating the role of PTHrP in BC progression have reported conflicting results. Our most recent in silico gene expression analyses using 36 public datasets and 5861 patients identified for the first time significant positive correlations between PTHLH expression and components of signaling pathways enriched in the triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) subtypes including mesenchymal and luminal androgen receptor (LAR) subtypes [60, 61]. Notably, TNBC (ER, PR, and HER2 negative) is characterized by aggressive clinical course, increased rate of metastasis, and lack of targeted therapy, highlighting the need for novel prognostic biomarkers and molecular targets for this disease [62–64]. Therefore, we explored the clinical significance of PTHrP in TNBC using a population-based cohort of treatment-naive patients with newly diagnosed TNBC [65]. Immunohistochemical analysis of PTHrP expression in a tissue microarray constructed for 523 TNBC patients from this cohort revealed that PTHrP is overexpressed in 55.2% of TNBC tumors and its overexpression was significantly associated with decreased overall survival [66]. Consistent with our previously published results in the MMTV-PyMT mouse model, we found that loss of PTHrP expression dramatically prolongs tumor latency and slows tumor growth and metastasis [67]. Additionally, we developed a blocking monoclonal antibody against PTHrP and demonstrated that it could inhibit primary tumor growth and lung metastasis in a human BC xenograft model [67].

These data are in line with several studies showing that PTHrP expression in BC is correlated with poor patient survival [68–72]. In contrast, one study has suggested that PTHrP expression decreases the malignant potential of human breast tumors [73]. In this latter study, Henderson et al. carried out a 10-year prospective analysis of consecutive breast patients at the Breast Unit of St. Vincent's Hospital in Australia, and found that positive PTHrP staining was an independent predictor of improved survival, and reduced metastasis at all sites [73]. Similarly, a study from the same group using an MMTV-neu BC mouse model found that disruption of PTHrP resulted in higher tumor occurrence [74].

By contrast, additional pre-clinical and clinical studies appear to support a detrimental role of PTHrP in tumor progression. First, one large genome-wide association study (GWAS) has implicated the PTHLH gene as a major BC susceptible locus [75]. Second, Kim et al. found that ablation of the calcium-sensing receptor (CaSR) in the MMTV-PyMT mouse model and in BC cell lines inhibited PTHrP expression and slowed tumor cell growth [76]. Their findings convincingly show that the CaSR-PTHrP pathway contributes to the growth of breast tumors in the MMTV-PyMT mice in vivo. They also documented a positive correlation between CaSR and PTHrP mRNA expression not only in this animal model but also in human samples [76]. This is particularly interesting since the MMTV-PyMT mouse model has been shown to share many characteristics of human basal-like cancer [77]. Finally, using RNAseq analyses, another group has shown that overexpression of PTHrP in MCF7 cells downregulates eight pro-dormancy genes likely through calcium signaling pathways in BC [78].

In summary, based on these observations, PTHrP appears to play a crucial role in BC development. The apparent divergent clinical results between the study published by Henderson et al. and other groups, including ours, could be attributed to features unique to this study, such as the ethnicity/race of the patients or the cut-off for PTHrP positivity in IHC staining analysis.

Pthlh Gene Ablation in Mammary Epithelial Cells and Its Consequences on Tumor Initiation, Growth, and Metastasis

PTHrP is expressed in normal mammary epithelial cells and its expression increased during BC development. To unravel the mechanistic role of PTHrP in BC initiation and progression, we ablated the *Pthlh* gene in mammary epithelial cells and examined its consequence on tumor progression in the MMTV-PyMT mouse model.

The MMTV-PyMT transgenic mouse is an excellent model mimicking many of the biological steps of human BC progression. Lin et al. identified four distinct BC stages, which are comparable to the human diseases from the premalignant stage to advanced disease [79]. Polyomavirus middle T antigen (PyMT) is a membrane-attached protein encoded by the mouse polyomavirus (PyV). PyV expresses three T antigens: a Large T (LT, 100kDa), a Middle T (MT, 55-Kda), and a Small T (ST, 22-KDa), but only MT is the PyV oncogene that targets key cellular regulators promoting uncontrolled cell proliferation [80]. Previously, the MMTV-PyMT mouse model was regarded as being mainly associated with human luminal B subtype characterized by expression of the luminal K8/18, and overexpression of ErBB2 and low levels of ER [81]. However, a recently published paper showed that MMTV-PyMT mouse has heterogeneous transcriptomes with both luminal B and basal-like phenotypes [77]. During tumor progression, in MMTV-PyMT mouse model, ER and PR receptors status were lost whereas the HER2 receptor was overexpressed [79].

PyMT PTHrP^{flox/flox}; Cre⁺ mT/mG Mouse Model

MMTV-Cre transgenic mice have been used extensively to obtain consistently high expression of Cre recombinase in the mammary epithelium [82]. To study the function of PTHrP in BC progression, we used a Cre-Lox recombination system to delete exon 4 of PTHrP [83]. Li et al. constructed *Pthrp*^{flox/flox}; *Cre*⁺ (KO) tumor-bearing mouse model specifically inactivating the *Pthlh* gene in the mammary epithelium by crossing homozygous (flox/flox) *Pthlh* mice with MMTV-Cre; MMTV-PyMT mice [67].

The availability of the conditional fluorescent reporter mouse model (mT/mG) has also enabled us to trace Cre expression at a cell-specific level [84]. In this model, the mT/mG reporter transgene is driven by a strong ubiquitous promotor (ACTB) from the well-characterized Gt(ROSA)26Sor genomic locus in which transgene expression of tdTomato (a red fluorescent protein) converts to the expression of enhanced green fluorescent protein (GFP) after Cre recombinase-mediated intramolecular rearrangement of the fluorescent protein-encoding transgene [84]. The activation of the GFP marks Cre expressing cells and all their descendants, since the ROSA26 promoter is expressed in all embryonic and adult mouse tissues [84]. We constructed Pthrp^{flox/flox}; Cre⁺ and Pthrp^{wt/wt}; Cre⁺ mT/mG mice models which can exclusively activate Cre expression in mammary epithelium and specifically express membranetargeted GFP [85]. The advantage of this approach is to distinguish the membrane-targeted GFP from the membrane-targeted red fluorescent backlight of stromal and nonepithelial-derived mammary tissues during tumor progression (Fig. 5) [85]. Moreover, we will be able to trace and enrich the GFP-positive tumor cells from the primary site to the blood and metastatic site. This model will also help us to further investigate the mechanistic link between PTHrP and tumor progression process from initiation to metastasis.

Role of PTHrP in Breast Cancer Metastasis to Bone

Almost 70% of advanced-stage BC patients will develop bone metastasis that is commonly associated with pain, hypercalcemia, and pathologic fractures [43]. In 1889, Dr. Stephen Paget proposed the "seed and soil" hypothesis, which states that disseminated tumor cells ("the seeds") need the proper microenvironment ("the soil") for them to grow [86]. Cancer metastasis is a complex and multi-step process that involves two major factors: tumor cells and the metastatic site. The tumor cells must detach from the primary tumor, lose their epithelial polarity, invade the basement membrane and extracellular matrix, reach the capillary blood, survive and finally extravasate into a distant site. The metastatic site plays a role as a fertile soil that provides sufficient support for tumor cells to grow. Once metastatic BC cells are in the bone marrow, they can effectively 'hijack' the normal bone homeostatic signals and therefore result in excessive osteoclast activation leading to enhanced bone resorption [43]. Current findings have revealed that there is a 'vicious cycle' in which metastatic cells residing in the bone marrow secrete factors that induce osteolytic bone resorption, and growth factors released from resorbed bone further stimulate tumor growth (Fig. 6).

More than 50% primary BCs and 90% of bone metastasis show strong positivity for PTHrP expression [87]. These have provided the rationale that PTHrP expression in the bone marrow by BC cells promotes bone resorption and tumor cell growth. Due to the complexity of the vicious cycle in the bone metastatic process, the fundamental molecular mechanisms of the role of PTHrP in BC metastasis to bone remain elusive. Previous studies showed that PTHrP is a crucial regulator of bone metastasis and together with other growth factors such as TGF- β and chemokine C-C motif ligand 2 (CCL2) accelerates tumor growth and bone metastasis progression [88, 89]. A series of studies showed that overexpression of PTHrP converted human MCF7 BC cells from a dormant phenotype into a more aggressive metastatic phenotype [90]. Subsequent RNAseq analyses indicated that such overexpression of PTHrP in MCF7 cells downregulated several pro-dormancy genes [78]. The author further confirmed that differential gene expression responses to PTHrP overexpression do not signal through the activation of the cAMP/PKA/CREB pathway mediated by PTH1R [78]. Interestingly, the authors using RNAseq analyses found that the PTHrP overexpression upregulates calcium signaling pathway, but the specific intracellular pathways that mediate these non-PTH1Rmediated actions remain unknown [78]. It has also been shown that CaSR activation stimulated PTHrP production by breast cancer cells in vitro and in vivo which suggests that CaSR acts upstream of PTHrP [76]. These results raised a possibility that PTHrP exerts its osteolytic effect in bone through the activation CaSR signaling,



Fig. 5 Cell tracing approaches using PyMT, mT/mG mouse model. (a) H&E staining and immunofluorescence staining of tumor tissues at the three stages of tumor development in PyMT flox/flox;Cre + mT/mG mouse

possibly in a feed-forward loop. Furthermore, how exactly PTHrP produced by tumor cells interacts with other tumor-derived factors into the bone microenvironment is still unclear.

Role of PTHrP in Breast Cancer Metastasis to Brain

BC is the second most frequent cause of brain metastasis after lung cancer, with a risk of 10–16% in advanced BC patients [91]. Previous studies revealed that patients with TNBC or

model (*H* hyperplasia, *A* adenoma, *C* carcinoma). (b) Methods of preparation of tumor cells for fluorescence-activated cell sorting

HER2-positive tumors have an increased risk of brain metastasis [91]. Brain metastasis from BC is a catastrophic event associated with a median survival of ~15 months despite treatment [91]. Identification of prognostic biomarkers associated with BC brain metastasis could be beneficial to identify patients at risk and inform appropriate clinical management decisions to improve their survival outcomes. Interestingly, we reported a strong association between high PTHrP expression in archived primary tumors of patients newly diagnosed with TNBC and higher propensity for brain progression [66]. These clinical results



Fig. 6 PTHrP-dependent vicious cycle of bone metastasis. Tumor-derived PTHrP acts in a paracrine manner to stimulate osteoblasts within the bone microenvironment. Stimulated osteoblasts express RANKL, which binds to RANK on osteoclast precursors leading to the formation of multinucleated, bone-resorbing osteoclasts. Finally, osteoclastic bone resorption releases growth factors from

the mineralized matrix (bone-derived growth factors), further enhancing tumor growth and survival. This creates a 'vicious cycle' in which tumor-derived PTHrP deregulates bone remodeling and accelerates bone resorption. This self-perpetuating cycle results in increased tumor burden and bone destruction

were also validated using in silico analyses, which showed that *PTHLH* expression positively correlated with signature genes not only involved in bone and lung metastasis in all BC subtypes examined but also, for the first time, correlated with brain metastatic genes: *HBEGF* (heparinbinding EGF-like growth factor) and *ANGPTL4* (angiopoietin-like 4) selectively in TNBC and basal-like subtypes [60]. Collectively, these results reveal for the first time a possible role of PTHrP in TNBC-associated brain metastasis.

Summary and Conclusion

PTHrP was first discovered as the most common mediator of MAH. Subsequently, the discovery of its ubiquitous expression in normal tissues unraveled its role as a physiological autocrine/ paracrine regulator. During the bone metastatic process, tumor-produced PTHrP plays a critical role in perpetuating the 'vicious cycle' that was created between the tumor cells and bone microenvironment. Furthermore, mounting evidence appears to indicate that PTHrP regulates most if not all the critical steps of tumor progression within and outside the skeleton. The strong correlation that we identified between PTHrP expression and breast cancer progression in addition to survival in TNBC suggests that PTHrPtargeted therapies representing a promising strategy, which should be further explored in this subtype with limited therapeutic options.

Acknowledgments This study was supported by grants from the Canadian Institutes for Health Research (CIHR MOP142287; MOP130370) and the U.S. Department of Defense Breast Cancer Research Program (W81XWH-15-1-0723) to R. Kremer.

References

- Mundy, G. R., & Edwards, J. R. (2008). PTH-related peptide (PTHrP) in hypercalcemia. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, 19, 672–675.
- Powell, D., Singer, F. R., Murray, T. M., et al. (1973). Nonparathyroid humoral hypercalcemia in patients with neoplastic diseases. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 289, 176–181.
- Strewler, G. J., Stern, P. H., Jacobs, J. W., et al. (1987). Parathyroid hormonelike protein from human renal carcinoma cells. Structural and functional homology with parathyroid hormone. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 80, 1803–1807.
- Burtis, W. J., Wu, T., Bunch, C., et al. (1987). Identification of a novel 17,000-dalton parathyroid hormone-like adenylate cyclase-stimulating protein from a tumor associated with humoral hypercalcemia of malignancy. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 262, 7151–7156.
- Moseley, J. M., Kubota, M., Diefenbach-Jagger, H., et al. (1987). Parathyroid hormone-related protein purified from a human lung cancer cell line. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 84, 5048–5052.
- Suva, L. J., Winslow, G. A., Wettenhall, R. E., et al. (1987). A parathyroid hormone-related protein implicated in malignant hypercalcemia: Cloning and expression. *Science*, 237, 893–896.
- Mangin, M., Ikeda, K., Dreyer, B. E., et al. (1988). Two distinct tumor-derived, parathyroid hormone-like peptides result from alternative ribonucleic acid splicing. *Molecular Endocrinology*, 2, 1049–1055.
- Thiede, M. A., Strewler, G. J., Nissenson, R. A., et al. (1988). Human renal carcinoma expresses two messages encoding a parathyroid hormone-like peptide: Evidence for the alternative splicing of a singlecopy gene. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America, 85, 4605–4609.
- Yasuda, T., Banville, D., Hendy, G. N., et al. (1989). Characterization of the human parathyroid hormonelike peptide gene. Functional and evolutionary aspects. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 264, 7720–7725.
- Martin, T. J. (2016). Parathyroid hormone-related protein, its regulation of cartilage and bone development, and role in treating bone diseases. *Physiological Reviews*, 96, 831–871.
- Mangin, M., Ikeda, K., & Broadus, A. E. (1990). Structure of the mouse gene encoding parathyroid hormone-related peptide. *Gene*, 95, 195–202.
- Karaplis, A. C., Yasuda, T., Hendy, G. N., et al. (1990). Gene-encoding parathyroid hormone-like peptide: Nucleotide sequence of the rat gene and comparison with the human homologue. *Molecular Endocrinology*, *4*, 441–446.
- Thiede, M. A., & Rutledge, S. J. (1990). Nucleotide sequence of a parathyroid hormone-related peptide

expressed by the 10 day chicken embryo. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 18, 3062.

- Power, D. M., Ingleton, P. M., Flanagan, J., et al. (2000). Genomic structure and expression of parathyroid hormone-related protein gene (PTHrP) in a teleost, Fugu rubripes. *Gene*, 250, 67–76.
- Orloff, J. J., Wu, T. L., & Stewart, A. F. (1989). Parathyroid hormone-like proteins: Biochemical responses and receptor interactions. *Endocrine Reviews*, 10, 476–495.
- Karaplis, A. C., & Goltzman, D. (2000). PTH and PTHrP effects on the skeleton. *Reviews in Endocrine* & *Metabolic Disorders*, 1, 331–341.
- Ohshima, K., Takeda, S., Hirose, M., et al. (2012). Structure-function relationship of the nuclear localization signal sequence of parathyroid hormonerelated protein. *Biomedical Research*, 33, 191–199.
- Lam, M. H., Thomas, R. J., Martin, T. J., et al. (2000). Nuclear and nucleolar localization of parathyroid hormone-related protein. *Immunology and Cell Biology*, 78, 395–402.
- Lam, M. H., Hu, W., Xiao, C. Y., et al. (2001). Molecular dissection of the importin beta1-recognized nuclear targeting signal of parathyroid hormonerelated protein. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 282, 629–634.
- Cingolani, G., Bednenko, J., Gillespie, M. T., et al. (2002). Molecular basis for the recognition of a nonclassical nuclear localization signal by importin beta. *Molecular Cell*, 10, 1345–1353.
- 21. Massfelder, T., Dann, P., Wu, T. L., et al. (1997). Opposing mitogenic and anti-mitogenic actions of parathyroid hormone-related protein in vascular smooth muscle cells: A critical role for nuclear targeting. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America, 94, 13630–13635.
- Soki, F. N., Park, S. I., & McCauley, L. K. (2012). The multifaceted actions of PTHrP in skeletal metastasis. *Future Oncology*, 8, 803–817.
- Fenton, A. J., Kemp, B. E., Hammonds, R. G., Jr., et al. (1991). A potent inhibitor of osteoclastic bone resorption within a highly conserved pentapeptide region of parathyroid hormone-related protein; PTHrP[107-111]. *Endocrinology*, 129, 3424–3426.
- 24. Fenton, A. J., Kemp, B. E., Kent, G. N., et al. (1991). A carboxyl-terminal peptide from the parathyroid hormone-related protein inhibits bone resorption by osteoclasts. *Endocrinology*, 129, 1762–1768.
- Fenton, A. J., Martin, T. J., & Nicholson, G. C. (1994). Carboxyl-terminal parathyroid hormone-related protein inhibits bone resorption by isolated chicken osteoclasts. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 9, 515–519.
- de Miguel, F., Fiaschi-Taesch, N., López-Talavera, J. C., et al. (2001). The C-terminal region of PTHrP, in addition to the nuclear localization signal, is essential for the intracrine stimulation of proliferation in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Endocrinology*, 142, 4096–4105.

- Budayr, A. A., Halloran, B. P., King, J. C., et al. (1989). High levels of a parathyroid hormone-like protein in milk. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America, 86, 7183–7185.
- 28. Kovacs, C. S., Lanske, B., Hunzelman, J. L., et al. (1996). Parathyroid hormone-related peptide (PTHrP) regulates fetal-placental calcium transport through a receptor distinct from the PTH/PTHrP receptor. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 93, 15233–15238.
- Wysolmerski, J. J. (2012). Parathyroid hormonerelated protein: An update. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 97, 2947–2956.
- Wysolmerski, J. J., Cormier, S., Philbrick, W. M., et al. (2001). Absence of functional type 1 parathyroid hormone (PTH)/PTH-related protein receptors in humans is associated with abnormal breast development and tooth impaction. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 86, 1788–1794.
- Hens, J. R., & Wysolmerski, J. J. (2005). Key stages of mammary gland development: Molecular mechanisms involved in the formation of the embryonic mammary gland. *Breast Cancer Research*, 7, 220–224.
- 32. Hens, J., Dann, P., Hiremath, M., et al. (2009). Analysis of gene expression in PTHrP–/– mammary buds supports a role for BMP signaling and MMP2 in the initiation of ductal morphogenesis. *Developmental Dynamics*, 238, 2713–2724.
- 33. Hens, J. R., Dann, P., Zhang, J. P., et al. (2007). BMP4 and PTHrP interact to stimulate ductal outgrowth during embryonic mammary development and to inhibit hair follicle induction. *Development*, 134, 1221–1230.
- Karaplis, A. C., Luz, A., Glowacki, J., et al. (1994). Lethal skeletal dysplasia from targeted disruption of the parathyroid hormone-related peptide gene. *Genes* & *Development*, 8, 277–289.
- 35. Schipani, E., Langman, C., Hunzelman, J., et al. (1999). A novel parathyroid hormone (PTH)/PTHrelated peptide receptor mutation in Jansen's metaphyseal chondrodysplasia. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 84, 3052–3057.
- 36. Schipani, E., Lanske, B., Hunzelman, J., et al. (1997). Targeted expression of constitutively active receptors for parathyroid hormone and parathyroid hormonerelated peptide delays endochondral bone formation and rescues mice that lack parathyroid hormonerelated peptide. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America, 94, 13689–13694.
- 37. Weir, E. C., Philbrick, W. M., Amling, M., et al. (1996). Targeted overexpression of parathyroid hormonerelated peptide in chondrocytes causes chondrodysplasia and delayed endochondral bone formation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 93, 10240–10245.
- Lanske, B., Karaplis, A. C., Lee, K., et al. (1996). PTH/PTHrP receptor in early development and Indian hedgehog-regulated bone growth. *Science*, 273, 663–666.

- 39. Jobert, A. S., Zhang, P., Couvineau, A., et al. (1998). Absence of functional receptors for parathyroid hormone and parathyroid hormone-related peptide in Blomstrand chondrodysplasia. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 102, 34–40.
- 40. Miao, D., Su, H., He, B., et al. (2008). Severe growth retardation and early lethality in mice lacking the nuclear localization sequence and C-terminus of PTH-related protein. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 105, 20309–20314.
- 41. Amizuka, N., Warshawsky, H., Henderson, J. E., et al. (1994). Parathyroid hormone-related peptidedepleted mice show abnormal epiphyseal cartilage development and altered endochondral bone formation. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, *126*, 1611–1623.
- Amizuka, N., Karaplis, A. C., Henderson, J. E., et al. (1996). Haploinsufficiency of parathyroid hormonerelated peptide (PTHrP) results in abnormal postnatal bone development. *Developmental Biology*, 175, 166–176.
- Guise, T. A., Kozlow, W. M., Heras-Herzig, A., et al. (2005). Molecular mechanisms of breast cancer metastases to bone. *Clinical Breast Cancer*, 5, S46–S53.
- Yasuda, H., Shima, N., Nakagawa, N., et al. (1999). A novel molecular mechanism modulating osteoclast differentiation and function. *Bone*, 25, 109–113.
- 45. Sternlicht, H., & Glezerman, I. G. (2015). Hypercalcemia of malignancy and new treatment options. *Therapeutics and Clinical Risk Management*, 11, 1779–1788.
- Ralston, S. H., Cowan, R. A., Robertson, A. G., et al. (1984). Circulating vitamin D metabolites and hypercalcaemia of malignancy. *Acta Endocrinologica*, *106*, 556–563.
- 47. Schweitzer, D. H., Hamdy, N. A., Frölich, M., et al. (1994). Malignancy-associated hypercalcaemia: Resolution of controversies over vitamin D metabolism by a pathophysiological approach to the syndrome. *Clinical Endocrinology*, *41*, 251–256.
- Donovan, P. J., Achong, N., Griffin, K., et al. (2015). PTHrP-mediated hypercalcemia: Causes and survival in 138 patients. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology* and Metabolism, 100, 2024–2029.
- Kremer, R., & Goltzman, D. (2017). Parathyroid hormone-related peptide and other mediators of skeletal manifestations of malignancy. In *Principles of bone biology*. Cambridge: Elsevier.
- Kremer, R., Li, J., Camirand, A., & Karaplis, A. C. (2011). Parathyroid hormone related protein (PTHrP) in tumor progression. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology*, 720, 145–160.
- Truong, N. U., deB Edwardes, M. D., Papavasiliou, V., et al. (2003). Parathyroid hormone-related peptide and survival of patients with cancer and hypercalcemia. *The American Journal of Medicine*, 115, 115–121.
- 52. Hiraki, A., Ueoka, H., Bessho, A., et al. (2002). Parathyroid hormone-related protein measured at the
time of first visit is an indicator of bone metastases and survival in lung carcinoma patients with hypercalcemia. *Cancer*, 95, 1706–1713.

- Pecherstorfer, M., Schilling, T., Blind, E., et al. (1994). Parathyroid hormone-related protein and life expectancy in hypercalcemic cancer patients. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 78, 1268–1270.
- 54. Burtis, W. J., Brady, T. G., Orloff, J. J., et al. (1990). Immunochemical characterization of circulating parathyroid hormone-related protein in patients with humoral hypercalcemia of cancer. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 322, 1106–1112.
- 55. Otieno, B. A., Krause, C. E., Jones, A. L., et al. (2016). Cancer diagnostics via ultrasensitive multiplexed detection of parathyroid hormone-related peptides with a microfluidic immunoarray. *Analytical Chemistry*, 88, 9269–9275.
- Castellano, D., Sepulveda, J. M., García-Escobar, I., et al. (2011). The role of RANK-ligand inhibition in cancer: The story of denosumab. *The Oncologist*, 16, 136–145.
- Ogata, E. (2000). Parathyroid hormone-related protein as a potential target of therapy for cancer-associated morbidity. *Cancer*, 88(12 Suppl), 2909–2911.
- Vargo-Gogola, T., & Rosen, J. M. (2007). Modelling breast cancer: One size does not fit all. *Nature Reviews. Cancer*, 7, 659–672.
- Badve, S., Dabbs, D. J., Schnitt, S. J., et al. (2011). Basal-like and triple-negative breast cancers: A critical review with an emphasis on the implications for pathologists and oncologists. *Modern Pathology*, 24, 157–167.
- 60. Assaker, G., Camirand, A., Sabri, S., et al. (2018). In silico gene expression analysis of PTHrP and its association with molecular subtypes and organspecific metastasis in human triple-negative breast cancer [abstract]. In *Proceedings of the 109th annual meeting of the American Association for Cancer Research; April 14–18.* Chicago, IL: AACR. Abstract no. 2598.
- 61. Jézéquel, P., Frénel, J. S., Campion, L., et al. (2013). bc-GenExMiner 3.0: New mining module computes breast cancer gene expression correlation analyses. *Database: The Journal of Biological Databases and Curation, 2013*, bas060.
- 62. Bauer, K. R., Brown, M., Cress, R. D., et al. (2007). Descriptive analysis of estrogen receptor (ER)negative, progesterone receptor (PR)-negative, and HER2-negative invasive breast cancer, the so-called triple-negative phenotype: A population-based study from the California cancer registry. *Cancer, 109*, 1721–1728.
- 63. Sorlie, T., Perou, C. M., Tibshirani, R., et al. (2001). Gene expression patterns of breast carcinomas distinguish tumor subclasses with clinical implications. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America, 98, 10869–10874.

- Viale, G. (2012). The current state of breast cancer classification. *Annals of Oncology*, 23(Suppl 10), x207–x210.
- 65. Abdulkarim, B. S., Cuartero, J., Hanson, J., et al. (2011). Increased risk of locoregional recurrence for women with T1-2N0 triple-negative breast cancer treated with modified radical mastectomy without adjuvant radiation therapy compared with breastconserving therapy. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 29, 2852–2858.
- 66. Assaker, G., Camirand, A., Abdulkarim, B., et al. (2018). Identification of PTHrP as a biomarker of short survival & brain metastasis in a tissue microarray retrospective analysis of triple-negative breast cancer [abstract]. In *Proceedings of the 109th annual meeting of the American Association for Cancer Research; April 14–18.* Chicago, IL: AACR. Abstract no. 2632.
- 67. Li, J., Karaplis, A. C., Huang, D. C., et al. (2011). PTHrP drives breast tumor initiation, progression, and metastasis in mice and is a potential therapy target. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 121, 4655–4669.
- 68. Bouizar, Z., Spyratos, F., Deytieux, S., et al. (1993). Polymerase chain reaction analysis of parathyroid hormone-related protein gene expression in breast cancer patients and occurrence of bone metastases. *Cancer Research*, 53, 5076–5078.
- 69. Kohno, N., Kitazawa, S., Fukase, M., et al. (1994). The expression of parathyroid hormone-related protein in human breast cancer with skeletal metastases. *Surgery Today*, *24*, 215–220.
- Linforth, R., Anderson, N., Hoey, R., et al. (2002). Coexpression of parathyroid hormone related protein and its receptor in early breast cancer predicts poor patient survival. *Clinical Cancer Research*, *8*, 3172–3177.
- Takagaki, K., Takashima, T., Onoda, N., et al. (2012). Parathyroid hormone-related protein expression, in combination with nodal status, predicts bone metastasis and prognosis of breast cancer patients. *Experimental and Therapeutic Medicine*, *3*, 963–968.
- Xu, C., Wang, Z., Cui, R., et al. (2015). Co-expression of parathyroid hormone related protein and TGF-beta in breast cancer predicts poor survival outcome. *BMC Cancer*, 15, 925.
- Henderson, M. A., Danks, J. A., Slavin, J. L., et al. (2006). Parathyroid hormone-related protein localization in breast cancers predict improved prognosis. *Cancer Research*, 66, 2250–2256.
- 74. Fleming, N. I., Trivett, M. K., George, J., et al. (2009). Parathyroid hormone-related protein protects against mammary tumor emergence and is associated with monocyte infiltration in ductal carcinoma in situ. *Cancer Research*, 69, 7473–7479.
- Ghoussaini, M., Fletcher, O., Michailidou, K., et al. (2012). Genome-wide association analysis identifies three new breast cancer susceptibility loci. *Nature Genetics*, 44, 312–318.

- Kim, W., Takyar, F. M., Swan, K., et al. (2016). Calcium-sensing receptor promotes breast cancer by stimulating Intracrine actions of parathyroid hormonerelated protein. *Cancer Research*, 76, 5348–5360.
- Hollern, D. P., Swiatnicki, M. R., & Andrechek, E. R. (2018). Histological subtypes of mouse mammary tumors reveal conserved relationships to human cancers. *PLoS Genetics*, *14*, e1007135.
- Johnson, R. W., Sun, Y., Ho, P. W. M., et al. (2018). Parathyroid hormone-related protein negatively regulates tumor cell dormancy genes in a PTHR1/cyclic AMP-independent manner. *Frontiers in Endocrinology* (*Lausanne*), 9, 241.
- 79. Lin, E. Y., Jones, J. G., Li, P., et al. (2003). Progression to malignancy in the polyoma middle T oncoprotein mouse breast cancer model provides a reliable model for human diseases. *The American Journal of Pathology*, 163, 2113–2126.
- Dilworth, S. M. (2002). Polyoma virus middle T antigen and its role in identifying cancer-related molecules. *Nature Reviews. Cancer*, 2, 951–956.
- Fluck, M. M., & Schaffhausen, B. S. (2009). Lessons in signaling and tumorigenesis from polyomavirus middle T antigen. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 73, 542–563.
- Wagner, K. U., McAllister, K., Ward, T., et al. (2001). Spatial and temporal expression of the Cre gene under the control of the MMTV-LTR in different lines of transgenic mice. *Transgenic Research*, 10, 545–553.
- He, B., Deckelbaum, R. A., Miao, D., et al. (2001). Tissue-specific targeting of the pthrp gene: The generation of mice with floxed alleles. *Endocrinology*, *142*, 2070–2077.

- Muzumdar, M. D., Tasic, B., Miyamichi, K., et al. (2007). A global double-fluorescent Cre reporter mouse. *Genesis*, 45, 593–605.
- 85. Zhang, R., Li, J., Badescu, D., et al. (2018). PTHrP drives tumor initiation signaling pathways in the PyMT model of breast cancer progression [abstract]. In Proceedings of the 109th annual meeting of the American Association for Cancer Research; 2018 April 14–18. Chicago IL: AACR. Abstract no. 1995.
- Paget, S. (1989). The distribution of secondary growths in cancer of the breast. 1889. *Cancer Metastasis Reviews*, 8, 98–101.
- McCauley, L. K., & Martin, T. J. (2012). Twentyfive years of PTHrP progress: From cancer hormone to multifunctional cytokine. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 27, 1231–1239.
- Li, X., Loberg, R., Liao, J., et al. (2009). A destructive cascade mediated by CCL2 facilitates prostate cancer growth in bone. *Cancer Research*, 69, 1685–1692.
- Yin, J. J., Selander, K., Chirgwin, J. M., et al. (1999). TGF-beta signaling blockade inhibits PTHrP secretion by breast cancer cells and bone metastases development. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 103, 197–206.
- Johnson, R. W., Finger, E. C., Olcina, M. M., et al. (2016). Induction of LIFR confers a dormancy phenotype in breast cancer cells disseminated to the bone marrow. *Nature Cell Biology*, *18*, 1078–1089.
- Rostami, R., Mittal, S., Rostami, P., et al. (2016). Brain metastasis in breast cancer: A comprehensive literature review. *Journal of Neuro-Oncology*, 127, 407–414.



Targeting DNA Hypomethylation in Malignancy by Epigenetic Therapies

Niaz Mahmood and Shafaat A. Rabbani

Abstract

DNA methylation is a chemically reversible epigenetic modification that regulates the chromatin structure and gene expression, and thereby takes part in various cellular processes like embryogenesis, genomic imprinting, X-chromosome inactivation, and genome stability. Alterations in the normal methylation levels of DNA may contribute to the development of pathological conditions like cancer. Even though both hypo- and hypermethylation-mediated abnormalities are prevalent in the cancer genome, the field of cancer epigenetics has been more focused on targeting hypermethylation. As a result, DNA hypomethylation-mediated abnormalities remained relatively less explored, and currently, there are no approved drugs that can be clinically used to target hypomethylation. Understanding the precise role of DNA hypomethylation is not only crucial from a mechanistic point of view but also for the development of pharmacological agents that can reverse the hypomethylated state of the DNA. This chapter focuses on the causes and impact of DNA hypomethylation in the development of cancer and describes the possible ways to pharmaco-

Department of Medicine, McGill University Health Centre, Montréal, QC, Canada e-mail: niaz.mahmood@mail.mcgill.ca; shafaat. rabbani@mcgill.ca logically target it, especially by using a naturally occurring physiologic agent S-adenosylmethionine (SAM).

Keywords

DNA methylation · Epigenetics · S-adenosylmethionine

Introduction

DNA methylation is a process by which methyl (-CH3) groups are covalently attached to the specific nucleotides on the genome by the action of DNA methyltransferase (DNMT) enzyme [1]. It is an evolutionarily ancient mechanism involved in a wide variety of functions that include the maintenance of genomic integrity and stability, gene regulation, genomic imprinting, cellular differentiation, and protection against foreign DNA [2–7]. In mammalian organisms, methylation of DNA predominantly takes place on the fifth position of cytosine (C) that resides before guanosine (G) nucleotide in sites designated as the CpGs [8]. The distribution and pattern of methylation at the CpG sites are not even across the genome [9]. The CpGs are densely distributed near the gene promoters (in regions called CpG islands) where most of the cytosines are preferentially unmethylated in normal condition [10]. In contrast, methylation is more prevalent on the cytosines

N. Mahmood · S. A. Rabbani (🖂)

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

J. S. Rhim et al. (eds.), *Human Cell Transformation*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1164, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-22254-3_14

residing in the repeat sequences and intragenic regions where CpG density is low [11]. In cancer and other pathological conditions, the DNA methylation pattern changes. This change can be in both directions, i.e., both hypermethylation (the condition with increased methylation) and hypomethylation (the condition with decreased methylation)-mediated abnormalities are seen in cancer [1]. Research over the past few decades heavily focused on DNA hypermethylation, and two drugs targeting hypermethylation have been approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for the treatment of several types of cancer [12, 13]. In contrast, targeting DNA hypomethylation remained less explored. This chapter describes the current state of knowledge on DNA hypomethylation-mediated abnormalities in cancer, especially focusing on the approaches that can be used to target them to reduce cancer-associated morbidity and mortality. The relationship between DNA hypomethylation and cancer stem cells is also discussed.

DNA Hypomethylation and Cancer

DNA hypomethylation refers to the loss of CpG methylation at a specific site on the DNA which is otherwise methylated in a normal state [11]. In the context of the whole genome, the term DNA hypomethylation is used to describe a decrease in the percentage of methylated cytosines compared to the unmethylated ones [11]. There are two types of DNA hypomethylation abnormalities seen in cancer: (1) global hypomethylation; (2) site-specific focal hypomethylation.

Loss of methylation of DNA was the first described epigenetic abnormality in cancer which was reported by two different laboratories in 1983. Feinberg and Vogelstein showed hypomethylation of specific regions on the genome of cancer cells [14, 15]. They used DNA from normal and cancer cells that were digested by methylation-sensitive restriction enzymes for Southern blotting and found a significant decrease in methylation in case of the cancer cells compared to their normal counterpart [14]. Around the same time, by high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), the Ehrlich lab showed that the overall level of DNA methylation was considerably decreased in various types of cancer compared to normal tissues [16]. They also showed that the level of CpG methylation was significantly lower in the metastatic neoplasms compared to primary tumors, suggesting the possible association between loss of methylation and tumor metastasis.

Even though DNA hypomethylation was identified before any other epigenetic alterations, it remained the least explored for decades and was often overshadowed by DNA hypermethylation. One of the reasons behind the preference of targeting hypermethylation over hypomethylation of DNA has been a previous bias during the design of an experiment which focused on the sites that are normally unmethylated but becomes methylated in cancer [17]. In that case, there is no chance to observe any decrease in methylation because the sites are already unmethylated. However, with the advancements in highthroughput technologies, it has become apparent that hypomethylation is also a major player in cancer [18-20].

Factors Contributing to DNA Hypomethylation

DNA methylation is a tightly regulated process, and loss of methylation may be contributed by different factors. Some of the most prominent ones are described below.

Methyl Group Metabolism and Dietary Insufficiency

The major component that may act as a limiting factor for methylation of DNA is the universal methyl group donor S-adenosylmethionine (SAM) [21]. The availability of SAM is dependent on dietary methionine as well as recycled methionine obtained from one-carbon metabolism [21]. It has been known for decades that dietary deficiencies of the methyl group donor may have implication in the development of cancer [22]. Prolonged dietary methyl deficiency in rats has shown to induce global hypomethylation which ultimately contributed to the initiation of hepatocarcinogenesis [23]. The recycling of methionine to produce SAM also requires several vitamins like B₆, B₁₂, and folic acid, and it is important to maintain the level of these vitamins to avoid any abnormal alteration in DNA methylation [24]. Imbalance in any one of these Vitamins may cause SAM deficiency. Several polymorphisms found within the genes (methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase, MTHFR; methionine synthase, MTR; methionine synthase reductase, *MTRR*; and cystathionine β -synthase, CBS) encoding enzymes involved in the recycling of methionine also showed association with increased risk of cancer [25]. Moreover, the rapidly proliferating cancer cells need more methionine to keep up with the needs of the cells which gets exhausted as cancer progresses [26]. As a result, there is a decrease in the level of SAM which might cause hypomethylation in the cancer genome.

Alteration in DNA Methylation Writers and Erasers

Even though DNA methylation is a stable epigenetic modification, however, the process can be reversible. There are specific enzymes that can mediate the addition and removal of the methyl groups. The DNMT enzymes are involved in the addition and maintenance of methyl group and as such known as the 'writers' of methylation [1]. There are three major DNMTs found in mammalian organisms: DNMT1, DNMT3A, and DNMT3B [27]. In recent years, several enzymes have been identified which can directly or indirectly cause demethylation of DNA, and hence they are called the 'erasers' of methylation [28– 32]. Changes in the level and activity of the DNA methylation writers and erasers also contribute to the induction of DNA hypomethylation. In vitro studies have demonstrated that loss of a single or combination of DNMTs can cause hypomethylation as well as chromosomal instability [33]. Similarly, the Dnmt-deficient mice showed global hypomethylation which increased the incidence of oncogenesis in vivo [34, 35]. Alteration in the activity of the DNMT enzymes has also been shown to cause hypomethylation of the repetitive sequences in mice [36, 37]. Such loss of methylation of the repetitive elements may have detrimental consequences, which is discussed in the next section of the chapter. In patients with instability-facial anomalies (ICF) syndrome, mutations in DNMT3B gene alter the enzymatic activity of its encoded protein which in turn cause hypomethylation at satellite repeats on chromosomes 1, 9, and 16, ultimately leading to chromosomal rearrangements [38, 39]. Increased expression of methyl-CpG-binding domain protein 2 (MBD2), which also possess DNA demethylation/eraser activity [40], showed correlation with DNA hypomethylation [41, 42].

Contribution of Other Epigenetic Factors and Modifiers

Since there is cross talk between DNA methylation and other epigenetic mechanisms like chromatin remodeling and histone modification, the roles of these factors in mediating DNA hypomethylation cannot be overruled. Loss of histone 4 monoacetylation at lysine 16 (H4K16ac) and trimethylation of histone 4 at lysine 20 (H4K20me3) showed association with the hypomethylation at the repetitive sequences of DNA [43]. Histone modifications may also have an indirect effect on DNA hypomethylation through the alteration of chromatin architecture [44]. It has been shown that loss of methylation at H3K9, a modification which is typically associated with heterochromatin establishment and maintenance [45], caused genomic instability [46]. Such disruption of chromatin architecture may have implications in changing the methylation pattern of the DNA.

External Insults

DNA hypomethylation can be mediated by different environmental stressors like exposure to exogenous chemicals and radiation as well as pathogen infection. Koturbash et al. have shown an association between radiation-induced DNA hypomethylation and cancer [47]. They found that majority of the radiation-induced lesions in mice were repaired a month after the insult, but the level of DNA hypomethylation remained the same which was speculated to cause tumorigenesis through the induction of genomic instability. It has been demonstrated that exposure to carcinogens such as benzopyrene and arsenic can cause the induction of DNA hypomethylation [48, 49]. Moreover, viral as well as bacterial infection may also induce hypomethylation of DNA [50, 51].

Impact of DNA Hypomethylation

Some of the important consequences of DNA hypomethylation are summarized below.

Activation of Repetitive Elements

DNA hypomethylation may induce the activation of transposable elements [52] which may induce insertional mutagenesis [44]. Recent studies have demonstrated that promotor hypomethylation activates LINE1 expression in cancer [53], which enables their subsequent retrotransposition. For example, somatic insertion of LINE1 element within the APC gene in one allele along with a point mutation in the other allele has been implicated in colorectal tumorigenesis through the two-hit pathway [54]. Once activated, the repetitive elements can also facilitate the expression of other oncogenes and thereby promote tumorigenesis. For DNA hypomethylation-induced example, expression of the LINE-1 transcripts in chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) showed association with the upregulation of the c-MET oncogene [55].

Transcriptional Activation of Cancer-Related Genes

Pioneering studies have shown that the promoter of urokinase plasminogen activator (PLAU, also called *uPA*) is hypomethylated in cancer which is responsible for its increased gene expression in relatively more aggressive, hormone-insensitive breast cancer cell lines [56]. This was one of the initial studies that provided the proof-of-concept that site-specific focal hypomethylation contributes to cancer progression and metastasis. Other cancer-related genes that showed hypomethylation-mediated activation of gene transcription include heparanase (HPSE),cadherin 3 (CDH3), breast cancer-specific gene 1 (BCSG1), S100 calcium binding protein P (S100P), maspin (also known as SERPINB5), N-acetyltransferase 1 (NAT1),proopiomelanocortin (POMC), related RAS viral oncogene homolog (R-RAS), claudin 4 (CLDN4), ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase L1 (UCHL1, also known as PGP9.5), mesothelin (MSLN), trefoil factor 2 (TFF2) [57-64]. Recent epigenomewide association studies (EWAS) by our group have revealed the presence of hypomethylated sites at the promoters of several oncogenes and prometastatic genes [65, 66]. We have also shown treatment that with the FDA-approved (5-aza-2'demethylating agent decitabine deoxycytidine) caused hypomethylation-induced expression of *PLAU* and several other prometastatic genes, and transformed less aggressive breast cancer cells (MCF-7, ZR-75-1) into more aggressive ones [67]. This further verified the notion that hypomethylation is involved in metastasis, and careful considerations should be taken while using demethylating agents to treat cancer.

Genomic Instability

Genomic instability is a common characteristic of cancer cells, which includes structural variations in the genome like increased tendencies of base pair mutation, microsatellite instability, and variability in the structure and number of chromosome (chromosome instability) [68]. In the late 1990s, Chen et al. have shown that murine embryonic stem cells devoid of *Dnmt1* gene predominantly increased the rates of deletion mutations which ultimately led to chromosomal instability [69]. This demonstrated the importance of DNA methylation in the maintenance of genomic stability in mammals. Later on, by generating a mouse model with hypomorphic *Dnmt1* allele that caused global hypomethylation, Gaudet et al. have shown that the mutant mice had increased susceptibility to develop T-cell lymphomas associated with increased chromosomal instability [34].

The first link between DNA hypomethylation and genomic instability in human was reported in human lymphoblastoid cell lines [70]. Further studies have demonstrated that demethylation of classical satellite 2 (Sat2) heterochromatic regions of chromosomes 1 and 16 caused nonclonal rearrangements in lymphoblastoid cells [71]. Since then many studies have demonstrated the association between hypomethylation and genome instability in human cancer. For example, in hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), hypomethylation of Sat2 sequences showed association with chromosome 1 copy number gain [72]. In urothelial cancer, hypomethylation of Sat2 and Sat3 repeats is associated with loss of heterozygosity (LOH) at chromosome 9 [73]. Cadieux et al. have shown that Sat2 hypomethylation in primary human glioblastomas caused alterations of copy number at the adjacent euchromatin regions [74]. In prostate cancer, hypomethylation is associated with the alterations in chromosome 8 [75].

Cancer Stem Cells and DNA Hypomethylation

Cancer stem cells (CSCs) are defined as a small but unique subpopulation of cells within tumors that have the ability of self-renewal and differentiation [76, 77]. Since they share similar characteristics like the stem cells, they are designated as the CSCs. However, what makes CSCs unique is that they are tumorigenic and can

form tumors upon transplantation into an animal. The first modern evidence of the existence of CSCs came in the mid-90s from a study related to human acute myeloid leukemia (AML) [78]. They found a rare population of patient-derived cells that express that the CD34+/CD38- cell surface markers were able to induce leukemia transplanted into when severe combined immunodeficient (SCID) mice [78]. In 2003, two separate studies confirmed the presence of CSCs in solid tumors like breast [79] and brain cancer [80]. Since then, the CSCs have been identified in many other types of cancer [81-91]. Accumulating evidence suggests that the CSCs are resistant to conventional cancer therapies like radiation and chemotherapy [92–95]. They are also involved in metastasis [96]. This makes the CSCs a crucial target for anti-cancer drug development.

A network of signaling pathways including the Sonic Hedgehog (Shh), Notch, and WNT/β-catenin is involved in the regulation of CSC properties [77]. So the inhibition of these pathways may serve as a suitable strategy to target the CSC properties [97]. Interestingly, many of the genes involved in these pathways show epigenetic aberrations in cancer [98, 99]. It has been demonstrated that the promoter of Sonic hedgehog (SHH) gene, which encodes the ligand of the Hedgehog signaling pathway, is abnormally hypomethylated in several types of cancer [98– 100]. This abnormal DNA hypomethylation leads to the increased expression of this oncogene which is associated with poor overall survival of cancer patients [101]. Furthermore, treatment of human breast cancer cells with FDA-approved DNA methyltransferase inhibitor 5-azacytidine increased the expression of SHH gene through promoter demethylation [98]. It has been shown that colon cancer cells (HCT116) grown either in folate-depleted medium or treated with the methotrexate (MTX), which is an antifolate agent, significantly increased the expression of SHH gene through promoter hypomethylation [102]. The region on the DNA where this SHH hypomethylation takes place also contains a binding site of NF- κ B [98]. When the percentage of methylation decreases (hypomethylation state) at the SHH promoter, the affinity for NF- κ B

binding at this region increases which thereby upregulates the production of SHH [98, 99]. Higher expression of the Shh ligand increased the invasiveness of the cells [102]. Hypomethylation was also detected at the promoter of BOC gene which encodes the Boc coreceptor involved in the Shh signaling pathway [103]. The expression of Boc is elevated in medulloblastoma which promotes proliferation and subsequent progression from an early to a more advanced stage of tumor through the increase of DNA damage [104]. Similarly, the promoter of t-cell factor TCF3, a component of the WNT/β-catenin signaling pathway, has been shown to be hypomethylated in colorectal cancer [105].

Taken together, these studies suggest that DNA hypomethylation plays a key role in maintaining CSC properties. In this regard, we propose that treatment with a methylating agent would likely reverse the stemness of the cancer cells where abnormal hypomethylation is present. It should also be noted that many of the methylation defects are not universal for all types of cancer. The same gene that is abnormally hypermethylated in one cancer can be hypomethylated in another which warrants additional studies to fully elucidate the underlying molecular mechanisms for these selective changes in different malignancies.

DNA Hypomethylation in Diagnosis and Prognosis of Cancer

There is a growing interest in the identification of epigenetic signatures as biomarkers for the early diagnosis and prognosis of cancer. One of the advantages of this strategy is that both DNA and its methylation signatures are quite stable and they can also be extracted from the formalinfixed, paraffin-embedded samples [106]. Therefore, the limitations related to sample quantity and quality for diagnosis can be mitigated.

Since there is focal hypomethylation of oncogenes in cancer, we and others have reasoned that these specific regions can be exploited as clinical biomarkers for diagnosis and prognosis of different stages of the disease. One of the classic examples in this regard is hypomethylation at the promoter of PLAU. Our group was the first to report that there is a reciprocal correlation between aggressiveness of breast cancer and the level of hypomethylation at the *PLAU* promoter [56]. We found that the percentage of methylation decreased with the advancement of breast cancer to a higher histological grade. This suggested that PLAU promoter hypomethylation can be used as a biomarker for early detection and aggressiveness of breast cancer [56]. A similar pattern of PLAU promoter hypomethylation was also observed between benign prostate hyperplasia and prostate cancer where the methylation level decreased with the advancement of the disease [107]. Hypomethylation-mediated activation of DDX43 (also known as HAGE) gene that encodes cancer testis antigens (CTA) protein showed significant association with disease progression and poor patient outcome in CML patients [108]. Furthermore, DDX43 promoter hypomethylation also correlated with poorer response to imatinib or interferon treatment in CML patients. This indicates that DNA hypomethylation can also be used for patient stratification before deciding a therapeutic intervention.

It has been demonstrated that hypomethylation of Sat2 repeats in the juxtacentromeric region showed strong association with ovarian cancer progression and mortality and therefore can be used as a marker of poor prognosis [109]. In urothelial carcinoma, Sat2 and Sat3 hypomethylation showed significant correlation with tumor grade and invasiveness of cancer [73]. Hypomethylation of LINE-1 showed association with better prognostic outcome in urothelial carcinoma patients [110]. Using the combined bisulfite restriction analysis (COBRA) PCR assay, Tangkijvanich et al. have shown that serum LINE-1 hypomethylation may serve as a prognostic factor for decreased overall survival in HCC [111].

Another attractive method for early diagnosis of cancer that has been recently demonstrated by us and others is the use of DNA methylation signatures found in blood [112, 113]. During the progression of cancer, the DNA methylation profiles of the host immune cells are altered [114]. Taking advantage of this phenomena, we have identified and validated six hypomethylated CpG sites [cg27182070 (*RPA2*), cg19761014 (*LRRC37B2*), cg16624210 (*TPPP*), cg00481259 (*DECR2*), cg01252526 (*WDR9*), and cg07271186 (TRY2P)] from the peripheral T-cells of breast cancer patients that can be used as an early detection biomarker [112].

Targeting Hypomethylation

It is obvious that DNA hypomethylation is a crucial player involved in upregulating the expression of many prometastatic genes as well as in the induction of genomic instability in cancer. Since DNA methylation-mediated changes are reversible [115], targeting hypomethylation may serve as a suitable anti-cancer therapeutic strategy. Despite the identification of the role of DNA hypomethylation over three decades ago, there is still no approved agent targeting DNA hypomethylation. On the other hand, many drugs have been developed to target DNA hypermethylation, and two of them are already approved by the FDA. This further emphasizes the fact how DNA hypomethylation remained neglected over the years. Our group has been exclusively focused on targeting DNA hypomethylation as an anti-cancer therapeutic strategy by using SAM. In the following section we will discuss on the effect of SAM treatment in cancer.

S-Adenosylmethionine as a Blocker of DNA Hypomethylation in Cancer

SAM (also known as AdoMet) is a naturally occurring sulfonium compound available in all living cells where it plays role in biochemical processes like transmethylation, transsulfuration, and aminopropylation [116]. Italian biochemist Giulio Leonardo Cantoni initially discovered it in the early 1950s [117].

SAM has a unique chemical structure with a high-energy sulfonium moiety attached to three carbon atoms that are susceptible to nucleophilic substitution [118] (Fig. 1). This renders SAM the ability to donate methyl (-CH₃), adenosyl, and aminopropyl groups in different cellular processes. Because of its highly reactive nature, SAM can meditate cofactor functions in different biochemical reactions [118]. In animals, a major portion of the SAM is used in transmethylation pathways where the methyl groups are transferred to different acceptor molecules like DNA, RNA, proteins, and lipids [119, 120]. SAM also donates the aminopropyl groups to produce the polyamines required for cell growth via the aminopropylation pathway [118]. By the transsulfuration pathway, SAM is converted to cysteine which then produces anti-oxidants like glutathione and taurine [121]. SAM also donates the adenosyl portion as well as the $-NH_2$ group for the synthesis of biotin [122]. Taken together, it is obvious that SAM plays a crucial role in the cellular maintenance of function, and abnormalities in SAM metabolism may give rise to different pathological conditions [118]. As such, SAM has been used to treat different diseases. It is approved as a nutraceutical agent for depression, fibromyalgia, osteoarthritis, as well as for diseases related to the liver [116]. Our group was one of the pioneers to test whether DNA hypomethylation-mediated abnormalities of cancer can be reversed by using SAM [123]. Since then, the anti-cancer effect of SAM has been tested both in vitro and in vivo using rodent models in different cancer which is summarized in Table 1.

Suppression of Proliferation and Enhancement of Apoptosis by SAM-Treatment

Uncontrolled cell growth along with suppression of apoptotic cell death is a major characteristic of cancer cells, which has led to the development of several anti-cancer drugs targeting tumor cell proliferation. It has been shown that treatment with SAM can inhibit cell proliferation in vitro in different types of malignancies like breast cancer [124–126], prostate cancer [66], liver cancer [129], colorectal cancer [133], gastric cancer [131], and osteosarcoma [65, 136]. Our recent studies have demonstrated that daily



administration of SAM by oral gavage caused a dose-dependent decrease in tumor volume in a xenograft model of breast cancer [124]. Similarly, SAM treatment reduced tumor loads in animal models of gastric and colon cancer [131, 134].

It is also known that rapidly proliferating cancer cells need compact polypeptides known as growth factors for cell proliferation. Therefore, these polypeptides are often targeted by many anti-cancer therapies. In prostate cancer and osteosarcoma cells, we have shown that SAM treatment decreased the expression of genes encoding important growth factors like transforming growth factor β (*TGF-* β), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), platelet-derived growth factor alpha (PDGFA) [65, 66]. In addition, SAM treatment attenuated key survival pathways mediated by ERK, β-catenin, and signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) in different cancer cells, which also confirms the anti-proliferative effect of SAM [66, 134, 136].

SAM treatment increases both gene and protein expression of dual specificity phosphatase 1 (DUSP1) which is an inhibitor of ERK [137]. In proliferating cancer cells, active ERK1/2 causes phosphorylation at the Ser296 residue of DUSP1 and thereby facilitates its proteasomal degradation via SKP2-CKS1 ubiquitin ligase [138, 139]. It has been suggested that SAM treatment protects DUSP1 from undergoing proteasomal degradation [137].

EWAS using Illumina methylation 450 K array revealed that SAM treatment caused hypermethylation at the promoter of *STAT3* gene which in turn caused a reduction of its gene expression [66]. In gastric and colon cancer cell, SAM treatment reversed the promoter hypomethylation state of proto-oncogenes *MYC* and *HRAS*, which in turn decreased their gene expression [132].

In vitro experiments by us and others have suggested that SAM treatment significantly increases the percentage of apoptotic cell death in different types of cancer and arrests the cancer cells at the G_2M phase of the cell cycle progression [65, 66, 124, 136]. At the molecular level, SAM treatment reduces the expression of anti-apoptotic protein BCl-2 and increases the expression of the proapoptotic Bcl-2-associated X (BAX) protein [124, 136]. This might explain the increase in apoptosis upon SAM treatment. In addition, SAM treatment reduces the expression of p53, p21, and p27 [136, 140].

Cancer type	Effect of SAM treatment	Reference
Breast	Decreased cell proliferation, invasion, migration, colony formation in vitro Increased apoptosis Combination of SAM with other known chemotherapeutic agents (decitabine, doxorubicin) showed a better anti-cancer effect than single-agent treatment in vitro Reduced MDA-MB-231 xenograft tumor volume and metastasis in vivo upon daily supplementation by oral gavage	[124–126]
Prostate	Decreased cell proliferation, invasion, migration, colony formation in vitro Reduced skeletal lesion when SAM-treated PC-3 prostate cancer cells were injected into the tibia of immunocompromised mice	[66, 127, 128]
Liver	Decreased cell proliferation, invasion, colony formation in vitro	[129]
Lung	Combination of SAM with 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) significantly decreased cell proliferation by restoring the levels of DNMTs which are otherwise downregulated by 5-FU monotherapy in vitro	[130]
Gastric	Decreased cell proliferation, colony formation in vitro Reduced SGC-7901 xenograft tumor volume in vivo upon administration of SAM through intraperitoneal injection	[131, 132]
Colorectal	Decreased cell proliferation, invasion, migration in vitro Increased apoptosis Reduction of inflammation-induced colon cancer in vivo Inhibited the metastatic spread of colon cancer cells in the liver in vivo	[133–135]
Osteosarcoma	Decreased cell proliferation, invasion, migration, colony formation in vitro Increased apoptosis Reduced skeletal lesion and lung metastasis when SAM-treated LM-7 osteosarcoma cancer cells were injected in immunocompromised mice via intratibial and intravenous routes, respectively	[65, 136]

Table 1 Summary of anti-cancer effect of SAM in vitro and in vivo

The anti-tumor effect of SAM can be partly explained from its unique biochemical structure. SAM can donate methyl groups via the transmethylation pathway which can reduce the hypomethylation-mediated genomic instability seen in cancer. It can produce anti-oxidants via the transsulfuration pathway which may prevent the development of cancer. However, SAM can also donate the aminopropyl groups for polyamine biosynthesis (Fig. 1). Polyamines are involved in the promotion of proliferation in both preneoplastic and neoplastic cells [141]. In rapidly proliferating cancer cells, the level of endogenous SAM goes down favoring polyamine synthesis [142]. Feo et al. showed that exogenous administration of SAM inhibited the activity of a key enzyme of polyamine biosynthesis pathway known as ornithine decarboxylase (ODC), which in turn reduced in the development of nodules in a rat model of liver cancer [142]. Therefore, an overall reduction in tumor volume is observed upon exogenous administration of SAM.

Attenuation of Cancer Cell Invasion and Metastasis upon SAM-Treatment

Tumor-associated metastasis is the most common cause of cancer-related mortality in humans [143]. It is a multi-step process driven by different types of growth factors and proteases that can enable the tumor cells to break down the extracellular matrix (ECM) and migrate into different tissues via the lymphatic system and circulation [143, 144]. The plasminogen activator (PA) system plays a central role in this process [106]. In cancer cells, hypomethylation-mediated upregulation of *PLAU* gene results in the increased production of uPA protein which binds to its receptor (uPAR) and thereby activates plasminogen to plasmin. Once activated, plasmin can initiate a cascade of proteolytic events to cause the degradation of ECM components [106]. Our group was the first to show that epigenetic targeting of PLAU promotor hypomethylation through the use of methylating agent like SAM can reverse its transcriptional state [123]. We found that SAM treatment could downregulate PLAU and matrix metalloproteinase 2 (MMP2) expression and thereby reduced the invasiveness of the cancer cells as determined by the transwell Boyden chamber invasion assay [123, 127]. These effects were also confirmed by several other research groups working on different types of cancer [131, 133]. We have also shown that oral administration of SAM reduces the metastatic burden of orthotopically implanted MDA-MB-231 breast tumor cells in different peripheral tissues like lung, liver, and spleen of immunocompromised mice [124]. Microarraybased gene expression analysis of the MDA-MB-231 transcriptome revealed that treatment with SAM significantly reduced the expression of several prometastatic and epithelialmesenchymal transition (EMT) pathway genes [124]. In another study, Tomasi et al. have shown that oral administration of SAM reduces the ability of the colon cancer cells to metastasize to the lung [135]. They have further demonstrated that SAM treatment increases the expression of microRNA-34a and b (miR-34a and miR-34b), which in turn downregulates the IL-6 signaling pathway and thereby decreases the metastatic potential of the cancer cells.

Transcriptome analysis of liver and prostate cancer cells upon SAM treatment also showed downregulation of genes related to cell migration, metastasis, and angiogenesis [128, 129]. Consistent with these observations, methylome analysis upon SAM treatment showed hypermethylation at the promoters of several oncogenes and prometastatic genes [65, 66, 129]. In prostate cancer and osteosarcoma, we showed that inoculation of SAM-treated cells into the tibia of immunocompromised mice reduced skeletal lesion formation at the bone which is a major site of metastasis in many cancers [65, 66]. Sahin et al. have shown that SAM treatment inhibited endothelial cell proliferation which is suggestive of the anti-angiogenic effect of SAM [145].

Combination of SAM with Other Anti-cancer Agents

Since SAM shows little to no toxicity, several groups have tested the anti-cancer properties of SAM in combination settings with currently approved chemotherapeutic agents. Ilisso et al. investigated the effect of SAM in combination with Doxorubicin on different breast cancer cell Doxorubicin is а lines [126]. classic chemotherapeutic agent used for patients with breast cancer. Even though it is highly effective as an anti-cancer agent, it also elicits several side effects including cardiomyopathy, alopecia, vomiting as well as resistance to therapy [146]. The authors have reasoned that combination of SAM and doxorubicin will allow lowering the concentration of doxorubicin and thereby reduces doxorubicin-associated side effects [126]. They found a significantly synergistic anti-proliferative effect following combination therapy with doxorubicin and SAM in hormone-dependent breast cancer cells. This highly significant effect on cancer cells following combination therapy was shown to be due to the increase in the percentage of apoptotic cells.

Using human A549 lung cancer cells, Ham et al. showed that the anti-cancer effect of another agent, 5-fluorouracil (5-FU), is markedly enhanced when used in combination with SAM [130]. They have shown that single-agent treatment with 5-FU reduced the expression of DNMTs which is restored upon combination treatment with SAM.

It has been recently demonstrated that SAM in combination with autophagy inhibitor chloroquine (CLC) shows better anti-proliferative effect through the induction of apoptotic cell death [140]. The authors have further shown that the combination treatment synergistically inhibited the phosphorylation of AKT/mTOR kinases which are major survival pathways of the cancer cells.

SAM has also been used in combination with other epigenetic drugs. Previous studies by our group have demonstrated that the FDA-approved DNA methylation inhibitor decitabine undesirably activates the expression of several prometastatic genes [*PLAU*, heparanase (*HPSE*), synuclein- γ (SNCG), and C-X-C motif chemokine receptor 4 (CXCR4)] along with the activation of tumor suppressor gene like Ras association domain family member 1 (RASSF1) and proapoptotic gene BAX [67]. We found that inoculation of decitabine-treated MCF7 breast cancer cells into the fat pad of immunocompromised mice showed significantly reduced tumor burden compared to the control group of mice implanted with untreated cells which is consistent with the known tumor suppressive effect of decitabine. However, when the tumors were analyzed after the sacrifice of the animals on week 6, a significant induction of factors like PLAU, several prometastatic heparanase, and CXCR4 was observed in the decitabine-treated group. So, we concluded that decitabine treatment increased the invasiveness of less aggressive MCF7 breast cancer cells. This might be a reason why these drugs are not as effective in solid tumors compared to the liquid tumors for which they are approved. SAM, on the other hand, reduces the expression of several prometastatic genes [123]. Since the cancer cells are heterogeneous, the pattern of DNA methylation abnormalities may be different between the cells within the tumor microenvironment. As such, targeting both hypermethylation (by decitabine) and hypomethylation (by SAM) has been tested as a proof-of-concept, and it was found that the combination treatment synergistically reduces proliferative and invasive capacities of several breast cancer cell lines [125]. It was shown that the combination of SAM and decitabine could inhibit the expression of prometastatic genes like PLAU and MMP2 which are otherwise induced single-agent treatment by decitabine. by Moreover, SAM did not hinder the expression of tumor suppressor genes (CDKN2AIP and p21) which are normally induced upon decitabine treatment. This implies that SAM affects tumor

suppressor genes and prometastatic genes differently. However, the study was limited to a few genes only, and whether a similar effect can be recapitulated in vivo using mouse models of breast cancer still remains to be seen. Nevertheless, the study has opened the door for a novel combinatorial approach using two epigenetic agents that can target various elements of the DNA methylation-mediated abnormalities seen in cancer.

Conclusion and Future Prospective

It is still surprising that more than three decades after its initial identification in 1983, there is still no approved anti-cancer agent that can reverse the DNA hypomethylation-mediated abnormalities in cancer. The recent surge of EWAS has further emphasized that DNA hypomethylation is a crucial phenomenon during cancer progression. Our group and others have shown that methylating agent SAM can reverse hypomethylation-mediated the DNA abnormalities in established cell lines and animal models of cancer without showing any toxic/ detrimental effect (Fig. 2). One of the main advantages of SAM is that it is a naturally occurring agent already approved and available as a nutraceutical supplement. In addition, there is a plethora of clinical trials that tested its role in depression and liver diseases, and results from those studies indicate that exogenous SAM is tolerable and non-toxic in clinical settings. Two clinical trials using SAM as an anti-cancer agent are at the early stage of patient recruitment. Results from these studies will further shed light on its true potential as an anti-cancer agent.

Being a pleiotropic agent, SAM can also have effect on the methylation of other molecules like RNA, proteins, and lipids. Currently, not much is known about the anti-cancer effects of SAM on the macromolecules other than DNA. This is an area where further exploration is needed. Moreover, the development of agents with better stability, half-life, specificity, and therapeutic efficacy as compared to SAM is also warranted.



Fig. 2 Causes and consequences of DNA hypomethylation and reversal of the hypomethylated state by methylating agent like SAM

Another exciting avenue that has not been exploited to its full potential is the effect of DNA methylating agent like SAM on the immune system during cancer progression. Li et al. have shown that SAM treatment can reduce inflammation-induced colon cancer in vivo [134]. They have also shown that SAM treatment can reduce the expression of interleukin-6 (IL-6) and IL-10. Furthermore, a recent study has demonstrated that SAM downregulates forkhead box P3 (FOXP3) expression, which is a master regulator of regulatory T-cells (Treg cells) [147]. Accumulating evidence suggests that Tregs suppress the anti-tumor responses and are often associated with poor clinical prognosis [148]. Since SAM functions in modulating the expression of Tregs, it will not be surprising if they are also associated with the immune checkpoint proteins. It would be equally important to see how the combination of therapeutic agents against DNA hypomethylation and immune checkpoint inhibitors acts in blocking tumor growth and metastasis to reduce cancerassociated morbidity and mortality.

Acknowledgements This work was supported by grants from the Canadian Institutes for Health Research (MOP 130410 and PJT-156225) to SAR. NM is the recipient of a Ruth and Alex Dworkin Fellowship from the Faculty of Medicine, McGill University.

Conflict of Interest The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Mahmood, N., & Rabbani, S. A. (2017). DNA methylation and breast cancer: Mechanistic and therapeutic applications. *Trends Cancer Research*, *12*, 1–18.
- Compere, S. J., & Palmiter, R. D. (1981). DNA methylation controls the inducibility of the mouse metallothionein-I gene in lymphoid cells. *Cell*, 25(1), 233–240.
- Holliday, R., & Pugh, J. E. (1975). DNA modification mechanisms and gene activity during development. *Science*, 187(4173), 226–232.
- Jeltsch, A. (2002). Beyond Watson and Crick: DNA methylation and molecular enzymology of DNA methyltransferases. *Chembiochem*, 3(4), 274–293.
- Moore, L. D., Le, T., & Fan, G. (2013). DNA methylation and its basic function. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 38(1), 23.

- Sánchez-Romero, M. A., Cota, I., & Casadesús, J. (2015). DNA methylation in bacteria: From the methyl group to the methylome. *Current Opinion in Microbiology*, 25, 9–16.
- Soojin, V. Y. (2012). Birds do it, bees do it, worms and ciliates do it too: DNA methylation from unexpected corners of the tree of life. *Genome Biology*, *13*(10), 174.
- Suzuki, M. M., & Bird, A. (2008). DNA methylation landscapes: Provocative insights from epigenomics. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 9(6), 465.
- Molloy, P. L. (2008). DNA hypomethylation in cancer. In *Cancer epigenetics* (pp. 17–47). Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Rollins, R. A., Haghighi, F., Edwards, J. R., Das, R., Zhang, M. Q., Ju, J., et al. (2006). Large-scale structure of genomic methylation patterns. *Genome Research*, 16(2), 157–163.
- Peinado, M. A. (2011). Hypomethylation of DNA. In M. Schwab (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of cancer* (pp. 1791–1792). Berlin: Springer.
- 12. Gore, S. D., Jones, C., & Kirkpatrick, P. (2006). *Decitabine*. London: Nature Publishing Group.
- Issa, J.-P. J., Kantarjian, H. M., & Kirkpatrick, P. (2005). *Azacitidine*. London: Nature Publishing Group.
- Feinberg, A. P., & Vogelstein, B. (1983). Hypomethylation distinguishes genes of some human cancers from their normal counterparts. *Nature*, 301(5895), 89.
- Feinberg, A. P., & Vogelstein, B. (1983). Hypomethylation of ras oncogenes in primary human cancers. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 111(1), 47–54.
- Gama-Sosa, M. A., Slagel, V. A., Trewyn, R. W., Oxenhandler, R., Kuo, K. C., Gehrke, C. W., et al. (1983). The 5-methylcytosine content of DNA from human tumors. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 11(19), 6883–6894.
- Feinberg, A. P., & Tycko, B. (2004). The history of cancer epigenetics. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 4(2), 143.
- Adorján, P., Distler, J., Lipscher, E., Model, F., Müller, J., Pelet, C., et al. (2002). Tumour class prediction and discovery by microarray-based DNA methylation analysis. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 30(5), e21.
- Iacobuzio-Donahue, C. A., Maitra, A., Olsen, M., Lowe, A. W., Van Heek, N. T., Rosty, C., et al. (2003). Exploration of global gene expression patterns in pancreatic adenocarcinoma using cDNA microarrays. *The American Journal of Pathology*, *162*(4), 1151–1162.
- Stefanska, B., Huang, J., Bhattacharyya, B., Suderman, M., Hallett, M., Han, Z.-G., et al. (2011). Definition of the landscape of promoter DNA hypomethylation in liver cancer. *Cancer Research*, *71*(17), 5891–5903.
- 21. Hoffmann, M. J., & Schulz, W. A. (2005). Causes and consequences of DNA hypomethylation in

human cancer. *Biochemistry and Cell Biology*, 83(3), 296–321.

- Giovannucci, E. (2004). Alcohol, one-carbon metabolism, and colorectal cancer: Recent insights from molecular studies. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 134(9), 2475S–2481S.
- Pogribny, I. P., Ross, S. A., Wise, C., Pogribna, M., Jones, E. A., Tryndyak, V. P., et al. (2006). Irreversible global DNA hypomethylation as a key step in hepatocarcinogenesis induced by dietary methyl deficiency. *Mutation Research/Fundamental* and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis, 593(1), 80–87.
- 24. James, S. J., Pogribny, I. P., Pogribna, M., Miller, B. J., Jernigan, S., & Melnyk, S. (2003). Mechanisms of DNA damage, DNA hypomethylation, and tumor progression in the folate/methyl-deficient rat model of hepatocarcinogenesis. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 133(11), 3740S–3747S.
- Kim, Y. I. (2000). Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase polymorphisms, folate, and cancer risk: A paradigm of gene-nutrient interactions in carcinogenesis. *Nutrition Reviews*, 58(7), 205–209.
- Hoffman, R. M. (1984). Altered methionine metabolism, DNA methylation and oncogene expression in carcinogenesis: A review and synthesis. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Reviews on Cancer*, 738(1–2), 49–87.
- Smith, Z. D., & Meissner, A. (2013). DNA methylation: Roles in mammalian development. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 14(3), 204.
- Cheishvili, D., Boureau, L., & Szyf, M. (2015). DNA demethylation and invasive cancer: Implications for therapeutics. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 172(11), 2705–2715.
- Cortázar, D., Kunz, C., Selfridge, J., Lettieri, T., Saito, Y., MacDougall, E., et al. (2011). Embryonic lethal phenotype reveals a function of TDG in maintaining epigenetic stability. *Nature*, 470(7334), 419–423.
- 30. Cortellino, S., Xu, J., Sannai, M., Moore, R., Caretti, E., Cigliano, A., et al. (2011). Thymine DNA glycosylase is essential for active DNA demethylation by linked deamination-base excision repair. *Cell*, 146(1), 67–79.
- Kohli, R. M., & Zhang, Y. (2013). TET enzymes, TDG and the dynamics of DNA demethylation. *Nature*, 502(7472), 472–479.
- 32. Tahiliani, M., Koh, K. P., Shen, Y., Pastor, W. A., Bandukwala, H., Brudno, Y., et al. (2009). Conversion of 5-methylcytosine to 5-hydroxymethylcytosine in mammalian DNA by MLL partner TET1. *Science*, 324(5929), 930–935.
- Karpf, A. R., & Matsui, S.-I. (2005). Genetic disruption of cytosine DNA methyltransferase enzymes induces chromosomal instability in human cancer cells. *Cancer Research*, 65(19), 8635–8639.
- Gaudet, F., Hodgson, J. G., Eden, A., Jackson-Grusby, L., Dausman, J., Gray, J. W., et al. (2003).

Induction of tumors in mice by genomic hypomethylation. *Science*, *300*(5618), 489–492.

- 35. Yamada, Y., Jackson-Grusby, L., Linhart, H., Meissner, A., Eden, A., Lin, H., et al. (2005). Opposing effects of DNA hypomethylation on intestinal and liver carcinogenesis. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences, 102(38), 13580–13585.
- Eden, A., Gaudet, F., Waghmare, A., & Jaenisch, R. (2003). Chromosomal instability and tumors promoted by DNA hypomethylation. *Science*, 300(5618), 455.
- Li, E. (2002). Chromatin modification and epigenetic reprogramming in mammalian development. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 3(9), 662.
- Ehrlich, M. (2003). The ICF syndrome, a DNA methyltransferase 3B deficiency and immunodeficiency disease. *Clinical Immunology*, 109(1), 17–28.
- 39. Xie, Z.-H., Huang, Y.-N., Chen, Z.-X., Riggs, A. D., Ding, J.-P., Gowher, H., et al. (2006). Mutations in DNA methyltransferase DNMT3B in ICF syndrome affect its regulation by DNMT3L. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 15(9), 1375–1385.
- Bhattacharya, S. K., Ramchandani, S., Cervoni, N., & Szyf, M. (1999). A mammalian protein with specific demethylase activity for mCpG DNA. *Nature*, 397(6720), 579.
- Liu, C., Ou, T., Wu, C., Li, R., Lin, Y., Lin, C., et al. (2011). Global DNA methylation, DNMT1, and MBD2 in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lupus*, 20(2), 131–136.
- 42. Sheng, W., Qian, Y., Wang, H., Ma, X., Zhang, P., Chen, L., et al. (2013). Association between mRNA levels of DNMT1, DNMT3A, DNMT3B, MBD2 and LINE-1 methylation status in infants with tetralogy of Fallot. *International Journal of Molecular Medicine*, 32(3), 694–702.
- 43. Fraga, M. F., Ballestar, E., Villar-Garea, A., Boix-Chornet, M., Espada, J., Schotta, G., et al. (2005). Loss of acetylation at Lys16 and trimethylation at Lys20 of histone H4 is a common hallmark of human cancer. *Nature Genetics*, 37(4), 391.
- 44. Wilson, A. S., Power, B. E., & Molloy, P. L. (2007). DNA hypomethylation and human diseases. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Reviews on Cancer*, 1775(1), 138–162.
- Bannister, A. J., & Kouzarides, T. (2005). Reversing histone methylation. *Nature*, 436(7054), 1103.
- 46. Peters, A. H., O'Carroll, D., Scherthan, H., Mechtler, K., Sauer, S., Schöfer, C., et al. (2001). Loss of the Suv39h histone methyltransferases impairs mammalian heterochromatin and genome stability. *Cell*, *107*(3), 323–337.
- Koturbash, I., Pogribny, I., & Kovalchuk, O. (2005). Stable loss of global DNA methylation in the radiation-target tissue—A possible mechanism contributing to radiation carcinogenesis? *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 337(2), 526–533.

- Chen, H., Li, S., Liu, J., Diwan, B. A., Barrett, J. C., & Waalkes, M. P. (2004). Chronic inorganic arsenic exposure induces hepatic global and individual gene hypomethylation: Implications for arsenic hepatocarcinogenesis. *Carcinogenesis*, 25(9), 1779–1786.
- Sadikovic, B., & Rodenhiser, D. I. (2006). Benzopyrene exposure disrupts DNA methylation and growth dynamics in breast cancer cells. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 216(3), 458–468.
- Goldberg, B., Urnovitz, H. B., & Stricker, R. B. (2000). Beyond danger: Unmethylated CpG dinucleotides and the immunopathogenesis of disease. *Immunology Letters*, 73(1), 13–18.
- Macnab, J., Adams, R., Rinaldi, A., Orr, A., & Clark, L. (1988). Hypomethylation of host cell DNA synthesized after infection or transformation of cells by herpes simplex virus. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 8(4), 1443–1448.
- 52. Jackson-Grusby, L., Beard, C., Possemato, R., Tudor, M., Fambrough, D., Csankovszki, G., et al. (2001). Loss of genomic methylation causes p53dependent apoptosis and epigenetic deregulation. *Nature Genetics*, 27(1), 31.
- Tubio, J. M., Li, Y., Ju, Y. S., Martincorena, I., Cooke, S. L., Tojo, M., et al. (2014). Extensive transduction of nonrepetitive DNA mediated by L1 retrotransposition in cancer genomes. *Science*, 345(6196), 1251343.
- 54. Scott, E. C., Gardner, E. J., Masood, A., Chuang, N. T., Vertino, P. M., & Devine, S. E. (2016). A hot L1 retrotransposon evades somatic repression and initiates human colorectal cancer. *Genome Research*, 26(6), 745–755.
- 55. Roman-Gomez, J., Jimenez-Velasco, A., Agirre, X., Cervantes, F., Sanchez, J., Garate, L., et al. (2005). Promoter hypomethylation of the LINE-1 retrotransposable elements activates sense/antisense transcription and marks the progression of chronic myeloid leukemia. *Oncogene*, 24(48), 7213.
- 56. Pakneshan, P., Têtu, B., & Rabbani, S. A. (2004). Demethylation of urokinase promoter as a prognostic marker in patients with breast carcinoma. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 10(9), 3035–3041.
- Ehrlich, M. (2009). DNA hypomethylation in cancer cells. *Epigenomics*, 1(2), 239–259.
- 58. Lee, Y. M., Lee, J. Y., Kim, M. J., Bae, H. I., Park, J. Y., Kim, S. G., et al. (2006). Hypomethylation of the protein gene product 9.5 promoter region in gallbladder cancer and its relationship with clinicopathological features. *Cancer Science*, 97(11), 1205–1210.
- 59. Liu, H., Liu, W., Wu, Y., Zhou, Y., Xue, R., Luo, C., et al. (2005). Loss of epigenetic control of synuclein-γ gene as a molecular indicator of metastasis in a wide range of human cancers. *Cancer Research*, 65(17), 7635–7643.
- Nishigaki, M., Aoyagi, K., Danjoh, I., Fukaya, M., Yanagihara, K., Sakamoto, H., et al. (2005). Discovery of aberrant expression of R-RAS by

cancer-linked DNA hypomethylation in gastric cancer using microarrays. *Cancer Research*, 65(6), 2115–2124.

- 61. Ogishima, T., Shiina, H., Breault, J. E., Tabatabai, L., Bassett, W. W., Enokida, H., et al. (2005). Increased heparanase expression is caused by promoter hypomethylation and up-regulation of transcriptional factor early growth response-1 in human prostate cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research*, *11*(3), 1028–1036.
- 62. Paredes, J., Albergaria, A., Oliveira, J. T., Jerónimo, C., Milanezi, F., & Schmitt, F. C. (2005). P-cadherin overexpression is an indicator of clinical outcome in invasive breast carcinomas and is associated with CDH3 promoter hypomethylation. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 11(16), 5869–5877.
- 63. Sato, N., Fukushima, N., Matsubayashi, H., & Goggins, M. (2004). Identification of maspin and S100P as novel hypomethylation targets in pancreatic cancer using global gene expression profiling. *Oncogene*, 23(8), 1531.
- 64. Ye, L., Li, X., Kong, X., Wang, W., Bi, Y., Hu, L., et al. (2005). Hypomethylation in the promoter region of POMC gene correlates with ectopic overexpression in thymic carcinoids. *Journal of Endocrinology*, 185(2), 337–343.
- 65. Parashar, S., Cheishvili, D., Arakelian, A., Hussain, Z., Tanvir, I., Khan, H. A., et al. (2015). S-adenosylmethionine blocks osteosarcoma cells proliferation and invasion in vitro and tumor metastasis in vivo: Therapeutic and diagnostic clinical applications. *Cancer Medicine*, 4(5), 732–744.
- 66. Shukeir, N., Stefanska, B., Parashar, S., Chik, F., Arakelian, A., Szyf, M., et al. (2015). Pharmacological methyl group donors block skeletal metastasis in vitro and in vivo. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 172(11), 2769–2781.
- Ateeq, B., Unterberger, A., Szyf, M., & Rabbani, S. A. (2008). Pharmacological inhibition of DNA methylation induces proinvasive and prometastatic genes in vitro and in vivo. *Neoplasia*, 10(3), 266–278.
- Yao, Y., & Dai, W. (2014). Genomic instability and cancer. *Journal of Carcinogenesis & Mutagenesis*, 5, 1000165.
- Chen, R. Z., Pettersson, U., Beard, C., Jackson-Grusby, L., & Jaenisch, R. (1998). DNA hypomethylation leads to elevated mutation rates. *Nature*, 395(6697), 89.
- Almeida, A., Kokalj-Vokac, N., Lefrancois, D., Viegas-Pequignot, E., Jeanpierre, M., Dutrillaux, B., et al. (1993). Hypomethylation of classical satellite DNA and chromosome instability in lymphoblastoid cell lines. *Human Genetics*, *91*(6), 538–546.
- Vilain, A., Bernardino, J., Gerbault-Seureau, M., Vogt, N., Niveleau, A., Lefrancois, D., et al. (2000). DNA methylation and chromosome instability in lymphoblastoid cell lines. *Cytogenetic and Genome Research*, 90(1–2), 93–101.

- Wong, N., Lam, W.-C., Bo-San Lai, P., Pang, E., Lau, W.-Y., & Johnson, P. J. (2001). Hypomethylation of chromosome 1 heterochromatin DNA correlates with q-arm copy gain in human hepatocellular carcinoma. *The American Journal of Pathology*, 159(2), 465–471.
- 73. Nakagawa, T., Kanai, Y., Ushijima, S., Kitamura, T., Kakizoe, T., & Hirohashi, S. (2005). DNA hypomethylation on pericentromeric satellite regions significantly correlates with loss of heterozygosity on chromosome 9 in urothelial carcinomas. *The Journal of Urology*, 173(1), 243–246.
- 74. Cadieux, B., Ching, T.-T., VandenBerg, S. R., & Costello, J. F. (2006). Genome-wide hypomethylation in human glioblastomas associated with specific copy number alteration, methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase allele status, and increased proliferation. *Cancer Research*, 66(17), 8469–8476.
- Schulz, W. A., Elo, J. P., Florl, A. R., Pennanen, S., Santourlidis, S., Engers, R., et al. (2002). Genomewide DNA hypomethylation is associated with alterations on chromosome 8 in prostate carcinoma. *Genes, Chromosomes and Cancer*, 35(1), 58–65.
- Batlle, E., & Clevers, H. (2017). Cancer stem cells revisited. *Nature Medicine*, 23(10), 1124.
- Yu, Z., Pestell, T. G., Lisanti, M. P., & Pestell, R. G. (2012). Cancer stem cells. *The International Journal* of Biochemistry & Cell Biology, 44(12), 2144–2151.
- Lapidot, T., Sirard, C., Vormoor, J., Murdoch, B., Hoang, T., Caceres-Cortes, J., et al. (1994). A cell initiating human acute myeloid leukaemia after transplantation into SCID mice. *Nature*, 367(6464), 645.
- Al-Hajj, M., Wicha, M. S., Benito-Hernandez, A., Morrison, S. J., & Clarke, M. F. (2003). Prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 100(7), 3983–3988.
- Singh, S. K., Clarke, I. D., Terasaki, M., Bonn, V. E., Hawkins, C., Squire, J., et al. (2003). Identification of a cancer stem cell in human brain tumors. *Cancer Research*, 63(18), 5821–5828.
- Bertolini, G., Roz, L., Perego, P., Tortoreto, M., Fontanella, E., Gatti, L., et al. (2009). Highly tumorigenic lung cancer CD133+ cells display stemlike features and are spared by cisplatin treatment. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 106(38), 16281–16286.
- Chan, K. S., Espinosa, I., Chao, M., Wong, D., Ailles, L., Diehn, M., et al. (2009). Identification, molecular characterization, clinical prognosis, and therapeutic targeting of human bladder tumor-initiating cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 106(33), 14016–14021.
- Li, C., Heidt, D. G., Dalerba, P., Burant, C. F., Zhang, L., Adsay, V., et al. (2007). Identification of pancreatic cancer stem cells. *Cancer Research*, 67(3), 1030–1037.

- O'Brien, C. A., Pollett, A., Gallinger, S., & Dick, J. E. (2007). A human colon cancer cell capable of initiating tumour growth in immunodeficient mice. *Nature*, 445(7123), 106.
- 85. Prince, M., Sivanandan, R., Kaczorowski, A., Wolf, G., Kaplan, M., Dalerba, P., et al. (2007). Identification of a subpopulation of cells with cancer stem cell properties in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104(3), 973–978.
- Schatton, T., Murphy, G. F., Frank, N. Y., Yamaura, K., Waaga-Gasser, A. M., Gasser, M., et al. (2008). Identification of cells initiating human melanomas. *Nature*, 451(7176), 345.
- Suvà, M.-L., Riggi, N., Stehle, J.-C., Baumer, K., Tercier, S., Joseph, J.-M., et al. (2009). Identification of cancer stem cells in Ewing's sarcoma. *Cancer Research*, 69(5), 1776–1781.
- Wang, X., Kruithof-de Julio, M., Economides, K. D., Walker, D., Yu, H., Halili, M. V., et al. (2009). A luminal epithelial stem cell that is a cell of origin for prostate cancer. *Nature*, 461(7263), 495.
- 89. Yamashita, T., Ji, J., Budhu, A., Forgues, M., Yang, W., Wang, H. Y., et al. (2009). EpCAMpositive hepatocellular carcinoma cells are tumorinitiating cells with stem/progenitor cell features. *Gastroenterology*, 136(3), 1012–24. e4.
- Yang, Z. F., Ho, D. W., Ng, M. N., Lau, C. K., Yu, W. C., Ngai, P., et al. (2008). Significance of CD90+ cancer stem cells in human liver cancer. *Cancer Cell*, *13*(2), 153–166.
- Zhang, S., Balch, C., Chan, M. W., Lai, H.-C., Matei, D., Schilder, J. M., et al. (2008). Identification and characterization of ovarian cancer-initiating cells from primary human tumors. *Cancer Research*, 68(11), 4311–4320.
- Bao, S., Wu, Q., McLendon, R. E., Hao, Y., Shi, Q., Hjelmeland, A. B., et al. (2006). Glioma stem cells promote radioresistance by preferential activation of the DNA damage response. *Nature*, 444(7120), 756.
- 93. Todaro, M., Alea, M. P., Di Stefano, A. B., Cammareri, P., Vermeulen, L., Iovino, F., et al. (2007). Colon cancer stem cells dictate tumor growth and resist cell death by production of interleukin-4. *Cell Stem Cell*, 1(4), 389–402.
- 94. Woodward, W. A., Chen, M. S., Behbod, F., Alfaro, M. P., Buchholz, T. A., & Rosen, J. M. (2007). WNT/β-catenin mediates radiation resistance of mouse mammary progenitor cells. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences, 104(2), 618–623.
- Wulf, G. G., Wang, R.-Y., Kuehnle, I., Weidner, D., Marini, F., Brenner, M. K., et al. (2001). A leukemic stem cell with intrinsic drug efflux capacity in acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood*, 98(4), 1166–1173.
- 96. Hermann, P. C., Huber, S. L., Herrler, T., Aicher, A., Ellwart, J. W., Guba, M., et al. (2007). Distinct populations of cancer stem cells determine tumor growth and metastatic activity in human pancreatic cancer. *Cell Stem Cell*, 1(3), 313–323.

- 97. Takebe, N., Harris, P. J., Warren, R. Q., & Ivy, S. P. (2011). Targeting cancer stem cells by inhibiting Wnt, Notch, and Hedgehog pathways. *Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology*, 8(2), 97.
- Cui, W., Wang, L. H., Wen, Y. Y., Song, M., Li, B. L., Chen, X. L., et al. (2010). Expression and regulation mechanisms of Sonic Hedgehog in breast cancer. *Cancer Science*, 101(4), 927–933.
- 99. Wang, L.-H., Choi, Y.-L., Hua, X.-Y., Shin, Y.-K., Song, Y.-J., Youn, S.-J., et al. (2006). Increased expression of sonic hedgehog and altered methylation of its promoter region in gastric cancer and its related lesions. *Modern Pathology*, 19(5), 675.
- 100. Fu, X., Deng, H., Zhao, L., Li, J., Zhou, Y., & Zhang, Y. (2010). Distinct expression patterns of hedgehog ligands between cultured and primary colorectal cancers are associated with aberrant methylation of their promoters. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry*, 337(1–2), 185–192.
- 101. Duan, Z. H., Wang, H. C., Zhao, D. M., Ji, X. X., Song, M., Yang, X. J., et al. (2015). Cooperatively transcriptional and epigenetic regulation of sonic hedgehog overexpression drives malignant potential of breast cancer. *Cancer Science*, 106(8), 1084–1091.
- 102. Wang, T.-P., Hsu, S.-H., Feng, H.-C., & Huang, R.-F. S. (2012). Folate deprivation enhances invasiveness of human colon cancer cells mediated by activation of sonic hedgehog signaling through promoter hypomethylation and cross action with transcription nuclear factor-kappa B pathway. *Carcinogenesis*, 33(6), 1158–1168.
- 103. Hovestadt, V., Jones, D. T., Picelli, S., Wang, W., Kool, M., Northcott, P. A., et al. (2014). Decoding the regulatory landscape of medulloblastoma using DNA methylation sequencing. *Nature*, *510*(7506), 537.
- 104. Mille, F., Tamayo-Orrego, L., Lévesque, M., Remke, M., Korshunov, A., Cardin, J., et al. (2014). The Shh receptor Boc promotes progression of early medulloblastoma to advanced tumors. *Developmental Cell*, 31(1), 34–47.
- 105. Li, C., Cai, S., Wang, X., & Jiang, Z. (2014). Hypomethylation-associated up-regulation of TCF3 expression and recurrence in stage II and III colorectal cancer. *PLoS One*, 9(11), e112005.
- 106. Mahmood, N., Mihalcioiu, C., & Rabbani, S. A. (2018). Multifaceted role of the Urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA) and its receptor (uPAR): Diagnostic, prognostic, and therapeutic applications. *Frontiers in Oncology*, *8*, 24. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2018.00024.
- 107. Pulukuri, S. M. K., Estes, N., Patel, J., & Rao, J. S. (2007). Demethylation-linked activation of urokinase plasminogen activator is involved in progression of prostate cancer. *Cancer Research*, 67(3), 930–939.
- Roman-Gomez, J., Jimenez-Velasco, A., Agirre, X., Castillejo, J. A., Navarro, G., San Jose-Eneriz, E., et al. (2007). Epigenetic regulation of human cancer/

testis antigen gene, HAGE, in chronic myeloid leukemia. *Haematologica*, 92(2), 153–162.

- 109. Widschwendter, M., Jiang, G., Woods, C., Müller, H. M., Fiegl, H., Goebel, G., et al. (2004). DNA hypomethylation and ovarian cancer biology. *Cancer Research*, 64(13), 4472–4480.
- 110. Neuhausen, A., Florl, A. R., Grimm, M.-O., & Schulz, W. A. (2006). DNA methylation alterations in urothelial carcinoma. *Cancer Biology & Therapy*, 5(8), 993–1001.
- 111. Tangkijvanich, P., Hourpai, N., Rattanatanyong, P., Wisedopas, N., Mahachai, V., & Mutirangura, A. (2007). Serum LINE-1 hypomethylation as a potential prognostic marker for hepatocellular carcinoma. *Clinica Chimica Acta*, 379(1–2), 127–133.
- 112. Parashar, S., Cheishvili, D., Mahmood, N., Arakelian, A., Tanvir, I., Khan, H. A., et al. (2018). DNA methylation signatures of breast cancer in peripheral T-cells. *BMC Cancer*, 18(1), 574.
- 113. Zhang, Y., Petropoulos, S., Liu, J., Cheishvili, D., Zhou, R., Dymov, S., et al. (2018). The signature of liver cancer in immune cells DNA methylation. *Clinical Epigenetics*, 10(1), 8.
- 114. Teschendorff, A. E., Menon, U., Gentry-Maharaj, A., Ramus, S. J., Gayther, S. A., Apostolidou, S., et al. (2009). An epigenetic signature in peripheral blood predicts active ovarian cancer. *PLoS One*, 4(12), e8274.
- 115. Ramchandani, S., Bhattacharya, S. K., Cervoni, N., & Szyf, M. (1999). DNA methylation is a reversible biological signal. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 96(11), 6107–6112.
- Bottiglieri, T. (2002). S-Adenosyl-L-methionine (SAMe): From the bench to the bedside—Molecular basis of a pleiotrophic molecule. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 76(5), 1151S–1157S.
- 117. Cantoni, G. (1951). Methylation of nicotinamide with a soluble enzyme system from rat liver. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 189(1), 203–216.
- Lu, S. C. (2000). S-adenosylmethionine. The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology, 32(4), 391–395.
- 119. Lu, S. C., & Mato, J. M. (2005). Role of methionine adenosyltransferase and S-adenosylmethionine in alcohol-associated liver cancer. *Alcohol*, 35(3), 227–234.
- Roje, S. (2006). S-adenosyl-L-methionine: Beyond the universal methyl group donor. *Phytochemistry*, 67(15), 1686–1698.
- Finkelstein, J. D. (1990). Methionine metabolism in mammals. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, 1(5), 228–237.
- 122. Delle Cave, D., Ilisso, C., Mosca, L., Pagano, M., Martino, E., Porcelli, M., et al. (2017). The anticancer effects of S-adenosylmethionine on breast cancer cells. *JSM Chemistry*, 5(3), 1049–1056.
- 123. Pakneshan, P., Szyf, M., Farias-Eisner, R., & Rabbani, S. A. (2004). Reversal of the hypomethylation status of urokinase (uPA) promoter blocks

breast cancer growth and metastasis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(30), 31735–31744.

- 124. Mahmood, N., Cheishvili, D., Arakelian, A., Tanvir, I., Khan, H. A., Pépin, A.-S., et al. (2018). Methyl donor S-adenosylmethionine (SAM) supplementation attenuates breast cancer growth, invasion, and metastasis in vivo; therapeutic and chemopreventive applications. *Oncotarget*, 9(4), 5169.
- 125. Chik, F., Machnes, Z., & Szyf, M. (2013). Synergistic anti-breast cancer effect of a combined treatment with the methyl donor S-adenosyl methionine and the DNA methylation inhibitor 5-aza-2'deoxycytidine. *Carcinogenesis*, 35(1), 138–144.
- 126. Ilisso, C. P., Castellano, M., Zappavigna, S., Lombardi, A., Vitale, G., Dicitore, A., et al. (2015). The methyl donor S-adenosylmethionine potentiates doxorubicin effects on apoptosis of hormonedependent breast cancer cell lines. *Endocrine*, 50(1), 212–222.
- 127. Shukeir, N., Pakneshan, P., Chen, G., Szyf, M., & Rabbani, S. A. (2006). Alteration of the methylation status of tumor-promoting genes decreases prostate cancer cell invasiveness and tumorigenesis in vitro and in vivo. *Cancer Research*, 66(18), 9202–9210.
- 128. Schmidt, T., Leha, A., & Salinas-Riester, G. (2016). Treatment of prostate cancer cells with S-adenosylmethionine leads to genome-wide alterations in transcription profiles. *Gene*, 595(2), 161–167.
- 129. Wang, Y., Sun, Z., & Szyf, M. (2017). S-adenosylmethionine (SAM) alters the transcriptome and methylome and specifically blocks growth and invasiveness of liver cancer cells. *Oncotarget*, 8(67), 111866.
- 130. Ham, M.-S., Lee, J.-K., & Kim, K.-C. (2013). S-adenosyl methionine specifically protects the anticancer effect of 5-FU via DNMTs expression in human A549 lung cancer cells. *Molecular and Clinical Oncology*, 1(2), 373–378.
- 131. Zhao, Y., Li, J., Guo, M., Feng, B., & Zhang, J. (2010). Inhibitory effect of S-adenosylmethionine on the growth of human gastric cancer cells in vivo and in vitro. *Chinese Journal of Cancer*, 29(8), 752–760.
- 132. Luo, J., Li, Y.-N., Wang, F., Zhang, W.-M., & Geng, X. (2010). S-adenosylmethionine inhibits the growth of cancer cells by reversing the hypomethylation status of c-myc and H-ras in human gastric cancer and colon cancer. *International Journal of Biological Sciences*, 6(7), 784.
- 133. Hussain, Z., Khan, M., Shahid, M., & Almajhdi, F. (2013). S-adenosylmethionine, a methyl donor, up regulates tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-2 in colorectal cancer. *Genetics and Molecular Research*, *12*(2), 1106–1118.
- 134. Li, T. W., Yang, H., Peng, H., Xia, M., Mato, J. M., & Lu, S. C. (2011). Effects of S-adenosylmethionine and methylthioadenosine on inflammation-induced colon cancer in mice. *Carcinogenesis*, 33(2), 427–435.

- 135. Tomasi, M. L., Cossu, C., Spissu, Y., Floris, A., Ryoo, M., Iglesias-Ara, A., et al. (2017). S-adenosylmethionine and methylthioadenosine inhibit cancer metastasis by targeting microRNA 34a/b-methionine adenosyltransferase 2A/2B axis. *Oncotarget*, 8(45), 78851.
- 136. Ilisso, C. P., Sapio, L., Delle Cave, D., Illiano, M., Spina, A., Cacciapuoti, G., et al. (2016). S-Adenosylmethionine affects ERK1/2 and Stat3 pathways and induces apoptosis in osteosarcoma cells. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 231(2), 428–435.
- 137. Tomasi, M. L., Ramani, K., Lopitz-Otsoa, F., Rodríguez, M. S., Li, T. W., Ko, K., et al. (2010). S-adenosylmethionine regulates dual-specificity mitogen-activated protein kinase phosphatase expression in mouse and human hepatocytes. *Hepatology*, *51*(6), 2152–2161.
- 138. Calvisi, D. F., Pinna, F., Meloni, F., Ladu, S., Pellegrino, R., Sini, M., et al. (2008). Dualspecificity phosphatase 1 ubiquitination in extracellular signal-regulated kinase–mediated control of growth in human hepatocellular carcinoma. *Cancer Research*, 68(11), 4192–4200.
- 139. Calvisi, D. F., Pinna, F., Pellegrino, R., Sanna, V., Sini, M., Daino, L., et al. (2008). Ras-driven proliferation and apoptosis signaling during rat liver carcinogenesis is under genetic control. *International Journal of Cancer*, 123(9), 2057–2064.
- 140. Cave, D. D., Desiderio, V., Mosca, L., Ilisso, C. P., Mele, L., Caraglia, M., et al. (2018). S-adenosylmethionine-mediated apoptosis is potentiated by autophagy inhibition induced by chloroquine in human breast cancer cells. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 233(2), 1370–1383.

- 141. Frau, M., Feo, F., & Pascale, R. M. (2013). Pleiotropic effects of methionine adenosyltransferases deregulation as determinants of liver cancer progression and prognosis. *Journal of Hepatology*, 59(4), 830–841.
- 142. Feo, F., Garcea, R., Pascale, R., Pirisi, L., Daino, L., & Donaera, A. (1987). The variations of S-adenosyl-L-methionine content modulate hepatocyte growth during phenobarbital promotion of diethylnitrosamine-induced rat liver carcinogenesis. *Toxicologic Pathology*, 15(1), 109–114.
- 143. Mehlen, P., & Puisieux, A. (2006). Metastasis: A question of life or death. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 6(6), 449.
- 144. Barkan, D., Green, J. E., & Chambers, A. F. (2010). Extracellular matrix: A gatekeeper in the transition from dormancy to metastatic growth. *European Journal of Cancer*, 46(7), 1181–1188.
- 145. Şahin, M., Şahin, E., Gümüşlü, S., Erdoğan, A., & Gültekin, M. (2011). Inhibition of angiogenesis by S-adenosylmethionine. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 408(1), 145–148.
- 146. Shapiro, C. L., & Recht, A. (2001). Side effects of adjuvant treatment of breast cancer. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 344(26), 1997–2008.
- 147. Sahin, E., & Sahin, M. (2018). Epigenetical targeting of the FOXP3 Gene by S-adenosylmethionine diminishes the suppressive capacity of regulatory T cells ex vivo and alters the expression profiles. *Journal of Immunotherapy*, 42(1), 11–22.
- 148. Tanaka, A., & Sakaguchi, S. (2017). Regulatory T cells in cancer immunotherapy. *Cell Research*, 27(1), 109.

Part IV

Targeting the Tumor and Its Microenvironment



Tumor Dormancy and Slow-Cycling Cancer Cells

John E. Davis Jr, Jason Kirk, Yibing Ji, and Dean G. Tang

Abstract

Cancer cell heterogeneity is a universal feature of human tumors and represents a significant barrier to the efficacy and duration of anticancer therapies, especially targeted therapeutics. Among the heterogeneous cancer cell populations is a subpopulation of relatively quiescent cancer cells, which are in the G0/G1 cell-cycle phase and refractory to anti-mitotic drugs that target proliferative cells. These slow-cycling cells (SCCs) preexist in untreated tumors and frequently become enriched in treatment-failed tumors, raising the possibility that these cells may mediate therapy resistance and tumor relapse. Here we review sevgeneral concepts on tumor eral cell heterogeneity, quiescence, and tumor dormancy. We discuss the potential relationship between SCCs and cancer stem cells (CSCs). We also present our current understanding of how SCCs and cancer dormancy might be regulated. Increasing knowledge of SCCs and tumor dormancy should lead to identification of novel molecular regulators and therapeutic targets of tumor relapse, residual diseases, and metastasis.

J. E. Davis Jr · J. Kirk · Y. Ji · D. G. Tang (⊠) Department of Pharmacology and Therapeutics, Roswell Park Comprehensive Cancer Center, Buffalo, NY, USA e-mail: Dean.Tang@Roswellpark.org

Keywords

Cancer stem cell · Tumor dormancy · Quiescence · Slow-cycling cell · Prostate cancer · Tumor cell heterogeneity · Labelretaining cell · LRIG1 · Cell cycle · scRNA-Seq · Lineage tracing · Prostate stem cell · TGF-beta · Cell-of-origin · Self-renewal · Progenitor · Plasticity · CD44

Introduction: Cellular Heterogeneity in Cancer

Cellular heterogeneity represents an omnipresent feature in human tumors, which contain distinct subsets of cancer cells with diverse morphology, cytogenetic markers, growth kinetics, immunological characteristics, metastatic ability, and sensitivity to therapeutics [1]. Understanding cellular heterogeneity in solid tumors should facilitate development of new diagnostic and therapeutic strategies. The majority of current anti-cancer drugs are anti-mitotic and molecularly targeted agents, which mainly target the differentiated and proliferating cancer cells [2]. However, recent evidence suggests that there is always a population of quiescent, slow-cycling cells (SCCs) that preexist in primary tumors and is less affected by standard treatments. Experimentally, reports have shown that SCCs exist in many human cancer cell

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

J. S. Rhim et al. (eds.), *Human Cell Transformation*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1164, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-22254-3_15

cultures and xenograft tumors [2, 3]. *Clinically*, patients with cancer can develop recurrent and metastatic disease with latency periods that range from years to decades. *Pathologically*, subsets of Ki-67-negative cells, characterizing diminished proliferation, are always observed in virtually all human tumors [4]. These all indicate the existence of SCCs in models as well as patient tumors.

Quiescence and Slow-Cycling Cells (SCCs) in Cancer

Quiescent, slow-cycling cells (SCCs) exist in clinical human tumors [4], and accumulating evidence suggests that SCCs may play a vital role in many aspects of cancer biology. Due to their intrinsic dormancy, SCCs are thought to be insensitive to most current clinical treatments, and thus may contribute to tumor relapse [3]. However, few studies have developed systems to PROSPECTIVELY study SCCs. Upon entering the non-proliferative G0/G1 cell-cycle phase, cells have relatively low metabolic activity in a state of cell-cycle arrest, a term referred to as quiescence. Transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) is among the many secreted factors that mediate microenvironmental signaling that controls cellular differentiation, proliferation, and survival. TGF- β has been shown to have tumor suppressive properties in that it opposes normal epithelial cell proliferation [5]. TGF- β has been reported to maintain dormancy in stem cell populations in the prostate [6], liver [7], gastrointestinal system [8], and in the bone marrow [9].

In many cancers, a small population of SCCs has been identified in cell cultures, xenografts, and clinical tumors, and SCCs are thought to survive anticancer therapies and contribute to later disease recurrence and metastasis [2–4, 10]. Additionally, SCCs may also have implications in immunotherapy; for example, vaccination with drug-resistant slow-cycling tumor cells caused a reduction in tumor volume and prolonged the overall survival of tumor-bearing mice [11]. Therefore, isolation and functional study of SCCs will be keys to developing future therapies that

better target dormant cancer cells to prevent recurrence.

Clinical Evidence for Cancer Dormancy

Although poorly understood, cancer dormancy has been generally classified into two entities: (1) tumor mass dormancy, whereby active cancer cell proliferation is mechanistically opposed by apoptosis, and (2) tumor cell dormancy, characterized by inactive tumor cells that have entered into prolonged G0/G1 cell-cycle arrest [4]. Whereas tumor mass dormancy is limited by factors such as poor neovascularization and susceptibility to immune surveillance, tumor cell dormancy represents a clinically asymptomatic form of dormancy where these cells can become active months to decades later. The major concern of dormant cancer cells is whether they can be revived from an inert state to rapidly growing overt deadly cancers. This raises the question of how to detect dormant cells. The evidence for dormant cancers has been demonstrated by autopsies of patients diagnosed with cancer as well as trauma victims [12]. Other evidence of cancer cell dormancy arises from the findings that disseminated tumor cells (DTCs), which are cells that physically separate from the primary tumor mass and travel to other sites in the body via circulation, have the ability to enter a dormant state and become resistant to therapies [13].

Cancer Stem Cells (CSCs)

The topic of CSCs has been debated by researchers throughout the years mostly because of the lack of the ability to consistently assay and uniformly define these cell populations. Stem cells (SCs) are defined as cells that possess self-renewal and differentiation abilities [14]. Historically, most SCs in adult tissues and organs have been identified by panels of cell surface markers, in vivo lineage tracing, and by their intrinsic quiescent and slow-cycling properties [3]. Additionally, functional assays that measure

drug efflux (e.g., side population) and aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) detoxifying capacity (i.e., Aldefluor) may be used to purify and enrich stem cells [1]. CSC is a functional term and can be most properly defined in functional assays by their ability to re-generate serially transplantable tumors with features of the parent tumor (e.g., cellular heterogeneity and specific cell surface markers) [3]. Several terms, including dormant or quiescent cells, SCCs, and label-retaining cells (LRCs) may be used interchangeably; however, CSCs may not necessarily be included among these cell types. Generally, dormant or residual slow-cycling tumor cells are thought to be a major source of tumor relapse and metastasis, and are therefore an obstacle to therapy. SCCs and CSCs are two "semantic" terms describing two overlapping cancer cell subpopulations in a continuum [2–4]. In other words, some (but NOT all) SCCs may possess both phenotypic and functional properties of CSCs and vice versa, and some (but NOT all) CSCs may be dormant and slow-cycling. For instance, SCCs in some tumors have been shown to possess CSC-related properties, e.g., enhanced tumor-propagating ability, therapy resistance, and promotion of tumor relapse and metastasis [3]. On the other hand, although some CSCs, e.g., the prostate-specific antigen-negative/low (PSA-/lo) CSCs [1] and the cluster of differentiation 44-positive (CD44⁺) [15, 16] prostate cancer (PCa) cell populations, are relatively quiescent at the population level, other CSC populations, e.g., the ALDH⁺ cells [1, 3], may be proliferative. This is analogous to the existence of well-established quiescent AND cycling normal SC populations [3]. Much more effort has been devoted to the studies of CSCs than SCCs, as evidenced by identification of CSCs in virtually every tumor system [3, 16-20]. However, SCCs clearly exist in tumors and may play a critical role in regulating tumor cell subpopulation dynamics. For example, a population of slow-cycling melanoma cells bearing a lysine demethylase 5B-high (KDM5B-high) phenotype is required for continuous tumor growth [21], and therapeutically targeting this population can overcome the intrinsic multidrug resistance in melanoma [22]. Our lab is currently crossexamining the inter-relationship between purified PCa SCCs and prostate cancer stem cells (PCSCs) identified using the PSA^{-/lo} phenotype and other markers such as CD44⁺, ALDH-high, and ABCG2⁺ to compare their relative "stemness," aggressiveness, therapy sensitivities, and ability to repopulate recurrent tumors.

Modeling Cancer Cell Dormancy

A recent review by Kester and van Oudenaarden discussed new advances in sequencing technologies used either alone or in combination to predict cellular differentiation trajectories based on single-cell transcriptomics [23]. For example, the techniques described combines single-cell genetic lineage tracing with differentiation trajectory algorithms to reliably capture cell-type heterogeneity to therapy responses. These same technologies can be used to investigate lineage relationship between stem cells and their mature progeny, traced over time. Tracking lineagerelated changes in genomic signatures by either introducing specific alterations experimentally (prospective lineage tracing) or following intrinsic non-perturbation processes (retrospective lineage tracing), researchers can differentially determine gene signatures associated with a single founder cell [23]. The utility of dyes into single founder cells along with flow-assisted cell sorting (FACS) has opened many avenues for investigators to more readily study cancer cell initiation, cell-of-origin, and tumor dormancy.

Studies have also been utilizing highthroughput single-cell RNA-Seq (scRNA-Seq) to investigate cellular heterogeneity as progression trajectory in relation to metabolomic changes that occur during chemical reprogramming [24]. Such novel powerful techniques demonstrate that fully differentiated, mature cell progression tracing can be associated with transcriptomic and epigenomic changes that allow cell fate experimental manipulations to be performed prospectively.

Yet another powerful method of studying tumor dormancy is to employ the LRC model. Generally, normal mammalian adult SCs are slow-cycling, and long-lived cycling SCs have been reported in rapidly renewing tissues such as hair follicles, small intestine, and blood [25]. In practice, label-retaining techniques are frequently employed to study SCs, although this technique is meant to label SCCs rather than SCs. In this technique, tissues (or cells) are first pulsed with a DNA base analog, e.g., 5-bromo-2'-deoxyuridine (BrdU), which is followed by an extended period of chase. Such identified LRC population is often enriched in functional SCs. In addition to DNA analogs, which unfortunately CANNOT be used to purify out LIVE SCCs, other label-retaining techniques (e.g., Tet-controlled H2B-GFP fusion protein and cell membrane labeling dyes such as PKH26) have been developed to identify and purify SCCs for functional studies [26].

Visualizing cell cycle transitions, generally, has proved difficult. A relatively new technique known as the FUCCI (fluorescence ubiquitination cell-cycle indicator) has been developed, which exploits the inversely oscillating levels of two separate cell-cycle licensing factors, fused with either green or red fluorescent probes [27]. In this system, time-lapse video fluorescence microscopy captures the switch from green- to red-emitting signals as the cell cycles from G1 to S/G2/M, respectively [27]. Modified FUCCIbased systems allow for G0/G1-phase cell separation to study dormancy in FUCCI-expressing cell lines, stem cell lineages, and in mouse models [28], allowing the enrichment and isolation of SCCs for studying their involvement in therapy resistance, disease recurrence, and drug screening.

Recently developed 3D cell and tissue culture technologies such as organoid systems have become increasingly efficient in drug development and personalized medicine for primary and metastatic colorectal, pancreatic, prostate, breast, and brain tumors [29]. Organoids are currently used to model mutational processes underlying tumorigenesis, response to immunotherapies, and the contribution of CSCs to tumor growth.

Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic (PK/ PD) methods have recently incorporated imaging techniques to assess the delivery and efficacy of fluorescently labeled drugs by in vivo microscopy, e.g., to investigate tumor-stromal signaling, tumor vasculature, and drug efflux capacity of CSCs [30]. Dynamically tracking circulating tumor cells (CTCs) found in the bloodstream has led to the introduction of "real-time" liquid biopsies, a way to routinely monitor cancer progression, relapse, and patient response to therapies with minimal invasion and low risk for effects [31].

Prostate Cancer as a Model of Cancer Dormancy-Related Drug Resistance

Prostate cancer (PCa) is a heterogeneous malignancy. Androgen deprivation therapy (ADT) is the current main therapeutic regimen for advanced PCa patients. However, most treated patients invariably develop the castrationresistant prostate cancer (CRPC). The cell(s)of-origin for and mechanisms underlying CRPC development and maintenance remain poorly understood. Recently, we have reported a PSA^{-/} ¹⁰ PCa cell population that exists in primary tumors at low frequency but dramatically increases in high-grade primary tumors and, in particular, recurrent PCa [15]. Importantly, the PSA^{-/lo} population, which expresses stem cell gene signatures and possesses many cardinal SC properties, can function as both cells-oforigin AND tumor-propagating cells in CRPC [1, 15, 32]. The PSA^{-/lo} PCa cell population, compared to PSA+ cells, is quiescent, enriched for CSCs that express low androgen receptor (AR), and drug-resistant and tumorigenic [1, 15, 33]. In multiple other cancer systems, studies have also suggested that SCCs can survive anticancer therapies and contribute to later disease progression and metastasis [2–4, 21, 34]. However, no prospective studies have been performed to elucidate the clinical importance of SCCs in PCa, especially in response to ADT and subsequent CRPC development. Therefore, utilizing PCa as a model disease system, we aim to describe the implications of PCa SCCs in more broad terms of cellular quiescence and tumor cell dormancy and apply these concepts

to other cancer types as it relates to therapy resistance and repopulation of primary cancers, disease recurrence, and progression to invasion and metastasis.

Unfortunately, to our knowledge, no systematic and prospective studies have focused on SCCs as potential effectors and mediators of therapy (including castration) resistance in PCa and emergence of CRPC. Moreover, no drugs have been developed as yet to specifically target quiescent PCa cells. As in other tumor systems, there is an urgent need to advance our knowledge of quiescent cell biology and thus provide a strong foundation to develop potential therapeutic strategies to target this obstinate population. One example would be to develop novel treatment options by combining ADT and SCCspecific therapies to eventually prevent/eliminate CRPC in patients, which should ultimately impact PCa patient survival.

LRCs and Normal Mouse and Human Prostate SCs

Adult prostate renews slowly and can undergo multiple rounds of castration-induced regression and testosterone-induced regrowth, attesting the presence and the functional importance of SCs. Since the first report of putative prostate SCs via LRC experiments by Dr. E. Wilson's group, the proximal region (i.e., close to the urethra) of the prostatic tubules [35] and the basal location [36-40] have been proposed to be the niche to maintain the quiescence (mediated by TGF- β) [6] of prostate SCs. By using lineagetracing techniques, studies have reported the existence of lineage-restricted stem/progenitor cells within both basal and luminal layers of the mouse prostate [41–43], which is further validated by a recently developed 3D organoid system in the human prostate [44]. Importantly, these reports indicate that primitive prostate SCs are generally quiescent in vivo [41, 45]. Our lab, over the years, has studied, and made extensive use of, normal primary human prostate epithelial cells from normal/benign human prostates [1, 16, 46–48]. We recently described

a genome-wide transcriptome analysis of human prostatic basal and luminal populations using deep RNA-Seq, and found that basal cells are generally quiescent in situ and molecularly resemble aggressive PCa [47]. Also, we recently developed a feasible 2D culture system to enrich high numbers of human prostate luminal progenitor cells and further showed that these cells could function as a cell-of-origin for PCa [46]. In addition, we have established several complimentary experimental strategies that enable us to purify out LIVE SCCs from human PCa cell cultures and xenograft tumors for probing their functional properties. Importantly, we have also generated unique transgenic mouse models of label-retaining cells (LRCs) to study SCCs in a naïve tumor microenvironment under unperturbed and androgen-ablated conditions. The utility of these techniques will help in determining the inter-relationship between SCCs and CSCs as well as the expression status of the AR in the SCC population and its impact on SCC biology. By performing gene-expression analysis coupled with functional assays, it may be feasible to identify potential therapeutic targets that could lead to the elimination of this "hardto-kill" population.

PCSCs (Prostate Cancer Stem Cells): Hierarchical Organization and Relative Dormancy

Over the past 15 years, our lab has been meticulously dissecting the FUNCTIONAL heterogeneity in human PCa cells. Our systematic work, which has provided a framework of understanding of PCa cell heterogeneity, has demonstrated that the human PCSC pool largely resides in the undifferentiated PSA^{-/Io} PCa cell population [1, 9, 15, 16, 32, 49]. The PSA^{-/Io} PCSC pool contains multiple subsets of tumorigenic cells [50– 53] and, importantly, many PSA^{-/Io} PCa cells and subsets of PCSCs lack appreciable expression of AR and are dormant, which, together, render these cells intrinsically refractory to both antiandrogens and anti-mitotic drugs such as docetaxel and etoposide. Whether SCCs are heterogeneous in AR expression and what is the impact of AR status on SCC functions have yet to be investigated. Another area of interest includes the determination of whether PCa SCCs can survive ADT and repopulation CRPC in vitro and in vivo, and characterizing transcriptome changes of LRCs during CRPC emergence.

Many molecular entities and circuits initiate and enforce cancer cell dormancy. For example, LRIG1 (leucine-rich repeats and immunoglobulin-like domains protein 1), known as a pan-ERBB negative regulator, is well established to promote adult stem cell quiescence, especially in epidermis and gastrointestinal system [15, 54–59]. LRIG1 functions as a tumor suppressor in many cancers [58]. Geneexpression profiling reveals LRIG1 enrichment in PSA^{-/lo} PCa cell population [15]. The PSA^{-/lo} cell population harbors highly dormant PCSCs possessing tumorigenic, metastatic, and CRPCinitiating and -propagating properties.

Of great clinical interest is whether a tumor can be contained indefinitely in a dormant, nonmalignant state or whether driving SCCs out of dormancy is a better therapeutic approach. There exist several research opportunities to study the differences between persistence of tumor dormancy versus reactivation. Studies have demonstrated that CoCo, a bone morphogenic protein 4 (BMP-4) inhibitor protein secreted by the stroma [10], reactivates dormant breast cancer cells localized to the lungs, providing evidence of DTC escape from dormancy. It was also found that breast cancer cells with low CoCo expression remained dormant [60]. Thus, it is important to develop a systematic functional characterization of SCCs in human PCa cells and xenograft tumors, LRCs in genetic mouse models of prostate tumors, and gene-expression profiling of SCCs in human and mouse PCa to address the clinical implications associated with tumor dormancy.

Acknowledgments Work in the authors' lab was supported by grants from the U.S. National Institutes of Health (NIH) (R01CA237027 and R21CA218635), Department of Defense (W81XWH-16-1-0575), and RPCCC and NCI grant P30CA016056.

References

- Liu, X., et al. (2015). Systematic dissection of phenotypic, functional, and tumorigenic heterogeneity of human prostate cancer cells. *Oncotarget*, 6(27), 23959–23986.
- Moore, N., & Lyle, S. (2011). Quiescent, slowcycling stem cell populations in cancer: A review of the evidence and discussion of significance. *Journal* of Oncology, 2011, 396076.
- Tang, D. G. (2012). Understanding cancer stem cell heterogeneity and plasticity. *Cell Research*, 22(3), 457–472.
- Aguirre-Ghiso, J. A. (2007). Models, mechanisms and clinical evidence for cancer dormancy. *Nature Reviews. Cancer*, 7(11), 834–846.
- Salm, S., Burger, P. E., & Wilson, E. L. (2012). TGF-beta and stem cell factor regulate cell proliferation in the proximal stem cell niche. *Prostate*, 72(9), 998–1005.
- Salm, S. N., et al. (2005). TGF-beta maintains dormancy of prostatic stem cells in the proximal region of ducts. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 170(1), 81–90.
- Santoni-Rugiu, E., et al. (2005). Progenitor cells in liver regeneration: Molecular responses controlling their activation and expansion. *APMIS*, *113*(11–12), 876–902.
- Mishra, L., et al. (2005). The role of TGF-β and Wnt signaling in gastrointestinal stem cells and cancer. *Oncogene*, 24(37), 5775–5789.
- Wilson, A., & Trumpp, A. (2006). Bone-marrow haematopoietic-stem-cell niches. *Nature Reviews*. *Immunology*, 6(2), 93–106.
- Yadav, A. S., et al. (2018). The biology and therapeutic implications of tumor dormancy and reactivation. *Frontiers in Oncology*, 8, 72.
- Sun, Q., et al. (2012). Immunotherapy using slowcycling tumor cells prolonged overall survival of tumor-bearing mice. *BMC Medicine*, 10, 172.
- Almog, N. (2010). Molecular mechanisms underlying tumor dormancy. *Cancer Letters*, 294(2), 139–146.
- Sosa, M. S., Bragado, P., & Aguirre-Ghiso, J. A. (2014). Mechanisms of disseminated cancer cell dormancy: An awakening field. *Nature Reviews. Cancer*, *14*(9), 611–622.
- Jeter, C. R., et al. (2009). Functional evidence that the self-renewal gene NANOG regulates human tumor development. *Stem Cells*, 27(5), 993–1005.
- Qin, J., et al. (2012). The PSA(–/lo) prostate cancer cell population harbors self-renewing long-term tumor-propagating cells that resist castration. *Cell Stem Cell*, 10(5), 556–569.
- Tang, D. G., et al. (2007). Prostate cancer stem/progenitor cells: Identification, characterization, and implications. *Molecular Carcinogenesis*, 46(1), 1–14.
- Bonnet, D., & Dick, J. E. (1997). Human acute myeloid leukemia is organized as a hierarchy that originates from a primitive hematopoietic cell. *Nature Medicine*, 3(7), 730–737.

- Collins, A. T., et al. (2005). Prospective identification of tumorigenic prostate cancer stem cells. *Cancer Research*, 65(23), 10946–10951.
- Singh, S. K., et al. (2003). Identification of a cancer stem cell in human brain tumors. *Cancer Research*, 63(18), 5821–5828.
- Wright, M. H., et al. (2008). Brca1 breast tumors contain distinct CD44+/CD24- and CD133+ cells with cancer stem cell characteristics. *Breast Cancer Research*, 10(1), R10.
- Roesch, A., et al. (2010). A temporarily distinct subpopulation of slow-cycling melanoma cells is required for continuous tumor growth. *Cell*, 141(4), 583–594.
- Roesch, A., et al. (2013). Overcoming intrinsic multidrug resistance in melanoma by blocking the mitochondrial respiratory chain of slow-cycling JARID1B(high) cells. *Cancer Cell*, 23(6), 811–825.
- Kester, L., & van Oudenaarden, A. (2018). Single-cell transcriptomics meets lineage tracing. *Cell Stem Cell*, 23(2), 166–179.
- Zhao, T., et al. (2018). Single-cell RNA-Seq reveals dynamic early embryonic-like programs during chemical reprogramming. *Cell Stem Cell*, 23(1), 31–45.e7.
- Li, L., & Clevers, H. (2010). Coexistence of quiescent and active adult stem cells in mammals. *Science*, 327(5965), 542–545.
- 26. Zhang, D., et al. (2018). Histone 2B-GFP labelretaining prostate luminal cells possess progenitor cell properties and are intrinsically resistant to castration. *Stem Cell Reports*, 10(1), 228–242.
- Sakaue-Sawano, A., et al. (2008). Visualizing spatiotemporal dynamics of multicellular cell-cycle progression. *Cell*, 132(3), 487–498.
- Zielke, N., & Edgar, B. A. (2015). FUCCI sensors: Powerful new tools for analysis of cell proliferation. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Developmental Biology, 4(5), 469–487.
- Drost, J., & Clevers, H. (2018). Organoids in cancer research. *Nature Reviews. Cancer*, 18(7), 407–418.
- Miller, M. A., & Weissleder, R. (2017). Imaging of anticancer drug action in single cells. *Nature Reviews. Cancer*, 17(7), 399–414.
- van der Toom, E. E., Verdone, J. E., & Pienta, K. J. (2016). Disseminated tumor cells and dormancy in prostate cancer metastasis. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology*, 40, 9–15.
- 32. Chen, X., et al. (2016). Defining a population of stemlike human prostate cancer cells that can generate and propagate castration-resistant prostate Cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 22(17), 4505–4516.
- 33. Horning, A. M., et al. (2018). Single-cell RNA-seq reveals a subpopulation of prostate cancer cells with enhanced cell-cycle-related transcription and attenuated androgen response. *Cancer Research*, 78(4), 853–864.
- Perego, M., et al. (2018). A slow-cycling subpopulation of melanoma cells with highly invasive properties. *Oncogene*, 37(3), 302–312.
- 35. Tsujimura, A., et al. (2002). Proximal location of mouse prostate epithelial stem cells: A model of

prostatic homeostasis. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 157(7), 1257–1265.

- 36. Lawson, D. A., et al. (2007). Isolation and functional characterization of murine prostate stem cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 104(1), 181–186.
- Burger, P. E., et al. (2005). Sca-1 expression identifies stem cells in the proximal region of prostatic ducts with high capacity to reconstitute prostatic tissue. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 102(20), 7180–7185.
- 38. Lawson, D. A., et al. (2010). Basal epithelial stem cells are efficient targets for prostate cancer initiation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 107(6), 2610–2615.
- 39. Xin, L., Lawson, D. A., & Witte, O. N. (2005). The Sca-1 cell surface marker enriches for a prostateregenerating cell subpopulation that can initiate prostate tumorigenesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 102*(19), 6942–6947.
- Xin, L., et al. (2007). Self-renewal and multilineage differentiation in vitro from murine prostate stem cells. *Stem Cells*, 25(11), 2760–2769.
- Wang, Z. A., et al. (2013). Lineage analysis of basal epithelial cells reveals their unexpected plasticity and supports a cell-of-origin model for prostate cancer heterogeneity. *Nature Cell Biology*, 15(3), 274–283.
- 42. Choi, N., et al. (2012). Adult murine prostate basal and luminal cells are self-sustained lineages that can both serve as targets for prostate cancer initiation. *Cancer Cell*, 21(2), 253–265.
- Wang, X., et al. (2009). A luminal epithelial stem cell that is a cell of origin for prostate cancer. *Nature*, 461(7263), 495–500.
- Karthaus, W. R., et al. (2014). Identification of multipotent luminal progenitor cells in human prostate organoid cultures. *Cell*, 159(1), 163–175.
- Ousset, M., et al. (2012). Multipotent and unipotent progenitors contribute to prostate postnatal development. *Nature Cell Biology*, 14(11), 1131–1138.
- 46. Zhang, D., et al. (2017). Developing a novel twodimensional culture system to enrich human prostate luminal progenitors that can function as a cell of origin for prostate Cancer. *Stem Cells Translational Medicine*, 6(3), 748–760.
- Zhang, D., et al. (2016). Stem cell and neurogenic gene-expression profiles link prostate basal cells to aggressive prostate cancer. *Nature Communications*, 7, 10798.
- 48. Bhatia, B., et al. (2008). Critical and distinct roles of p16 and telomerase in regulating the proliferative life span of normal human prostate epithelial progenitor cells. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 283(41), 27957–27972.
- Rycaj, K., et al. (2016). Longitudinal tracking of subpopulation dynamics and molecular changes during LNCaP cell castration and identification of inhibitors

that could target the PSA-/lo castration-resistant cells. *Oncotarget*, 7(12), 14220–14240.

- Patrawala, L., et al. (2006). Highly purified CD44+ prostate cancer cells from xenograft human tumors are enriched in tumorigenic and metastatic progenitor cells. *Oncogene*, 25(12), 1696–1708.
- Patrawala, L., et al. (2005). Side population is enriched in tumorigenic, stem-like cancer cells, whereas ABCG2+ and ABCG2- cancer cells are similarly tumorigenic. *Cancer Research*, 65(14), 6207–6219.
- Patrawala, L., et al. (2007). Hierarchical organization of prostate cancer cells in xenograft tumors: The CD44+alpha2beta1+ cell population is enriched in tumor-initiating cells. *Cancer Research*, 67(14), 6796–6805.
- Patrawala, L. T., & G, D. (2007). CD44 as a functional cancer stem cell marker and a potential therapeutic target. In *Autologous and cancer stem cell gene therapy* (pp. 317–334). Singapore: World Scientific Publishing.
- Choi, E., et al. (2018). Lrig1+ gastric isthmal progenitor cells restore normal gastric lineage cells during damage recovery in adult mouse stomach. *Gut*, 67(9), 1595–1605.

- Jensen, K. B., et al. (2009). Lrig1 expression defines a distinct multipotent stem cell population in mammalian epidermis. *Cell Stem Cell*, 4(5), 427–439.
- 56. Jensen, K. B., & Watt, F. M. (2006). Single-cell expression profiling of human epidermal stem and transit-amplifying cells: Lrig1 is a regulator of stem cell quiescence. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America, 103(32), 11958–11963.
- 57. Powell, A. E., et al. (2012). The pan-ErbB negative regulator Lrig1 is an intestinal stem cell marker that functions as a tumor suppressor. *Cell*, *149*(1), 146–158.
- Wang, Y., Poulin, E. J., & Coffey, R. J. (2013). LRIG1 is a triple threat: ERBB negative regulator, intestinal stem cell marker and tumour suppressor. *British Journal of Cancer*, 108(9), 1765–1770.
- Wong, V. W., et al. (2012). Lrig1 controls intestinal stem-cell homeostasis by negative regulation of ErbB signalling. *Nature Cell Biology*, *14*(4), 401–408.
- 60. Linde, N., Fluegen, G., & Aguirre-Ghiso, J. A. (2016). The relationship between dormant cancer cells and their microenvironment. *Advances in Cancer Research*, 132, 45–71.



Resolution of Cellular Heterogeneity in Human Prostate Cancers: Implications for Diagnosis and Treatment

Norman J. Maitland, Fiona M. Frame, Jayant K. Rane, Holger H. Erb, John R. Packer, Leanne K. Archer, and Davide Pellacani

Abstract

Prostate cancers have a justified reputation as one of the most heterogeneous human tumours. Indeed, there are some who consider that advanced and castration-resistant prostate cancers are incurable, as a direct result of this heterogeneity. However, tumour heterogeneity can be defined in different ways. To a clinician, prostate cancer is a number of different diseases, the treatments for which remain equally heterogeneous and uncertain. To the pathologist, the histopathological appearances of the tumours are notoriously heterogeneous. Indeed, the genius of Donald Gleason in the 1960s was to devise a classification system designed to take into account the heterogeneity of the tumours both individually and in the whole prostate context. To the cell biologist, a prostate tumour consists of multiple epithelial cell types, inter-mingled with various fibroblasts, neuroendocrine cells, endothelial cells, macrophages and lymphocytes, all of which

interact to influence treatment responses in a patient-specific manner. Finally, genetic analyses of prostate cancers have been compromised by the variable gene rearrangements and paucity of activating mutations observed, even in large numbers of patient tumours with consistent clinical diagnoses and/or outcomes. Research into familial susceptibility has even generated the least tractable outcome of such studies: the genetic loci are of low penetrance and are of course heterogeneous. By fractionating the tumour (and patient-matched nonmalignant tissues) heterogeneity can be resolved, revealing homogeneous markers of patient outcomes.

Keywords

Prostate cancer · Heterogeneity · Epigenetics · Gene expression

Prostate Tumour 'Cells' as a Therapeutic Target

Based on the Gleason histological system devised in the 1960s [1], imperfect conclusions about prostate cancer patient outcome can be made. The treatment of the tumour, despite its frequency, has yet to be optimised. Studies designed to decide the best early stage treatment such as ProTect [2] have provided an indication,

N. J. Maitland (⊠) · F. M. Frame · J. K. Rane H. H. Erb · J. R. Packer · L. K. Archer Cancer Research Unit, Department of Biology, University of York, York, UK e-mail: n.j.maitland@york.ac.uk

D. Pellacani Cancer Research Unit, Department of Biology, University of York, York, UK

Terry Fox Laboratory, BC Cancer Agency, Vancouver, BC, Canada

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

J. S. Rhim et al. (eds.), *Human Cell Transformation*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1164, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-22254-3_16

but with a long time scale required to produce a decision. It is however quite clear from another long-term study by ERSPC [3] that early intervention based on screening for prostate-specific antigen (PSA) can have an impact on death rates, with the enduring risk of over-treatment in the absence of good molecular markers for aggressive disease [4]. However, when primary prostate cancer has escaped from the blockade of male sex hormone responses, the full impact of heterogeneity can be seen. The mean survival times, despite new generation drugs like abiraterone, apalutamide and enzalutamide, designed to manipulate androgen responsiveness [5], and optimised taxane treatments which targets dividing cells [6], remain stubbornly at about 2 years [7]. Indeed, many established treatments from other tumour types have only limited efficacy against advanced castrationresistant prostate cancer (CRPC) [8].

There are few simplistic explanations for this apparent resistance. Prostate cancer has historically been considered to be a slow-growing tumour, yet the cancer cells cycle at about the same rates as those from other tumours. A more likely explanation comes from the observation that prostate cancers seem to have a relatively high intrinsic apoptotic rate: resulting in a net slower increase in tumour bulk and cell numbers [9]. If this is indeed the case, then there is little justification based on slower cell divisions for the observed resistance to drugs like etoposide and docetaxel, which interfere with the processes of genome and cell duplication, respectively.

We are now firmly in the era of novel, targeted therapies for many cancers (including the prostate), where genomic information is rapidly translated into specific reagents such as antibodies and interfering RNA, which can eliminate the activity of particular enzymatic targets. The issue of heterogeneity directly impinges on the use of these targeted reagents. As discussed below, given the degree of polymorphism in man, and the different types of heterogeneity seen in cancers, can one highly targeted drug ever be designed to treat all patients with even a specific grade of a specific cancer?

Cellular Heterogeneities Within a Prostate Cancer

To a generation of cell biologists brought up on established cell lines, which could be exploited in controlled growth conditions to model disease, the sheer heterogeneity of cell phenotypes present within a single cancer can appear rather daunting. Such mixtures of cells are only too familiar to prostate histopathologists, who have successively refined the original Gleason grading scheme [10]. Increasingly multicellular laboratory studies are now revealing the true roles played by the many cell types which affect the behaviour of the primary tumour cells (secretory epithelial cells for an adenocarcinoma-like prostate cancer). The representations in Fig. 1 illustrate the many cell types to be found within the prostatic normal and tumour microenvironments [11].

The fate of the epithelial cells is intimately linked to the presence of the ancillary cells, a situation which is recapitulated when the primary tumour successfully migrates to a primary and secondary metastatic site. Such tumour spread is frequently associated with epithelial to mesenchymal transition, a transitory state in which a frank epithelial morphology, and the gene expression profile of the cancer cells, changes to one resembling a mesenchymal (stem) cell [12]. Under these conditions a further degree of (morphological) heterogeneity is observed within what is essentially the same tumour cell at the genomic level.

One interesting feature of the tumour microenvironment is the extent to which the tumour epithelium defines the phenotype of the ancillary cells, i.e. the development of a tumour is marked by co-evolution of the primary transformed cell (which we presume to be the epithelial cells in prostate), perhaps with genetic and epigenetic changes in the associated mesenchyme [13, 14].



Fig. 1 Multicellular nature of normal and malignant human prostate tissues. (a) Multicellular nature of a normal prostate acinus. (b) Complex multicellular microenvironment of a malignant prostate gland

This hypothesis has resulted in the definition of carcinoma-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) as a discrete cell type which can be isolated from tumour areas. Such cells have a more stem cell-like phenotype, and are capable of inducing a carcinogenic phenotype in benign epithelial cultures from prostate such as BPH1, which usually form non-malignant cystic growths when grafted in combination with fibroblasts from normal areas of the prostate [15, 16]. The mechanism by which the benign cultures become frankly malignant in xenografts is likely to be complex, but there is good evidence to suggest that the TGFbeta signalling axis plays a key role [17].

Tracking Heterogeneity in a Low Mutation Tumour Such as Prostatic Adenocarcinoma

Traditionally cancer has been considered as a process driven by mutation in critical genes, and an increasing frequency of mutation detection as the tumour develops, including the development of resistance to multiple therapies. This certainly seems to be the case with a number of common tumour types such as small cell lung cancer [18], but prostate cancer belongs to a low mutation group [19] (illustrated in Fig. 2). Recent next generation sequencing (NGS) of whole prostate tumour biopsy DNA has confirmed this, while confirming the dogma that later stage cancers (after treatment failures) carry a higher mutagenic burden [20-22] compared to treatmentnaïve tumours. One paradox in this data is the relative prevalence of both IDH1 and TMPRSS2-ERG lesions in early versus late cancers [22]. If the latter develops from the former, then the mutation states should be preserved, as shown in recent genomic sequencing studies of multiply and sequentially biopsied tumours [23, 24]. This is not the case, particularly as IDH1 mutations are undetectable in relapsed cancers [22], which argues either for (1) independent clonal origins for the relapses, probably not correct as specific mutations are shared with the primary tumour, or (2) that IDH1 mutation confers a transient advantage to the early stage cancers, and that the relapse originates in a less mutated progenitor cell, which makes up a small proportion of the original tumour mass.

In terms of cancer cell survival, mutation can be considered as a poor evolutionary step, particularly in a changing microenvironment manipulated by successive treatments. Whilst such non-reversible changes are observed in genes such as androgen receptor (AR) after therapy to block hormone responses in prostate cancers [25], there is increasing evidence that several tumour types achieve treatment resistance and the evolution of a fatal metastatic phenotype by means of epigenetic rather than mutagenic changes. A good recent example is the paucity of 'metastatic' mutations in malignant pancreatic adenocarcinoma, where the tumour evolution is apparently mediated by genomic methylation changes [26].

Cell Fate Decisions in Multicellular Prostate Tissues

Most studies have reflected on the 'oncogenic changes' required to produce the loss of growth and positional control which characterise human



Fig. 2 Prostate cancers contain fewer biologically active mutations than many other common human tumours

cancers, and frequently used available cell lines [27] to define these changes and their downstream effects. As illustrated in Fig. 1, a cancer in man is a complex community of different cell types which can interact with one another in positive and negative ways. However, it is possible to generalise about cellular changes in prostate cancers as shown in Table 1.

When studied at gene expression or genomic level using mixed cell biopsies of tissues, contributions from minor populations are masked, and gene expression from the most transcriptionally active cells (secretory luminal cells), which can be up to three logs higher than in more quiescent cells, dominates most gene expression signatures. Of course, each biopsy (and patient) has variable proportions of the constituent cells which simply produces 'noise' in the final analyses and reduced statistical significance for the various markers. A good example of this was the TCGA attempt using a combination of mutations, DNA methylation (at promoters), copy number alterations, mRNA expression (including gene fusions), microRNA expression and protein expression to cluster mixed cell populations from 333 primary prostate cancers, which left about 26% of tumours unclassifiable even into seven subtypes [22]. Similarly, the expression signature of highly

Table 1 Some essential characteristics of human prostate cancers

	Tumour property (primary prostate cancers)
1	Primary prostate cancers largely consist of replicating cells with an aberrant luminal phenotype (AR+, PSA secreting, changed energy requirements), whereas in normal tissues luminal cells rarely divide
2	Primary cancers have lost more than 99% of basal cells compared to normal prostate, where there is (in man) a contiguous basal layer lining prostatic glands
3	Basement membrane, which provides a barrier between the stromal and epithelial compartments, has all but disappeared in higher grade primary cancers
4	The stromal compartment in cancers has a novel more embryonal phenotype (see above) termed 'reactive stroma'
5	The intratumoural immune cell components, which include both lymphocytes and macrophages, undergo a distinct phenotypic switch

secretory immune cells also contaminates many 'tumour signatures' in blood DNA classifications [28], whilst stromal cell content provides the best indicator of malignancy in many colon cancer biopsy studies [29]. Such empirical findings may be useful in diagnosis, but the lack of a tumour cell component does not help in our *understanding* of key carcinogenic changes.

The one certainty in such analyses of gene expression, when cancer biopsies are compared to normal, is the predominance of luminal cell markers—since there are extremely small numbers of basal cells in prostate cancers. Indeed, the loss of expression of the strongly basal cell marker TP63 is a commonly used diagnostic aid to distinguish benign from malignant prostate disease [30].

The heterogeneity is also frequently ignored when the origins of castration-resistant prostate cancers and the ultimately fatal neuroendocrine form of the disease [31] are posited. In a homogeneous tumour model, there is a requirement for trans-differentiation of the luminal cancer cells into CRPC and NE tumours, which can be readily achieved by selection and treatment of cell lines such as LNCaP [32, 33]. However, the molecular tags of the relatively rare mutations in prostate cancer tells another story. Since it is unlikely that cancers can repair or lose mutations, why as discussed earlier do some mutations in early treatment-naïve cancers fail to make it into the CRPC form in the same cancers? There are a number of mutations (trunk or founder mutations) which are conserved-indicative of a common cellular origin. We have proposed that all prostate cancers contain a population of largely quiescent stemlike or progenitor cells which are resistant to most treatments and provide a mutated reservoir for the emergence of new cancer clones when the posttreatment microenvironment selects for a new variant cell type [34] (Fig. 3). Since many of the experiments are carried out in vitro, it has been argued that this is a cell culture artefact. However in man, an EORTC study [35] from 12 years ago provided strong evidence that the cells which regrow after androgen ablation are pre-existing in the tumour population, by comparing relapse rates in two cohorts of patients, one given imme-

A Plasticity Model



(Location and presence of selective drug) Development of further drug-induced and selected mutations

В

Predictions:

- No pre-existing resistant cells
- Treatment induces or selects for resistant cells
- Mature cancer cell transdifferentiates into mature resistant cancer cells.



Fig. 3 Origins of tumour relapses in prostate cancers. Models are based on trans-differentiation (a) or regeneration from a common cancer stem/progenitor cell (b)

diate anti-androgen receptor drugs, and a second where the treatment was delayed until tumour progression was seen. Realistically, if the treatment is inducing luminal cancer cells to transdifferentiate, then the treated cohort would show higher and faster relapse. This was not observed in the trial—as illustrated in Fig. 4.

Small Non-coding RNAs as Controlling Factors of Gene Expression in Prostate Epithelial Differentiation?

To establish the factors which determine cell phenotype in the prostate, we have developed a fractionation procedure for prostate tissues [36], which enables both purification and ultimate culture of all cell types, with the exception of cultur-

ing both normal and cancer luminal cells. To identify the genes whose expression changes marked the epithelial differentiation process, we employed a pairwise analysis of total gene expression patterns, focusing on benign rather than malignant samples, since the benign epithelium had more consistent expression profiles [37]. We reasoned that genes with a regulatory role would change expression in a regular manner as clusters. The published data [38] revealed that genes showing a co-ordinate regulation during differentiation formed four distinct and non-overlapping sets (Fig. 5). Overall the regulatory networks with the highest significance in the transition from the most primitive stem-like epithelium to basal cells committed to differentiation into luminal cells were generic 'tissue developmental events', but more specifically retinoic acid and ROCK2 signalling. Upon the termi-



Cumulative incidence of and time from study entry (A) to symptomatic progression of hormone refractory disease after immediate or deferred androgen deprivation and (B) to objective progression of hormone refractory disease after immediate or deferred androgen deprivation.

Fig. 4 Similar relapse rates for prostate cancers after immediate and deferred androgen blockade. (a) Shows a selection model where mutations in the AR are induced or

nal differentiation to luminal cells, all gene expression patterns are dominated by androgen signaling. But what controls the switch from the basal compartment (where retinoic acid signalling predominates) to luminal cells? A clue might come from the regulation of prostatic transglutaminase (hPTG), which belongs to one of the dishighly selected compared to a re-differentiation model from a stem-like progenitor. Original trial data showing identical relapse rates (**b**) from Studer et al. [35]

tinct four transcriptional co-regulation groups [39]. In the upstream control sequences of hPTG, as in many other related genes scattered throughout the genome, the binding sites for the retinoic acid receptor (RAR/RXR) are in close apposition on the genome with those for AR. However, the RAR/RXR sites are constitutively occupied in


Fig. 5 Four non-overlapping sets of genes are co-expressed during differentiation of prostate epithelial cells. Data from Rane et al. [38]

the more committed basal cells, but not in the stem cell compartment. In contrast, AR must bind ligand in the cytoplasm before translocating into the nucleus to occupy its binding sites. The relative proportion of occupied binding sites defines the cell fate decision. The provision of activated ligand from retinol for RAR/RXR is likely to come as a paracrine interaction from the stem/progenitor cells which constitutively express both retinol and aldehyde dehydrogenases, but very low receptor levels. These AR-RAR dually regulated genes mark the transition but do not effect it-a function assigned for example to numerous transcription factors, such as a master controller like MYOD in muscle development [40].

But how is the simultaneous activation of transcription factors achieved in prostate? Hormones clearly provide part of the explanation, but in mammalian development, small non-coding RNAs play a central role [41]. To investigate this possibility, we analysed the expression patterns of microRNAs in the fractionated epithelial cell types. As shown in Fig. 6, the highest expression levels were seen in the least differentiated stem/ progenitor cells, with a consistently progressive loss of expression towards the committed basal cells. When compared to other cell-type-specific miRNA expression patterns in online databases, the stem cell pattern most closely matched that from human embryonic stem cells [42].

However, reflecting the prostatic origin of the cells, the benign SC miRNA expression pattern also matched that of total miRNA in castration-resistant prostate cancers [42]. This agrees with a commonly observed SC-like mRNA gene expression pattern seen in CRPC [43]. But can any of these miRNAs act to control the differentiation-regulating transcription factors?

Many algorithms have been developed to identify the genes whose expression is modulated by a specific miRNA. However, these are based on the theoretical presence of miRNA recognition sites within the genome. The application of this analysis will confirm a miRNA target gene, but takes no account of whether the gene in question is expressed either in the target tissue or indeed the cell type of interest within that tissue. A classical example of 'phantom' gene expression control (by miRNA 143/145) was demon-



Fig. 6 Patterns of miRNA expression in fractionated cells from multiple prostate biopsies. Note the overall high levels of miRNA in the SC compartments where the expression profile is most closely related to that found in human embryonic stem cells and total CRPC miRNA pat-

terns of expression. In keeping with the differentiationlinked functions of miRNAs, a principal component analysis was only able to align miRNA content with epithelial cell type, and not prostate pathology (normal, benign or malignant)

strated in mouse colon [44]. To address this, a specialised algorithm, which related actual mRNA expression in the prostate epithelium to the miRNA expression patterns, was applied [45]. This strategy identified miRNA 548-3p as a master controller of the transcription factors implicated in our earlier studies (RXR, VDR, GR, TAZ, SRF, HSF1 from [42]). miRNA 548-3p was consistently overexpressed in the stemprogenitor population but not expressed in the more committed basal cells. When expression was engineered in the committed basal cells, the result was an increase in the stem-like population in cell cultures, based both on increased colony forming (biological) and the upregulated expression of a set of stem/progenitor genes such as CD49b and f (integrins alpha 2 and 6, respectively) [42].

During development of the expression algorithm, the data was also aligned according to gene ontology functions in the differentiating epithelium. The most significant term was DNA repair/radiation resistance, with miR99a/100 as the most relevant miRNA. Previous studies had shown that the radiosensitivity of prostate cell lines (DU145 > PC3 > 22RV1 > LNCaP) was inversely related to the expression of miR99a/100. We had also demonstrated that the stem-like population displayed a markedly higher resistance to ionising radiation [38], and showed that this was a consequence of the highly condensed nature of the chromatin in the SC. The induction of increased stemness by introduction of miR548-3p into CB cells also resulted in an increased radiation resistance in the population. This aligned well with online data, which associated

endogenous miR548-3p expression in patients' tumours with a poorer prognosis for prostate cancer patients [42].

In a similar manner, when the lower expression of miR99a/100 in SC was engineered by introduction of miR inhibitors into the CB populations and various established prostate cell lines, an increased cell survival, assayed by colony forming activity, was observed. In this case, there was no accompanying change in the differentiated state of the cells (as seen with miR548-3p) assayed by a lack of expression of stem cell (NFkappaB, ID2, PROM1, SOX2) or EMT (VIM, CHDH1, FN1) markers. Systematic elimination of potential miR99a/100 target genes, based on our algorithm of prostate epithelial mRNA expression patterns, then identified two SMARC genes (A5 and D1), which had already been assigned a role in DNA damage repair, where their core function was to affect chromatin condensation levels, and to recruit BRCA1 and RAD51 DNA damage repair proteins to radiation-induced lesions [46]. In keeping with a cytoprotective property, upregulation of these SMARC genes was seen within 3 min of prostate epithelial cell irradiation.

There is also evidence that cytoprotection can be enhanced by glucocorticoids (GC), and when SMARC levels were quantified after dexamethasone treatment, they were also upregulated by GC. Whilst this provided a mechanistic proof, it also implies a potential controversy in the treatment of prostate cancer patients, where glucocorticoids are historically given to improve patient well-being. This implies that the addition of GC to a treatment protocol for radiotherapy would be likely to compromise the effectiveness of the treatment. To test this hypothesis, we used the GC response inhibitor mifepristone which resulted in an increased sensitivity to radiotherapy, whilst downregulating SMARC expression [46]. Thus an understanding of the basic biology of miRNA epigenetic control of cellular differentiation, using fractionated cells from patient biopsies, could ultimately influence prostate cancer treatment in patients.

Methylation of CpG Sites Distal from 'CpG Islands' as a Genomic Control of Differentiation and Carcinogenesis in the Prostate

As discussed earlier, prostate cancers have a particularly low rate of carcinogenic mutations. Recent studies of pancreatic cancers (which have an inherently higher mutagenic rate than PCa) showed that epigenetic changes such as differential genomic methylation could define the transition from organ confined to malignant cancers [26]. The ability of methylation-editing enzymes to change global methylation of CpG and other susceptible sites has also played a role in mammalian tissue differentiation [47]. In earlier comparisons of focused methylation within the promoters of target genes, we showed that the epigenetic modifications in established cell lines formed a distinct cluster, separate from that in primary cell cultures, and independent of pathology [48, 49].

To analyse cell-specific methylation patterns, freshly disaggregated tissues were fractionated as previously described to generate a basal fraction, a luminal cell fraction and stromal cells (as shown in Fig. 8a). Using the relatively conserved tissues from BPH [37], rather than cancers, we had already shown that even in primary cultures, distinctive and functional changes in gene expression were induced in vitro (Fig. 7b). However, such changes were limited, compared to those seen in a total gene expression comparison between multiple primary epithelial cell cultures, and benign (BPH1) or malignant (PC3) prostate epithelial cell lines (Fig. 7c).

After DNA purification from homogeneous cell fractions (of <1000 cells), assayed by both RT-PCR and FACS for cancer and differentiation markers (see Table 2), each DNA extract was divided, and one half was subjected to bisulphite conversion before sequencing of both cell populations [50].

Hierarchical clustering analysis was carried out on four matched human normal:cancer (defined as a patient with a majority of Gleason Grade 4 pathology in the biopsy) pairs of samples



Fig. 7 Fractionation strategy for primary human prostate tissues. Multiple biopsy strategy and fractionation from radical prostatectomy tissues. (a) Gene expression changes (b) induced in benign prostate epithelial cell cul-

(i.e. 6 cell populations resulting in 12 datasets per patient). Some samples from patient 4 were lost during processing and only those with a high purity were processed.

tures, relative to tissues—data from Rane et al. [42]. (c) Gene expression differences between cell lines and primary cell cultures of prostate epithelial cells (unpublished data from Leanne Archer)

Initial hierarchical clustering of the patients based on their different CpG methylation profiles revealed an enhanced ability to distinguish between patients, regardless of pathology. In any



Fig. 8 Epigenetic segregation of normal and malignant tissues after cell fractionation to establish homogeneous patterns of genomic methylation. Gene ontology differences derived from CpG methylation measurements of fractionated cells from a single patient (**a**). Values for each transition refer to the number of DMRs which vary between each cell population. Clustering analysis of differentially methylated sequences using data from TCGA

can distinguish cancer from normal cells with high efficiency (**b**). Application of the DMR data can also segregate malignant from organ-confined prostate cancers (TCGA data) independently of the gleason grade of the original cancer (**c**). (**d**/**e**) A 17 locus signature can be generated to distinguish normal from cancer tissues based solely on the pattern of DMRs. Data taken from Pellacani et al. [50]

Cell type	Selection markers	Phenotype markers (RNA)	Phenotype markers (protein)
Normal basal cells	EPCAM+/CD24-/ CD49f+	KRT5/14+; TP63+ ITGA6+/ECAM+	CK5/14++
Normal luminal cells	EPCAM+/CD24+/ CD49f-	KRT8+/CD24+ EPCAM+	AR++/CK8+
Normal stromal cells	EPCAM-/CD24-/ CD49f-	VIM+	VIM+/AR+
Cancer basal cells	EPCAM+/CD24-/ CD49f+	AMACR+/KRT5/14+;TP63+/- ITGA6+/ECAM+	CK5+: CK14+
Cancer luminal cells	EPCAM+/CD24+/ CD49f-	AMACR++/KRT8+; ECAM+	AR++, CK8+
Cancer stromal cells	EPCAM-/CD24-/ CD49f-	VIM+	AR+

 Table 2
 Selection and phenotype monitoring of cell fractions from fresh human prostate tissues

multipatient study therefore, this signature could mask the underlying pathogenic-related changes. Secondly, once individual signatures were removed, a strong cell-type-specific methylation pattern emerged. This could clearly distinguish stromal from both epithelial populations, where signatures were closely related. When the epithelial comparisons were made within each patient (an example of which is shown in Fig. 8a), linking the methylated CpG to adjacent genes and their functions, a number of gene ontology terms emerged as significant. Most changes were concerned with basal to luminal differentiation processes, which was the original aim of the study. For example, differentially methylated regions (DMRs) in a comparison of luminal and basal cells from normal prostate epithelium enriched for more than 500 terms. The hypermethylated set of gene ontology (GO) terms included many linked to prostate development or epithelial stem cell regulation. The hypomethylated DMRs were enriched for completely distinct GO terms principally related to androgen receptor signalling and responses to cytokines.

Unlike many previous studies which focussed on the previously determined 'CpG islands' clustered close to gene transcriptional start sites [51], we found that the most significantly altered sites were located at genomic locations more than half of which fell *outside* of known CpG islands, shores or shelves, and >70% were >5 kb distant from annotated transcriptional start sites. Thus, the differentially hypermethylated regions were enriched at loci previously defined as enhancers

which were defined by three characteristic properties within the genomic sequence databases such as ENCODE: (1) evolutionary conservation of sequence and location relative to the gene whose expression is under enhancer control; (2) binding sites for known transcription factors defined by chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP); (3) the presence of 'open' chromatin delineated by DNAaseI hypersensitivity. The principal hypomethylated loci included extragenic repetitive sequences such as LINE and LTR, but not SINE repetitions. For example, hypermethylated enhancers were highly enriched for TFBSs of TP63, TP53 and NF1, and hypomethylated DMRs for FOXA1, p65-NFkB and GATA3. A reassuring differential methylation was also seen for two well-established 'epigenetically controlled' genes GSTP1 and CCDC8, although this was characteristic of a basal to luminal change rather than a cancer-specific hypermethylation, within 5 kB of the published transcriptional start sites, i.e. aligned as before with promoters rather than enhancers [52].

It was clear from the data that, at the level of CpG methylation, there were relatively few cancer-specific methylation changes between the basal cell compartments of normal and malignant tissues (Fig. 8a). However, in the luminal compartment, the differentially methylated enhancer sequences detected were enriched for those affecting the expression of genes from the PRC2 complex such as EZH2 and SUZ12, previously shown to be overexpressed in prostate cancer [53, 54], and the appropriate gene ontology terms such as

metabolic processes, epithelial development and most notably cell proliferation. This agrees with the major physiological change between normal and cancer luminal cells: normal luminal cells are terminally differentiated and rarely divide, whereas the luminal-like cells in prostate cancers are characterised by uncontrolled cell division.

Because the dataset included patient-matched normal:cancer samples, after further elimination of cell-type-specific changes, we were able to assess cancer-specific changes in the different cell phenotypes on a patient-by-patient basis. However, it should be noted that many of these were also present in a comparison of cancer luminal and cancer basal cells (differentiation)-the cancer significance was emphasised by the absence of such changes in a normal luminalnormal basal comparison. Since luminal cells were the principal constituent of the cancer epithelial populations, we next sought to identify cancer-specific methylation sites in comparisons of normal and malignant luminal cells. The elimination of the approximately 50% basal cell content from the 'normal' samples ensured that we did not rediscover any new upregulated AR stimulated luminal markers in these comparisons.

Since our original discovery sample number was low [50], we sought to apply the cancer luminal signature to a larger number of cancers from The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) database which contains 50 PCa samples with matched normal counterparts, 452 additional PCa samples without normal counterparts and 1 metastatic PCa sample. Unfortunately the TCGA data was generated with older array technology, so the sequence data was converted to 100 bp bins, to align the two data sources. In the TCGA database, 255 array probes overlapped the 1472 DMRs we showed by sequencing to be differentially methylated in the cancer luminal to normal luminal comparison. When used to analyse the matched pairs in TCGA, the differentially methylated regions distinguished 50 cancers from matched patient normal tissues with close to 100% efficiency (TPR = 0.92, TNR = 0.92, Chisquared test *p*-value = 2.4×10^{-16}) as shown in Fig. 8b (taken from [50]).

Using this reasoning, since we had eliminated normal elements, the same analysis was carried

out with all 553 cancer samples in the TCGA dataset, resulting in a similar outcome, with one cluster highly enriched in normal samples (Chisquared test *p*-value = 1.7×10^{-39}). Intriguingly, this clustering also appeared to divide the PCa samples into two main groups, according to their CpG methylation differences from the normal samples. Exclusive analysis of the cancer samples confirmed this clustering pattern and showed that one cluster was significantly enriched for samples with extra-prostatic extensions (pT3 or pT4 in the TNM classification, with a Chi-squared test *p*-value <0.005) in the absence of any significant differences in Gleason score (Chi-squared test *p*-value >0.1) (Fig. 8c).

The requirement to use an extensive panel of differentially methylated regions (DMRs) to achieve classification is probably an indicator of the multifactorial and diverse mechanisms required to achieve cancer cell malignancy. However, using as few as 17 DMRs we were able to differentiate cancer from normal luminal cell in data from mixed cell biopsies in TCGA with a 92% effectiveness (Fig. 8d, e), indicating that further more selective analysis could result in an epigenetic differentiation of the elusive 'tiger' prostate cancers which require immediate aggressive treatment from the 'pussycats', which are best treated by continuous monitoring rather than invasive oncological procedures. Since this was achieved in routine biopsies of intra-prostatic early stage disease, it implies that the fate of a prostate cancer is programmed into its genome, not by mutation but by epigenetic means at a relatively early stage, and that 'grade progression' to a more malignant state may exist [55], but is probably relatively rare [56].

Is Epigenetic Change the Smart Reaction to Changing Microenvironments in Prostate Cancers?

Our primary aims in this research were to dissect potential epigenetic mechanisms of gene expression control, and to distinguish the changes related to cellular differentiation, from those with a mechanistic importance in carcinogenic change. In contrast to most other studies, our target materials were cells taken directly from prostate cancer patients, employing the ultimate control: cells of the same lineages from normal regions of the same patients' prostates. We had previously shown a distinct difference in the histone modification profiles, related to chromatin condensation in different cell populations, which could mark more undifferentiated cells. However, these chromatin marks were largely independent of the pathology in the prostate. On a primary screen, the same was largely true for global changes in miRNA expression: which were first identified as differentiation-linked epigenetic controls [57]. However, as shown above, a number of cancerspecific changes were related to DNA damage and repair by extracting actual gene expression levels, and matching these to the inverse of changes in miRNA in the same cell populations. Both the ability of miR534 (overexpressed in the prostate SC population) to preserve a stem-like state which was resistant to radiation treatment and the radio-protective activity of low levels of miR99a/100 via the activation of SMARCs provide a rationale for the survival of a stem-like population after patient radiotherapy. The deleterious effects of glucocorticoid administration, which is clinically acceptable, may have to be reconsidered based on their ability to similarly activate SMARCs.

The overall higher levels of miRNA expression and the existence of 'poised' or bivalent chromatin in the stem-like cells argue for an epithelial population within both normal and cancer populations which is capable of rapid reaction to a change in microenvironment, after cancer treatment for example. The emergence of a stem-like miRNA signature in the CD133+/a2b1 high/ CD44+ population, based on homology with not only human embryonic stem cells but also and surprisingly CRPC tissues, indicates that advanced prostate cancers retain this flexibility, which can only be enhanced by the increased frequency of mutations in DNA damage repair genes in CRPC. The epigenetic ability to rapidly switch phenotype to a treatment resistant cell type, which permits establishment of permanent resistance after subsequent mutation and selection, is entirely consistent with the development of drug resistance in advanced prostate cancers. Since more cells contain the stem-like miRNA pattern in the most advanced cancers, then the possibilities for resistant development are increased as the tumour successively escapes from treatments. This would be consistent with a trans-differentiation model in CRPC drug resistance, whereas the lower content of stem-like cells in treatment-naïve tumours would argue for a stem/progenitor origin of the resistant population.

Conclusion

Prostate cancers are multicellular and complex in composition. In scientific attempts to simplify analysis, we have adopted a reductionist approach, using established and wellcharacterised cell lines. It is clear that with current comprehensive gene expression analyses, these basic cell line tools, established for more than 40 years in the laboratory, no longer represent the detail in the actual tumours. The more we push their relevance to drug response and tumourigenesis, the more apparent this becomes, i.e. apart from well-characterised hormone responses, translation from lab to bedside has been only moderately successful, and has not extended lifespans for more than a few months in most cases.

In fact, the mere act of primary culture induces epigenetic changes which alter the expression of key genes, even in benign prostate tissues, which show much less inter-patient variability compared to cancers [37]. Recent attempts to classify prostate cancers according to clinical outcome on the basis of both genomic and transcriptome changes have disappointed, even when biopsies of tumour tissues were available. For example, the most comprehensive TCGA survey [22] between a quarter and a third of all cancers was 'unclassified' even after multiparametric analysis.

The data we have presented in this article argues that there is an inherent 'patient-specific' pattern of variation, shown here at the epigenetic CpG methylation level. On top of this there is the cellular composition variation between tumours, not only at the level of epithelial cell types but also the degree of stromal cell and immune cell content between patients. This cannot be truly represented, even in mouse models of the disease, unless we can break heterogeneity, by subfractionating fresh tumours into their component parts. Since most TCGA data has been generated from mixed cell populations, there is now a strong argument in favour of adopting a single cell (or small homogeneous cell number) approach to all new tumour cell analyses, in order to make genomics truly relevant for clinical application.

Acknowledgements The authors wish to thank all members of the York CRU in recent years for their obvious or unconscious support in the preparation of this review. The underpinning research was funded by Yorkshire Cancer Research (NJM-Y257PA), York against Cancer (JRP), Prostate Cancer UK (Innovation Award RIA15-ST2-022(FMF) and Studentship S13-016 (LKA)), Charity Soul, with the major contributions from The Freemasons of the Province of Yorkshire (North and East Ridings), The Masonic Samaritan Fund (DP) and the EU Marie Curie ProNEST Network (JKR). Finally, we wish to acknowledge the generosity of the many prostate cancer patients and their families who donated tissues under our ethical protocol for research purposes.

References

- Gleason, D. F. (1966). Classification of prostatic carcinomas. *Cancer Chemotherapy Reports. Part 1*, 50(3), 125–128.
- Hamdy, F. C., Donovan, J. L., Lane, J. A., Mason, M., Metcalfe, C., Holding, P., et al. (2016). 10-year outcomes after monitoring, surgery, or radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer. *The New England Journal* of Medicine, 375(15), 1415–1424.
- Schröder, F. H., Hugosson, J., Roobol, M. J., Tammela, T. L. J., Ciatto, S., Nelen, V., et al. (2009). Screening and prostate-cancer mortality in a randomized European study. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 360(13), 1320–1328.
- Klotz, L. (2013). Prostate cancer overdiagnosis and overtreatment. *Current Opinion in Endocrinology & Diabetes and Obesity*, 20(3), 204–209.
- Crawford, E. D., Schellhammer, P. F., McLeod, D. G., Moul, J. W., Higano, C. S., Shore, N., et al. (2018). Androgen receptor targeted treatments of prostate cancer: 35 years of progress with antiandrogens. *The Journal of Urology*, 200(5), 956–966.

- Morse, D. L., Gray, H., Payne, C. M., & Gillies, R. J. (2005). Docetaxel induces cell death through mitotic catastrophe in human breast cancer cells. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 4(10), 1495–1504.
- Tannock, I. F., de Wit, R., Berry, W. R., Horti, J., Pluzanska, A., Chi, K. N., et al. (2004). Docetaxel plus prednisone or mitoxantrone plus prednisone for advanced prostate cancer. *The New England Journal* of Medicine, 351(15), 1502–1512.
- Caubet, M., Dobi, E., Pozet, A., Almotlak, H., Montcuquet, P., Maurina, T., et al. (2015). Carboplatin-etoposide combination chemotherapy in metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer: A retrospective study. *Molecular and Clinical Oncology*, *3*(6), 1208–1212.
- Werahera, P. N., Glode, L. M., La Rosa, F. G., Lucia, M. S., Crawford, E. D., Easterday, K., et al. (2011). Proliferative tumor doubling times of prostatic carcinoma. *Prostate Cancer*, 2011(5), 301850–301857.
- Epstein, J. I., Zelefsky, M. J., Sjoberg, D. D., Nelson, J. B., Egevad, L., Magi-Galluzzi, C., et al. (2016). A contemporary prostate cancer grading system: A validated alternative to the Gleason score. *European Urology*, 69(3), 428–435.
- Packer, J. R., & Maitland, N. J. (2016). The molecular and cellular origin of human prostate cancer. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 1863(6 Pt A), 1238–1260.
- Lamouille, S., Xu, J., & Derynck, R. (2014). Molecular mechanisms of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *Nature Reviews. Molecular Cell Biology*, 15(3), 178–196.
- Macintosh, C. A., Stower, M., Reid, N., & Maitland, N. J. (1998). Precise microdissection of human prostate cancers reveals genotypic heterogeneity. *Cancer Research*, 58(1), 23–28.
- Hall, J. A., Maitland, N. J., Stower, M., & Lang, S. H. (2002). Primary prostate stromal cells modulate the morphology and migration of primary prostate epithelial cells in type 1 collagen gels. *Cancer Research*, 62(1), 58–62.
- Olumi, A. F., Grossfeld, G. D., Hayward, S. W., Carroll, P. R., Tlsty, T. D., & Cunha, G. R. (1999). Carcinoma-associated fibroblasts direct tumor progression of initiated human prostatic epithelium. *Cancer Research*, 59(19), 5002–5011.
- Hayward, S. W., Wang, Y., Cao, M., Hom, Y. K., Zhang, B., Grossfeld, G. D., et al. (2001). Malignant transformation in a nontumorigenic human prostatic epithelial cell line. *Cancer Research*, 61(22), 8135–8142.
- Basanta, D., Strand, D. W., Lukner, R. B., Franco, O. E., Cliffel, D. E., Ayala, G. E., et al. (2009). The role of transforming growth factor--mediated tumorstroma interactions in prostate cancer progression: An integrative approach. *Cancer Research*, 69(17), 7111–7120.
- Jamal-Hanjani, M., Wilson, G. A., McGranahan, N., Birkbak, N. J., Watkins, T. B. K., Veeriah, S., et al. (2017). Tracking the evolution of non-small-cell

lung cancer. The New England Journal of Medicine, 376(22), 2109–2121.

- Williams, M. J., Werner, B., Barnes, C. P., Graham, T. A., & Sottoriva, A. (2016). Identification of neutral tumor evolution across cancer types. *Nature Genetics*, 48(3), 1–9.
- Robinson, D., Van Allen, E. M., Wu, Y.-M., Schultz, N., Lonigro, R. J., Mosquera, J. M., et al. (2015). Integrative clinical genomics of advanced prostate cancer. *Cell*, *161*(5), 1215–1228.
- Taylor, B. S., Schultz, N., Hieronymus, H., Gopalan, A., Xiao, Y., Carver, B. S., et al. (2010). Integrative genomic profiling of human prostate cancer. *Cancer Cell*, 18(1), 11–22.
- Abeshouse, A., Ahn, J., Akbani, R., Ally, A., Amin, S., et al. (2015). The molecular taxonomy of primary prostate cancer. *Cell*, *163*(4), 1011–1025.
- 23. Cooper, C. S., Eeles, R., Wedge, D. C., Van Loo, P., Gundem, G., Alexandrov, L. B., et al. (2015). Analysis of the genetic phylogeny of multifocal prostate cancer identifies multiple independent clonal expansions in neoplastic and morphologically normal prostate tissue. *Nature Genetics*, 47(4), 1–9.
- Beltran, H., Prandi, D., Mosquera, J. M., Benelli, M., Puca, L., Cyrta, J., et al. (2016). Divergent clonal evolution of castration-resistant neuroendocrine prostate cancer. *Nature Medicine*, 22(3), 298–305.
- Wyatt, A. W., & Gleave, M. E. (2015). Targeting the adaptive molecular landscape of castration-resistant prostate cancer. *EMBO Molecular Medicine*, 7(7), 878–894.
- McDonald, O. G., Li, X., Saunders, T., Tryggvadottir, R., Mentch, S. J., Warmoes, M. O., et al. (2017). Epigenomic reprogramming during pancreatic cancer progression links anabolic glucose metabolism to distant metastasis. *Nature Genetics*, 49(3), 367–376.
- 27. Adamson, R. E., Frazier, A. A., Evans, H., Chambers, K. F., Schenk, E., Essand, M., Birnie, R., Mitry, R. R., Dhawan, A., & Maitland, N. J. (2012). In vitro primary cell culture as a physiologically relevant method for preclinical testing of human oncolytic adenovirus. *Human Gene Therapy*, 23(2), 218–230.
- Olmos, D., Brewer, D., Clark, J., Danila, D. C., Parker, C., Attard, G., et al. (2012). Prognostic value of blood mRNA expression signatures in castration-resistant prostate cancer: A prospective, two-stage study. *The Lancet Oncology*, *13*(11), 1114–1124.
- 29. Dunne, P. D., McArt, D. G., Bradley, C. A., O'Reilly, P. G., Barrett, H. L., Cummins, R., et al. (2016). Challenging the Cancer molecular stratification dogma: Intratumoral heterogeneity undermines consensus molecular subtypes and potential diagnostic value in colorectal cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 22(16), 4095–4104.
- 30. Shah, R. B., Kunju, L. P., Shen, R., LeBlanc, M., Zhou, M., & Rubin, M. A. (2004). Usefulness of basal cell cocktail (34betaE12 + p63) in the diagnosis of atypical prostate glandular proliferations. *American Journal of Clinical Pathology*, *122*(4), 517–523.

- Abrahamsson, P. A. (1999). Neuroendocrine differentiation and hormone-refractory prostate cancer. *The Prostate*, 39(2), 135–148.
- Yuan, T. C. (2006). Androgen deprivation induces human prostate epithelial neuroendocrine differentiation of androgen-sensitive LNCaP cells. *Endocrine-Related Cancer*, 13(1), 151–167.
- 33. Li, Y., Donmez, N., Sahinalp, C., Xie, N., Wang, Y., Xue, H., et al. (2017). SRRM4 drives neuroendocrine transdifferentiation of prostate adenocarcinoma under androgen receptor pathway inhibition. *European Urology*, 71(1), 68–78.
- 34. Maitland, N. J., Frame, F. M., Polson, E. S., Lewis, J. L., & Collins, A. T. (2011). Prostate cancer stem cells: Do they have a basal or luminal phenotype? *Hormones and Cancer*, 2(1), 47–61.
- 35. Studer, U. E., Whelan, P., Albrecht, W., Casselman, J., de Reijke, T., Hauri, D., et al. (2006). Immediate or deferred androgen deprivation for patients with prostate cancer not suitable for local treatment with curative intent: European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC) trial 30891. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 24(12), 1868–1876.
- Frame, F. M., Pellacani, D., Collins, A. T., & Maitland, N. J. (2016). Harvesting human prostate tissue material and culturing primary prostate epithelial cells. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, 1443(2), 181–201.
- 37. Birnie, R., Bryce, S. D., Roome, C., Dussupt, V., Droop, A., et al. (2008). Gene expression profiling of human prostate cancer stem cells reveals a proinflammatory phenotype and the importance of extracellular matrix interactions. *Genome Biology*, 9(5), R83.
- Rane, J. K., Droop, A. P., Pellacani, D., Polson, E. S., Simms, M. S., Collins, A. T., et al. (2014). Conserved two-step regulatory mechanism of human epithelial differentiation. *Stem Cell Reports*, 2(2), 180–188.
- 39. Rivera-Gonzalez, G. C., Droop, A. P., Rippon, H. J., Tiemann, K., Pellacani, D., Georgopoulos, L. J., et al. (2012). Retinoic acid and androgen receptors combine to achieve tissue specific control of human prostatic transglutaminase expression: A novel regulatory network with broader significance. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 40(11), 4825–4840.
- Tapscott, S. J. (2005). The circuitry of a master switch: Myod and the regulation of skeletal muscle gene transcription. *Development*, 132(12), 2685–2695.
- Neilson, J. R., Zheng, G. X. Y., Burge, C. B., & Sharp, P. A. (2007). Dynamic regulation of miRNA expression in ordered stages of cellular development. *Genes* & *Development*, 21(5), 578–589.
- 42. Rane, J. K., Scaravilli, M., Ylipää, A., Pellacani, D., Mann, V. M., Simms, M. S., et al. (2015). MicroRNA expression profile of primary prostate cancer stem cells as a source of biomarkers and therapeutic targets. *European Urology*, 67(1), 7–10.
- Liu, C., Kelnar, K., Vlassov, A. V., Brown, D., Wang, J., & Tang, D. G. (2012). Distinct microRNA expression profiles in prostate Cancer stem/progenitor cells

and tumor-suppressive functions of let-7. *Cancer Research*, 72(13), 3393–3404.

- 44. Chivukula, R. R., Shi, G., Acharya, A., Mills, E. W., Zeitels, L. R., Anandam, J. L., et al. (2014). An essential mesenchymal function for miR-143/145 in intestinal epithelial regeneration. *Cell*, 157(5), 1104–1116.
- 45. Rane, J. K., Ylipää, A., Adamson, R., Mann, V. M., Simms, M. S., Collins, A. T., et al. (2015). Construction of therapeutically relevant human prostate epithelial fate map by utilising miRNA and mRNA microarray expression data. *British Journal of Cancer*, 113(4), 611–615.
- 46. Frame, F. M., Pellacani, D., Collins, A. T., Simms, M. S., Mann, V. M., Jones, G. D. D., et al. (2013). HDAC inhibitor confers radiosensitivity to prostate stem-like cells. *British Journal of Cancer*, 109(12), 3023–3033.
- 47. Dansranjavin, T., Krehl, S., Mueller, T., Mueller, L. P., Schmoll, H.-J., & Dammann, R. H. (2009). The role of promoter CpG methylation in the epigenetic control of stem cell related genes during differentiation. *Cell Cycle*, 8(6), 916–924.
- Pellacani, D., Packer, R. J., Frame, F. M., Oldridge, E. E., Berry, P. A., Labarthe, M.-C., et al. (2011). Regulation of the stem cell marker CD133 is independent of promoter hypermethylation in human epithelial differentiation and cancer. *Molecular Cancer*, *10*(1), 94.
- 49. Pellacani, D., Kestoras, D., Droop, A. P., Frame, F. M., Berry, P. A., Lawrence, M. G., et al. (2014). DNA hypermethylation in prostate cancer is a consequence of aberrant epithelial differentiation and hyperproliferation. *Cell Death and Differentiation*, 21(5), 761–773.

- Pellacani, D., Droop, A. P., Frame, F. M., Simms, M. S., Mann, V. M., Collins, A. T., et al. (2018). Phenotypeindependent DNA methylation changes in prostate cancer. *British Journal of Cancer*, *119*(9), 1133–1143. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41416-018-0236-1.
- 51. Arechederra, M., Daian, F., Yim, A., Bazai, S. K., Richelme, S., Dono, R., et al. (2018). Hypermethylation of gene body CpG islands predicts high dosage of functional oncogenes in liver cancer. *Nature Communications*, 9(1), 3164.
- 52. Simmonds, P., Loomis, E., & Curry, E. (2017). DNA methylation-based chromatin compartments and ChIP-seq profiles reveal transcriptional drivers of prostate carcinogenesis. *Genome Medicine*, 9(1), 54.
- Jain, P., & Di Croce, L. (2016). Mutations and deletions of PRC2 in prostate cancer. *BioEssays*, 38(5), 446–454.
- Deb, G., Thakur, V. S., & Gupta, S. (2013). Multifaceted role of EZH2 in breast and prostate tumorigenesis: Epigenetics and beyond. *Epigenetics*, 8(5), 464–476.
- 55. Sowalsky, A. G., Ye, H., Bubley, G. J., & Balk, S. P. (2013). Clonal progression of prostate cancers from Gleason grade 3 to grade 4. *Cancer Research*, 73(3), 1050–1055.
- Penney, K. L., Stampfer, M. J., Jahn, J. L., Sinnott, J. A., Flavin, R., Rider, J. R., et al. (2013). Gleason grade progression is uncommon. *Cancer Research*, 73(16), 5163–5168.
- Wienholds, E., & Plasterk, R. H. A. (2005). MicroRNA function in animal development. *FEBS Letters*, 579(26), 5911–5922.



Small Molecule Inhibition of Glycogen Synthase Kinase-3 in Cancer Immunotherapy

Alison Taylor and Christopher E. Rudd

Abstract

Immune checkpoint blockade (ICB) has proved successful in the immunotherapeutic treatment of various human cancers. Despite its success, most patients are still not cured while immunogenic cold cancers are still poorly responsive. There is a need for novel clinical interventions in immunotherapy, either alone or in conjunction with ICB. Here, we outline our recent discovery that the intracellular signaling kinase glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3) is a central regulator of PD-1 in T-cells. We demonstrate the application of small molecule inhibitor (SMI) approaches to down-regulate PD-1 in tumor immunotherapy. GSK-3 SMIs were found as effective as anti-PD-1 in the elimination of melanoma in mouse models. We propose the development of novel SMIs to target co-receptors for the future of immunotherapy.

A. Taylor

Division of Haematology and Immunology, Leeds Institute of Medical Research, Leeds, UK

C. E. Rudd (🖂)

Division of Immunology-Oncology Research Center, Maisonneuve-Rosemont Hospital, Montreal, QC, Canada e-mail: christopher.e.rudd@umontreal.ca

Keywords

T-cells · Glycogen synthase kinase-3 · Immunotherapy · PD-1

Introduction

The past years has seen exciting progress in the application of "immune checkpoint inhibitors" (ICI) to treat various human cancers [1–3]. Monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) are used to block the engagement of negative co-receptors such as programmed cell death-1 (PD-1) and cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTLA-4) with their natural ligands. Despite this success, most patients are not cured while certain weakly immunogenic cancers are poorly responsive. The present shortage of actionable therapeutic targets and the poor prognosis for patients highlight a need for evaluating novel clinical interventions.

The co-receptor programmed cell death 1 (PD-1; also known as PDCD1) is a member of the B7 gene family that negatively regulates T-cell function [4–6]. The co-receptor binds to ligands, programmed cell death ligand 1 and 2 (PD-L1/L2) which is expressed on lymphoid and non-lymphoid cells [7–9]. PD-1 is an activation antigen and contributes to the exhaustion of CD8⁺ T-cells during chronic infections, autoimmunity, and cancer [10, 11]. In this context, immune checkpoint blockade with anti-PD-1 or anti-PD-L1 has proven successful in the treatment of

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

J. S. Rhim et al. (eds.), *Human Cell Transformation*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1164, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-22254-3_17

human cancers, either alone or in combination with anti-CTLA-4 [12, 13]. The blockade of PD-1 or PD-L1 restores T-cell functionality in various in vivo models [14], while PD-1 expression on tumor-infiltrating CD8⁺ T-cells correlates with impaired effector cell function [5, 15]. PD-L1 expression on tumors can facilitate escape from the host immune system [6] and can serve as a prognostic factor [16].

The nature of the intracellular signaling pathways that regulate PD-1 expression on T-cells has been the subject of much interest. Pdcd1 expression can be positively and negatively regulated by different transcription factors such as nuclear factor of activated T-cells (NFAT), Forkhead box protein O1 (FoxO1), Notch, activator protein 1 (AP1), and Blimp1 (B-lymphocyte maturation protein 1) [17-20]. Despite this, the identity of the upstream signaling event(s) that control PD-1 expression has been unclear. We and others previously showed that T-cells are activated by protein-tyrosine kinases p56^{lck} and ZAP-70 [21, 22]. p56^{lck} binds to co-receptors CD4 and CD8 [23–25] and phosphorylates immune receptor activation motifs (ITAMs) needed for ZAP-70 recruitment to the TCR-CD3 complex [21, 24, 26]. By contrast, glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3) is a serine/threonine kinase that is active in resting T-cells and becomes inactivated with T-cell activation [27, 28]. Differentially regulated isoforms of GSK-3 α and β differ in their N- and C-terminal sequences and can influence pathways initiated by diverse stimuli. The inactivation of GSK-3 can be mediated by several upstream kinases including protein kinase B (PKB/AKT). In CD4+ T-cells, GSK-3 promotes the exit of NFAT from the nucleus [29, 30]. TCR and CD28 ligation phosphorylates and inactivates GSK-3 [31-33], enhancing T-cell proliferation [31]. This engagement of PKB/AKT and GSK-3 in T-cells operates independently of the guanine nucleotide exchange factor VAV-1 [32]. Clinical trials using GSK-3 inhibitors have been undertaken in the treatment of type II diabetes and various neurological disorders [28, 34, 35].

Recently, we reported that the inactivation of GSK- $3\alpha/\beta$ with small interfering RNAs (siRNAs)

and drug inhibitors specifically down-regulate PD-1 expression for enhanced CD8⁺ CTL function and clearance of viral infections [36]. The approach has introduced the possibility that small molecule inhibitors (SMIs) of GSK-3 may be effective in the downregulation of PD-1 in the treatment of cancer. Here and in recent publications [37, 38], we show that SMIs of GSK-3 are as effective as anti-PD-1 in the control of B16 melanoma and EL4 lymphoma growth in mice. Our findings demonstrate the successful application of a GSK-3 inhibitor for the downregulation of PD-1 on T-cells in cancer immunotherapy.

Materials and Methods

Mice and Cells

C57BL/6 mice were used alongside OT-1 Tg mice. Spleen cells were treated with a hypotonic buffer with 0.15 M NH4CL, 10 mM KHCO3, and 0.1 mM EDTA, pH 7.2 to eliminate red blood cells before suspension in RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 10% FCS, 50 μ M beta-mercaptoethanol, sodium pyruvate, 2 mM L-glutamine, 100 U/mL penicillin, and strepto-mycin (GIBCO). B16F10 melanoma and EL4 lymphoma cells were cultured in DMEM medium that was supplemented as above. All mouse experiments were approved by the Home Office UK (PPL No. 70/7544).

Antibodies/Reagents

The following antibodies were used in experiments: Anti-CD3 (2C11), anti-PD-1 (CD279, J43), anti-granzyme B, and anti-T-bet (Abcam plc); anti-GSK- $3\alpha/\beta$, CD279 (clone EH12.2H7) coupled FITC and mouse IgG1 FITC control (Biolegend); conjugated antibodies, anti-CD8 α (clone, 53–6.7), anti-CD4 (clone, RM4–5), CD44, CD62L, CD25, and CD69 (eBioscience); GSK3 inhibitors SB415286 3-(3-chloro-4-hydroxyphenylamino)-4-(2-nitrophenyl)-1H-pyrrole-2,5-dione and AZ1080 (Abcam plc); OVA₂₅₇₋₂₆₄ peptide (Bachem Ag).

Flow Cytometry

Flow cytometry of antibody staining of surface receptors was conducted by suspending 10^6 cells in 100 µL PBS and adding antibody (1:100) for 2 h at 4 °C. Cells were then washed twice in PBS and in some cases suspended in 100 µL PBS with secondary antibody for a further 1 h at 4 °C. Cell staining was analyzed on a BD FACS Calibur flow cytometer and by FlowJo software. For intracellular staining, cells were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA), permeabilized with 0.3% saponin (Sigma–Aldrich) and stained with the desired antibody in saponin-containing PBS for 2 h at 4 °C, followed by a secondary Ab incubation where primary antibodies were not conjugated.

Quantitative Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)

Single-strand cDNA was synthesized with an RT-PCR kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Reverse transcription was performed using the RNA polymerase chain reaction (PCR) core kit (Applied Biosystems). Quantitative real-time PCR used SYBR green technology (Roche) on cDNA generated from the reverse transcription of purified RNA. After preamplification (95 °C for 2 min), the PCRs were amplified for 40 cycles (95 °C for 15 s and 60 °C for 60 s) in a sequence detection system (PE Prism 7000; Perkin-Elmer Applied Biosystems). The exponential phase, linear phase, and plateau phase of PCR amplification were carefully monitored to ensure a measurement of realtime transcription (33). mRNA expression was normalized against GAPDH expression using the standard curve method. PD-1-FW, 5-CCGCCTTCTGTAATGGTTTGA-3; PD-1-RV, 5-GGGCAGCTGTATGATCTGGAA-3; T-bet-FW, 5-GATCGTCCTGCAGTCTCTCC-3; T-bet-RW, 5-AACTGTGTTCCCGAGGT GTC-3; GAPDH-FW, 5-CAACAGCAACTCCCACTC TTC-3; GAPDH-RW, 5-GGTCCAGGGTT TCTTACTCCTT-3.

Melanoma Lung Tumor Establishment in Wild Type Mice

B16 melanoma cells (2×10^5 taken from the log phase of in vitro growth, OVA peptide pulsed or non-pulsed) were transferred intravenously into syngeneic C57BL/6 male mice of 10–12 weeks old. The lungs were removed 14 days after the transfer, and visible metastatic colonies on the lungs were counted.

Isolation of Tumor Infiltrating Lymphocytes (TILs)

Solid tumors or nodules from lungs were harvested from mice at the time indicated. Tissue was disrupted using a blade and then incubated in HBSS solution containing 200 units/mL of collagenase at 37 °C for 2 h. Tissue was then passed through a strainer and cells collected and layered onto ficoll before centrifugation. Tumor infiltrating cells were then collected from the lymphocyte layer.

Statistical Analysis

The mean and SE of each treatment group were calculated for all experiments. The number of samples is indicated in the figure legends. Unpaired Student's *t* tests or ANOVA tests were performed using the InStat 3.0 software (GraphPad). In certain instances, statistics were done using 2-way ANOVA, or by non-parametric Mann Whitney at each time point. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001.



Fig. 1 GSK-3 inhibition, anti-PD-1, and combination therapy have identical effects in inhibiting pulmonary metastasis of B16 melanoma. (a) Schematic representation of treatment regime (left upper panel). Histogram showing the number of lung spots per animal with or without the described treatment (right panel), photograph below shows one example of each group (n = 6; number of

Results

GSK-3 Inhibits the Growth of Intravenous and Intradermal Injected Tumors

To assess whether the downregulation of PD-1 by GSK-3 inhibition was effective in limiting tumor growth, B16 tumor cells were injected intravenously into C57BL/6 mice with the GSK-3 inhibitor SB415286 and/or anti–PD-1 (Fig. 1a). The optimal dose of SB415286 and anti–PD-1 established in this model was 200 μ g and 100 μ g/injection/mouse, respectively. The SMI or antibody was administered following the regime depicted in Fig. 1a, followed by a harvest of lungs on day 14 and the numbers of B16 nodules assessed. Treatment with the GSK-3 inhibitor SB415286

mice: >24). (b) Quantitative real-time PCR of PD-1 and T-bet transcription of splenic T-cells from animals used in (a). (c) Flow cytometric profiles of PD-1 expression for T-cells isolated from spleen, draining lymph nodes (dLNs) and tumor infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) (data representative of six samples). (d) % of CD8⁺ tumor infiltrating cells expressing granzyme B as determined by flow cytometry (n = 6); **P < 0.001

reduced the number of B16 spots from a mean of 145-60 (i.e., >55% inhibition). This effect was comparable with anti-PD-1, which showed a mean of 70 spots (i.e., >50% inhibition). Furthermore, the combination of SB415286 and anti-PD-1 had the same effect as SB415286 and anti–PD-1 individually (n = 6). GSK-3 inhibition reduced Pdcd1(PD-1) transcription in T-cells from isolated spleen of tumor-bearing mice (i.e., 3.7–0.8), concurrent with an increase in Tbx21(T-bet) transcription (i.e., 1.6–4.2; Fig. 1b). Flow cytometry confirmed that a GSK-3 SMI reduces PD-1 expression on T-cells from the tumor [i.e., tumor infiltrating lymphocytes (TIL), spleen, and draining lymph nodes] (Fig. 1c). Concurrent with reduced tumor growth, SB415286 treatment increased the percent of CD8+ TILs expressing CD107a⁺ (Lamp1) and granzyme B (GZMB; i.e.,



Fig. 2 Effects of GSK-3 inhibition and anti-PD-1 in a B16 lung model presenting OVA peptide. OT-1 Tg mice were injected with 2×10^5 B16-OVA intravenously, followed by intra-peritoneal injection of either PBS or SB415286, and lungs were analyzed on day 14. (a)

Histogram showing the effects of SB415286, anti-PD-1, and combinations on the numbers of melanoma spots on lungs. Upper inset: photograph of an example of nodules on lungs. (b) qPCR analysis of extracted spleen T-cells confirmed a marked decrease in PD-1 expression (left panel) concurrent with increased T-bet (right panel)

mean % of 14–23), indicative of an increased presence of CD8⁺ killer T-cells in the tumor mass (Fig. 1d). These data showed that the downregulation of PD-1 with a SMI of GSK-3 can be as effective as anti–PD-1 in the control of B16 pulmonary metastasis in mice.

In a related model, we compared the effects of GSK-3 inhibition versus anti-PD-1 on the presence of lung nodules using B16 cells presenting OVA peptide, in OT-1 Tg mice [39] (Fig. 2a). OT-1 Tg mice were injected with 2×10^5 B16-OVA intravenously, followed by intra-peritoneal injection of either PBS or SB415286, and lungs were analyzed on day 14. SB415286 injection resulted in a decrease in the number of B16 nodules from a mean of 42 for untreated controls to 1–4 spots in drug-treated mice (i.e., >90% reduction) (Fig. 2a; also see upper inset). Anti-PD-1 also reduced the number of nodules from 41 to a mean of 17 in treated mice. The combination of SB415286 and anti-PD-1 reduced the number of nodules to that seen using SB415286 alone. In this regime, GSK-3 inhibition appeared more effective than anti-PD-1 treatment. qPCR analysis of extracted spleen T-cells confirmed a marked decrease in PD-1 expression concurrent with increased T-bet (right panels). These data showed that GSK-3 inhibition by SMIs can be as effective as anti-PD-1 in the control of B16 tumor cell growth.

To further assess whether GSK-3 inhibition elicited its effect primarily via its ability to inhibit PD-1 expression, we compared the ability of $GSK-3\alpha/\beta$ conditional knockout mice versus PD-1-deficient mice (Pdcd1-/-) to control B16 tumor growth. GSK- $3\alpha/\beta$ conditional knockout ($GSK-3\alpha/\beta-/-$) mice were generated from GSK-3 alpha flox/flox/beta flox/flox mice crossed with Lck Cre⁺ mice resulting in mice in which T-cells were devoid of both GSK-3alpha and beta. $GSK-3\alpha/\beta-/-$ versus Pdcd1-/- mice showed the same control of the growth of B16 tumor cells (Fig. 3). Each mouse strain showed that same reduction in the number of B16 nodules as assessed on lungs (i.e., from 110 nodules to <10 in both sets of mice). Further, the injection of SB415286, or another GSK-3 inhibitor AZD1080, in *Pdcd1*-/- mice had no additional effect in reducing the number of nodules (Fig. 3a, upper inset). Likewise, the injection of anti-PD-1 had no further effect on the number of nodules in *GSK-3a*/ β -/- mice (Fig. 3b, upper inset). These data show the efficacy of GSK-3 inhibition in the promotion of T-cell responses for the elimination of tumors.

Discussion

Immune checkpoint blockade with anti-PD-1 or anti-PD-L1 has proven to be a highly promising treatment of human cancers, either alone or in

Fig. 3 Gsk-3-/- and Pdcd1-/- mice show similar resistance to tumor growth. (a) *GSK-3\alpha/\beta –/– and (b)* Pdcd-/- mice show an identical ability to control the pulmonary metastasis and growth of the B16 melanoma cells. (n = 3; number of mice:5 mice). Upper inset: a more focussed view of tumor nodules in mice. *P < 0.05; **P < 0.001;ns no significant difference relative to controls



combination with other reagents such as anti-CTLA-4 [5, 12, 13]. We have shown that the kinase GSK-3 is a central regulator of PD-1 expression [36] and that the GSK-3 inhibitor SB415286 is as effective as anti-PD-1 in limiting cancer growth [37]. Overall, we show that (i) GSK-3 inhibitor down-regulated PD-1 expression, (ii) SB415286 and anti-PD-1 had similar effects in the control of tumor growth, (iii) GSK-3 inhibitors had no further inhibition of tumor growth in *Pdcd1*-/- mice, and anti-PD-1 failed to reduce B16 pulmonary metastasis in GSK-3 α / β -/- mice. This observation further supports the notion that GSK-3 inhibition operated to limit tumor growth primarily via the downregulation of anti-PD-1. Since the mice conditionally deleted GSK- $3\alpha/\beta$ -/- in T-cells (i.e., Lck-cre), this result indicated that GSK-3 in the immune system was responsible for the anti-tumor phenotype in mice.

Overall, we have identified a novel pathway that controls the expression of PD-1 in T-cells. The pathway involves GSK-3 inhibition leading to increased T-bet expression followed by its binding and inhibition of *pccd1* transcription and PD-1 expression (Fig. 4). There are potential advantages and disadvantages to the use of GSK-3 inhibitor relative to anti-PD-1 ICB. Anti-PD-1 involves high cost and adverse





Fig. 4 Model of GSK-3-T-bet-PD-1 Pathway. Model of the novel pathway that controls the expression of PD-1 in T-cells. The pathway involves GSK-3 inhibition leading to increased T-bet expression followed by its binding and inhibition of *Pdcd1* transcription and PD-1 expression

effects such as fatigue, rash, and possible autoimmune complications. To date, we have seen no evidence of autoimmunity in the GSK- $3\alpha/\beta$ -/mice over 2 years. The advantage of GSK-3 inhibition includes more accurate dosing, lower cost, and the potential of oral administration. The potential disadvantage of GSK-3 inactivation is a possible effect on the function of other host cells or the tumor itself. However, lithium chloride, an inhibitor of GSK-3, has been used for decades for the treatment of bipolar disease. Further, the suppression of GSK-3 has been reported to directly inhibit the growth of multiple myeloma, neuroblastoma, hepatoma, and prostate tumors [40-44]. It is therefore possible that GSK-3 inhibitors might have an added advantage by directly inhibiting the growth of some tumors in addition to an enhancing effect on the immune system. The use of GSK-3 inhibitors could possibly bypass the impaired proximal TCR signaling events [45, 46]. Further work is needed to uncover the full range of down-stream effects that may be regulated by GSK-3 regulation in anti-tumor immunity.

Acknowledgements C.E.R. was supported by Wellcome Trust 092627/Z/10/Z, and CER and AT were supported by CRUK grant A20105. We thank Dr. Jim Woodgett, Lunenfeld-Tanenbaum Research Institute, Mount Sinai Hospital, Toronto, for the heterozygotes of the GSK- $3\alpha/\beta$ conditional knockout mice. PD-1-deficient mice (*Pdcd1-/-*) were a kind gift of Prof. T. Honjo, Kyoto University Faculty of Medicine, Japan.

References

- Page, D. B., et al. (2014). Immune modulation in cancer with antibodies. *Annual Review of Medicine*, 65, 185–202.
- Pentcheva-Hoang, T., et al. (2014). Cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen-4 blockade enhances antitumor immunity by stimulating melanoma-specific T-cell motility. *Cancer Immunology Research*, 2(10), 970–980.
- Sharma, P., et al. (2011). Novel cancer immunotherapy agents with survival benefit: Recent successes and next steps. *Nature Reviews. Cancer*, 11(11), 805–812.
- Schildberg, F. A., et al. (2016). Coinhibitory pathways in the B7-CD28 ligand-receptor family. *Immunity*, 44(5), 955–972.

- Baumeister, S. H., et al. (2016). Coinhibitory pathways in immunotherapy for cancer. *Annual Review of Immunology*, 34, 539–573.
- Iwai, Y., et al. (2002). Involvement of PD-L1 on tumor cells in the escape from host immune system and tumor immunotherapy by PD-L1 blockade. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 99(19), 12293–12297.
- Freeman, G. J., et al. (2000). Engagement of the PD-1 immunoinhibitory receptor by a novel B7 family member leads to negative regulation of lymphocyte activation. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 192(7), 1027–1034.
- Okazaki, T., Iwai, Y., & Honjo, T. (2002). New regulatory co-receptors: Inducible co-stimulator and PD-1. *Current Opinion in Immunology*, 14(6), 779–782.
- Latchman, Y., et al. (2001). PD-L2 is a second ligand for PD-1 and inhibits T cell activation. *Nature Immunology*, 2(3), 261–268.
- Barber, D. L., et al. (2006). Restoring function in exhausted CD8 T cells during chronic viral infection. *Nature*, 439(7077), 682–687.
- Day, C. L., et al. (2006). PD-1 expression on HIVspecific T cells is associated with T-cell exhaustion and disease progression. *Nature*, 443(7109), 350–354.
- Topalian, S. L., et al. (2012). Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 366(26), 2443–2454.
- Wolchok, J. D., et al. (2013). Nivolumab plus ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 369(2), 122–133.
- Wherry, E. J., et al. (2007). Molecular signature of CD8+ T cell exhaustion during chronic viral infection. *Immunity*, 27(4), 670–684.
- Ahmadzadeh, M., et al. (2009). Tumor antigenspecific CD8 T cells infiltrating the tumor express high levels of PD-1 and are functionally impaired. *Blood*, 114(8), 1537–1544.
- Ghebeh, H., et al. (2006). The B7-H1 (PD-L1) T lymphocyte-inhibitory molecule is expressed in breast cancer patients with infiltrating ductal carcinoma: Correlation with important high-risk prognostic factors. *Neoplasia*, 8(3), 190–198.
- Staron, M. M., et al. (2014). The transcription factor FoxO1 sustains expression of the inhibitory receptor PD-1 and survival of antiviral CD8(+) T cells during chronic infection. *Immunity*, 41(5), 802–814.
- Oestreich, K. J., et al. (2008). NFATc1 regulates PD-1 expression upon T cell activation. *Journal of Immunology*, 181(7), 4832–4839.
- Mathieu, M., et al. (2013). Notch signaling regulates PD-1 expression during CD8(+) T-cell activation. *Immunology and Cell Biology*, 91(1), 82–88.
- Xiao, G., et al. (2012). Activator protein 1 suppresses antitumor T-cell function via the induction of programmed death 1. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 109(38), 15419–15424.

- Weiss, A., & Littman, D. R. (1994). Signal transduction by lymphocyte antigen receptors. *Cell*, 76(2), 263–274.
- 22. Rudd, C. E. (1999). Adaptors and molecular scaffolds in immune cell signaling. *Cell*, *96*(1), 5–8.
- 23. Rudd, C. E., et al. (1988). The CD4 receptor is complexed in detergent lysates to a protein-tyrosine kinase (pp58) from human T lymphocytes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 85(14), 5190–5194.
- 24. Barber, E. K., et al. (1989). The CD4 and CD8 antigens are coupled to a protein-tyrosine kinase (p56lck) that phosphorylates the CD3 complex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America, 86(9), 3277–3281.
- Veillette, A., et al. (1989). Signal transduction through the CD4 receptor involves the activation of the internal membrane tyrosine-protein kinase p56lck. *Nature*, 338(6212), 257–259.
- Chan, A. C., et al. (1992). ZAP-70: A 70 kd proteintyrosine kinase that associates with the TCR zeta chain. *Cell*, 71(4), 649–662.
- 27. Woodgett, J. R. (1990). Molecular cloning and expression of glycogen synthase kinase-3/factor A. *The EMBO Journal*, *9*(8), 2431–2438.
- Cohen, P., & Frame, S. (2001). The renaissance of GSK3. *Nature Reviews. Molecular Cell Biology*, 2(10), 769–776.
- Beals, C. R., et al. (1997). Nuclear export of NF-ATc enhanced by glycogen synthase kinase-3. *Science*, 275, 1930–1934.
- Neal, J. W., & Clipstone, N. A. (2001). Glycogen synthase kinase-3 inhibits the DNA binding activity of NFATc. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276, 3666–3673.
- Ohteki, T., et al. (2000). Negative regulation of T cell proliferation and interleukin 2 production by the serine threonine kinase GSK-3. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 192(1), 99–104.
- Wood, J. E., Schneider, H., & Rudd, C. E. (2006). TcR and TcR-CD28 engagement of protein kinase B (PKB/AKT) and glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3) operates independently of guanine nucleotide exchange factor VAV-1. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281(43), 32385–32394.
- 33. Appleman, L. J., et al. (2002). CD28 costimulation mediates down-regulation of p27kip1 and cell cycle progression by activation of the PI3K/PKB signaling pathway in primary human T cells. *Journal of Immunology*, 168(6), 2729–2736.
- 34. Jope, R. S., & Roh, M. S. (2006). Glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK3) in psychiatric diseases and therapeutic interventions. *Current Drug Targets*, 7(11), 1421–1434.
- Mazanetz, M. P., & Fischer, P. M. (2007). Untangling tau hyperphosphorylation in drug design for neurodegenerative diseases. *Nature Reviews. Drug Discovery*, 6(6), 464–479.
- Taylor, A., et al. (2016). Glycogen synthase kinase 3 inactivation drives T-bet-mediated downregulation of

co-receptor PD-1 to enhance CD8(+) cytolytic T cell responses. *Immunity*, 44(2), 274–286.

- Taylor, A., Rothstein, D., & Rudd, C. E. (2018). Small molecule inhibition of PD-1 transcription is an effective alternative to antibody blockade in cancer therapy. *Cancer Research*, 78, 706–717.
- Taylor, A., & Rudd, C. E. (2017). Glycogen synthase kinase 3 inactivation compensates for the lack of CD28 in the priming of CD8+ cytotoxic T-cells: Implications for anti-PD-1 immunotherapy. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *8*, 1653.
- Aranda, F., et al. (2011). Adjuvant combination and antigen targeting as a strategy to induce polyfunctional and high-avidity T-cell responses against poorly immunogenic tumors. *Cancer Research*, 71(9), 3214–3224.
- Zhu, Q., et al. (2011). Suppression of glycogen synthase kinase 3 activity reduces tumor growth of prostate cancer in vivo. *Prostate*, 71(8), 835–845.
- Klein, P. S., & Melton, D. A. (1996). A molecular mechanism for the effect of lithium on development.

Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 93(16), 8455–8459.

- Piazza, F., et al. (2010). Glycogen synthase kinase-3 regulates multiple myeloma cell growth and bortezomib-induced cell death. *BMC Cancer*, 10, 526.
- Dickey, A., et al. (2011). GSK-3beta inhibition promotes cell death, apoptosis, and in vivo tumor growth delay in neuroblastoma Neuro-2A cell line. *Journal of Neuro-Oncology*, 104(1), 145–153.
- 44. Beurel, E., et al. (2009). Glycogen synthase kinase-3 inhibitors augment TRAIL-induced apoptotic death in human hepatoma cells. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 77(1), 54–65.
- Finke, J. H., et al. (1993). Loss of T-cell receptor zeta chain and p56lck in T-cells infiltrating human renal cell carcinoma. *Cancer Research*, 53(23), 5613–5616.
- 46. Rayman, P., et al. (2000). Tumor-induced dysfunction in interleukin-2 production and interleukin-2 receptor signaling: A mechanism of immune escape. *The Cancer Journal from Scientific American*, 6(Suppl 1), S81–S87.

Index

A

AA prostate cancer cell culture, 102, 104 characterization, AA-103B, 103 classification, 102 CRC conditions, 103 CR technology, 103 cytogenetic analysis, 105 epithelial cells, 103 expression levels, 106 feeder cells, 103, 106 gene expression, 102 K-SFM, 102 molecular characterization, 104, 105 molecular mechanism, 102 molecular signaling, 102 prostatectomy specimens, 103 quantitative RT-PCR, 105 STR analysis, 104 testosterone levels, 102 trypsinization techniques, 103 tumorigenicity, 106, 107 Acetaldehyde, 74-78, 80 Acetaminophen (APAP), 76 Acinar-to-ductal metaplasia (ADM), 5 Activate oncogenes suppressor, 123 Activator protein-1 (AP-1), 74 Acute myeloid leukemia (AML), 183 Adenocarcinoma-like prostate cancer, 208 AdoMet. 185 African-American (AA), 102 See also AA prostate cancer African American PCa cancer transcriptome, 120 and EA, 120 ectopic treatment, 121 epigenetics, 121 **GWAS**, 120 miRNAs, 120, 121 PTEN deletions, 120 SNPs, 120 TMPRSS2-ERG gene fusions, 120 Age-standardized rates (ASR), 14-16

Akata cells, 17 AKT pathway, 20 Alcohol dehydrogenase (ADH), 76 Alcohol-related carcinogenesis co-morbidity factors, 74 CYP2E1, 76-78 extra-hepatic tissues, 78 P450 isoforms, 78-79 risk factors, 74, 75 translational research, 80 Aldehydes, 75 Alternative splicing (AS) and cancer, 123-125 cis-regulatory sequences, 122 events in PCa, 128 hnRNP, 123 mechanism, 121 PCa. 119. 125-129 PIK3CD, 129-133 pre-mRNA, 119 protein isoforms, 121 spliceosome, 122, 123 splicing events, 121, 122 SREs. 122 SRSF, 123 trans-acting RBPs, 123 Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), 125 Ancillary cells, 208 Androgen deprivation therapy (ADT), 158, 202, 203 Androgen receptor (AR), 102, 125, 126, 210 Animal models, 24 Ankyrin repeat protein, 64, 69 Anti-androgen receptor drugs, 212 Anti-apoptotic activity, 64 Anti-cancer drugs, 199 Anti-cancer therapeutic strategy, 185 Antioxidant enzymes, 75 Antioxidants, 80 Antisense oligonucleotides (ASOs), 124 Apoptotic cell death, 188 Aryl hydrocarbons (AHs), 78 Asian cancer, 13, 15-17

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019 J. S. Rhim et al. (eds.), *Human Cell Transformation*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1164, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-22254-3

B

BAX-binding protein Bif-1, 126 B-cell-related cancer, 16 Bcl-x, 126 Benign prostatic hyperplasia (BPH), 110 Biomarkers Ly6 gene (see Ly6 gene family) Blood alcohol concentration (BAC), 76 Blood-based metabolite profiling, 142 Bone aging (see Skeleton aging) classification, 153 osteoblast regulation, 155, 156 osteoclast and osteoblast lineage, 154 osteoclast regulation, 155 PBM, 156 quality loss, 156 remodeling, 155 skeletal homeostasis, 155 Bone homeostasis, 167 Bone marrow, 172 Bone mineral density (BMD), 157 Bone morphogenic protein 4 (BMP-4), 204 Bone remodeling, 155 Brain metastasis, 173 Breast cancer (BC) development blocking monoclonal antibody, 170 Cre+ mT/mG mouse model, 171-173 definition, 170 heterogeneous disease, 170 immunohistochemical analysis, 170 metastasis bone, 172-174 brain, 173, 174 MMTV-neu BC mouse model, 171 MMTV-PyMT mouse model, 171 pre-clinical and clinical studies, 171 Pthlh gene, 171 PTHrP, 170, 171 PyMT PTHrPflox/flox, 171-173 TNBC, 170 Burkitt lymphoma, 16, 17

С

Calcium-sensing receptor (CaSR), 171, 172 Cancer CYP2E1, 76–78 diagnosis and prognosis, 184–185 and DNA hypomethylation, 180 P450 isoforms, 78–79 and radiation-induced DNA hypomethylation, 182 in tissues, 74 Cancer-associated inflammation, 77 Cancer-causing mutations, 77 Cancer cell survival, 210 Cancer disparities, 119, 120 *PIK3CD*, 129–133 The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA), 123, 130, 220 Cancer metastasis, 172 Cancer-related genes transcriptional activation, 182 Cancer stem cells (CSCs), 40, 41, 43 definition, 200 and DNA hypomethylation, 183, 184 dormant and slow-cycling, 201 functional assays, 200 PCSCs, 201 semantic, 201 Cancer testis antigens (CTA), 184 Canonical TATA promoters, 162 Carbon tetrachloride (CCL4)-exposed models, 77 Carcinoma NPC (see Nasopharyngeal carcinoma (NPC)) Carcinoma-associated fibroblasts (CAFs), 209 Caspase-9, 124 Castration-resistant and metastatic prostate cancer, 110 Castration-resistant prostate cancer (CRPC), 202, 203, 208, 211, 214, 215, 221 Caucasian-American (CA), 102 CD4⁺ T-cells, 226 CD8+ T-cells, 226 CDC-like kinases (CLKs), 123 Cell Analysis Toolbox (CAT) software, 113 Cell-based immunization protocols, 25 Cell behaviour, 112, 114 Cell cycle, 202 Cell fate decisions, 210-214 Cell lines, 16, 17, 19-22, 24, 27 Cell models primary prostate epithelial cells, 111, 112 OPI, 111-115 Cell motility, 36 Cell-of-origin, 201, 203 Cell-penetrating peptides (CPPs), 165 Cellular heterogeneities, 110, 111, 199, 200, 208, 209 Cellular plasticity, 8 and EMT-MET, 5-6 Chemotherapeutic agents, 188 Chimeric antigen receptors (CAR), 25 Chlormethiazole (CMZ), 77 Chromatin remodeling epigenetic control, 42 Feulgen-DNA, 42 MCF10F. 43 SCID mice, 36, 42 SFRP1, 42, 43 significant changes, textural parameters, 42 TGF-β acting, 42 Chronic alcohol ingestion, 75 Chronic excessive alcohol intake, 75 Chronic inflammation, 77 Chronic myeloid leukemia (CML), 182, 184 Circulating tumor cells (CTCs), 8 Clinical target volume (CTV), 143 CLK1 gene, 127 Cluster of differentiation 44-positive (CD44+), 201 Colony-forming ability, 112 Combined bisulfite restriction analysis (COBRA) PCR assay, 184

Committed basal cells (CB), 112 Complementary DNA (cDNA), 162 Complete EMT (C-EMT), 8 Conditionally reprogrammed cells (CRCs), 95, 97 Conditional reprogramming (CR), 103, 116 feeder cells, 95-97 ROCK inhibitor, 95-97 Cortical bone, 153 CpG islands, 179, 216-220 CpGs, 179, 180, 185 CRISPR-Cas9 technologies, 24 Cyclic 3', 5'-adenosine monophosphate (cAMP), 164 Cyclin D1 (CCDN1), 127 CYP2E1 endogenous substrates, 76 extra-hepatic tissues, 78 multiple regulations, 76-78 synthetic chemical inhibitors, 80 Cyp2e1-null mice, 78 Cytogenetic analysis, 105 Cytokeratin 18 (CK18), 40 Cytokines, 25 Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen 4 (CTLA-4), 25, 225

D

DC-based vaccine, 25 Decitabine, 189 Dendritic cells (DCs), 25 Deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA), 18 Dietary habits, 18 Dietary insufficiency, 180, 181 Dietary supplements, 80 Diethylnitrosamine (DEN), 65, 76 Differential AS (dAS) events, 129 Differentially methylated regions (DMRs), 219, 220 Digital rectal examination (DRE), 143 Dihydrotestosterone (DHT), 158 Dimethylnitrosamine (DMN), 76 Disseminated tumor cells (DTCs), 200 DNA hypermethylation, 180 DNA hypomethylation activation of repetitive elements, 182 anti-cancer therapeutic strategy, 185 and cancer, 180 and CSCs, 183, 184 diagnosis and prognosis of cancer, 184-185 dietary insufficiency, 180, 181 environmental stressors, 182 epigenetic factors and modifiers, 181 erasers, 181 genomic instability, 182, 183 methyl group metabolism, 180, 181 prometastatic genes, 185 radiation-induced DNA hypomethylation, 182 SAM (see S-adenosylmethionine (SAM)) transcriptional activation, cancer-related genes, 182 writers, 181 DNA methylation distribution and pattern, 179

hypermethylation, 180 hypomethylation (see DNA hypomethylation) mammalian organisms, 179 methyl (-CH3) groups, 179 pattern changes, 180 DNA methyltransferase (DNMT), 179, 181, 188 DNA mutations, 78-81 inflammatory injury, 79 DNA purification, 216 DNA repair/radiation resistance, 215 Dnmt-deficient mice, 181 Docetaxel, 113 Docosahexaenoic acid (DHA), 80 Doxorubicin, 188 Drug-induced liver injury (DILI), 77 Drug resistance, 125, 127, 130 Drug treatment assays, 112 Dual specificity phosphatase 1 (DUSP1), 186 Dual X-ray absorptiometry (DXA), 157 Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD), 125 Dynamically tracking circulating tumor cells (CTCs), 202

E

E006AA cell line, 93 Early growth response-1 (Egr-1) activation, 74 Ear Nose and Throat (ENT) departments, 12 EBV-encoded RNA (EBER), 16, 17 EBV-specific cytotoxic T-lymphocytes (EBV-CTLs), 27 E-CADHERIN (E-CAD), 5 Ectopic treatment, 121 EMT-transcription factors (EMT-TFs), 7 ENCODE, 219 Endoplasmic reticulum (ER), 76 EORTC study, 211 EpCAM, 42, 43 Epigenetics, 218, 220, 221 aberrations, 183 abnormality, 180 DNA hypomethylation, 180 factors and modifiers, 181 modification, 181 regulation, 156 signatures, 184 Epigenome-wide association studies (EWAS), 182, 186, 189 Epithelial cells, 16, 17, 19, 208 CR (see Conditional reprogramming (CR)) HPE (see Human primary epithelial (HPE) cells) propagation and immortalization, 96 prostate cancer (see Prostate cancer) RC-77N/E and RC-77T/E, 93 by telomerase, 92–93 Epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT), 42, 43 drug-resistant, 5 and exosomes, 6-7 EMT-MET and cellular plasticity, 5, 6 epigenetic and post-transcriptional regulators, 7-8 intermediate or hybrid states, 5

Epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) (cont.) mesenchymal characteristics, 5 pathway, 188 transcription factors, 5 Epithelial populations, 219 Epstein Barr virus (EBV), 14, 16-17 Erasers of methylation, 181 17B-estradiol (E2) caMCF. 37 cell motility, 36 estrogen receptor, 37, 39 HBEC, 36 human breast epithelial cells, 35, 36 MCF-10F cells, 36 ovarian steroid, 35 oxidative stress, 39 phenotypic and genomic changes, 37 transformation, MCF-10F cells, 37 treatment, 35 tumorigenesis, 35 tumorigenic cells, 37 Ethanol-exposed animal models, 75 Ethanol-induced CYP2E1, 76 Ethanol-mediated carcinogenesis mechanisms, 74-75 Etheno-DNA adduct, 74, 77 Exosomes, 6-7 Extracellular matrix (ECM), 187 Extra-hepatic tissues, 78 Extrinsic factors, 77

F

Feeder cells, 95–97 Fibroblast growth factor receptor (FGFR) 2, 126 Flow-assisted cell sorting (FACS), 201 Flow cytometry, 227, 228 Fluorescence ubiquitination cell-cycle indicator (FUCCI), 202 Fractionation strategy, 217

G

Gankyrin ankyrin repeats, 64, 69 anti-apoptotic activity, 64 anti-gankyrin agents, 68, 69 cell proliferation, 68 forced expression, 64 myeloid and epithelial cells, 66 overexpress, 65 p28 component, 64 p53-dependent pro-apoptotic genes, 64 parenchymal and non-parenchymal cells, 65-67 promising therapeutic target, 67, 68 PSMD10, 64 RB tumor suppressor pathway, 64, 65 RB ubiquitylation rate, 64 regulating cell cycle, 64 19S regulator, 64

tumor microenvironment, 65, 69 tumor suppressors (see Tumor suppressors) Gene expression, 123, 216 and genomic level, 211 profile, 208 signatures, 211 small non-coding RNAs, 212-216 Gene ontology (GO), 219 Gene therapy chemotherapy, 64 radiotherapy, 64 Genetically engineered mouse models (GEMMs), 4, 5 Genome-wide association studies (GWAS), 120, 171 Genome wide data analysis, 50 Genomic instability, 182, 183 Global hypomethylation, 180 GLOBOCAN cancer, 12 Glucocorticoids (GC), 216 Glutathione (GSH), 74, 75 Glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3) antibodies/reagents, 226 CD4+ T-cells, 226 clinical trials, 226 downregulation, PD-1, 226 flow cytometry, 227 inactivation, 226 inhibition, 228-230 melanoma lung tumor, 227 mice and cells, 226 qRT-PCR, 227 serine/threonine kinase, 226 SMIs, 226 statistical analysis, 227 T-bet-PD-1 pathway, 231 T-cells, 226 TILs, isolation, 227 wild type mice, 227 Green fluorescent protein (GFP), 172 GUMC-29 and GUMC-30 cells, 97, 98 Gut-liver axis. 80

H

HAGE gene, 184 Hanging drop method, 20 Head and neck squamous cancers, 26 Health disparities, 119, 120 Hematopoietic stem cell (HSC), 154 Hematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) staining, 13 Henrietta Lacks (HeLa) cells, 95 Hepatitis B virus X protein (HBX), 65 Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), 63, 183 gankyrin, 64 molecular mechanism, 64 resistant, 63 Heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein particle (hnRNP), 123 High-dose rate (HDR) brachytherapy, 142 High-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), 180

High-resolution peripheral quantitative computed tomography (HR-pQCT), 156 High-risk HPVs, 97 Histone modifications, 181 Hodgkin lymphoma, 16 HPV-16, 95 HPV-16 E6E7, 93 HPV-18, 95 HPV-mediated cell immortalization, 97 HSD17B4 gene, 127 Human A549 lung cancer cells, 188 Human breast epithelial cells E_2 (see 17 β -estradiol (E_2)) Human leucocyte antigen (HLA), 17 Human primary epithelial (HPE) cells, 92, 93, 95, 98 Human PTHrP gene (PTHLH), 162 Human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT), 92, 93, 95, 97, 98 Human xenograft, 24 Humoral hypercalcemia of malignancy (HHM), 161, 167 Hybrid epithelial and mesenchymal phenotypes, 5-6 Hypomethylation-mediated activation, 182

I

IDH1 mutations, 210 IL-6 signaling pathway, 188 Immunomodulatory molecules-derived mRNA, 25 Immunotherapy, 14 GSK-3 (see Glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3)) NPC cancer treatment, 25-26 cancer vaccines, 26 clinical trials, 27 concepts, 24 EBV-CTLs, 27 head and neck squamous cancers, 26 IMRT, 26 KRYNOTE-028 study, 26 nivolumab, 26 pembrolizumab, 26 preclinical investigation, 24, 25 radio-chemotherapy, 26 radiotherapy, 26 toxicities, 26 treatment options, 26 Inactivate tumor suppressor, 123 Indole derivatives, 125 Induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cells, 95 Inflammation, 75, 77-80 Inflammation-derived DNA lesions, 77 In situ hybridization (ISH), 16 Instability-facial anomalies (ICF) syndrome, 181 Intensity-modulated radiation therapy (IMRT), 14, 26, 142 Interleukin-10 (IL-10), 190 Interleukin-6 (IL-6), 190 International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC), 74 In vitro models, 92, 93, 95, 98

CSC

EpCAM, 43 evaluation, 41 properties, 41, 43 EMT 17-beta-estradiol, 36, 37, 39 bcMCF, 42, 43 caMCF, 42 EpCAM, 42 expression, HMGA2, 42, 43 markers and promoting genes, 37–39 process, 40 In vivo models, 93

J

Jansen's metaphyseal chondrodysplasia (JMC), 166 Juxtacentromeric region, 184

K

25kD cytoplasm–nucleus shuttling protein, 64 Keratinization, 13 Keratinizing NPC, 14 Keratinocyte serum-free growth medium (K-SFM), 92, 102 KM plotter, 50 Knock-in mice, 166 Knockout mice deficient, 77 KRYNOTE-028 study, 26

L

Label-retaining cells (LRCs) functional SCs, 202 prostate SCs, 203 tumor dormancy, 201 Least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO), 144 Leucettine L₄₁, 125 Leucine-rich repeats and immunoglobulin-like domains protein 1 (LRIG1), 204 Ligand binding domain (LBD), 126 Lineage tracing, 200, 201 Lipid-aldehyde DNA adducts, 75 Lipopolysaccharide (LPS), 77 Livecyte[™], 112, 113 Liver vs. lung metastatic tropism, 7 LNCaP, 211 Local osteolytic hypercalcemia (LOH), 167 Loss of heterozygosity (LOH), 183 Low mutation tumour, 210 Ly6 gene family mechanisms Ly6D, 56 Ly6E, 56 Lv6H. 57 Ly6K, 57 in normal tissues Ly6D, 47, 49, 50, 55

Ly6 gene family (cont.) Ly6E, 48, 51 Ly6H, 48, 52 Ly6K, 48, 53, 54 network analysis, 57, 59 survival outcome, 48, 55 in tumor tissues Ly6D, 48 Ly6E, 48 Ly6H, 50 Ly6K, 50 Ly6D, 47, 48, 56 Ly6E, 48, 56 Ly6H, 48, 50, 57 Ly6K, 48, 50, 57 Lysate-loaded DCs, 25 Lysophosphatidylcholines (lyso-PC), 148

Μ

Major histocompatibility complex (MHC), 17 Malignancy-associated hypercalcemia (MAH) characterization, PTHrP, 168 circulating PTHrP levels, 168, 169 classification, 167 C-terminal radioimmunoassay, 168 measurement, serum PTHrP, 168 mechanism, 167 PTH-like mediators, 167 signs and symptoms, 168 therapies, 168, 170 two-site immunoassay, 168 ultrasensitive multiplex two-site immunoassay, 168 Malignant melanoma (MM), 25 Matrix metalloproteinase 2 (MMP2), 188 Maximum estimated likelihood (MEL) estimator, 144 MDA-MB-231 transcriptome, 188 Melanoma, 21 Metabolomics approach, 148 Metastasis GEMMs, 4, 5 organotropism, 6-7 orthotopic models, 4, 5 Metastatic mutations, 210 Metastatic organotropism, 6-7 Methotrexate (MTX), 183 Methylation-sensitive restriction enzymes, 180 Methyl-CpG-binding domain protein 2 (MBD2), 181 Methyl group metabolism, 180, 181 Microarray-based gene expression analysis, 188 MicroRNAs, 214, 215 Microsomal ethanol oxidizing system (MEOS), 76 miR548-3p, 215 miR99a/100, 216 miRNA expression, 215 Missense mutations, 124 Mitochondria, 76 Monoclonal antibodies (mAbs), 225

Multicellular prostate tissues, 210–213 Multiple biopsy strategy, 217 Muscle segment homeobox 2 (Msx2), 166

Ν

N-acetylcysteine (NAC), 78 NADPH-oxidase-null mice, 77 Nasopharyngeal carcinoma (NPC) classifications, 12 compounding factors, 12 description, 11, 12 diagnosis, 12, 13 ENT departments, 12 epidemiology human migration, 15, 16 incidence rate, 14, 15 etiology, 12 GLOBOCAN cancer, 12 H&E staining, 13 immunotherapy, 14 (see also Immunotherapy) **IMRT.** 14 incidence rates, 12, 14 keratinization, 13 model system AKT pathway, 20 C15, 21 cell lines, 19, 21 and cost effective, 20 2D-cultures, 20 3D-culture systems, 20 disadvantages, 21 with EBV, 19 epithelial cells, 19 isolated cells, 20 in vitro model, 21 in vivo model, 21 LMP1 membrane rafts, 20-21 PDX, 20, 21 ROCK inhibitor (Y-27632), 19, 20 survival rates, 19 zebrafish, 21-24 nasopharynx cavity, 13 non-keratinizing, 13 prognosis, 13 public health concern, 14 radiotherapy, 13 risk factors, 12 EBV, 16-17 intake of certain foods, 18-19 SNPs, 17–18 survival, 13 suspicion, 12 symptoms, 11, 12 treatment, 12 Nasopharynx, 12-14, 21 Natural products, 125 N-CADHERIN (N-CAD), 5 Next generation sequencing (NGS), 210 Nitrated junctional complex proteins, 77

Nivolumab, 26 N-nitroso compounds, 18 Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), 74 Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH), 74 Non-keratinizing NPC, 13, 14, 16 Non-obese diabetic/severe combined immunodeficiency (NOD/SCID) mice, 131 Notch, 183 *N*-palmitoyl-l-leucine, 125 Nuclear factor of activated T-cells (NFAT), 226 Nuclear factor-KappaB (NF-kB), 74 Nuclear localizing sequence (NLS), 162, 165

0

Oral and pharyngeal cancers, 12 Organoids, 202 Ornithine decarboxylase (ODC), 187 Orthotopic models of NPC, 21 pancreatic cancer metastasis, 4, 5 Osteoblast regulation, 155, 156 Osteoclast regulation, 155 Osteoclastic bone resorption, 154 Osteoclasts, 166 Osteogenic lineage, 166 Ovarian steroid, 35 Oxidative stress, 74–76, 79, 80 Oxoguanine DNA glycosylase (Ogg1), 75

Р

p53-dependent pro-apoptotic genes, 64 P450 isoforms, 78-79 Paired related homeobox protein 1 (PRRX1), 5 Pan cancer Ly6 gene (see Ly6 gene family) Pancreatic cancer genetic mouse model, 4 metastasis (see Metastasis) Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) GEMMs. 4 metastasis (see Metastasis) outcomes, 3, 4 Pan-ERBB negative regulator, 204 Parathyroid hormone (PTH), 161 Parathyroid hormone-related protein (PTHrP) amino acid sequences, 162, 164, 165 BC development (see Breast cancer (BC) development) bone development chondrocyte, 166 homeostasis, 167 JMC, 166 phenotype, Pth1r-null, 166 Pthlh gene, 166 Pthlh-null mice, 166 resorption, 167 and cancer development, 170 cDNA, 162

crystal structure, 165 C-terminal region, 165 functional domains, 162, 164 gene structure, 162, 163 HHM, 161 hypercalcemia, 161 MAH (see Malignancy-associated hypercalcemia (MAH)) mammary gland development, 165, 166 nucleus, 165 physiological functions, 165 PTH, 161 Partial EMT (P-EMT), 8 Patient-derived xenograft models (PDX), 20, 21 Patient-derived xenotransplantation, 22 Patient tissue, 115 PCSK6, 127 Peak bone mass (PBM), 156 Pembrolizumab, 26 Perturbations, 124 PGP9.5, 182 Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic (PK/PD), 202 PIK3CD, 129-133 PIK3CD-Sii variant, 130 PIK3Cô isoforms, 131 PIK3Cδ-L/PIK3Cδ-S, 130 Pladienolide-scaffold derivatives, 125 Plasminogen activator (PA) system, 187 Polio vaccine, 95 Polyamine biosynthesis pathway, 187 Polyamines, 187 Polyaromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), 78 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR), 227 Polyomavirus middle T antigen (PyMT), 171 Polypeptides, 186 Post-treatment microenvironment, 211 Potential downstream signaling, 166 Prepro sequence, 162 Primary prostate epithelial cells, 111, 112 tumor-derived, 92, 93 Principal-component analysis (PCA), 16 Progenitor, 203 Programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1), 25 GSK-3 (see Glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3)) ligand 1 (PD-L1), 25 Prometastatic genes, 189 Promote cancer, 121 Promoter of urokinase plasminogen activator (PLAU), 182 Prostate cancer (PCa) AA men vs. CA men, 102 adenocarcinoma, 210 advantages, 109, 110 African American, 120, 121 AS, 125-129 Castration-resistant and metastatic prostate cancer, 110 cell fate decisions, 210-213 cell lines, 110 cell models (see Cell models)

Prostate cancer (PCa) (cont.) cellular heterogeneities, 208, 209 characteristics, 211 CpG islands, 216-220 CR, 116 (see also Conditional reprogramming (CR)) effects (see Radiation therapy (RT)) epigenetics, 220, 221 gene expression (see Gene expression) generation of short-term cultures, 92 health disparities, 119, 120 heterogeneity, 110, 111, 203 keratinocyte serum-free growth medium, 92 limitations, 109, 110 LNCaPs, 110 markers, 116 non-malignant and tumor-derived primary cells, 92.93 PCSCs, 203 PIK3CD, 129-133 pre-clinical testing, 109 Pubmed search, 110 SBRT treatment, 148, 149 selection and phenotype, 219 targeted therapies, 207, 208 treatment response and tumour recurrence, 115 tumor dormancy, 202, 203 urinary toxicities, 148 Prostate cancer stem cells (PCSCs) dormancy, 203, 204 Hierarchical Organization, 203, 204 Prostate-specific antigen (PSA), 26, 120, 208 Prostate-specific markers, 94 Prostatic adenocarcinoma, 210 Prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia (PIN), 110 Prostatic transglutaminase (hPTG), 213 ProTect, 207 Protein expression data, 48 Protein-protein interactions, 64 PSMD10, 64 PTH-like region, 164 PTH/PTHrP type 1 receptor (PTH1R), 162, 164 PTHrP-PTH1R cross-talk, 166 Pubmed search, 110

Q

Quantitative phase imaging (QPI), 111–115 Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR), 227 Quiescence, 200, 202–204

R

Radiation-induced DNA hypomethylation, 182 Radiation therapy (RT), 142 biomarker rectal proctitis, 145 SLC, 144 urinary symptoms, 145, 148

utility, 142 wait and watch strategy, 144 genetic factors, 142 heterogeneous clinical responses, 142 Lyso PC levels, 148 MS-based molecular profiling, 143 patient recruitment, 142 patients data, 143 physical examination of patients, 143 prostate SBRT treatment planning, 143 radiation delivery, 143 radiation doses, 142 SBRT treatment, 143 SID-MRM-MS, 143 statistical methods, 144 symptoms, 142 therapeutic index, 142 urinary toxicities, 148 Radio-chemotherapy, 26 Radiotherapy, 13, 26 RANKL binding, 154 Ras association domain family member 1 (RASSF1), 189 RB-recognition motif LxCxE, 64 RC-77T/E and RC-77N/E cell lines karyological characterization, 94 keratinocyte serum-free growth medium, 93 marker chromosome, 94 non-infected cells, 93 properties, 93 Reactive nitrogen species (RNS), 74 Reactive oxygen species (ROS), 74, 76, 78 Receptor activator of nuclear factor kB (RANK), 167 Receptor activator of nuclear factor kB ligand (RANKL), 154, 167 Recombinant DNA technology, 92 Reducing agents, 75 Regulatory networks, 212 Retinoic acid receptor (RAR/RXR), 213, 214 Retrovirus, 93 Rho-associated kinase (ROCK) inhibitor, 19, 20, 103.106 RNAseq analyses, 172 ROCK inhibitor, 95-97

S

S-adenosylmethionine (SAM), 74, 75 adenosyl portion, 185 anti-cancer agents, 188 anti-cancer effect, 185, 187 biochemical processes, 185 chemical structure, 185, 186 clinical trials, 189 deficiency, 181 metabolism, 185 methylating agent, 189, 190 methyl group donor, 180 pleiotropic agent, 189 recycling of methionine, 181 transmethylation pathways, 185

treatment anti-tumor effect, 187 cancer cell invasion and metastasis, 187, 188 DUSP1, 186 EWAS, 186 in vitro experiments, 186 methylome analysis, 188 polyamines, 187 polypeptides, 186 suppression of apoptotic cell death, 185 survival pathways, 186 Salted dried fish, 18 Sat2 hypomethylation, 183 Secreted frizzled-related protein 1 (SFRP1), 42, 43 Selective estrogen receptor down-regulators (SERDs), 158 Selective estrogen receptor modulator (SERM), 158 Self-renewal, 200 Serine/arginine-rich SF (SRSF), 123 Serine/threonine kinase, 226 SERPINB5, 182 Serum amyloid P component (SAP) promoter, 65 Severe combined immunodeficient (SCID), 24, 92, 93, 97.98.183 Short tandem repeat (STR) analysis, 104 Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3), 186 Silico analyses, 174 Single-cell RNA-Seq (scRNA-Seq), 201 Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), 16-18, 120 Single radiation oncologist (SLC), 144 Site-specific focal hypomethylation, 180 Skeleton aging anti-neoplastic therapies, 158, 159 bone strength, 156, 157 epigenetic regulation, 156 malignancies, 157, 158 PBM, 156 Slow-cycling cells (SCCs) clinical, 200 experimental reports, 199 pathological, 200 and quiescence, 200 Small cell lung cancer, 210 Small interfering RNAs (siRNAs), 226 Small molecule inhibitors (SMIs), 125 Small non-coding RNAs, 212-216 SMARC, 216, 221 Sonic hedgehog (SHH) gene, 183 Spinal muscular atrophy (SMA), 125 Spliceosome, 122, 123 Splice variants, 126 Splicing-modulating drugs, 124 Splicing regulatory elements (SREs), 122 Splicing sickness, 125 SRSF protein kinases (SRPKs), 123 ST6GalNac1, 127 Stable isotope-labeled multiple reaction monitoring mass spectrometry (SID-MRM-MS), 143

Stem cell antigen-1 (Sca-1), 47 Stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT), 144, 145, 148 Stereotactic radiosurgery (SRS), 142 SV40, 95

Т

T-cells, 25 CD8+, 229 downregulation, PD-1, 226 PDCD1, 225 PKB/AKT and GSK-3, 226 protein-tyrosine kinases, 226 Telomerase, 92, 93, 95 TGF-beta, 47, 56, 57 TGFβ receptor 1 (TβR1), 47 Thioacetamide (TAA), 76 Time-lapse video microscopy syste, 36 Tissue developmental events, 212 Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1 (TIMP-1), 6 Toll-like receptor-4 (TLR-4), 74 Trabecular bone, 153 Trans-acting factors, 124 Trans-acting RBPs, 123 Transcriptional activation cancer-related genes, 182 Transcriptome analysis, 188 Transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β), 170, 200, 203 Transit amplifying cells (TA), 112 Transmethylation pathways, 185 Trans-rectal ultrasound (TRUS)-guided biopsies, 111 Treatment-naïve tumours, 210 Triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC), 170 breast epithelial cell transformation, 42.43 chromatin remodeling, 42, 43 CK18, 40 classification, 39 CSC properties, 41 E_2 (see 17B –estradiol (E_2)) EMT process, 40 evaluation, CSC, 41 H&E staining, lungs, 41 heterogeneous group, 39 human breast epithelial cells, 35, 36 MDA-MB-231, 40 model, 40 subtype-specific cancer cell biology, 40 transcriptional profile analysis, 39 XtMCF and LmMCF cells, 41 Trypsinization techniques, 103 Tumor-associated antigen (TAA), 25 Tumor-associated metastasis, 187 Tumor cell dormancy, 200 Tumor cell proliferation, 155

Tumor dormancy cell and tissue culture technologies, 202 clinical evidence, 200 drug resistance, 202, 203 FUCCI, 202 LRCs model, 201 PCa, 202, 203 PK/PD methods, 202 scRNA-Seq, 201 sequencing technologies, 201 Tumorigenesis, 35 Tumorigenicity, 106, 107 Tumor infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs), 227 Tumor mass dormancy, 200 Tumor microenvironment, 208 Tumor necrosis factor (TNF), 154 Tumor signatures, 211 Tumor-specific CD8+ T-cells, 25 Tumor suppressive effect, 189 Tumor suppressor pathway, 64, 65 Tumor suppressors ankyrin repeats, 65 carcinogenesis, 65 NF-kB/RelA, 64 proteins, 64 RelA, 64 Twist-related protein 1 (TWIST), 5

U

Ubiquitin-proteasome system (UPS), 65 Ultra-low attachment method, 20 Ultrasensitive multiplex two-site immunoassay, 168 *uPA*, 182

V

Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), 65, 126 Vicious cycle, 172, 174 Visualizing cell cycle transitions, 202

W

Wait and watch strategy, 144 WNT/β-catenin, 183 Writers of methylation, 181

Y

Y-specific Amelogenin locus, 104

Z

Zebrafish, 21–24 Zinc finger E-box-binding homeobox 1 (ZEB1), 5